FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC
A Florida Limited Liability Company
4700 Millenia Boulevard, Suite #400
Orlando, Florida 32839
877.426.3275
franchiset@earlofsandwichusa-eomwww.carlofsan
dwichusa.com
franchise@earlofsandwichusa.com

The franchisee will operate a fast casual restaurant under the name “Earl of Sandwich” offering a limited
menu of breakfast, lunch and dinner products and featuring sandwiches, soups, wraps, salads, desserts and related
food items (“Earl of Sandwich Restaurant”).

The total investment necessary to begin the operation of an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant is $349307,500
to $608584,000. The total investment necessary to begin the operation of an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant at a
Nontraditional Location is $345303,000 to $663639,500. These estimates include $25,000 to $33,500 that must
be paid to us. The total investment necessary to begin development of one to three Earl of Sandwich Restaurants
under an Earl of Sandwich Development Agreement ranges from $28,000 to $80,000. This includes $25,000 to
$75,000 that must be paid to us. You must agree to develop at least one Earl of Sandwich Restaurant under
the Development Agreement.

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of your franchise agreement and other
information in plain English. Read this disclosure document and all accompanying agreements carefully. You
must receive this disclosure document at least 14 calendar days before you sign a binding agreement with, or
make any payment to, us or our affiliates in connection with the proposed franchise sale. Note, however, that
no governmental agency has verified the information contained in this document.

You may wish to receive your disclosure document in another format that is more convenient for you.
To discuss the availability of disclosures in different formats, contact our General Counsel and Secretary, Jeffrey
C. Sirolly, at 4700 Millenia Boulevard, Suite #400, Orlando, Florida 32839, or (465-903-5680877.426.3275.

The terms of your franchise agreement will govern your franchise relationship. Don’t rely on the
disclosure document alone to understand your franchise agreement. Read all of your franchise agreement
carefully. Show your franchise agreement and this disclosure document to an advisor, like a lawyer or an
accountant.

Buying a franchise is a complex investment. The information in this disclosure document can help you
make up your mind. More information on franchising, such as “A Consumer’s Guide to Buying a Franchise,”
which can help you understand how to use this disclosure document, is available from the Federal Trade
Commission. You can contact the FTC by calling 1-877-FTC-HELP or writing the FTC at 600 Pennsylvania
Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C. 20580. You can also visit the FTC’s home page at www.ftc.gov for additional
information. Call your state agency or visit your public library for other sources of information on franchising.

There may also be laws on franchising in your state. Ask your state agencies about them.
Issuance Date: September 28,2023

15,2025
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How to Use This Franchise Disclosure Document

Here are some questions you may be asking about buying a franchise and tips on how to find
more information:

QUESTION WHERE TO FIND INFORMATION

How much can I earn? Item 19 may give you information about outlet
sales, costs, profits or losses. You should also try to
obtain this information from others, like current and
former franchisees. You can find their names and
contact information in Item 20 or Exhibit M.

How much will I need to invest? | [tems 5 and 6 list fees you will be paying to the
franchisor or at the franchisor’s direction. Item 7
lists the initial investment to open. Item 8
describes the suppliers you must use.

Does the franchisor have the Item 21 or Exhibit I includes financial
financial ability to provide statements. Review these statements carefully.
support to my business?

Is the franchise system stable, Item 20 summarizes the recent history of the

growing, or shrinking? number of company-owned and franchised outlets.

Will my business be the only Item 12 and the “territory” provisions in the

Earl of Sandwich business franchise agreement describe whether the

in my area? franchisor and other franchisees can compete with
you.

Does the franchisor have a Items 3 and 4 tell you whether the franchisor or its

troubled legal history? management have been involved in material

litigation or bankruptcy proceedings.

What’s it like to be an Earl of Item 20 or Exhibit M lists current and former
Sandwich franchisee? franchisees. You can contact them to ask about
their experiences.

What else should I know? These questions are only a few things you should
look for. Review all 23 Items and all Exhibits in
this disclosure document to better understand this
franchise opportunity. See the table of contents.
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What You Need To Know About Franchising Generally

Continuing responsibility to pay fees. You may have to pay royalties and other fees even if
you are losing money.

Business model can change. The franchise agreement may allow the franchisor to change
its manuals and business model without your consent. These changes may require you to
make additional investments in your franchise business or may harm your franchise business.

Supplier restrictions. You may have to buy or lease items from the franchisor or a limited
group of suppliers the franchisor designates. These items may be more expensive than similar
items you could buy on your own.

Operating restrictions. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a similar
business during the term of the franchise. There are usually other restrictions. Some examples
may include controlling your location, your access to customers, what you sell, how you
market, and your hours of operation.

Competition from franchisor. Even if the franchise agreement grants you a territory, the
franchisor may have the right to compete with you in your territory.

Renewal. Your franchise agreement may not permit you to renew. Even if it does, you may
have to sign a new agreement with different terms and conditions in order to continue to
operate your franchise business.

When your franchise ends. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a
similar business after your franchise ends even if you still have obligations to your landlord
or other creditors.

Some States Require Registration

Your state may have a franchise law, or other law, that requires franchisors to register
before offering or selling franchises in the state. Registration does not mean that the state
recommends the franchise or has verified the information in this document. To find out if
your state has a registration requirement, or to contact your state, use the agency information
in Exhibit A.

Your state also may have laws that require special disclosures or amendments be made
to your franchise agreement. If so, you should check the State Specific Addenda. See the
Table of Contents for the location of the State Specific Addenda.
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Special Risks to Consider About This Franchise
Certain states require that the following risk(s) be highlighted:

1. Out-of-State Dispute Resolution. The Franchise Agreement and
Development Agreement require you to resolve disputes with us—by
htigatienthe franchisor by mediation and/or arbitration only in the federal or
state court having jurisdiction where our principal offices are located, which
currently is Orlando, Florida. Out-of-state hitigatienmediation or arbitration
may force you to accept a less favorable settlement for disputes. It may also
cost more to htigatemediate or arbitrate with us in Florida than in your own

state.

2. Spousal Liability. Your spouse must sign a document that makes your
spouse liable for all financial obligations under the Franchise Agreement and
Development Agreement even though your spouse has no ownership interest
in the franchise. This guarantee will place both your and your spouse’s
marital and personal assets, perhaps including your house, at risk if your
franchise fails.

3. Supplier control. The franchisor can require you to purchase all or nearly
all of the inventory or supplies that are necessary to operate your business
from the franchisor, its affiliates, or suppliers that the franchisor designates,
at prices the franchisor or they set. These prices may be higher than prices
you could obtain elsewhere for the same or similar goods. This may reduce
the anticipated profit of your franchise business.

4. Financial Condition. Our financial condition, as reflected in our financial
statements (see Item 21), calls into question our financial ability to provide
services and support to you.

Certain states may require other risks to be highlighted. Check the ‘“State Specific
Addenda” (if any) to see whether your state requires other risks to be highlighted.
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ITEM 1
THE FRANCHISOR AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS AND AFFILIATES

To simplify the language in this disclosure document, “we,” “us” or “EOS” means Earl of Sandwich
(USA), LLC, the franchisor. “You” means the person or legal entity who buys the franchise. If you are a
corporation, a partnership or a limited liability company, certain provisions of this disclosure document

also apply to your owners and will be noted.

EOS is a Florida limited liability company formed on June 17, 2004. Our principal place of business
is 4700 Millenia Boulevard, Suite #400, Orlando, Florida 32839. We do business under the name “Earl of
Sandwich.” We have offered Earl of Sandwich franchises since August 2004. Our agents for service of
process in various states are listed in Exhibit A. We do not currently operate any Earl of Sandwich
Restaurants; however, as of December 25202229, 2024, our wholly owned subsidiaries operated Zfive
Earl of Sandwich Restaurants. As of December 25202229, 2024, there were 2426 franchised Earl of
Sandwich Restaurants in the United States and 4521 franchised international Earl of Sandwich Restaurants.
We have not conducted business in any other line of business.

Earl of Sandwich Restaurants. In this disclosure document, EOS is offering the opportunity to
become a franchisee to develop and operate Earl of Sandwich Restaurants. Earl of Sandwich Restaurants
are fast casual restaurants featuring hot sandwiches, which are made to order using our own freshly made
artisan baked loaf filled with freshly sliced meats and unique sauces and spreads. Earl of Sandwich
Restaurants also offer fresh tossed salads, wraps, soups, grab and go items, dessert items and an array of
beverages. Earl of Sandwich Restaurants also may offer alcoholic beverages, catering and delivery services
to businesses and individuals in their neighborhood, and drive-thru service.

Earl of Sandwich Restaurants operate according to a distinctive format and appearance and
distinguishing operating procedures (“System”). We identify the System by means of the “Earl of
Sandwich” name and mark and certain other names, marks, logos, insignias, slogans, emblems, symbols
and designs (collectively, “Proprietary Marks™) that we have designated, or may in the future designate, for
use with the System. The Earl of Sandwich Restaurant concept derives its name from John Montagu, the
4™ Earl of Sandwich who created the sandwich in 1762. Under a License Agreement dated February 21,
2008 with Earl of Sandwich (FamilyCo) AG (“EOS (FamilyCo)”), a Swiss corporation, and Earl of
Sandwich (LicenseCo) Ltd. (“EOS (LicenseCo)”), an English corporation, we have the exclusive right to
use and permit our franchisees to use the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich,” in addition to certain related
trademarks, service marks and other commercial symbols anywhere in the world.

Earl of Sandwich Restaurants have a standard image, color scheme and interior design and layout,
which includes unique architectural features, although each restaurant is tailored to meet local needs and
preferences, which may be unique to the particular location. Earl of Sandwich Restaurants will generally
be located in urban and heavily populated suburban areas, preferably in close proximity to office areas and
high volume shopping and trade centers and may be developed as in-line, end cap, free-standing, or drive-
thru locations. A typical Earl of Sandwich Restaurant includes a food preparation area, a seating area and a
small display and merchandising counter. The standard décor features of an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant
include the hot sandwich line, salad station, menu boards, wall/ceiling displays and graphics, and floor
coverings.

We have described our mandatory and recommended standards and procedures in a confidential

Operations Manual (“Manual”). We will loan you one copy of the Manual for the term of your franchise.
We retain the right to change the Manual and the elements of the System periodically.
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When you are evaluating whether to purchase an Earl of Sandwich franchise, you will acquire
confidential information about the System. You must sign a Confidentiality Agreement, which is attached
as Exhibit B, before we will-provide access to this information.

You can buy a franchise to develop and operate one franchised Earl of Sandwich Restaurant
(“Franchised Restaurant”) at a site approved by us (“Franchised Location™) by signing a Franchise
Agreement (Exhibit E) and paying the ApplieationFee-and-the-Initial Franchise Fee, which are described
in Item 5. You may not acquire any interest in a site for the Franchised Restaurant until you have been
approved as a franchisee and we have approved the site in writing. If you and the area in which you are
interested meet certain qualifications, you can buy the rights to develop one or more Franchised Restaurants
within a geographic area (“Development Territory”) by signing a Development Agreement (Exhibit D) and
paying the Development Fee, which is described in Item 5. You must agree to develop at least one Earl of
Sandwich Restaurant under the Development Agreement. If you are developing a Franchised Restaurant
under a Development Agreement, you will sign our then-current form of Franchise Agreement (which may
differ from the form of Franchise Agreement included as Exhibit E) within 90 days after we approve the
site for the Franchised Restaurant. When we approve your application to become an Earl of Sandwich
restaurant franchisee, and prior to our preparation of your Franchise Agreement or Development Agreement,
you will sign the Agreement Request Form attached as Exhibit C and pay the Deposit Fee described in Item
5.

Your receipt of this disclosure document does not mean that you will be approved as a franchisee
or that you may develop or open a Franchised Restaurant. Before you may develop and open a Franchised
Restaurant, we must approve you as a franchisee, you and we must sign the Franchise Agreement, we must
approve the site of your proposed Franchised Restaurant, and you must attend and successfully complete
our initial manager training program.

Nontraditional Restaurants. You can also purchase a franchise to develop and operate an Earl of
Sandwich Restaurant at a “Nontraditional Location,” which includes airports, train stations, bus stations,
service plazas, stadiums, arenas, convention centers, military facilities, gas stations, convenience stores,
schools, colleges, universities, hospitals, theme parks, office buildings, food courts, venues in which
foodservice is or may be provided by a master concessionaire or contract foodservice provider, Indian
reservations, casinos or any similar captive market location. A “Nontraditional Restaurant” means an Earl
of Sandwich Restaurant developed at a Nontraditional Location.

If you buy a franchise to develop and operate a Nontraditional Restaurant, after we have approved
the site, you will sign a Franchise Agreement (Exhibit E) and an Addendum to Franchise Agreement for a
Nontraditional Location (“Nontraditional Location Addendum”) (Exhibit F) and pay the ApplicationFee
and-the-Initial Franchise Fee. The Nontraditional Location Addendum will identify the larger building
(“Facility”) in which the Nontraditional Restaurant will be located. The Nontraditional Location Addendum
also will identify the portion of the Facility in which the Nontraditional Restaurant will be located. All
references in this disclosure document to “Nontraditional Restaurant” or ‘“Nontraditional Location” refer
only to your operation of that portion of the Facility that is occupied by the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant.
Unless otherwise noted, in this disclosure document, all references to a “Franchised Restaurant” or
“Franchised Location” also will include a Nontraditional Restaurant or Nontraditional Location,
respectively.

Market and Competition. We believe the market for fast casual restaurants is either “developed”
or “developing,” depending on the specific geographic area. Your customers will be the general public.
You will compete with other local, regional and national fast casual, quick service, and take-away food
service outlets and chains serving sandwiches in the $8.99 to $+614.99 price range for lunch and dinner.
Many of our competitors have a substantially greater number of restaurant units and greater resources and
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recognition than our organization. You may be in direct competition with other fast casual and quick service
outlets serving similar types of menu items, including oven-baked subs, sandwiches, soups, salads and
hamburgers.

Industry-Specific Laws and Regulations.

You must comply with all applicable local, state and federal laws and regulations, including health,
sanitation, food handling, food preparation, menu labeling, waste disposal, smoking restrictions, alcoholic
beverage restrictions, discrimination, labor, employment, sexual harassment and advertising laws. Some
laws require point of sale disclosures, including statements concerning nutritional and dietary
characteristics of the food served at your Franchised Restaurant. There are other laws and regulations
applicable to businesses generally (such as the Americans with Disabilities Act) with which you must
comply. You should consult with your attorney concerning these and other laws and ordinances that may
affect the operations of your Franchised Restaurant. You also must obtain all applicable real estate permits
and operational licenses.

Some states limit the available number of liquor licenses. In such markets you are likely to be
required to pay grossly inflated prices on the secondary market to obtain a liquor license. The purchase of

a liquor license may substantially increase your required initial investment.

Our Parent, Predecessors and Affiliates.

We do not have any affiliates that provide products or services to our franchisees. We do not have
a parent company or any predecessors.

Our affiliate, Chicken Guy (Franchisor), LLC (“Chicken Guy”), has offered franchises for Chicken
Guy! restaurants since June 2019. Chicken Guy has not offered franchises in any other line of business.
Chicken Guy shares our principal business address. -As of December 25,202229. 2024, Chicken Guy’s
affiliate operated twethree Chicken Guy! Restaurants and there were fourcight franchised Chicken Guy!
Restaurants in operation.

Our affiliate, Burrata House (Franchisor), LLC (“Burrata House™) has offered franchises for
Burrata House restaurants since March 2025. Burrata House has not offered franchises in any other line of
business. Burrata House restaurants are fast casual restaurants featuring traditional Italian dishes with a
modern and healthy twist, including burrata paninis, salad grain bowls, and pastas, which are made to order
with high quality, locally sourced ingredients. Burrata House restaurants also offer seasonal salads
antipasti, dessert items, and an array of beverages. Burrata House shares our principal business address.
Burrata House has not offered franchises in any other line of business. As of December 29, 2024, Burrata
House’s affiliate operated four Burrata House restaurants.

Except as noted above, we have no parent, predecessors or affiliates that are required to be disclosed
in this Item.

ITEM 2
BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Chairman: Robert Earl

Mr. Earl is the founder and has served as eurthe Chairman of the Earl Enterprises® group of

restaurants since June 2004 in Orlando Florlda—H%has—sewed which includes brands 5uch as Chairman

EOS Disclosure Document — 09/2325 3



ofl, Planet Hollywood—mtemaﬁeﬂaHnHﬂae&Qeteleer%—mad—ﬂ&&Eaﬂ—EHtePpﬂses cropeesmsanie,
h : qe eppos. Bertucci’s, EarlefSandwiehEOS, Brio Italian

Grllle Bravo Itallan Kltchen Gh*eken—@uy'—Seamde on the Pier, and Café Hollywood (and which
previously included brands such as Mixology101, Buca di Beppo, TooJay’s, Seaside—on—thePier,The
Breakfast Club, Rock & Reilly’s, Asian Street Eats, Warriorand-Café Hollywood)in Orlando, Florida-sinee
Oetober1991-and Tequila Taqueria between August 2019 and August 2025) collectively, the “Earl
Enterprises Companies”.

President: John-Thall

Treasurer-and-Viece-Chairman: Thomas Avallone

Mr. Avallone has served as our President since March 2020 and has served as our Treasurer and
Viee-Chairman-since March 2012 in Orlando, Florida. Mr. Avallone sewed—&s—@lﬁeﬂllmaﬂelal—gﬁﬁeer—ef

2008-to-February 20H 2-andfrom-Mareh 20483 te-- o1 o 10 the present-date—Mr—Avallonehas-alsoserved
as-Viee-Chairman-for-vice chairman for several of the Earl Enterprises® eroup-of-companies Companies in

Orlando, Florida since March 2012 and the Manager for Chicken Guy since May 2019,

General Counsel and Secretary: Jeffrev C. Sirolly

Mr. Sirolly has served as our General Counsel since January 2019 and as our Secretary since March
2042-and2020 in Orlando, Florida. Mr. Sirolly also has served as General Counsel and Secretary for
Chieken-Guyseveral of the Earl Enterprises Companies since May-2649-January 2019 in Orlando, Florida.
From April 2017 to December 2018, he served as Deputy General Counsel for several of the Earl
Enterprises Companies.

Chief Sales and Marketing Officer: Trish Giordano

Ms. Giordano has served as our Chief Sales and Marketing Officer since July 2018 in Orlando,
Florida. She has held this same position for the Earl Enterprises” eroup-ef-companies Companies in
Orlando Florlda since July 2018 and w1th Chicken Guy since May 2019 in Orlando Florlda—She

es™ group-of

Vice President of Brand Marketing: RebynPeotOperations: Salvatore Feli

Ms—Peot Mr. Feli has served as our Vice President of Brand-MarketingOperations since May-2009
December 2024 in Orlando, Florida. -She-alse-has-served-as-From May 2021 to September 2024, he served

as Head of Operations for The Highlawn Catering Hall and Restaurant in West Orange, New Jersey. From
March 2020 to May 2021, Mr. Feli was on personal leave.
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Vice President of Brand Marketingfor Franchise Sales: Eric Sacks

Mr. Sacks served as our Vice President of Franchise Sales since April 2025 in Boca Raton, Florida.

He has held this same position with several of the Earl Enterpr1ses®g¥ea—p—e#eem19ames—sme&M—aH@99
andfor-Chieken-Guy Companies in Boca Raton, Florida since May-2649;-all-in-Orlandeo; Florida—April

2025. He was Vice President of Franchise Development for Miami Grill Franchising Corporation in Boca
Raton from January 2023 to January 2025. He was a Development Agent for Subway Family Development
Partners from April 2009 to November 2022 in Boynton Beach, Florida.

Vice President of Purchasing: RonEubanksSupplv Chain & Strategic Projects: Michael Babin

Mr Eab&nksBabm has served as %ee—Pres&ée&Fef—Pu%eh&&ng—fe&&re—E&ﬂ—Ea&awses@—greup—ef

2020-Vice Premdent of Supply Chain & Strategic Projects in Orlando, Florida—Me—SireHy since March
2024. He served as eurDPeputy-General-Counselthe Director of Supply Chain for Virtual Dining Concepts,

LLC in Orlando, Florida from Ape20470ctober 2020 through December 2048—Mr—Siroly—alse-has
sewed—as—@e&%al—@eaﬂselMarch 2024 and Seeretapyas the Dlrector of Purchasmg for %h&E&Pl—Emerﬂses®

ITEM 3
LITIGATION

No litigation is required to be disclosed in this Item.

ITEM 4
BANKRUPTCY

In re Bertucci’s Restaurants, LLC, Case No. 6:2225-bk-6431302401 (Bankr. M.D. Fla.). Our
affiliate, Bertucci’s Restaurants, lre-LLC (“Bertucci’s”) filed a petition to reorganize under Chapter 11 of
the U.S. Bankruptcy Code on Deeember5:2022-April 24, 2025. Our President and Treasurer-and—Viee
Chairman, Thomas Avallone, serves as-Managerand President for Bertucci’s and our General Counsel and
Secretary, Jeffrey Sirolly, serves as Secretary for Bertucci’s.

In re PB Restaurants, LL.C, Case No. 6:25-bk-01957 (Bankr. M.D. Fla.). Our affiliate, PB
Restaurants, LIL.C (“PB Restaurants™), filed a petition to reorganize under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
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Bankruptcy Code on April 4, 2025. Our Chairman, Robert Earl, serves as Manager and President for PB
Restaurants; our President and Treasurer, Thomas Avallone, serves as Manager, Executive Vice President,
and Assistant Secretary for PB Restaurants; and our General Counsel and Secretary, Jeffrey Sirolly, serves
as Secretary for PB Restaurants.

In re Planet Express (LAX), LLC, Case No. 6:25-bk-01958 (Bankr. M.D. Fla.). Our affiliate, Planet
Express (LAX), LLC (“Planet Express™), filed a petition to reorganize under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code on April 4, 2025. Our President and Treasurer, Thomas Avallone, serves as President and
Treasurer for Planet Express and our General Counsel and Secretary, Jeffrey Sirolly, serves as Secretary
for Planet Express.

In re Times Square Buffet, LLC, Case No. 6:25-bk-01959 (Bankr. M.D. Fla.). Our affiliate, Times

Square Buffet, LLC (“Times Square Buffet™), filed a petition to reorganize under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code on April 4, 2025. Our President and Treasurer, Thomas Avallone, serves as President and
Treasurer for Times Square Buffet and our General Counsel and Secretary, Jeffrey Sirolly, serves as
Secretary for Times Square Buffet.

In re Bertucci’s Restaurants, LIL.C, Case No. 6:22-bk-04313 (Bankr. M.D. Fla.). Our affiliate,

Bertucci’s, filed a petition to reorganize under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code on December 5,

2022. Bertucci’s plan of reorganization was confirmed on September 9, 2024. Our President and Treasurer,
Thomas Avallone, serves as President for Bertucci’s and our General Counsel and Secretary, Jeffrey Sirolly

serves as Secretary for Bertucci’s.

Other than the ene-mattermatters noted above, no bankruptcy is required to be disclosed in this

Item.

ITEM 5
INITIAL FEES

Development Agreement

You must pay a Development Fee in the amount of $25,000 for each Franchised Restaurant that
you agree to develop when you sign the Development Agreement.

The Development Fee is not refundable, but will be credited against the Initial Fees-ineludingthe
ApplicationFHee-and-Initial- Franchise Eee);I'ees, which are payable to us under each Franchise Agreement
that you sign under the Development Agreement. The aggregate amount of the Initial Franchise Fee credits
will not exceed the Development Fee. You must agree to develop at least one Earl of Sandwich Restaurant
under the Development Agreement. The Development Fee is typically paid in one lump sum; however, in
certain circumstances, we may permit developers to pay the Development Fee in installments.

Franchise Agreement

When you s1gn the Franchlse Agreement you shatwill pay th%fel—lewmg—h&t}a-l—l;ees—elé—an

&nd—tla&mmg—aﬂd—@}an Inltlal Franchlse Fee in the amount of $4§—909—te—&se—the—8ystem—&nd—the—llrepﬁet&w
Marks-duringthe term-of the Franchise Agreement-25,000. The Initial Fees-areFranchise Fee is fully earned

by us when paid and areis not refundable.

Deposit Fee
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When we approve your application to become an Earl of Sandwich restaurant franchisee, and prior
to our preparation of your Franchise Agreement or Development Agreement, you will sign the Agreement
Request Form attached as Exhibit C and pay a Deposit Fee in the amount of $2,500. The Deposit Fee is not
refundable, but if you sign a Franchise Agreement or Development Agreement within 10 business days of
receiving the agreement for signature, EOS shall apply the Deposit toward payment of the Development
Fee required under the Development Agreement or the Applieationlnitial Franchise Fee required under the
Franchise Agreement, as applicable.

Veterans Discount:

Under our veterans program, if you (or a holder of at least a 51% ownership interest in your
franchisee entity) provide us with a DD Form 214 or other adequate documentation, as determined by us,
demonstrating honorable discharge from the United States military and you sign a Franchise Agreement to
develop and operate a new Franchised Restaurant, then we will reduce your Appheation-Initial Franchise
Fee due under the Franchise Agreement by $5,000. You will sign a Veterans Addendum to the Franchise
Agreement, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit G. If, prior to the first anniversary of the opening date
of the Franchised Restaurant, (1) you transfer the Franchised Restaurant, or (2) we terminate the Franchise
Agreement, you must pay us the $5,000 that we waived under the veterans program.

Team Member Training

If you postpone or delay team member training based on your failure to obtain a certificate of
occupancy or for any other reason, you must reimburse us for any additional costs and expenses, including
the salaries and wages for our trainers during the period of such delay. If the Franchised Restaurant is not
your first Earl of Sandwich Restaurant and if you request that we conduct the team member training for
non-management staff, you must upon receipt of an invoice from us pay all reasonable expenses incurred
by us in connection with such on-site training, including without limitation, travel expenses, lodging
accommodations and other reasonable expenses of all such persons sent to the Franchised Restaurant in
connection with the on-site training of the Franchised Restaurant employees. These expenses will range
from $3,000 to $6,000 per week (for one to two trainers).

* * *

The Deposit Fee, Development Fee, Applieation—Fee—and Initial Franchise Fee are typically
uniform for all franchisees—; however, we reduced the Initial Franchise Fee to $15.000 for one franchisee
in our last fiscal year.

ITEM 6
OTHER FEES
TYPE OF AMOUNT DUE DATE REMARKS
FEE"
Royalty 6% of Gross Sales Within five days You must participate in our electronic funds
after the end of transfer program to pay your royalty fees and

each fiscal week other fees (See Note 2). See Note 3 for the
definition of Gross Sales. See Note 4 if you
operate a Nontraditional Restaurant.
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TYPE OF AMOUNT DUE DATE REMARKS
FEE"
Weekly Currently 3% of Gross | See below Currently, your Weekly Marketing Obligation
Marketing Sales consists of your contribution to the Brand Fund
Obligation (+2% of Gross Sales-up-to-a-maximum-anntal
contribution-0£$306,000) and your Local Store
Marketing expenditures (21% of Gross Sales).
We reserve the right to increase your Weekly
Marketing Obligation and we may reallocate the
Weekly Marketing Obligation among the Brand
Fund, a Regional Advertising Fund (or Regional
Co-Op) and Local Store Marketing. The
advertising fees and advertising funds are further
described in Item 11. Your Weekly Marketing
Obligation will not exceed 5% of Gross Sales.
Additional We do not currently Within 30 We have the right to require certain designated
Training charge these fees; days of receipt of | employees to attend training programs in
however we may seta | invoice addition to the initial manager training program.
tuition fee for You must pay all travel, living, food and other
additional training incidental expenses incurred by your employees
programs that we while attending training.
develop in the future-
to cover our actual
costs of conducting the
training programs. You
also must reimburse us
for our actual costs and
expenses incurred for
developing, compiling
and distributing any
additional training
materials, if requested
by you.
Audit and Deficiency in royalty Within ten days The interest rate is the same as the interest rate

Inspection Costs

fees and advertising
contributions, plus
interest.

after receipt of the
audit or inspection
report

for late payments. If an inspection or audit is
made necessary by your failure to furnish reports
or supporting records, or to furnish such reports,
records or information on a timely basis, or if
there is an understatement of Gross Sales of
greater than 2%, in addition to the understated
royalty fees and advertising contributions, you
also must pay the reasonable costs of the audit or
inspection.
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TYPE OF
FEE"

AMOUNT

DUE DATE

REMARKS

Collection Costs

Our actual costs and

On demand, if

If we prevail in litigation regarding enforcement

and Expenses expenses required of the terms of any Franchise Agreement or
Development Agreement, you must pay our costs
and expenses, which include, but are not limited
to, costs and commissions due a collection
agency, reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs incurred
in creating or replicating reports demonstrating
Gross Sales of the Franchised Restaurant,
arbitration or court costs, expert witness fees,
discovery costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees
and costs on appeal, together with interest
charges on all of the foregoing.
Costs and Our actual costs and As incurred If we prevail in htigatiena dispute regarding
Attorneys’ Fees | expenses enforcement of the terms of any Franchise
Agreement or Development Agreement, you
must pay our attorneys’ fees and costs.
Gift Card Total amount of gift Monthly On a monthly basis, you must pay us the total
Reconciliation cards sold from amount of any gift cards sold from your
Franchised Restaurant Franchised Restaurant and we will reimburse you
for the amount of any gift cards redeemed at your
Franchised Restaurant.
Indemnification Our and our affiliates” | As incurred You must indemnify and hold us and our
losses and expenses affiliates harmless in all actions arising out of or
resulting from the development or operation of
your Franchised Restaurant (and, for a
Nontraditional Restaurant, your other businesses
at the Facility) excluding any gross negligence or
willful misconduct by an indemnitee.
Interest Interest on the amount | When any The interest rate is the maximum rate permitted
owed from the date payment is for indebtedness of this nature in the state in
due until paid overdue which the Franchised Restaurant is located not to
exceed 1.5% per month (or a portion of a
month). See Note 2 for additional information
regarding the payment of interest charges.
New Product and | Reasonable-costof As incurred HPayable if you request our authorization to sell
Supplier Testing | inspeetion-andactaal new products or use an alternate supplier of
eostoftestingOur products or services;you-mustpay-our
actual costs of e
reviewing the supplier See Item 8.
or distributor and
auditing the facility
Reimbursement Our out-of-pocket Immediately upon | If you fail to procure or maintain the required
of Insurance costs of obtaining receipt of invoice | insurance, we may procure the insurance and
Costs coverage charge its cost along with our out-of-pocket

expenses to you.
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TYPE OF AMOUNT DUE DATE REMARKS
FEE"
Relocation Cpensnnlkle On demand, if You may not relocate the Franchised Restaurant
expenses$10.000 and required without our prior written consent.
an agreed minimum
royalty fee (which
shall not exceed 6% of
Gross Sales) during the
period in which the
Franchised Restaurant
is not in operation
Renewal Fee $5,000 At the time you The renewal fee is in addition to any costs for
sign the renewal remodeling that we may require as a condition of
franchise renewal.
agreement

Software Actual cost of license As incurred You must purchase and use any new or upgraded

Licenses and fee and updates proprietary software programs, system

Updates documentation manuals and other proprietary
materials that we may develop or designate for
use in the System in the future.

Taxes Our expenses Within 30 days of | You must reimburse us for any taxes, fees or

receipt of invoice | assessments imposed on us for acting as
franchisor or licensing the Proprietary Marks.

Transfer $10,000 Prior to We have the right to approve all transfers. There

consummation of | is no fee if you transfer an agreement to a
transfer corporation or limited liability company that
your owners control.

Website Fee $0 - $1,000 Monthly Although we do not currently do so, in the future
we may charge you monthly a fee for
developing, reviewing and approving your
website and/or for hosting the website. The
maximum monthly fee will not exceed $1,000.

Early Amount of the average | Within 30 days Payable if you default on your obligations and

Termination weekly Royalty Fees following the we terminate the Franchise Agreement prior to

Damages that you owed for the termination the expiration of the Initial Term.

one year period prior
to termination,
multiplied by the lesser
of 104 weeks or the
number of weeks
remaining in the term
of the Franchise
Agreement
NOTES
(D) Unless otherwise noted, all fees are imposed by and payable to us and are non-refundable.

Generally, all fees are uniformly imposed on our franchisees, however, in certain unique
circumstances, we may reduce or waive a fee for a particular franchisee for a limited period of time.
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2)

)

4)

You must participate in our electronic funds transfer program authorizing us to utilize a pre-
authorized bank draft system. All royalty fees and other amounts owed to us under the Franchise
Agreement, including advertising fees, where applicable, and interest charges, must be received by
us before 5:00 p.m. on the 5™ day after the end of each fiscal week or at a later point, or due date,
specified by us. No later than 30 days prior to opening, you must designate an account at a
commercial bank and furnish to us all authorizations (including the ACH Authorization form
attached as Exhibit C to the Franchise Agreement) necessary to permit us to make withdrawals by
electronic funds transfer.

Gross Sales include all revenue from the sale of all food products, beverages and all other income
of every kind and nature related to the Franchised Restaurant (including the redemption value of
stored value gift cards and gift certificates when purchases are made) whether for cash or credit
and regardless of collection in the case of credit, monies or credit received from the sale of food
and merchandise, from tangible property of every kind and nature, promotional or otherwise, and
for services performed from or at the Franchised Restaurant, including, but not limited to, such oft-
premises services as catering and delivery. Gross Sales do not include employee tips, sales taxes or
other taxes collected from customers for transmittal to the appropriate taxing authority, promotional
discounts and coupons, the value of any employee discounts provided to your bona fide employees
during the fiscal week in which the discounts are provided, all proceeds from the sale of gift
certificates or stored value cards, customer refunds made in good faith to customers, or the sale of
equipment used in the operation of the Franchised Restaurant.

If any law prohibits us from receiving a percentage royalty fee based on alcoholic beverage
revenues, you must pay us a royalty fee on all Gross Sales, except alcoholic beverage revenues, in
the same dollar amount as would have been paid if you paid a 6% royalty fee on all Gross Sales.

If you operate a Nontraditional Restaurant and (a) beverages cannot be ordered at the
Nontraditional Restaurant; or (b) your point of sale system cannot allocate to Gross Sales beverages
ordered at the Nontraditional Restaurant, then you must pay a royalty fee in the amount of 8% of
Gross Sales.

ITEM 7
ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT

TABLE NO. 1
YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

Type of Expenditure Amount (1) Nontraditional

Method
of When To Whom
Payment Due Paid

(©))

Amount:

Restaurant (2)

Deposit Fee(4)

$0 - $2,500

$0 - $2,500

Lump See

sum

EOS

Initial Franchise Fee

“4)

$1525,000

$1525,000

Lump
sum

EOS

L

$10,000

$10,000

Lump

Sum

EOS

Grand Opening
Required Spending (5)

$7,500

$3,000

Progress
payments

incurred

Vendors
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Method

Amount:
Type of Expenditure Amount (1) Nontraditional of When To Wh om
Payment Due Paid
Restaurant (2)
(&)
Leaschold Costs and Progress As Contractor
Building and Site $160,000 - $342,000 | $160,000 - $400,000 & .
payments | arranged Architect
Improvements (6)
Furnishings, Fixtures | - ¢75 500 _5105,000 | $75,000- 105,000 | A5 | A Vendors
and Equipment (7) arranged | incurred
Signage (8) $3,000 - $20,000 $3,000 - $20,000 As | As Vendors
arranged | incurred
Point of Sale $153,000 - $306,000 | $153,000 - $306,000 As _As Vendors
System (9) arranged | incurred
Technology (10) $1,000 - $4,000 $1,000 - $4,000 As _As Vendors
arranged | incurred
Graphic Items (11) $3,000 - $7,000 $3,000 - $9,000 As | As Vendors
arranged | incurred
Attorney,
Before As accountant,
Professional Fees (12) $1,000 - $4,000 $1,000 - $4,000 s . and other
opening | incurred .
business
advisors
Initial Manager $4,000 - $6,000 $4,000 - $6,000 As 1 AS i parties
Training (13) arranged | incurred
Pre-Opening Costs (14) | $15,000 - $40,000 |  $15,000 - $40,000 As | As Vendors
arranged | incurred
Additional Funds $10,000 - $15,000 | $10,000 - $15,000 As ) As Vendors
3 months (16) arranged | incurred
(Estimate does not include the cost to
TOTAIfNFi?{EfATED $3+9307,500 - $3+5303,000 - obtain an alcoholic beverage license
INVESTMENT (17) $608584,000 $663639,500 which you may choose to incur. See
Note 15 below.)
NOTES

Traditional Restaurants. Earl of Sandwich Restaurants may be developed as in-line, end cap or

free-standing locations. Since we have limited experience in developing free-standing Earl of
Sandwich Restaurants, the figures in the table reflect the estimated initial investment for an Earl of
Sandwich Restaurant located at an in-line or end cap location. If you plan to develop an Earl of
Sandwich Restaurant in a free-standing location, the real estate, building and site improvement
costs are likely to be significantly higher than what is included in this Item 7.

| 2) Nontraditional Restaurants. These figures reflect the estimated initial investment for a

Nontraditional Restaurant. These estimates are based upon our and our franchisees’ experiences in
developing Nontraditional Restaurants. The estimated initial investment for a Nontraditional
Restaurant will vary, depending on the type of venue, size, location, number of seats, anticipated
volume, operational conditions and configuration of the Facility.
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3)

Method of Payment. Costs paid to EOS are not refundable. Whether any costs paid to third parties

(4)

are refundable will vary based on the practice in the area where your Franchised Restaurant is
located.

Initial Fees. The manner in which the Initial Franchise Fee; and Deposit Fee;-and-ApplicationFee

are paid is explained in detail in Item 5.

(&) Grand Opening Required Spending. See Item 11 for a description of your grand opening marketing

(6)

obligations.

Leasehold Costs and Building Site Improvements. We expect that you will lease the location for

()

the Franchised Restaurant, which will typically be in shopping centers and will vary in size from
600 to 900 square feet for a Nontraditional Restaurant with limited or shared seating; 1,000 to 4,000
square feet for a Nontraditional Restaurant with full seating; and 1,200 to 2,000 square feet for an
in-line or end cap location. We cannot estimate the lease payments that you will make to third
party lessors since these payments will vary considerably depending upon the property size, type
of transaction and location. Rent amounts vary greatly depending on location, square footage,
condition of premises, market conditions, your credit worthiness, tenant improvement allowances,
and other factors. Any lease that you sign for the Franchised Location must contain the provisions
set forth in the Franchise Agreement and the Addendum to Lease form attached as Exhibit B to the
Franchise Agreement. You may be required to pay the first and last months’ lease payment upon
signing your lease agreement. Lease agreements may include the following expenses: taxes,
insurance, maintenance, fixed rent (with escalations), percentage rent and other charges related to
the operation of the Franchised Restaurant. We cannot estimate the costs to purchase real estate
for a Franchised Restaurant if you elect to purchase the site since these costs vary widely by
geographic area.

The Franchised Restaurant must be established in accordance with the System. We estimate that
building and site improvement costs, including permits and municipality fees, will range from $100
to $200 per square foot or more depending upon the condition of the property and local regulatory
requirements. These building and site improvement costs include estimates for a smaller footprint
prototype for in-line or end cap locations. With respect to a Nontraditional Restaurant, we estimate
that building and site improvement costs, including permits and municipality fees, will range from
$200 to $700 per square foot or more depending upon the condition of the property and local
regulatory requirements. The higher end of the estimate reflects higher development costs incurred
in certain geographic areas. You should check with the relevant regulatory agencies to identify
costs for required building permits, impact fees, taxes, bonds, licenses and other fees, which can
vary greatly depending on location, size, condition, market condition, and other factors.

Furnishings, Fixtures and Equipment. You must purchase certain items of furniture, fixtures,

equipment and smallwares as required by the Franchise Agreement and the Manual. You may be
able to lease from or finance through a third party a portion of these purchases; however, you should
expect to make a down-payment ranging between 40% and 50% of the cost.

(8) Signage. The type of signage installed is governed by local ordinances regarding height and size

restrictions. The typical signage package includes a minimum of one large exterior facial sign, one
exterior banner sign, digital menu boards, marked awnings, and an interior and directional signage
package.

9) Point of Sale System. The point of sale system requirements are described in Item 11.
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(10)  Technology. These costs include charges to set up your technology systems including the online
ordering program, gift and loyalty card programs and music system. This estimate does not include
on site store POS configuration.

(11)  Graphic Items. This estimate includes the interior and exterior art package, which may include wall
treatments, vinyl graphics, prints and pictures as specified in the Manual.

(12)  Professional Fees. These figures represent the estimated costs of engaging an attorney or other
business professionals to review this disclosure document and the accompanying agreements, assist
you in organizing a business entity and help you obtain required licenses and permits.

(13)  Initial Manager Training. These costs include transportation, lodging, food and other incidental
expenses for you and your employees during training. The amount of these expenses will depend
on the distance you and your employees travel, type of accommodations, the number of your
employees attending training and their wages.

(14)  Pre-Opening Costs. These costs include utility deposits, installation of telephones, data transfer
lines, business licenses, uniforms, office and cleaning supplies and other prepaid expenses. It also
includes a range of $15,000 to $25,000 for the initial inventory of food and paper.

(15)  Alcoholic Beverage License. If you elect to obtain an alcoholic beverage license to serve wine and
beer at your Franchised Restaurant, which is not required, you can expect to pay between $10,000
and $200,000. The cost of these licenses varies greatly from jurisdiction to jurisdiction depending
on the licensing authority involved and the local alcoholic beverage license resale market, if any.
Some states limit the available number of alcoholic beverage licenses. In such markets you are
likely to be required to pay grossly inflated prices on the secondary market to obtain a license and
you may decide not to offer alcoholic beverages at your Franchised Restaurant.

(16)  Additional Funds - Three Months. These figures are an estimate of the additional funds that you
may require for operating expenses during the initial three months of business. They include
payroll, taxes, insurance, food, paper, supplies, utilities, music service fees, gift and loyalty
program fees, online ordering fees, technology maintenance and support fees, licenses and permits,
bank charges and repair and maintenance expenses. They do not include advertising or royalty fee
payments made to us. These figures are estimates, and we cannot guarantee that you will not have
additional expenses starting the business. We relied on our experience with our company-operated
Earl of Sandwich Restaurants and information provided to us by our franchisees to derive our
estimates for these additional funds.

(17)  Total Estimated Initial Investment. You should review these figures carefully with a business
advisor before making any decision to purchase the franchise. We do not offer any financing
directly or indirectly for any part of the initial investment.
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TABLE NO. 2
YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT — ONE TO THREE RESTAURANTS

Tvpe of Expenditure Amount Low Amount High Method of When To Whom

yp P Estimate Estimate Payment (3) Due Paid
Development Fee (1) $25,000 $75,000 Lump sum I tzrene 5 EOS
Legal Fees & As
Miscellaneous $3,000 $5,000 As incurred incurred Third parties
Expenses (2)
Total $28,000 $80,000

1) Development Fee. These figures are for the Development Fees for one to three Earl of Sandwich

Restaurants. Your estimated initial investment under the Development Agreement will vary
depending on the number of restaurants you develop within the Development Territory. The
Development Fee is not refundable, but will be credited against the Initial Eees(ineludingthe
ApplicationFee-and-Initial-Franchise Eee)lFees, which are payable to us under each Franchise
Agreement that you sign under the Development Agreement. You must agree to develop at least
one Earl of Sandwich Restaurant under the Development Agreement.

(2) Legal Fees & Miscellaneous Expenses. These are the estimates to retain legal services to evaluate
the Development Agreement and set up your entity. Except for the Development Fee, there is no
additional initial investment for training, real property, equipment, fixtures, other fixed assets,
construction, remodeling, leasehold improvements, decorating costs, inventory, security deposits,
utility deposit, business licenses, other prepaid expenses or other costs required to begin operating
under the Development Agreement and those costs are reflected in Table No. 1 above with respect
to a Franchise Agreement.

ITEM 8
RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Equipment and Supplies

We require that you: (1) purchase those proprietary food products that will be prepared by or for
Earl of Sandwich Restaurants according to our proprietary special recipes and formulas (“proprietary
products”) only from us or a third party designated and licensed by us to prepare and sell such products
(“designated suppliers”); (2) use the proprietary products only in accordance with the Manual and for items
sold at the Franchised Restaurant; and (3) purchase from manufacturers, distributors, vendors and suppliers
approved by us (“approved suppliers”) all other goods, food products, ingredients, spices, seasonings,
mixes, beverages, materials and supplies used in the preparation of products, as well as advertising
materials, furniture, fixtures, equipment, smallwares, menus, menu boards, forms, paper and plastic
products, packaging or other materials that meet our standards and specifications. We have the right to
require that you use only certain brands and to prohibit you from using other brands. We may from time to
time modify the list of approved brands (including certain brands of soft drinks and bottled beverages), and
you may not, after receipt of such modification in writing, reorder any brand that is no longer an approved
brand. We may from time to time modify the list of designated suppliers and/or approved suppliers, and
you may not, after receipt of such modification in writing, order any proprietary products from a supplier
who is no longer a designated supplier or order any goods or materials from a supplier who is no longer an
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approved supplier. Neither we nor any of our affiliates are currently designated or approved suppliers of
any products.

Our standards and specifications for Earl of Sandwich Restaurants are contained in the Manual. A
list of approved suppliers is available upon written request. We estimate that the purchase of products that
are subject to our standards and specifications represents approximately +8670% of your overall purchases
in establishing and operating the Franchised Restaurant. We do not provide material benefits to our
franchisees (such as renewal or granting additional franchises) based on their purchase of particular
products or services or based on their use of a particular supplier.

We may earn revenue or other material consideration from required purchases or leases by
franchisees in the future although we do not currently supply any products to our franchisees. We did not
earn any revenue from the sale of products by us to our franchisees in our last fiscal year that ended on
December 25;202229, 2024. We may negotiate system-wide purchasing arrangements, including pricing
terms, with suppliers for the benefit of all Earl of Sandwich Restaurants. We do not currently have
purchasing or distribution cooperatives, but we reserve the right to establish them. None of our officers
owns an interest in any of our suppliers.

We may earn money from the suppliers based on your purchases in the form of rebates,
commissions, or other payments. We have entered into a contract with Pepsico Sales, Inc. (“Pepsi”) under
the terms of which Pepsi is the exclusive fountain beverage supplier for Earl of Sandwich Restaurants.
Pepsi has agreed to pay a rebate to us in the amount of $5.50 for each gallon of postmix products purchased
by company-operated (excluding the Earl of Sandwich Restaurants located in Anaheim and Orlando) and
franchised Earl of Sandwich Restaurants: (excluding the Earl of Sandwich Restaurants located in Atlanta).
We use these rebated monies for marketing programs conducted in conjunction with Pepsi. Pepsi has also
agreed to provide payment to us for each gallon purchased for various other funds — including the
conference fund and growth fund.

Except as described in this Item 8, we do not provide any material benefits to you based on your
use of designated or approved suppliers.

Supplier Approval Process

We may approve one or more suppliers or distributors for any goods or materials, and we may
approve a supplier or distributor only as to certain goods or materials. Approval of a supplier or a distributor
may be conditioned on requirements relating to the frequency of delivery, reporting capabilities, standards
of service, including prompt attention to complaints, sanitation standards, facility standards, insurance and
other quality assurance requirements or other criteria, and concentration of purchases, as set forth above,
and such approval may be rescinded or provided on a temporary basis pending our further evaluation of the
supplier. We may concentrate purchases with one or more suppliers to obtain lower prices and/or the best
advertising support and/or services for any group of Earl of Sandwich Restaurants or any other group of
restaurants operated or franchised by us or our affiliates. We may establish commissaries and distribution
facilities owned and operated by us or an affiliate that we will designate as an approved supplier.

If you propose to purchase any goods or materials (that you are not required to purchase from us,
our affiliates or designated suppliers) from a supplier that we have not previously approved, you must
submit to us a written request for such approval, or you must request that the supplier do so. We will
provide our standards and specifications to you or to the proposed supplier, subject to the supplier’s
execution of a confidentiality agreement in a form acceptable to us. We have the right to require, as a
condition of approval, that our representatives be permitted to inspect the supplier’s facilities and that such
information, specifications and samples as we reasonably designate be delivered to us and/or to an
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independent, certified laboratory designated by us for testing prior to granting approval. In addition to
product testing, a facility audit may be required. A fee not to exceed our actual costs of reviewing the
supplier or distributor and auditing the facility, if needed, may be charged by us and shall be paid by you.
We will notify you within 60 days after receipt of your request as to whether you are authorized to purchase
such products from that supplier, and if such authorization is granted, you may contract with the approved
supplier. We may periodically require that the testing be performed again at your expense to ensure
continued compliance with our specifications.

Technology Equipment

You must obtain and install at your expense a technology system, including such data processing
equipment, computer hardware, software, point of sale system, required dedicated telephone lines,
broadband and wireless Internet connections, modems, printers and other computer related accessory or
peripheral equipment as we may specify in the Manual or otherwise in writing. You must record all
transactions at the Franchised Restaurant on a point of sale system that is fully compatible with our
technology system and that includes an information interface capability to communicate electronically with
our technology system to provide us with continuous transaction level point of sale data. You must utilize
any proprietary software programs, system documentation manuals and other proprietary materials
provided by us in connection with the operation of the Franchised Restaurant. You must input and maintain
in your computer the software programs, data and information as we prescribe. You must purchase from us
or our designated suppliers, at prices and upon terms that we determine, the applicable proprietary software
programs, manuals and/or computer-related materials if and when we decide to use new or upgraded
programs, manuals and/or materials throughout the System. We do not currently receive any payments in
connection with these items.

Insurance

You must maintain in full force and effect throughout the term of your Development Agreement
and your Franchise Agreement that insurance which you determine is necessary or appropriate for liabilities
caused by or occurring in connection with the development or operation of the Franchised Restaurant(s),
which shall include, at a minimum, insurance policies of the kinds, and in the amounts, required by us. We,
and any entity with an insurable interest designated by us, shall be an additional insured in all liability
policies (except workers’ compensation) to the extent each has an insurable interest. We may reasonably
increase the minimum coverage required and require different or additional kinds of insurance to reflect
inflation, changes in standards of liability, higher damage awards or other relevant changes in
circumstances. You will receive written notice of such modifications and must take prompt action to secure
the additional coverage or higher policy limits. All insurance policies must be written by an insurance
company (or companies) satisfactory to us and must comply with our standards and specifications, which
we will supply to you in writing. You must submit a certificate of insurance to us when you sign the
Development Agreement or any Franchise Agreement and on each policy renewal date thereafter.

These required insurance policies include, at a minimum, the following: Comprehensive or
Commercial General Liability Insurance, including coverage for bodily injury, personal injury, products
liability, contractual liability, broad form property damage, non-owned automobiles and completed
operations on an occurrence basis with policy limits of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and
$2,000,000 in the aggregate; All Risks Property Insurance for fire and related peril (including floods and
earthquakes where applicable) with limits of insurance of not less than the full replacement value of the
Franchised Restaurant, its furniture, fixtures, equipment, inventory and other tangible property; Business
Interruption and Extra Expense Insurance, including rental payment continuation for a minimum of 12
months, loss of profits and other extra expenses experienced during the recovery from property loss; Plate
Glass Insurance for replacement of glass from breakage; Employer’s Liability Insurance in the amount of
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$400500,000 per person, $500,000 in the aggregate and $+66500,000 for occupational disease; Liquor
Liability Insurance for bodily injury and property damage on an occurrence basis with policy limits of not
less than $1,000,000, to the extent that we have approved the sale of alcoholic beverages at the Franchised
Restaurant; Workers” Compensation and such other insurance as may be required by statute or rule of the
state or locality in which the Franchised Restaurant is located, including coverage for all of your employees
who participate in any of the training programs; Builder’s All Risks Insurance in connection with new
construction or substantial renovation, refurbishment or remodeling of the Franchised Restaurant;
Automobile Liability if you are engaged in any delivery operations with coverage on a Symbol 1 (any auto)
basis in the amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence on any auto; Cyber-Liability Insurance with a minimum
limit of $1,000,000 to include coverage for business interruption loss, cyber extortion, data recovery costs
and data and network liability; and Umbrella or Excess Liability Insurance in the amount of $3,000,000 per
occurrence and $3,000,000 in the annual aggregate that includes the prior mentioned coverages as
underlying policies. You also must maintain performance and completion bonds in forms and amounts, and
written by carrier(s), reasonably satisfactory to us.

ITEM 9
FRANCHISEE’S OBLIGATIONS

This table lists your principal obligations under the Franchise Agreement and Development
Agreement. It will help you find more detailed information about your obligations in these agreements
and in other items of this disclosure document.

SECTION IN
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (DA) DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATION FRANCHISE AGREEMENT (FA) AND DOCUMENT
NON-TRADITIONAL LOCATION ITEM
ADDENDUM (NTA)

Site selection and DA: Sections 5.B.-G. Items 7 & 11
acquisition/lease FA: Sections 3 & 4

NTA: Section 4
Pre-opening DA: Sections 5.G. & 6 Items 7 & 8

purchases/leases

FA: Sections 4, 5.D., 14.B.-D. & 16
NTA: Section 4

Site development and other
pre-opening requirements

DA: Sections 3 & 5
FA: Sections 3,5 & 6
NTA: Not applicable

Items 6, 7 & 11

Initial and ongoing training

DA: Section 5.H.
FA: Sections 5.A. & 12
NTA: Not applicable

Items 5, 6, 7 &
11

Opening

DA: Not applicable
FA: Section 5.H., 6 & 13.A. & B.
NTA: Not applicable

Item 11

Fees

DA: Sections 3.B., 4 & Appendix B
FA: Sections 7,9, 12 & Appendices A & B
NTA: Section 5

Items 5 & 6

Compliance with standards
and policies/Operations
Manual

DA: Section 7
FA: Sections 5.D., 10,11 & 14
NTA: Not applicable

Items 8 & 11
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OBLIGATION

SECTION IN
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (DA)
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT (FA) AND

NON-TRADITIONAL LOCATION
ADDENDUM (NTA)

DISCLOSURE
DOCUMENT
ITEM

Trademarks and proprietary
information

DA: Not applicable
FA: Section 15
NTA: Not applicable

Items 13 & 14

Restrictions on DA: Not applicable Item 16
products/services offered FA: Section 14.B.
NTA: Not applicable
Warranty and customer DA: Not applicable Item 11
service requirements FA: Section 14.H. & M.
NTA: Not applicable
Territorial development and DA: Sections 1.A., 2 & Appendices A & B Item 12
sales quotas FA: Sections 1.A. & B. & Appendix A
NTA: Section 2
Ongoing product/service DA: Not applicable Item 8
purchases FA: Section 14.A. & B.
NTA: Not applicable
Maintenance, appearance DA: Not applicable Item 11
and remodeling FA: Section 14.G.
requirements NTA: Section 8
Insurance DA: Section 6 Items 6 & 7
FA: Section 16
NTA: Not applicable
Advertising DA: Not applicable Items 6 & 11
FA: Section 9 & Appendix B
NTA: Section 7
Indemnification DA: Section 16 Item 6

FA: Section 26
NTA: Section 11

Owner’s participation/
management/staffing

DA: Section 8.G.
FA: Sections 14.1. & 17.G.
NTA: Not applicable

Items 11 & 15

Records/reports

DA: Not applicable
FA: Sections 5.F. & 8
NTA: Not applicable

Item 6

Inspections/audits

DA: Not applicable

FA: Sections 5.E. & H., 8.F., 13.C. & 14.F.

NTA: Not applicable

Items 6 & 11

Transfer

DA: Sections 9 & 10
FA: Sections 18 & 19
NTA: Not applicable

Item 17
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SECTION IN
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (DA) DISCLOSURE

OBLIGATION FRANCHISE AGREEMENT (FA) AND DOCUMENT
NON-TRADITIONAL LOCATION ITEM
ADDENDUM (NTA)
u. | Renewal DA: Not applicable Item 17

FA: Section 2.B.
NTA: Not applicable

v. | Post-termination DA: Section 14 Item 17
obligations FA: Section 23
NTA: Not applicable
w. | Non-competition covenants DA: Section 12 Item 17

FA: Section 21
NTA: Not applicable
x. | Dispute resolution DA: Section 22 Item 17
FA: Section 31
NTA: Not applicable
y. | Personal Guarantee DA: Section &.F. Not Applicable
FA: Section 17.F.
NTA: Not applicable

ITEM 10
FINANCING

We do not offer direct or indirect financing. We do not guarantee your note, lease or obligation.
ITEM 11
FRANCHISOR’S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING,
COMPUTER SYSTEMS AND TRAINING

Except as listed below, Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC is not required to provide you with any
assistance.

Our Obligations Prior To Opening

Before you open your Franchised Restaurant, we will:

L. Provide our site selection guidelines and, as you may request, a reasonable amount of consultation
with respect to the guidelines. We will also provide such on-site evaluation as we may deem
advisable as part of our evaluation of your request for site approval. If you are developing multiple
restaurants under a Development Agreement, we will apply our then-current site selection
guidelines to your site applications. (Development Agreement, § 5.B.; Franchise Agreement,
§3.B.)

2. We will advise you in writing whether we have approved a proposed site within 15 days after we
receive your Real Estate Site Application, a business plan and any additional information that we
may reasonably require. If we do not respond within 15 days, we will be deemed to have denied
approval of the site. (Development Agreement, § 5.E.; Franchise Agreement, § 3.E.)
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3. Provide you with any development training we require. (Development Agreement, § 5.H.;
Franchise Agreement, § 5.A.)

4. Provide written specifications for fixtures, furnishings, equipment, signs and opening inventory
and provide you with a list of designated and approved suppliers for these items. (Franchise
Agreement § 5.D.) Neither we nor any of our affiliates are currently designated or approved
suppliers of any of these items.

5. Furnish you with prototypical plans and specifications for an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant (or
Nontraditional Restaurant if applicable), including requirements for dimensions, design image,
interior layout, décor, fixtures, equipment, signs, furnishings, storefront and color scheme. We may
require you to engage the services of an architect, project manager and/or general contractor that
have been approved by us. It will be your responsibility to have prepared all required construction
plans and specifications to suit the shape and dimensions of the Franchised Location, subject to our
approval, and you must ensure that these plans and specifications comply with applicable
ordinances, building codes and permit requirements and with lease requirements and restrictions.
You must use only registered architects, registered engineers and professional and licensed
contractors. We will provide you with written approval or disapproval of your construction plans
for the proposed Franchised Restaurant and notify you within 14 days after we receive the plans
whether we approve or disapprove of the plans. (Franchise Agreement, § 5.B.)

6. Provide you with a final inspection of the Franchised Restaurant, if we choose to conduct one, and
provide you with express written authorization to open the Franchised Restaurant if you have
complied with all conditions. (Franchise Agreement, § 5.H.)

7. Loan you a copy of our confidential and proprietary Manual, which contains information and
knowledge that is unique, necessary and material to the System, including mandatory specifications
and standards relating to the construction, management and operation of Earl of Sandwich
Restaurants. The Manual remains our property. We may revise the contents of the Manual, and you
agree to comply with each new or changed section. (Development Agreement, § 7; Franchise
Agreement, § 10). The Table of Contents of the Manual as of the date of this disclosure document
is attached as Exhibit H. As of that date, the Manual, contained a total of 130 pages.

8. Provide you with consultation and advice with regard to the development and operation of the
Franchised Restaurant, building layout, furnishings, fixtures and equipment, plans and
specifications, employee recruiting, selection and training, purchasing and inventory control and
such other matters as we deem appropriate. (Franchise Agreement, § 13.A.)

9. Provide an initial manager training program to you, your Operating Principal (as defined in Item

15), your restaurant manager and any other person that we designate. The details of the initial
manager training program are described later in this Item 11. (Franchise Agreement, § 12)

Our Obligations After Opening
During the operation of your Franchised Restaurant, we will:
1. Collect, administer and spend for advertising purposes monies paid by franchised and company-

operated Earl of Sandwich Restaurants into the Brand Fund and any Regional Advertising Fund (if
established). (Franchise Agreement, §§ 9.B.-F. & H.)
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2. Provide you with guidelines for local advertising and promotion from time to time upon request.
You must submit to us for our prior approval any local advertising and promotional materials that
you purchase from a source other than us or our affiliates. (Franchise Agreement, § 9.G.)

3. Provide additional training to you and any other employees that we designate, if we decide to offer
any additional training. We reserve the right to require you to pay a tuition fee for these additional
training programs, and you will be required to pay all travel, living, food and other incidental
expenses incurred by you and your employees while attending the training. (Franchise Agreement,
§ 12.B.)

4, Provide periodic advice and consultation to you in connection with the operation of the Franchised
Restaurant as we deem appropriate or necessary. We will provide to you, as we deem appropriate
or necessary, our knowledge and expertise regarding the System and pertinent new developments,
techniques and improvements in the areas of restaurant design, management, food and beverage
preparation, sales promotion, service concepts and other areas. We may provide these services
through visits by our representatives to the Franchised Restaurant or your offices, the distribution
of printed or filmed material or electronic information, meetings or seminars, telephone
communications, electronic mail communications or other communications. (Franchise
Agreement, § 13.B.)

5. Conduct inspections of the Franchised Restaurant and valuations of the products sold and services
rendered as we deem appropriate or necessary. (Franchise Agreement, §§ 13.C. & 14.F.)

6. Provide a list of approved suppliers of proprietary products, goods, food products, ingredients,
spices, seasonings, mixes, beverages, materials and supplies used in the preparation of products, as
well as advertising materials furniture, fixtures, equipment, smallwares, menus, menu boards,
forms, paper and plastic products, packaging or other materials that meet the standards and
specifications that we promulgate from time to time. (Franchise Agreement, §14.B.)

7. Set the resale pricing policies for menu items and products sold at Earl of Sandwich Restaurants.
(Franchise Agreement, § 14.D.)

Advertising

Weekly Marketing Obligation

During the term of the Franchise Agreement, your Weekly Marketing Obligation will not exceed
5% of the Gross Sales of the Franchised Restaurant. We may allocate the Weekly Marketing Obligation at
our discretion between the Brand Fund, a Reglonal Advertlslng Fund (or Reg10nal Co- op) and/or Local
Store Marketmg : : : : :

Stef&MraﬂeeHﬂg—We have the rlght followmg ertten notlce to you, to increase and reallocate the Weekly
Marketing Obligation among the Brand Fund, a Regional Advertising Fund (or Regional Co-Op) and/or
Local Store Marketing.

Brand Fund

We administer the Earl of Sandwich Brand Fund (“Brand Fund”). Currently, you must contribute

12% of weekly Gross Sales of the Franchised Restaurant to the Brand Fund-up-te—a-maximumannual
contribution-0£$30,000. We will have sole discretion to use the Brand Fund, and the monies in the Brand
Fund, for any purpose that we believe will enhance, protect, and increase public recognition and perception
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of the System and Proprietary Marks. We will direct all programs that the Brand Fund finances, with sole
control over the creative concepts, materials, and endorsements used and their geographic, market, and
media placement and allocation. You must participate in all advertising, marketing, promotions, research
and public relations programs instituted by the Brand Fund.

Among the programs, concepts, and expenditures for which we may utilize the Brand Fund monies
are: (1) creative development and production of print ads, commercials, radio spots, point of purchase
materials, direct mail pieces, door hangers, and other advertising and marketing materials; (2) creative
development, preparation, production and placement of video, audio, and written materials and electronic
media; (3) media placement and buying, including all associated expenses and fees; (4) administering
regional and multi-regional marketing and advertising programs; (5) market research and customer
satisfaction surveys, including the use of secret shoppers; (6) the creative development of, and actual
production associated with, premium items, giveaways, promotions, contests, public relation events, and
charitable or nonprofit events; (7) creative development of signage, posters, and individual restaurant décor
items including wall graphics and signage; (8) development and management of a kiosk or truck program;
(9) website, extranet and/or intranet development and maintenance; (10) development, implementation, and
maintenance of an electronic commerce website and/or related strategies; (11) development and
implementation of search engine optimization strategies; (12) development and administration of consumer
surveys, interviews and other customer satisfaction and retention policies; (13) retention and payment of
advertising and marketing agencies and other outside advisors including retainer and management fees;
(14) public relations and community involvement activities and programs; and (15) real estate analytics and
modeling.

Vendors and suppliers also may contribute to the Brand Fund. We may produce materials in house
or work with an advertising agency in developing advertising for print, Internet, and other related
advertising media. During our last fiscal year, which ended on December 255202229, 2024, we spent Brand
Fund contributions in the following approximate amounts: 5854% on creative/branding, 3945% on digital
advertising, and 31% on print advertising.

Regional Advertising

In addition to the Brand Fund, you will pay that portion of the Weekly Marketing Obligation as we
direct to any Regional Advertising Fund or, in lieu of a Regional Advertising Fund, a Regional Co-op that
we may establish in the geographic area that covers your Franchised Location. We will determine the
geographic area covered by a Regional Advertising Fund or a Regional Co-op based on the location of the
Earl of Sandwich Restaurants in the area and the reach of print, radio and television media in the area.
Company-operated and franchised Earl of Sandwich Restaurants in the geographic area covered by a
Regional Advertising Fund or a Regional Co-op will be obligated to contribute to that Fund or Co-op. As
of the date of this disclosure document, we have not yet established any Regional Advertising Fund or Co-

op.

As noted above, in lieu of a Regional Advertising Fund for the area that includes your Franchised
Location, we may establish a Regional Co-op. Monies in the Regional Co-op may be spent for the purposes
determined by majority vote of the Regional Co-op on the basis of one vote for each Earl of Sandwich
Restaurant in the Regional Co-op. If the members of a Regional Co-op are unable or fail to determine how
to spend Regional Co-op monies, we may assume this decision-making authority following ten days’
advance written notice to the Regional Co-op members.
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Administration of the Funds

We, or our designee, shall direct all advertising, marketing, and public relations programs and
activities financed by the Brand Fund and any Regional Advertising Fund with sole discretion over the
creative concepts, materials and endorsements used in those programs and activities and the geographic,
market and media placement and allocation of advertising and marketing materials.

Unless we otherwise agree in writing, advertising that is funded by the Brand Fund or any Regional
Advertising Funds or Regional Co-ops must conform to those advertising and sales promotions that we
specify from time to time. We, or our designee, have the right to terminate (and subsequently restart) any
of the advertising and cooperative funds and establish different advertising and/or cooperative funds. We
may incorporate any advertising fund and may have a separate entity manage any advertising fund. We will
not use any of the advertising funds for advertising that is principally a solicitation for the sale of franchises.
We have not established an advertising cooperative or an advisory council of franchisees to provide input
on advertising matters, but we reserve the right to do so in the future.

We will separately account for all of the Brand Fund and the Regional Advertising Funds that we
administer; however, we are not required to segregate any of the funds from our other monies. None of the
funds shall be used to defray any of our general operating expenses. We and our affiliates may be
reimbursed by each fund for expenses directly related to the fund’s marketing programs including
conducting market research, preparing advertising and marketing materials and collecting and accounting
for contributions to each fund. We may spend in any fiscal year an amount greater or less than the aggregate
contribution of all Earl of Sandwich Restaurants to each fund during the year or cause each fund to invest
any surplus for future use by the fund. We will prepare an unaudited report of the operations of each fund
annually, which will be available to you upon written request. Company-operated Restaurants contribute to
the various advertising funds and cooperatives an amount equivalent to that contributed by comparable
franchised Earl of Sandwich Restaurants. In spending advertising monies, we are not obligated to make
expenditures for any franchisee that are equivalent or proportionate to that franchisee’s contribution or to
ensure that any particular franchisee benefits directly or on a pro rata basis from expenditure of the funds.
We are not required to spend any amount on advertising in the area where your Franchised Restaurant is
located.

Local Store Marketing

Currently, you must spend 21% of the Gross Sales of the Franchised Restaurant on Local Store
Marketing. We do not place any local advertising materials in your market. You may purchase local
advertising and promotion materials from any source that we approve. From time to time, we, or our
designee, may furnish you with marketing, advertising and promotional materials at the cost of producing
them, plus any related shipping, handling and storage charges. You may not modify such materials without
our prior written consent. If you purchase these materials from a source other than us or our affiliates, these
materials must comply with federal and local laws and regulations and with the guidelines for advertising
and promotions promulgated from time to time by us or our designee and must be submitted to us or our
designee at least 30 days prior to first use for approval, which we may grant or withhold in its sole discretion.
All of your marketing, advertising and promotional materials must bear the Proprietary Marks in the form,
color, location and manner that we prescribe. In no event may your advertising contain any statement or
material which, in our sole discretion, may be considered: (1) in bad taste or offensive to the public or to
any group of persons; (2) defamatory of any person or an attack on any competitor; (3) to infringe upon the
use, without permission, of any other persons’ trade name, trademark, service mark or identification; or
(4) inconsistent with our public image or that of the System.
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Grand Opening Advertising

At least 30 days prior to the opening of a Franchised Restaurant, you must submit a Grand Opening
Required Spending Plan (“Grand Opening Plan”) to us outlining your proposal for grand opening
advertising of the Franchised Restaurant. (The Grand Opening Plan is in addition to your local advertising
obligation.) You must obtain our consent to the Grand Opening Plan before you begin to implement it.
After we consent to the Grand Opening Plan, you cannot make any substantial changes to the Grand
Opening Plan without our advance written consent. You must, during the period beginning 30 days before
the scheduled opening of the Franchised Restaurant and continuing until 60 days after the Franchised
Restaurant first opens for business, spend at least $7,500 ($3,000 for a Nontraditional Restaurant) to
conduct grand opening advertising under the Grand Opening Plan. Within ten days after the end of this
period, you must submit proof of your grand opening advertising expenditures to us.

Point of Sale System and Technology

You must purchase (or lease), install, and maintain, at your expense, a technology system including
such data processing equipment, computer hardware, software, point of sale system, required dedicated
data, telephone lines, broadband and wireless Internet connections, modems, printers and other computer-
related accessories or peripheral equipment that we require. You must sign any applicable licensing
agreements with third party developers or manufacturers of those systems.

Your point of sale system must be capable of recording customer transactions, collecting and
generating gross sales reports allowing us to poll data and sales from the Franchised Restaurant, and
collecting and generating sales reports by categories, including, but not limited to, menu mix by day-parts
and order type (dine-in, to go, etc.). The system also must be capable of complying with the Payment Card
Industry Data Security Standard (PCI Standards) and the Fair Credit Reporting Act, which requires that,
among other things, merchants truncate credit card and debit card numbers. You must provide all assistance
required by us to bring your point of sale system on-line with our technology system. We have the
independent right under the Franchise Agreement to retrieve any data and information from your point of
sale system that we deem appropriate, including electronically polling the daily sales, menu/product mix
and other data of the Franchised Restaurant. There are no contractual limitations on our right to
independently access this information and data.

Currently, we have approved the NCR-AlehapeintToast Point of saleSale system and software for
wse—in—Earl—front-of—Sandwich—Restaurants;-house operations and Restaurant365 for back-of-house
management; however we will also permit our franchisees to use a different system on a case by case basis.
We estimate that it will cost you approximately $+53,000 to $366,000 to purchase the point of sale system
for your Franchised Restaurant. We may require you to replace, upgrade, or update these systems at any
time during the term of the Franchise Agreement at your expense, and there is no limitation on the frequency
or the cost of this obligation.

Selecting the Location for the Franchised Restaurant

We do not select the site for your Franchised Restaurant. You select the site for your Franchised
Restaurant (subject to our approval). If no site has been designated at the time you sign the Franchise
Agreement, you must select the site within the Site Selection Area mutually agreed to in the Franchise
Agreement, and you must obtain our approval for a site before the Site Approval Deadline specified in the
Franchise Agreement (which will typically be 180 days after you sign the Franchise Agreement). We may
require you to engage the services of a real estate broker approved by us to assist you in identifying and
securing a site for your Franchised Restaurant. If you develop the Franchised Restaurant under a
Development Agreement, you must obtain our approval of a site by the site approval date identified in the
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Development Schedule contained in the Development Agreement. If we do not approve a site within the
relevant time period, we, at our option, may terminate the Development Agreement or the Franchise
Agreement, respectively. If you sign a Development Agreement, we will review your site applications for
each Franchised Restaurant under the site selection criteria that we have in place when we receive your
application. If you develop a Nontraditional Restaurant, you must purchase or lease the location before you
sign the Franchise Agreement and the Nontraditional Location Addendum. As noted in Item 1, you should
not acquire any leasehold or ownership interest in a site for your Franchised Restaurant until you have been
approved as a franchisee, and we have approved the site in writing.

You must submit a Real Estate Site Application (containing that information as we may reasonably
require) for a proposed site which you reasonably believe conforms to site selection criteria we establish
from time to time, including demographic characteristics, traffic patterns, parking, character of the
neighborhood, competition from other businesses in the area, the proximity to other businesses (including
restaurants operated or franchised by us and our affiliates), the nature of other businesses in proximity to
the site and other commercial characteristics (including the purchase price, rental obligations and other
lease terms for the proposed site) and the size, appearance, other physical characteristics, and a site plan of
the premises. We may retain the services of third party real estate analysts to evaluate proposed sites for
Earl of Sandwich Restaurants. You also must furnish us with such financial statements, business plans and
other information regarding you and the development and operation of the proposed Franchised Restaurant,
including, without limitation, investment and financing plans for the proposed Franchised Restaurant.

Upon receipt of your Real Estate Application and other requested materials, our Real Estate Review
Committee will review those materials and evaluate the proposed site using the site selection criteria
referenced above. Within 15 days after we receive the Real Estate Site Application, your business plan and
any additional information that we require (and if the Franchised Restaurant is not developed under a
Development Agreement, the signed Franchise Agreement and all requisite fees), we will advise you in
writing whether we have approved a particular site. If we do not respond within that time period, we will
be deemed to have denied approval of the site. Our approval or denial of approval of a site may be subject
to reasonable conditions as determined in our sole discretion.

If you propose to lease or sublease the Franchised Location, you must provide us with a copy of
the fully-executed lease or sublease (for a term, including renewal terms, for at least the initial term of the
Franchise Agreement) for the Franchised Location within 90 days after we approve the site for the
Franchised Location or, for a Nontraditional Restaurant, within 30 days after you sign the Franchise
Agreement and the Nontraditional Location Addendum.

Time Between Agreement Signing and Opening

We estimate that the time from signing the Franchise Agreement to opening of the Franchised
Restaurant is approximately eight months. Factors affecting the length of time needed to open the
Franchised Restaurant usually include your ability to obtain a lease and adequate financing, weather, local
requirements and procedures for necessary permits and zoning, shortages or delayed installation of
equipment, signs and fixtures and special circumstances affecting construction in a particular area, none of
which are within our control.

Training
Initial Manager Training Program

At least 45 days prior to opening your Franchised Restaurant, we will provide to you (or your
Operating Principal) and up to two managers designated by you an initial manager training program in the
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operation of an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant at those times and those places that we designate. The initial
manager training program will include classroom instruction and on-the-job training at a company-operated
Earl of Sandwich Restaurant designated by us. Upon completion of the initial manager training program,
you and your designated employees who attend the initial manager training program will take an exam,
upon successful completion of which a “Certificate of Completion” will be awarded to each applicable
individual, and you will be “Certified” to operate the Franchised Restaurant. We require a minimum of one
certified manager for each Franchised Restaurant. We will not authorize your Franchised Restaurant to
open until an adequate number of your managers (as determined by us during the construction phase in our
sole discretion based on the size of your Franchised Restaurant and the planned hours of operation) have
attended, successfully completed and been “Certified” in the initial manager training program. We will
notify you of your trainee’s certification status at the end of the initial manager training program.

After you open the Franchised Restaurant, any employee of yours who assumes any management
position must, within 30 days after assuming such position, attend the initial manager training program and
become certified for that position. We will provide the initial manager training program unless we have
certified an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant operated by you as a Certified Training Restaurant as discussed
below. The initial manager training program is provided to share our brand operating standards with your
trainees to protect the System and the Proprietary Marks and not to control the day to day operation of your
Franchised Restaurant.

The length of our initial manager training program averages nine days to learn the required skills.
We may increase or decrease the length of the initial manager training program at our discretion based upon
your managers’ prior restaurant experience and actual training success. We offer these training programs
periodically during the year on an as-needed basis. The initial manager training program is scheduled so
that it is completed sufficiently in advance of your Franchised Restaurant’s initial opening to afford
adequate time for the Franchised Restaurant set-up and the hiring and training of team members before the
opening of the Franchised Restaurant. Currently, we do not charge a fee for the initial manager training
program; however, you must pay all travel, living, food and other incidental expenses incurred by you and
your employees while attending the training. We reserve the right to dismiss from the initial manager
training program any person whom we do not believe will perform acceptably in the position for which he
has been hired by you and you shall provide a suitable replacement within one month of such dismissal.

This initial manager training program is mandatory for all franchisees. The following chart
summarizes the subjects taught during the initial manager training program in the operation of an Earl of
Sandwich Restaurant:

TRAINING PROGRAM
HOURS OF HOURS OF
SUBJECT CLASSROOM | ON THE JOB LOCATION*

TRAINING TRAINING
Orientation 2 0 Certified Training Restaurant
Hourly Team Member Functions 2 37 Certified Training Restaurant
Management Functions 2 24 Certified Training Restaurant
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HOURS OF HOURS OF
SUBJECT CLASSROOM | ON THE JOB LOCATION*
TRAINING TRAINING

Training Assessment and
Feedback

Total 11 61

5 0 Certified Training Restaurant

* You will attend the initial manager training program at one of our company-operated Earl of Sandwich
Restaurants. We currently operate Earl of Sandwich Restaurants in California, Florida, and Nevada; New
Yeorlkand Massachusetts. The instructional materials for the initial manager training program include the
Earl of Sandwich training guides, supplemental handouts and the Manual.

Our Director of Operations, David Snodgrass, and our Regional Operations Manager, Vittorio
Jattan, manage our initial manager training program. Our trainers include:

N Years of Training Years of Training Experience
Sanls Experience with EOS with Other Concepts
David Snodgrass 16 1

Director of Operations
Vittorio Jattan
Regional Operations Manager

[N}
[\
—

Juan Ingelmo 12 78
General Manager / Franchise Trainer — —

shaenon Lray

Shaenon Cra 1 35

General Manager / Franchise Trainer - =

Team Member Training

Prior to opening the Franchised Restaurant, you or your “Certified” manager must train all newly
hired team members in the operation of the Franchised Restaurant. We will not authorize your Franchised
Restaurant to open until an adequate number of your employees (as determined by us in our sole discretion
based on the Franchised Restaurant’s size, location, hours of operation and proposed work hours per team
member) have attended and successfully completed the Team Member Training. You must conduct any
additional initial and continuing training programs for your employees as we may require from time to time.

If the Franchised Restaurant is your first Earl of Sandwich Restaurant, we will conduct the team
member training on-site at the Franchised Restaurant for non-management staff for seven days prior to and
seven days after the date that you open the Franchised Restaurant. Y ou must reimburse us for the reasonable
travel and lodging accommodation expenses incurred by our training personnel in conducting the on-site
training. We will notify you during the team member training if any staff member does not successfully
complete the program.

Y ou shallmust provide us with a written netiee-30request for training within seven days in-advanee
of the-scheduled-epening-date;receipt of a certificate of occupancy and we shall have the right to rely on
that daterequest to schedule and coordinate thc arrival of our per—senﬂel mploycc who will assist in the
team member training. § 3 3
atleasttwo-daysbefore w1ll schedule and coo1d1nate the seheéuleéamval of our ernployees— for tramlng
as soon as reasonably possible after receiving the request for training. We will arrive for training no later
than 30 days after we receive your request. We may delay the scheduled arrival of our employees if we
determine, in our sole discretion, that the Franchised Restaurant building is not safe or not ready to begin
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training. If the team member training date or the opening date is postponed or delayed for failure to obtain
a certificate of occupancy or for any other reason and, as a direct result thereof, we incur any additional
costs and expenses, you shall promptly reimburse us for those costs and expenses, including the salaries
and the wages of our trainers during the period of such delay.

If the Franchised Restaurant is not your first Earl of Sandwich Restaurant and if you request that
we conduct the team member training for non-management staff, you must pay all reasonable expenses
incurred by us in connection with such on-site training, including without limitation, travel expenses,
lodging accommodations, salaries and wages of our training personnel during any requested dates of
training, and other reasonable expenses of all such persons sent to the Franchised Restaurant in connection
with the on-site training of the Franchised Restaurant employees.

In connection with any on-site training at the Franchised Restaurant, if your opening date is delayed
for failure to obtain a certificate of occupancy or due to regulatory or operational issues, you will be required
to reimburse us for any reasonable expenses we incur in connection with: (1) any additional training related
to the delays of such opening date (regardless of cause); and (2) any additional training required for team
member training or re-training conducted on-site at the Franchised Restaurant.

Certified Training Restaurants

If you operate two or more franchised Earl of Sandwich Restaurants, within 90 days after you open
your third Franchised Restaurant, you may request permission to establish one of your Franchised
Restaurants as a Certified Training Restaurant (“CTR”) at which you will offer the initial manager training
program to your employees. EOS must certify the Franchised Restaurant as a CTR before you may begin
training there. We may periodically visit the CTR to ensure that it continues to meet our standards. We may
revoke our certification if the CTR ceases to meet those standards.

Additional Training Programs

We have the right to require that you (or your Operating Principal), your restaurant managers, and
any other employees that we designate take and successfully complete other training courses in addition to
the initial manager training program. We reserve the right to require you to pay a tuition fee for these
additional training programs as established by us from time to time. We also reserve the right to modify the
elements of the initial manager training program and any additional training programs, in our sole
discretion. You will be required to pay all travel, living, food and other incidental expenses incurred by you
and your employees while attending any training program.

ITEM 12
TERRITORY

Development Agreement

If you sign a Development Agreement, you will receive a Development Territory, which will be
mutually agreed upon by EOS and you, taking into consideration the density of the area and the number of
Franchised Restaurants you agree to develop. A description of the Development Territory will be included
in the Development Agreement. The perimeters of the Development Territory may be described by specific
street boundaries, county lines, state lines, municipal boundaries, railroad tracks or other similar boundary
descriptions, and the size may range from a portion of a metropolitan area to a county or a state in less
densely populated areas. For each Earl of Sandwich Restaurant that you develop under the Development
Agreement, you must select a site which we approve based on our then-current site selection criteria that
we establish from time to time.

EOS Disclosure Document — 09/2325 29



The System (including the products sold under the Proprietary Marks) has been developed, and is
designed, to function effectively in a wide variety of retail environments, many of which are not practically
available to you. Accordingly, under the Development Agreement, we reserve to ourselves the right to:
(1) operate, and license others to operate, restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and mark
“Earl of Sandwich” in the Development Territory at Nontraditional Locations; (2) award national or
regional licenses to third parties to sell products under the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” in foodservice
facilities primarily identified by the third party’s trademark; (3) develop and operate, and license others to
develop and operate, restaurants other than restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and mark
“Earl of Sandwich” in the Development Territory; (4) merchandise and distribute products identified by
some or all of the Proprietary Marks in the Development Territory through any other method or channel of
distribution; and (5) sell and distribute products identified by some or all of the Proprietary Marks in the
Development Territory to restaurants other than restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and
mark “Earl of Sandwich,” provided those restaurants are not licensed to use the Proprietary Marks in
connection with their retail sales.

Except as described in the preceding paragraph, we will not, during the term of the Development
Agreement (which expires on the date that you sign the lease for the last Franchised Restaurant that you are
required to develop under the Development Schedule) operate, or license others to operate, restaurants
identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” in the Development Territory,
provided you are in compliance with the terms of the Development Agreement and other agreements with
us or our affiliates and you are current on all obligations due to us and our affiliates. This does not prohibit
us or our affiliates from: (1) operating, and licensing others to operate, during the term of the Development
Agreement, restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” at any
location outside of the Development Territory; (2) operating, and licensing others to operate, after the
Development Agreement terminates or expires, restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and
mark “Earl of Sandwich” at any location; and (3) operating, and licensing others to operate, at any location,
during or after the Development Term, any type of restaurant other than a restaurant identified in whole or
in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich.” The restrictions above apply only to EOS and do not
apply to restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” under
construction or in operation in the Development Territory as of the date of the Development Agreement.
We are not required to compensate you for exercising any rights reserved to us in the Development
Territory.

There are no minimum sales quotas or other conditions that must be met in order to maintain your
territorial rights in the Development Territory. However, if you are in default under the Development
Agreement (which may include, but is not limited to, a default for failing to comply with the Development
Schedule) or any Franchise Agreement, we may terminate the Development Agreement and your territorial
rights in the Development Territory. You will not receive any exclusive territory under the Development
Agreement. You may face competition from other franchisees, from outlets that we own, or from other
channels of distribution or competitive brands that we control. You do not receive the right under the
Development Agreement to develop or operate any Franchised Restaurants in addition to the number
specified in the Development Schedule.

Franchise Agreement

If you sign a Franchise Agreement without a Development Agreement, you must select a site which
we approve based on the site selection criteria that we establish from time to time. Under the Franchise
Agreement, we grant you the right to operate the Franchised Restaurant continuously at the approved site
(the “Franchised Location”). You may not relocate the Franchised Restaurant without our prior written
consent, which may be withheld by us in our sole discretion after reviewing a variety of factors, including
population density, the proximity of other Earl of Sandwich Restaurants and other relevant demographic
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factors. If we approve a relocation of your Franchised Restaurant, we have the right to charge you for all
reasonable expenses actually incurred in connection with consideration of the request, and we may
condition our approval upon the payment of an agreed minimum royalty fee to EOS during the period in
which the Franchised Restaurant is not in operation.

If you comply with the Franchise Agreement and any other agreements with us or our affiliates and
are current on all obligations due us and our affiliates, during the term of the Franchise Agreement, we and
our affiliates will not operate, or license others to operate, Earl of Sandwich Restaurants in a geographic
area surrounding the Franchised Location (“Protected Area”). This restriction applies only to EOS and does
not apply to restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” under
construction or in operation in the Protected Area as of the date of the Franchise Agreement. The size of
the Protected Area will vary depending on, among other things, the location in which you wish to operate
the Franchised Restaurant. Typically, the Protected Area will be set as a radius around the Franchised
Location. The perimeters of the Protected Area may be described by specific street boundaries, county lines,
state lines, municipal boundaries, railroad tracks, or other similar boundary descriptions. Factors that we
will use in order to determine the Protected Area include demographics, population density and number of
households in the area, the growth profile of the populations within the area, the competitive environment
in that market, and other factors that we will take into account. If you develop Franchised Restaurants
under a Development Agreement, we will determine the Protected Area for the Franchised Restaurants
according to the policies that are in place when you sign each Franchise Agreement.

We and our affiliates may, however: (1) operate, and license others to operate, restaurants identified
in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” and/or utilizing the System in the Protected
Area at Nontraditional Locations; (2) award national or regional licenses to third parties to sell products
under the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” in foodservice facilities primarily identified by the third
party’s trademark; (3) develop and operate, and license others to develop and operate, restaurants other than
restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” and/or utilizing the
System in the Protected Area; (4) merchandise and distribute products identified by some or all of the
Proprietary Marks in the Protected Area through any other method or channel of distribution; and (5) sell
and distribute products identified by some or all of the Proprietary Marks in the Protected Area to
restaurants other than restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich,”
provided those restaurants are not licensed to use the Proprietary Marks in connection with their retail sales.

The Franchise Agreement does not prohibit us or our affiliates from: (1) operating, and licensing
others to operate, during the term of the Franchise Agreement, restaurants identified in whole or in part by
the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” at any location outside of the Protected Area; (2) operating, and
licensing others to operate, after the Franchise Agreement terminates or expires, restaurants identified in
whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” at any location; and (3) operating, and licensing
others to operate, at any location, during the term of the Franchise Agreement or after the Franchise
Agreement expires or terminates, any type of restaurant other than a restaurant identified in whole or in part
by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich.” We are not required to compensate you for exercising any
rights reserved to us in the Protected Area.

The Franchise Agreement does not authorize you to sell products through other channels of
distribution, such as the Internet, catalog sales, telemarketing, or other direct marketing efforts. We may
permit you to advertise the Franchised Restaurant through the Internet and other electronic means, but we
have the right to approve and control any electronic, mobile or Internet presence that uses or displays any
of the Proprietary Marks. You will not receive any exclusive territory under the Franchise Agreement. You
may face competition from other franchisees, from outlets that we own, or from other channels of
distribution or competitive brands that we control.
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Nontraditional Location Addendum

If you sign a Nontraditional Location Addendum to the Franchise Agreement, you will not receive
any exclusive territory. You may face competition from other franchisees, from outlets that we own, or
from other channels of distribution or competitive brands that we control.

You do not receive the right under the Franchise Agreement to develop or operate more than one
Franchised Restaurant.

Except as described above, we and our affiliates may establish other franchised or company-
operated outlets under the Proprietary Marks and/or under other marks that may compete with your location.
We and our affiliates may merchandise and distribute goods and services identified by the Proprietary
Marks through methods or channels of distribution other than restaurants and catering services, including
through e-commerce channels and the Internet. We reserve all rights to use and license the System other
than those we expressly grant you under the Development Agreement or Franchise Agreement. We have
no obligation to pay any compensation to you if we exercise these rights.

Other Brands

Exeeptas—previoushydeseribedin-this tem12neitherNeither we nor any of our affiliates have

established or presently intends to establish, other franchises or affiliate-operated outlets selling or leasing
similar products or services to those offered by Earl of Sandwich restaurants under a different trade name
or trademark; however, we retain the right to do so in the future.

ITEM 13
TRADEMARKS

We grant you the right to operate a restaurant under the name “Earl of Sandwich” and to use our
other current or future Proprietary Marks in the operation of your Franchised Restaurant. As stated in [tem
1, the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant concept derives its name from John Montagu, the 4™ Earl of Sandwich
who created the sandwich in 1762. Under a February 21, 2008 License Agreement with EOS (FamilyCo)
and EOS (LicenseCo), we have the exclusive right to use and permit our franchisees and licensees to use
the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” in addition to certain related trademarks, service marks and other
commercial symbols. EOS (FamilyCo) and EOS (LicenseCo) have the right to terminate the License
Agreement if we commit a breach of the License Agreement.

We or EOS (FamilyCo) are the registered owner of the following principal marks, which have been
registered with the United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) on the Principal Register, and
all required affidavits of continued use have been filed and accepted:

Trademark Registration No. Registration Date

EARL OF SANDWICH 3205577 February 6, 2007
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Trademark Registration No. Registration Date
3322443 October 30, 2007
4873191 December 22, 2015
THE WORLD’S GREATEST 3529457 November 4, 2008
HOT SANDWICH
THE ORIGINAL SANDWICH 3572634 February 10, 2009
SINCE 1762
THE ORIGINAL 1762 3572633 February 10, 2009
4065204 December 6, 2011
WE INVENTED THE 4728878 April 28, 2015
SANDWICH
4989567 June 28, 2016
5005860 May 10, 2016

You must follow our rules when you use our Proprietary Marks. You may not use the Proprietary
Marks on any vehicles without our prior written approval. You may not modify the Proprietary Marks in
any manner in connection with your display of, or creation or duplication of materials bearing, the
Proprietary Marks. You may not use the Proprietary Marks or any variations of the Proprietary Marks or
marks or names confusingly similar to the Proprietary Marks in any manner not authorized by EOS or in
any corporate, limited liability company or partnership name and may not use any other trade names, service
marks or trademarks in conjunction with the Franchised Restaurant. You must use the symbol ® with all
registered marks and the symbol " with all pending registrations or other marks. You may not use the
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Proprietary Marks in connection with the sale of any unauthorized products or services or in any manner
not authorized in writing by us.

You may not use the Proprietary Marks on any Internet domain name, e-mail address or in the
operation of any Internet website without our prior written consent. We may grant or withhold our consent
in our sole discretion and may condition our consent on such requirements as we deem appropriate,
including, among other things, that you obtain our prior written approval of: (1) any and all Internet domain
names and home page addresses related to the Franchised Restaurant; (2) the proposed form and content
(including any visible and non-visible content such as meta-tags) of any website related to the Franchised
Restaurant; (3) your use of any hyperlinks or other links; (4) your use of any materials (including text, video
clips, photographs, images and sound bites) in which any third party has an ownership interest; and (5) any
proposed modification of your website. We may designate the form and content of your website and/or
require that any such website be hosted by us or a third party designated by us, using one or more websites
that we own and/or control. In addition, we may require you to establish hyperlinks to our website or another
website designated by us. We may charge you a fee for developing, reviewing and approving your website
and/or for hosting the website.

If the License Agreement is terminated or if we should elect to use a principal name other than
“Earl of Sandwich” to identify the System, the System and the Franchise Agreement will be deemed
amended to substitute that name, and you will be required to incur the necessary costs to adopt the new
name.

There are no presently effective rulings of the USPTO, the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board, the
trademark administrator of any state or any court relating to the principal Proprietary Marks that would
materially affect your right to use the Proprietary Marks. There are no pending infringement, opposition or
cancellation proceedings or material litigation involving the principal Proprietary Marks.

On November 13, 2008, we entered into a Concurrent Use Agreement with Schlotzsky’s Franchise
LLC (“Schlotzsky’s”), the registered owner of the mark “THE ORIGINAL” for sandwiches. Under that
Agreement, we agreed to always use the following three registered marks on a single line: THE ORIGINAL
1762®, ORIGINAL.SIMPLE.WORTHY.®, and THE ORIGINAL SANDWICH SINCE 1792®.
Additionally, we agreed to never use “Original” or “The Original” as a trademark or as part of a slogan or
tagline that causes that word or phrase to stand alone. The Concurrent Use Agreement applies worldwide.
The parties believe that their trademarks can coexist on a worldwide basis without resulting in confusion
for consumers.

Other than as described above, there are no agreements currently in effect that significantly limit
our right to use or license the use of the principal Proprietary Marks in any manner material to you. We do
not know of either superior prior rights or infringing uses that could materially affect your use of the
principal Proprietary Marks in any state.

The Franchise Agreement does not contain any provisions under which we are required to defend
or indemnify you against any claims of infringement or unfair competition arising out of your use of the
Proprietary Marks. The Franchise Agreement does require that you notify us immediately if you become
aware of any infringement of the Proprietary Marks or if any litigation involving the Proprietary Marks is
instituted or threatened against you. You may not make any demand, serve any notice, institute any legal
action or negotiate, compromise or settle any controversy with respect to any such infringement without
first obtaining our written approval. At our option, we may defend and control the defense of any proceeding
arising from your use of the Proprietary Marks under the Franchise Agreement. You also must fully
cooperate in defending or settling the litigation. You may not directly or indirectly contest the validity, or
our ownership, of the Proprietary Marks.
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ITEM 14
PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

We do not own any patents or patent applications that are material to your Franchised Restaurant
or the System. We claim copyright protection in the Manual and certain forms, architectural, engineering
and construction plans, advertising materials, product recipes, formulas, specifications, ingredients,
processes, techniques and methodologies, supplier information, customer lists, site information, equipment
specifications, computer programs, newsletters, training materials, and operations and accounting
materials. We have not registered those materials with the United States Registrar of Copyrights.

The Manual and these other materials contain our detailed standards and specifications for
developing and operating your Franchised Restaurant, including specifications and standards relating to the
construction of Franchised Restaurants. The Manual and other proprietary information also may discuss the
selection, purchase, storage, preparation, packaging, ingredients, recipes, cooking methods, service and sale
of the products and beverages you will sell at your Franchised Restaurant. The Manual also contains
information on operations training, marketing, advertising and sales promotions, signs, fixtures and
furnishings, employee dress attire and appearance standards, menu concept, and other business procedures.
We can modify the Manual and our copyrighted materials from time to time. You must promptly implement
any changes or modifications at your own cost and expense. We will have no obligation or liability to you
as a result of the changes or modification.

The Manual and all other materials and information provided or disclosed to you regarding the
System are disclosed in confidence. You may not disclose any part of this information to anyone who is
not your employee, and you will disclose to your employees only those parts of the System that an employee
needs to know. You also must agree not to contest our interest in the trade secrets and confidential and
proprietary information that comprises the System.

We are not required by any agreement to protect or defend copyrights or confidential information,
although we intend to do so as appropriate. There are no presently effective rulings of the USPTO, the US
Copyright Office, or any court regarding any patents or copyrights that you are permitted to use under the
Franchise Agreement.

ITEM 15
OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE IN
THE ACTUAL OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISE BUSINESS

You are not obligated to participate personally in the direct operation of the Franchised Restaurant;
however, you must designate a qualified individual to serve as the “Operating Principal” of your Franchised
Restaurant. If you sign a Development Agreement, you must designate a qualified individual to serve as
your “Development Principal.” If qualified, you may fill either or both of these positions; however, we
may require that these positions be held by different persons.

The Operating Principal must devote full time and reasonable efforts to the supervision and conduct
of your Franchised Restaurant and those other restaurants that are franchised by us or our affiliates that you
operate in the same geographic area as the Franchised Restaurant. Unless waived in writing by us, the
Operating Principal must: (1) own at least a 10% equity interest in you (unless you were a publicly-held
entity or a wholly-owned subsidiary of a publicly-held entity as of the date of the first franchise-related
agreement between you and us); (2) be a person acceptable to both you and us; and (3)- successfully
complete the initial manager training program (either the full initial manager training program or a modified
version of the initial manager training program to meet the specific needs of the candidate, as deemed
appropriate by EOS in its sole discretion) and any additional training required by us.
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Unless waived in writing by us, the Development Principal must: (1) devote substantial and
adequate time and reasonable efforts to supervising the development of the Franchised Restaurants to be
developed under the Development Agreement; (2) be a person acceptable to both you and us; and
(3) successfully complete development training.

The Franchised Restaurant must at all times be under the on-site supervision of the Operating
Principal or a restaurant manager, each of whom must meet our applicable training qualifications for their
designated position. If the Franchised Restaurant employs at any time fewer than two management
personnel who have successfully completed the initial manager training program, you have 30 days to hire
a new manager and enroll him or her in the initial manager training program. Your managers are not
required to own an equity interest in you.

If you are any type of business entity other than a sole proprietorship, we and you will identify a
“Continuity Group.” The members of the Continuity Group will be listed in an appendix to the Franchise
Agreement, and you must notify us of any change in the Continuity Group. Your Operating Principal and
Development Principal must be members of your Continuity Group. Each member of the Continuity Group
and each person who holds a legal or beneficial interest in you of 10% or more is bound by the
confidentiality and non-competition restrictions described in Item 17 and they and their spouses, if
applicable, must sign a guarantee assuming and agreeing to discharge all of your obligations to us unless
we waive or modify this requirement.

* * *

You do not have to participate personally in the direct operation of a Nontraditional Restaurant,
although we do encourage your personal participation. A Nontraditional Restaurant must at all times be
under the on-site supervision of a manager who is a full-time employee of yours, has successfully completed
the initial manager training program and has been approved by us. Your managers are not required to own
an equity interest in you.

ITEM 16
RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL

Y ou must use the Franchised Restaurant solely for the operation of an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant.
You must maintain sufficient inventories, adequately staff each shift with qualified employees and
continuously operate the Franchised Restaurant at its maximum capacity and efficiency for at least the
minimum number of days and hours that we specify in the Manual or otherwise in writing,.

Y ou must meet and maintain the highest applicable health standard and rating: and provide us with
copies of any health inspection reports upon request. You must operate the Franchised Restaurant in strict
conformity with the methods, standards and specifications that we prescribe in the Manual or otherwise in
writing.

You must offer for sale and sell at the Franchised Restaurant all and only those products and
services as are expressly authorized by us in the Manual or otherwise in writing. We may restrict sales of
menu items to certain time periods during the day. We have the right to change the menu items, ingredients,
products, materials, supplies and paper goods or the standards and specifications of each, and there are no
limits on our ability to do so. Within 30 days after receipt of written notice from us, you must begin selling
any newly authorized menu items and cease selling any menu items that are no longer authorized. We do
not limit the customers to whom you may sell goods or services.
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ITEM 17
RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

THE FRANCHISE RELATIONSHIP

These tables list certain important provisions of the franchise and related agreements. You

should read these provisions in the agreements attached to this disclosure document.

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

SECTION IN
PROVISION DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY
AGREEMENT

Length of the Section 1.A. The term is from the date of execution of the

development term Development Agreement to the date that you sign a
lease or purchase the site for the last Franchised
Restaurant that you are required to develop under
the Development Schedule.

Renewal or Not applicable You have no right to renew the Development

extension of the Agreement.

term

Requirements for Not applicable You have no right to renew the Development

you to renew or Agreement.

extend

Termination by you Not applicable Subject to state law, you have no right to terminate
the Development Agreement.

Termination by us Not applicable We have no right to terminate the Development

without cause Agreement without cause.

Termination by us Section 13 We may terminate upon default.

with cause

“Cause” defined-
curable defaults

Section 13.A.(13)

You have ten days to cure monetary defaults. You
have 30 days to cure defaults other than those
discussed in h.

“Cause” defined —
non-curable
defaults

Sections 13.A.(1-13)

Non-curable defaults include: failure to obtain site
approval on schedule; failure to open and operate
scheduled number of Franchised Restaurants;
commencement of construction before receipt of
fully-executed Franchise Agreement for that
location; insolvency; bankruptcy; execution levied
against your business or property; material breach of
covenants; transfer without approval; material
misrepresentation; falsification of reports; felony
conviction; material breach of any representation or
warranty; and default after receipt of 2 or more
notices of default within 12 months; default beyond
cure period under other agreements with us or our
affiliates including any Franchise Agreement, any
real estate, equipment lease or financing instrument
relating to a Franchised Restaurant or with any
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PROVISION

SECTION IN
DEVELOPMENT
AGREEMENT

SUMMARY

vendor or supplier to a Franchised Restaurant;
material breach of any representation or warranty;
and default after receipt of 2 or more notices of
default within 12 months. We may terminate the
Development Agreement based on any of these non-
curable defaults.

Your obligations
on
termination/non-
renewal

Section 14

Obligations include: forfeiture of right to develop;
termination of territorial rights in Development
Territory; return of materials to us; continued
observance of covenants; payment of amounts due
to us; forfeiture of Development Fee; no operation
of business under any name or in any manner that
suggests connection to us and our affiliates; and
cease use of our materials.

Assignment of
contract by us

Section 9

There are no restrictions on our right to assign.

“Transfer” by you-
definitions

Section 10.A.

Includes sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance,
gift, pledge, mortgage or other encumbrance of any
interest in you or the Development Agreement, or
any other assets pertaining to your operations under
the Development Agreement.

Our approval of
transfer by you

Sections 10.B. and
10.G.

We have the right to approve transfers. Certain
transfers may be undertaken without our prior
approval.

Conditions for our
approval of transfer

Sections 10.B. and
10.C.

Conditions include: simultaneous transfer to the
same transferee of all Franchised Restaurants
operated by you within the Development Territory;
qualified transferee; reasonable sales price; payment
of amounts due; no default under any agreement
with us or our affiliates; no default beyond the
applicable cure period under any real estate lease,
equipment lease or financing instrument relating to
the Franchised Restaurants or with any vendor or
supplier to the Franchised Restaurants; signed
release (a copy of the current form of General
Release is attached as Exhibit L); completed
development training programs; payment of transfer
fee; agreements signed; and execution of guarantee
under the terms of which you will remain liable for
all obligations to us incurred before the transfer date
and for one year following the transfer.

n.

Our right of first
refusal to acquire
your business

Section 10.J.

We can match any offer for your business.
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SECTION IN

PROVISION DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY
AGREEMENT
Our option to Not applicable

purchase your

business
Your death or Section 10.G.(1)(b) | Transfer to your spouse, adult children, parents,
disability adult sibling or a member of your Continuity Group

is permitted. Such Transfer must be completed
within a reasonable time, not to exceed 6 months
from the date of death or permanent disability.

Non-competition
covenants during
the term of the
franchise

Section 12.C.

No interest in any restaurant business that has
sandwiches as a primary menu item or that offers
any individual menu item that comprises at least
10% of sales at Earl of Sandwich Restaurants
operated by us or our affiliates or whose method of
operation or trade dress is similar to that used in the
System.

Non-competition
covenants after the
franchise is
terminated or

Section 12.C.

No activity as described in q. above for one year
within your Development Territory, within two
miles of its border and within two miles of any then-
existing Earl of Sandwich Restaurant. If you violate

expires the post-termination non-competition provisions,
you must pay liquidated damages equal to our then-
current Initial Fees(including-any-ApplicationFees
and-nitial- Franchise Eees)Fee and 8% of the Gross
Sales of the competing business until the expiration
of the non-competition period.

Modification of the Section 20 No modification generally without signed

agreement agreement, but we may modify the System.

Integration/merger Section 20 Only the terms of the Development Agreement are

clause binding (subject to state law). Any representations
or promises made outside this disclosure document
and the Development Agreement may not be
enforceable.

Dispute resolution Flat Subject to state law, either party will submit any

by arbitration or applieableSections | claim, controversy, or dispute arising out of the

mediation 22A. & B. agreement to non-binding mediation and, thereafter,

to arbitration. The mediation and arbitration will
take place in the city where our principal offices are
located at the time the demand for mediation or
arbitration is filed, which is currently Orlando,
Florida.
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SECTION IN
PROVISION DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY
AGREEMENT
v. Choice of forum Section 22.BD. Subject to state law;rou-—can-ontyfile-suit-where-our
< einal off ben ] 1 Iy Orlande
Florida) and we-mayfile-suitsubject to the
mediation and arbitration requirement, any actions
for injunctive relief must be filed in the jurisdiction
where our principal offices are thenloecated;—where
. . ,
ZC . Eranchiscd R Vet
loecated-oer-wherelocated at the elaim-arese—time suit
is filed, which is currently Orlando, Florida while
simultaneously submitting the matter to mediation
and then arbitration.
w. Choice of law Section 22.AC. Subject to state law, Florida law applies.
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
SECTION IN
PROVISION FRANCHISE SUMMARY
AGREEMENT
a. Length of the Section 2 Ten years from the date that the Franchised Restaurant

franchise term

opens.

b. Renewal or extension
of the term

Section 2.B. and

NT Location
Addendum
Section 3

You can renew for one renewal term of ten years. If
you sign a Nontraditional Location Addendum to the
Franchise Agreement, you can renew for two five-year
renewal terms.

c. Requirements for you
to renew or extend

Section 2.B.

In order to renew at the end of the Initial Term you
must: give timely notice; sign general release (see
Exhibit L); comply with training requirements; be in
good standing; not be in default under any agreement
with us or our affiliates; not be in default beyond the
cure period under any real estate lease, equipment
lease or financing instrument relating to the
Franchised Restaurant or with any vendor or supplier
to the Franchised Restaurant; have the right to remain
in possession of the Franchised Location for the
Renewal Term; remodel; sign a new Franchise
Agreement with us which may contain terms and
conditions materially different from your current
Franchise Agreement, including higher royalty fees
and advertising contributions; and pay a renewal fee.

d. Termination by you

Not applicable

Subject to state law, you have no right to terminate the
Franchise Agreement.
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SECTION IN

non-curable defaults

22.B.(3) & 22.C.

PROVISION FRANCHISE SUMMARY
AGREEMENT
Termination by us Not applicable We have no right to terminate the Franchise
without cause Agreement without cause.
Termination by us Section 22 We may terminate upon default.
with cause
. “Cause” defined- Section 22.B. You have ten days to cure monetary defaults. You
curable defaults have 30 days to cure all other defaults except those
discussed in h.
. “Cause” defined — Sections 22.A., Non-curable defaults include: failure to obtain site

approval before the Site Approval Deadline (if
applicable); failure to open the Franchised Restaurant
for business on or before the Opening Deadline set
forth in the Franchise Agreement; closure of
Franchised Restaurant for more than five days;
insolvency; bankruptcy; execution levied on your
business or property; foreclosure; material breach of
covenants; transfer without approval; material
misrepresentation; falsification of reports; imminent
danger to public health or safety; loss of possession of
Franchised Location; felony conviction; breach of
representation or warranty; default after receipt of two
or more notices of default within previous 12 months;
and receipt of second consecutive failing score on an
inspection; and default beyond cure period under other
agreements with us or our affiliates including the
Development Agreement. We may terminate the
Franchise Agreement based on any of these non-
curable defaults.

Your obligations on Section 23 Obligations include: payment of amounts due; return

termination/nonrenew Manual; continued observance of covenants;

al discontinue use of Proprietary Marks and trade
secrets; and complete de-identification of the
Franchised Restaurant. In addition, your territorial
rights in the Protected Area will terminate
immediately.

Assignment of Section 18 There are no restrictions on our right to assign.

contract by us

. “Transfer” by you-
definitions

Section 19.A.

Includes sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance, gift,
pledge, mortgage or other encumbrance of any interest
in you, the Franchise Agreement, the Franchise, the
Franchised Restaurant, the assets of the Franchised
Restaurant, the Franchised Location or any other asset
pertaining to your operations under the Franchise
Agreement.
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SECTION IN

PROVISION FRANCHISE SUMMARY
AGREEMENT
Our approval of Sections 19.B. & | We have the right to approve transfers. Certain
transfer by you 19.G. transfers may be undertaken without our prior

approval.

. Conditions for our
approval of transfer

Sections 19.B.-C.

Conditions include: transferee qualified; reasonable
sales price; payment of amounts due; no default on
any agreement with us or our affiliates; no default
beyond the applicable cure period on any real estate
lease, equipment lease or financing instrument relating
to the Franchised Restaurant or with any vendor or
supplier to the Franchised Restaurant; signed release
(a copy of the current form of General Release is
attached as Exhibit L); transferee must complete
training; transfer fee paid; agreements signed; and
execution of guarantee under the terms of which you
will remain liable for all obligations to us incurred
before the transfer date and for one year following the
transfer.

. Our right of first
refusal to acquire your
business

Section 19.J.

We or our designee can match any offer for your
business.

. Our option to purchase Section 24 We can purchase some or all of your assets upon
your business expiration or earlier termination of the Franchise
Agreement at a price agreed upon or set by appraisers.
. Your death or Section Transfer to your spouse, adult children, parent, adult
disability 19.G.(1)(b) sibling or member of the Continuity Group is

permitted. Such Transfer shall be completed within a
reasonable time, not to exceed 6 months from the date
of death or permanent disability.

. Non-competition
covenants during the
term of the franchise

Section 21.C.

No diversion of any business or customer to any
competitor; no interest in any restaurant business that
has sandwiches as a primary menu item or that offers
any individual menu item that comprises at least 10%
of sales at Earl of Sandwich Restaurants operated by
us or our affiliates or whose method of operation or
trade dress is similar to that used in the System
(subject to state law).

Non-competition
covenants after the
franchise is terminated
or expires

Section 21.C.

No activity as described in q. above for one year
within the Protected Area and within two miles of any
then-existing Earl of Sandwich Restaurant. If you
violate the post-termination non-competition
provisions, you must pay liquidated damages equal to

our then-current Initial Fees-(ineludingany
ApplicationFees-andInitial- Franchise Eees)Fee and

8% of the Gross Sales of the competing business until
the expiration of the non-competition period (subject
to state law).
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SECTION IN

PROVISION FRANCHISE SUMMARY
AGREEMENT
s. Modification of the Section 29 No modification generally without signed agreement,
agreement but we may modify the System and the Manual.
t. Integration/merger Section 29 Only the terms of the Franchise Agreement are
clause binding (subject to state law). Any representations or

promises made outside the disclosure document and
the Franchise Agreement may not be enforceable.

u. Dispute resolution by Net Subject to state law, either party will submit any
arbitration or applieableSection | claim, controversy, or dispute arising out of the
mediation s31.A. & B. agreement to non-binding mediation and, thereafter, to

arbitration. The mediation and arbitration will take
place in the city where our principal offices are
located at the time the demand for mediation or
arbitration is filed, which is currently Orlando
Florida.

v. Choice of forum Section 31.BD. Subject to state law;-you-ecan-onbyfilesuit-where-our

s einal offi hen | ] 1y Orlando.
Florida); and we-mayfile-stitsubject to the mediation
and arbitration requirement, any actions for injunctive
relief must be filed in the jurisdiction where our
principal offices are thenlocated,~where-youreside-or
o busi ol he B hised R .
was-located-or-wherelocated at the elaim-arese—time
suit is filed, which is currently Orlando, Florida while
simultaneously submitting the matter to mediation and
then arbitration.

w. Choice of law Section 31.AC. Subject to state law, Florida law applies.
ITEM 18
PUBLIC FIGURES

We do not use any public figure to promote our franchise.

ITEM 19
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS

The FTC’s Franchise Rule permits a franchisor to provide information about the actual or potential
financial performance of its franchised and/or franchisor-owned outlets, if there is a reasonable basis for
the information, and if the information is included in the disclosure document. Financial performance
information that differs from that included in Item 19 may be given only if: (1) a franchisor provides the
actual records of an existing outlet you are considering buying; or (2) a franchisor supplements the
information provided in this Item 19, for example, by providing information about possible performance at
a particular location or under particular circumstances.

We do not make any representations about a franchisee’s future financial performance or the past
financial performance of company-owned or franchised outlets. We also do not authorize our employees
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or representatives to make any such representations either orally or in writing. If you are purchasing an
existing outlet, however, we may provide you with the actual records of that outlet. If you receive any other
financial performance information or projections of your future income, you should report it to Earl of
Sandwich (USA), LLC’s management by contacting our General Counsel and Secretary, Jeffrey C. Sirolly,
at 4700 Millenia Boulevard, Suite #400, Orlando, Florida 32839, telephone (407) 903-5680, the Federal
Trade Commission, and the appropriate state regulatory agencies.

ITEM 20
OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION

Table No. 1 — Systemwide Restaurant Summary
20202022 to 20222024

Restaurant Type Year l;i::l‘g? ;1{tesa?t RE::;‘:;.?ZZ? Net Change

20202022 2224 2226 0+2

Franchised 20242023 2226 2329 +13
20222024 2329 2426 +1-3
20202022 107 107 0

Company Operated® 20212023 107 75 -32
20222024 5 5 0
20202022 3231 3233 9+2

Total Restaurants 20212023 3233 3034 2+1
20222024 3034 31 +1-3

Table No. 2 — Transfers of Restaurants from Franchisees to New Owners
(Other than to EOS or Its Affiliates)
2020-t0-2022 to 2024M

State Year Number of Transfers®
—0n
elieenie 2ol
o

I+ |||+ |||+ |
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State Year Number of Transfers®
20202022 0
Totals 202142023 30
20222024 0
States not listed had no activity to report.
Table No. 3 -Status of Franchised Restaurants
| 2020-t0-2022 to 2024
Restaurants Restaurants o Non- Reacquired O]?e?;st?gns Restaurants
State Year At ‘S(?::: of Opened Terminations Renewals by EOS _ Other z;;:;?:((isg)f
Reason
20202022 68 01 0 0 0 01 68
CA 20212023 68 01 0 0 0 01 68
20222024 68 10 0 0 0 12 6
20202022 5 0 0 0 0 0 5
FL 20212023 5 01 0 0 0 0 56
20222024 56 0 0 0 0 0 36
20202022 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
GA 20212023 1 01 0 0 0 0 12
2024 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
1D 2022 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
20202023 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
20212024 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
Ky 2022 10 0 0 0 0 0 10
2 20202023 10 01 0 0 0 0 1
20212024 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
MD 2022 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2023 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2024 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2022 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
MO 2023 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
2024 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
20202022 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
¢ 20212023 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
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Ceased
LR LIS Restaurants Non- Reacquired | Operations LR LIS
State Year At Start of Terminations q P at End of
Opened Renewals by EOS — Other (-4
Year Year
Reason
20222024 2 0 0 0 0 01 21
20202022 3 0 0 0 0 0 3
NV 20212023 3 10 0 10 0 0 3
20222024 3 0 0 0 0 0 3
L 2020 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2021 1 0 0 0 0 il 1
PA 2022 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
PA 20202023 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
20212024 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
D 2022 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
sb 20202023 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
20212024 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
X 2022 1 o1 0 0 0 0 12
X 20202023 92 0 0 0 0 0 92
2021 0 1 0 0 0 il 1
20222024 12 10 0 0 0 0
20202022 2225 02 0 0 0 01 2226
Totals 20212023 2226 25 0 10 0 02 2329
20222024 2329 20 0 0 0 13 2426
States not listed had no activity to report.
Table No. 4 - Status of Company-Operated Restaurants
2020-t0-2022 to 2024 W
L i Restaurants | Restaurants
Restaurants at | Restaurants Reacquired | Restaurants u u
State Year Sold to at End of
Start of Year Opened from Closed ] @
. Franchisees Year
Franchisees
20200
022 1 0 0 0 0 1
20212
CA 023 1 0 0 0 0 1
20222
024 1 01 0 0 0 12
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Restaurants

Restaurants at | Restaurants | Reacquired | Restaurants Restaurants | Restaurants
State Year Sold to at End of
Start of Year Opened from Closed ] @
. Franchisees Year
Franchisees
2020
022 53 0 0 0 0 53
FL 20212
023 53 0 0 2 0 31
2022 3 0 0 0 0 3
2020 2 0 0 0 0 2
NV 2021 2 0 0 0 0 2
2022 2 0 0 0 0 2
2020
NY 024 1 0 0 0 0 1
20212
MA 022 1 0 0 10 0 o1
2022 0 0 0 0 0 0
20202
MA 023 1 0 0 0 0 1
20217
024 1 0 0 o1 0 10
NV 2022 12 0 0 0 0 12
Totals | 20202 102 0 0 0 0 102
023
2021
024 162 0 0 30 0 72
Totals 2022 7 0 0 0 0 7
2023 7 0 0 2 0 5
2024 5 1 0 1 0 S
States not listed had no activity to report.
NOTES

(0))

2

Q)

The numbers for 2020-t6-2022 to 2024 are as of December 27202025, 2022, December 26;
202431, 2023, and December 25:-262229, 2024, respectively. If multiple events occurred affecting
a restaurant, the table shows the event that occurred last in time.

The restaurants that are identified as company-operated restaurants are or were owned and operated
by our affiliates as set forth in Item 1.

Exhibit M lists the franchisee(s) that had their franchise agreements canceled, not renewed or
otherwise voluntarily or involuntarily ceased to do business under a franchise agreement during

EOS Disclosure Document — 09/2325

47




our fiscal year that ended on December 25:-202229, 2024 or failed to communicate with us within
ten weeks of the issuance date of this disclosure document. If you buy this franchise, your contact
information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system.

) Attached as Exhibit M is a list of the address and telephone number of each franchised location and
the name of the applicable franchisee as of December 25,202229. 2024,

Table No. 5
Projected New Franchised Restaurants as of December 25:202229, 2024
Franch.lse Agreements Proj ected. New e el (S
Signed But Franchised
State Operated Restaurants In
Restaurant Not Restaurants In Next .
. Next Fiscal Year
Opened Fiscal Year
CA 6 10 0
EEDC 31 10 0
GA 1 1 0
e 1 + 0
NV 2 0 0
PA 1 0 0
TOTALS 1311 41 0

In some instances, during the last three fiscal years, current and former franchisees signed
provisions restricting their ability to speak openly about their experience with EOS. You may wish to speak
with current and former franchisees, but be aware that not all such franchisees will be able to communicate
with you. Specifically, in conjunction with settlement agreements and certain amendments to franchise and
development agreements, some former and current franchisees have signed confidentiality agreements.

We are not aware of any trademark-specific franchisee organizations associated with the System
and no independent franchisee organizations have asked to be included in this disclosure document.

ITEM 21
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Attached to this disclosure document as Exhibit I are the audited consolidated financial statements
of EOS and its subsidiaries, as of December 27202025, 2022, December 265202431, 2023, and December
25:202229. 2024, and our unaudited financial statements for the period ending Juy-36;20623June 29, 2025.
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ITEM 22
CONTRACTS

The following agreements related to a Franchised Restaurant are attached as exhibits to this

disclosure document:

Exhibit B Confidentiality Agreement

Exhibit C Agreement Request Form

Exhibit D Development Agreement

Exhibit E Franchise Agreement

Exhibit F Nontraditional Location Addendum

Exhibit G Veterans Addendum to the Franchise Agreement
Exhibit K State Specific Addenda to the Agreements
Exhibit L General Release

We also require that you fill out our Franchisee Disclosure Questionnaire before signing the
Development Agreement and/or the Franchise Agreement (Exhibit N).

ITEM 23
RECEIPTS

The last two pages of this disclosure document are detachable receipt pages. Please sign and date
each of them as of the date you received this disclosure document and return one copy to us.
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EXHIBIT A

LIST OF STATE ADMINISTRATORS AND
AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS
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LIST OF STATE ADMINISTRATORS

We intend to register this disclosure document as a “franchise” in some or all of the following states, if required
by the applicable state laws. If and when we pursue franchise registration (or otherwise comply with the franchise
investment laws) in these states, the following are the state administrators responsible for the review, registration,

and oversight of franchises in these states:

CALIFORNIA

Commissioner of Financial Protection and Innovation
Department of Financial Protection and Innovation
320 West Fourth Street, Suite 750

Los Angeles, California 90013-2344

(213) 576-7500/ Toll Free: (866) 275-2677

e
Email: ASK.DFPI@dfpi.ca.gov
Website: http://www.dfpi.ca.gov

NEW YORK

NYS Department of Law
Investor Protection Bureau
28 Liberty St. 21st Fl

New York, NY 10005
(212) 416-8222

HAWAII

Commissioner of Securities

Department of Commerce & Consumer Affairs
Business Registration Division

Securities Compliance Branch

335 Merchant Street, Room 203

Honolulu, Hawaii 96813

(808) 586-2722

NORTH DAKOTA
North Dakota Insurance & Securities Department
State-Capitol

Department-44
600 East Boulevard Avenue;Fourteenth-Floor

Bismarck, North Dakota 58505-0510
(701) 328-47422910

ILLINOIS

[llinois Office of the Attorney General
Franchise Bureau

500 South Second Street

Springfield, Illinois 6270662701

(217) 782-4465

RHODE ISLAND

Department of Business Regulation
Securities Division, Building 69, First Floor
John O. Pastore Center

1511 Pontiac Avenue

Cranston, Rhode Island 02920

(401) 462-9527

INDIANA

Secretary of State

Franchise Section

302 West Washington, Room E-111
Indianapolis, Indiana 46204

(317) 232-6681

SOUTH DAKOTA

Division of Insurance

Securities Regulation

124 South Euclid Avenue, 2" Floor
Pierre, South Dakota 57501

(605) 773-3563

MARYLAND

Office of the Attorney General
Securities Division

200 St. Paul Place

Baltimore, Maryland 21202-2020
(410) 576-6360

VIRGINIA

State Corporation Commission

Division of Securities and Retail Franchising
1300 East Main Street, 9th Floor

Richmond, Virginia 23219

(804) 371-9051

MICHIGAN

Michigan Attorney General’s Office

Corporate Oversight Division, Franchise Section
525 West Ottawa Street

G. Mennen Williams Building, +5" Floor
Lansing, Michigan 48913

(517) 335-7567

WASHINGTON

Department of Financial Institutions
Securities Division—3"-Eleer
150-Israel Road-Southwest
TFomwaterP.O. Box 41200

Olympia, Washington 98564+98504-1200
(360) 902-8760

MINNESOTA

Minnesota Department of Commerce
85 7t Place East, Suite 280

St. Paul, Minnesota 55101

(651) 539-1600

WISCONSIN

Division of Securities

4822 Madison Yards Way, North Tower
Madison, Wisconsin 53705

(608) 266-2139
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AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS
We intend to register this disclosure document as a “franchise” in some or all of the following states, if required
by the applicable state law. If and when we pursue franchise registration (or otherwise comply with the franchise
investment laws) in these states, we will designate the following state offices or officials as our agents for service
of process in these states. There may be states in addition to those listed below in which we have appointed an

agent for service of process. There may also be additional agents in some of the states listed.

CALIFORNIA

Commissioner of Financial Protection and Innovation
Department of Financial Protection and Innovation
320 West Fourth Street, Suite 750

Los Angeles, California 90013-2344

(213) 576-7500 / Toll Free: (866) 275-2677
TolFree: (86612752677

Email: ASK.DFPI@dfpi.ca.gov

Website: http://www.dfpi.ca.gov

NEW YORK

New York Secretary of State
One Commerce Plaza

99 Washington Avenue
Albany, NY 12231

(518) 473-2492

HAWAII

Commissioner of Securities

Department of Commerce & Consumer Affairs
Business Registration Division

Securities Compliance Branch

335 Merchant Street, Room 203

Honolulu, Hawaii 96813

(808) 586-2722

NORTH DAKOTA

North Dakota SeeuritiesInsurance Commissioner
State-Capitol

North Dakota Insurance & Securities Department-444
600 East Boulevard Avenue;Feurteenth-Floor
Bismarck, North Dakota 58505-0510

(701) 328-47422910

ILLINOIS

[llinois Attorney General

500 South Second Street
Springfield, Illinois 6276662701
(217) 782-4465

RHODE ISLAND

Director of Department of Business Regulation
Department of Business Regulation

Securities Division, Building 69, First Floor
John O. Pastore Center

1511 Pontiac Avenue

Cranston, Rhode Island 02920

(401) 462-9527

INDIANA

Secretary of State

Franchise Section

302 West Washington, Room E-111
Indianapolis, Indiana 46204

(317) 232-6681

SOUTH DAKOTA

Division of Insurance

Director of the Securities Regulation
124 South Euclid Avenue, 2" Floor
Pierre, South Dakota 57501

(605) 773-3563

MARYLAND

Maryland Securities Commissioner
200 St. Paul Place

Baltimore, Maryland 21202-2020
(410) 576-6360

VIRGINIA

Clerk of the State Corporation Commission
1300 East Main Street, 1% Floor
Richmond, Virginia 23219

(804) 371-9733

MICHIGAN

Michigan Attorney General’s Office

Corporate Oversight Division, Franchise Section
525 West Ottawa Street

G. Mennen Williams Building, %5 Floor
Lansing, Michigan 48913

(517) 335-7567

WASHINGTON

Director of Department of Financial Institutions
Securities Division — 3" Floor

150 Israel Road, Southwest

Tumwater, Washington 98501

(360) 902-8760

MINNESOTA

Commissioner of Commerce
Minnesota Department of Commerce
85 7" Place East, Suite 280

St. Paul, Minnesota 55101

(651) 539-1600

WISCONSIN

Division of Securities

4822 Madison Yards Way, North Tower
Madison, Wisconsin 53705

(608) 266-2139

EOS Disclosure Document — 09/2325




EXHIBIT B

CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT
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CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of (“Effective Date”) by
(entity) and (individual) (jointly, “Potential Franchisee”) in favor of and for the benefit of Earl
of Sandwich (USA), LLC, a Florida limited liability company (“EOS”).

RECITALS

Potential Franchisee has expressed interest in purchasing a franchise from EOS to develop one or
more Earl of Sandwich Restaurant(s) (“Franchise”). In order to evaluate the possibility of purchasing a
Franchise from EOS, Potential Franchisee desires to receive from EOS certain confidential business
information. Potential Franchisee recognizes the importance of maintaining the confidentiality of this
information.

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which
is hereby acknowledged, Prospective Franchisee agrees as follows:

1. Confidential Information

A. Definition of Confidential Information. As used in this Agreement, the term
“Confidential Information” means all information about EOS or its affairs that EOS or its representatives
furnish to Potential Franchisee. Confidential Information includes, but is not limited to, EOS’s confidential
and proprietary Operations Manual, or any portion of its contents, trade-secrets, know-how, methodologies,
processes, formulas, specifications, Earl of Sandwich Restaurant System information, operating procedures
and standards, technical information, statistics, software, hardware, materials, plans, designs, schematics,
reports, studies, notes, analyses, summaries, business, market and development plans and programs,
financial information and projections, information regarding the retail and commercial operations of EOS
and its affiliates, and all information that: (1) derives independent economic value, actual or potential, from
not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by proper means by, other persons who
can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use; (2) is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under
the circumstances to maintain its secrecy; or (3) is designated by EOS as confidential or proprietary.
Confidential Information may be in written form or obtained orally. As used in this Agreement, the term
“representatives” of a party shall include the directors, officers, employees, shareholders or other securities
holders, partners, members, trustees, agents, lenders, advisors, subsidiaries and other foreign and domestic
affiliates and/or related entities of a party.

B. Treatment of Confidential Information. Potential Franchisee acknowledges,
understands and agrees that the Confidential Information: (1) is the exclusive and confidential property of
EOS or its affiliates and incorporates trade secrets and copyrights owned by them; (2) gives EOS and its
affiliates some competitive business advantage or the opportunity of obtaining such an advantage, the
disclosure of which could be detrimental to the interests of EOS and its affiliates; and (3) is not generally
known by non-EOS personnel. Potential Franchisee shall at all times treat the Confidential Information in
accordance with this Agreement.

C. No Warranty. Although Potential Franchisee understands that EOS has endeavored to
include in the Confidential Information material known to it which it believes to be relevant for Potential
Franchisee’s purposes, Potential Franchisee further understands that EOS does not make any representation
or warranty as to the accuracy or completeness of the Confidential Information. Potential Franchisee further
acknowledges that EOS has not and will not make representations or warranties as to the potential sales at
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an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant, and no information supplied by EOS shall be construed as a prediction of
future sales. Potential Franchisee agrees that neither EOS nor its representatives shall have any liability to
Potential Franchisee, Potential Franchisee’s representatives or any other person resulting from the use of
the Confidential Information.

D. No License. This Agreement entitles Potential Franchisee to use the Confidential
Information solely in connection with Potential Franchisee’s exploration of the opportunity to purchase a
Franchise. No license, express or implied, in the Confidential Information is granted to Potential Franchisee
other than to use the Confidential Information in the manner and to the extent authorized by this Agreement.
Except for the obligations of Potential Franchisee set forth in this Agreement, neither Potential Franchisee
nor EOS shall be under any obligation to enter into any additional agreements and/or contractual obligations
with the other of any nature whatsoever as a result of this Agreement, including, without limitation, with
respect to the possible sale of a Franchise.

2. Covenants of Potential Franchisee.

As a consequence of Potential Franchisee’s acquisition or anticipated acquisition of Confidential
Information, Potential Franchisee will occupy a position of trust and confidence with respect to EOS’s
affairs and business. In view of the foregoing, Potential Franchisee agrees that it is reasonable and
necessary that Potential Franchisee agree, while this Agreement is in effect, to the following:

A. No Disclosure. Potential Franchisee shall use the Confidential Information solely for
purposes of evaluating whether or not Potential Franchisee will purchase a Franchise. Potential Franchisee
shall not disclose the Confidential Information to any person or entity other than Potential Franchisee’s
attorney, accountant or other representatives as necessary to evaluate the opportunity provided by EOS and
agree to protect the Confidential Information against unauthorized disclosure using the same degree of care,
but no less than a reasonable degree of care, as Potential Franchisee uses to protect Potential Franchisee’s
confidential information. Potential Franchisee represents that it has its own procedures in place to assure
that its representatives are aware of their obligations to retain in confidence any Confidential Information
they receive. Without in any way limiting the generality of Potential Franchisee’s obligations under this
Agreement, Potential Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that in no event will Potential Franchisee
disclose any of the Confidential Information to any of EOS’s competitors.

B. No Use, Copying or Transfer. Potential Franchisee shall not use, copy or transfer
Confidential Information in any way and shall protect the Confidential Information against unauthorized
use, copying or transfer using the same degree of care, but no less than a reasonable degree of care, as
Potential Franchisee uses to protect Potential Franchisee’s confidential information. Potential Franchisee
further agrees not to remove, overprint, or deface any notice of copyright, trademark, logo, or other notices
of ownership from any Confidential Information.

C. Applicability. These covenants shall apply to all Confidential Information disclosed to
Potential Franchisee by EOS prior to the date of this Agreement.

D. Return _and/or_Destruction of Confidential Information. If, at any time, EOS
determines that it does not wish for Potential Franchisee to purchase a Franchise or Potential Franchisee
determines that it does not wish to purchase a Franchise, or if EOS requests, at any time and for any reason,
that Potential Franchisee do so, Potential Franchisee agrees to: (1) immediately cease to use the
Confidential Information; (2) immediately return, or destroy the Confidential Information and all copies
thereof (whether or not such copies were authorized) and cause any third party to whom disclosure was
made to do the same; and (3) at the request of EOS, certify in writing that Potential Franchisee and all others
to whom Potential Franchisee has provided such Confidential Information, have complied with subsections
(1) and (2) above.
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E. Injunctive Relief. Potential Franchisee understands that any violation of this Agreement
will cause EOS immediate and irreparable harm which money damages cannot adequately remedy.
Therefore, upon any actual or impending violation of this Agreement, Potential Franchisee hereby consents
to issuance by the federal or state court having jurisdiction where EOS’s principal offices are located or, at
EOS’s election, any other court that may, assume jurisdiction, of any restraining order, preliminary and/or
permanent injunction, without bond, restraining or enjoining such violation by Potential Franchisee or any
entity or person acting in concert with Potential Franchisee. Potential Franchisee understands that such
orders are additional to and do not limit the availability of any other remedy.

3. Waiver. Potential Franchisee acknowledges that no waiver by EOS of any breach by Potential
Franchisee of any provision of this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver of any preceding or succeeding
breach of the same or any other provision of this Agreement. No such waiver shall be effective unless in
writing and then only to the extent expressly set forth in writing.

4. Miscellaneous.
A. Governing Law. This Agreement and any claim or controversy arising out of or relating

to this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida
without regard to conflicts of laws principles.

B. Severability. If a court of competent jurisdiction deems any provision of this Agreement
invalid, unreasonable or unenforceable, then the remaining provisions will not be affected, and the invalid
provision may be enforced to the extent deemed reasonable by the court.

C. Headings. Section headings in this Agreement are for reference only and shall not be
construed as modifying any provisions of this Agreement.

D. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, and-each eepy
seof which when executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original and all of which together shall
constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this
Agreement by electronic transmission (including an electronic signature platform or the transmission of a
scanned PDF document) shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Potential Franchisee has signed and delivered this
Agreement as of the day and year above written.

POTENTIAL FRANCHISEE:
By:
Print Name:
Date:
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AGREEMENT REQUEST FORM
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REQUEST FOR AN EARL OF SANDWICH
FRANCHISE AND/OR DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

Prospective Developer or Franchisee (“Prospect”) desires to develop and operate one or
more franchised Earl of Sandwich restaurants (each, a “Restaurant”) from Earl of Sandwich
(USA), LLC (“EOS”) and hereby agrees and represents as follows:

1. Deposit: Concurrently with execution of this Request, Prospect shall pay EOS a Two
Thousand Five Hundred Dollar ($2,500) nonrefundable deposit (the “Deposit™) in consideration
for EOS’s preparation of the requested Development and/or Franchise Agreement (individually or
collectively, the “Agreement”). If the parties execute the Agreement within ten (10) business
days of Prospect’s receipt of the Agreement, EOS shall apply the Deposit toward payment of the
Development Fee required under the Development Agreement or the Application Fee required
under the Franchise Agreement, as applicable.

2. Type of Agreement:

3. Interests in Other Restaurants:

4. Legal Name: State Entity Formed In:

5. Member/Shareholder Information:

Percentage Interest

or Number of Shares Office Held

Name Address

6. Contact Information:
Address:

Phone Number:
Email Address:

7. Continuity Group:
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8. Development/Operating Principal:

9. Guarantor(s):

10. Franchise Fee: Royalty Rate:
11. Brand Fund: _ Regional Advertising Fund:
Local Advertising:
12. If Development Agreement:
a. Development Schedule:
Site Approval Date Opening Date Cumulative Number of

Restaurants Open and Operating

b. Development Territory:

13. If Franchise Agreement:

Site Approval Date:

Opening Date:

If known, Protected Area:

If known, Restaurant address:

°©poos

If not known, Site Selection Area:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Prospect has executed this Request as of the day of

, 20

PROSPECT:

By:

Name:

Title:
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EXHIBIT D

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
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EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
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EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
DATA SHEET

This Data Sheet summarizes certain terms of the attached Development Agreement. The Data
Sheet is an integral part of the attached Development Agreement and is hereby incorporated therein.

Effective Date:

Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC
A Florida limited liability company

Franchisor: Notice Address: 4700 Millenia Boulevard, Suite #400
Orlando, Florida 32839 (Attn: General Counsel)
Developer: Name:
veloper: Notice Address:

Development Principal:

Developer’s rights in the Development Territory shall be subject to
the limitations described in Section 2. Any political boundaries
contained in the description of the Development Territory shall be
considered fixed as of the Effective Date and shall not change
notwithstanding a political reorganization or a change in those
boundaries. Unless otherwise specified, all street boundaries shall be
deemed to include both sides of the street.

Development Territory:

Development Fee:

Development Fee Payable as
Follows:

Developer’s Interests in
Other Restaurants (Non-
Compete Waiver):

Guarantors:
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DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE

Developer shall develop and continue to operate a minimum of Franchised
Restaurants in the Development Territory, in accordance with the following schedule:

Cumulative Number of Franchised
Restaurants To Be Open And Operating On
Site Approval Date Opening Date The Opening Date

If Developer can demonstrate to EOS that the Opening Date for a particular Franchised Restaurant, set forth
in this Data Sheet, has been delayed due to the action, or lack of action, by a governmental agency, EOS
shall proportionately extend the Opening Date solely for the affected Franchised Restaurant. The Opening
Date(s) for other Franchised Restaurants required by this Agreement shall not be affected by the extension
of time granted to another Franchised Restaurant.

OWNERSHIP INTERESTS
CORPORATE DEVELOPER
If Developer is a corporation, the number of authorized shares of Developer that have been issued is

and the name, address, number of shares owned (legally or beneficially) and office held by each
shareholder is as follows:

Name Address No. of Shares Office Held

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY DEVELOPER

If Developer is a limited liability company, the name, address and percentage interest of each member is as
follows:

Name Address Percentage Interest
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BUSINESS ENTITY DEVELOPER

If Developer is a business entity other than a corporation or a limited liability company, the name, address

and percentage interest of each owner is as follows:

Name

Address

Percentage Interest

Developer’s Continuity Group shall be comprised of the following persons:
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EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of the effective date identified on the attached Data Sheet (the
“Effective Date”) by and between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”), a Florida limited liability
company, and the person(s) or entity identified on the attached Data Sheet (“Developer”).

RECITALS:

As a result of the expenditure of time, skill, effort and money, EOS has developed and owns a
unique and distinctive system (“System”) relating to the development, establishment and operation of fast
casual restaurants (“Earl of Sandwich Restaurants”™).

The distinguishing characteristics of the System include, without limitation, uniform and distinctive
exterior and interior design and layout, including specially designed décor and furnishings; special recipes
and menu items; procedures and techniques for food and beverage preparation and service; automated
management information and control systems for inventory controls, cash controls and sales analysis;
technical assistance and training through course instruction and manuals; and advertising and promotional
programs. The System and its components may be changed, improved and further developed by EOS from
time to time.

Pursuant to a License Agreement with Earl of Sandwich (FamilyCo) AG, a Swiss corporation and
Earl of Sandwich (LicenseCo) Ltd., an English corporation (jointly “Licensor”), EOS has the exclusive
right to use, and permit its franchisees to use, the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” in addition to certain
related trademarks, service marks and other commercial symbols anywhere in the world.

EOS identifies the System by means of the “Earl of Sandwich” name and mark and certain other
names, marks, logos, insignias, slogans, emblems, symbols and designs (collectively “Proprietary Marks”),
which EOS has designated or may in the future designate, for use with the System. The Proprietary Marks
used to identify the System, including the principal Proprietary Marks, may be modified by EOS and/or its
affiliates from time to time.

EOS continues to develop, use and control the use of these Proprietary Marks in order to identify
to the public the source of services and products marketed under the Proprietary Marks and the System and
to represent the System’s high standards of quality, appearance and service.

Developer desires to be granted the opportunity, subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, to develop franchised Earl of Sandwich Restaurants (collectively “Franchised Restaurant(s))
within a certain geographic territory.

Developer understands and acknowledges the importance of EOS’s high and uniform standards of
quality, operations and service and the necessity of developing Franchised Restaurants in strict conformity
with this Agreement and the Earl of Sandwich Operations Manual (“Manual”).

EOS is willing to grant Developer the opportunity to develop Franchised Restaurants in a certain
geographic territory, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of EOS’s grant to Developer of the right to develop
Franchised Restaurants in the Development Territory during the term of this Agreement (“Development
Term”), as well as the mutual covenants, agreements and obligations set forth below, and other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as
follows:
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1. GRANT OF DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS

A. Grant; Territory. EOS hereby grants to Developer, subject to the terms, conditions,
provisions and limitations of this Agreement, the right to develop Franchised Restaurants within the
geographic area described in the attached Data Sheet (“Development Territory”) during the Development
Term. The Development Term begins on the date this Agreement is signed by EOS and terminates on the
date that the Developer signs the lease or purchases the site for the last Franchised Restaurant that Developer
is required to develop pursuant to the Development Schedule in the attached Data Sheet. There is no renewal
term for this Agreement. Each Franchised Restaurant shall be located in the Development Territory at a
specific location approved by EOS.

B. Development Rights Only. This Agreement is not a license or a franchise agreement. It
does not give Developer the right to operate Earl of Sandwich Restaurants or use the System. In addition,
this Agreement does not give Developer any right to license others to operate Earl of Sandwich Restaurants
or use the System. This Agreement only gives Developer the opportunity to enter into Franchise
Agreements for the operation of Franchised Restaurants at locations in the Development Territory approved
by EOS. Each Franchised Restaurant developed pursuant to this Agreement shall be established and
operated only in strict accordance with a separate Franchise Agreement.

C. Forms of Agreement. Developer acknowledges that EOS intends to enter into agreements
with other developers and franchisees that may contain provisions, conditions and obligations that differ
from those contained in this Agreement. The existence of different forms of agreement and the fact that
EOS and other developers and franchisees may have different rights and obligations do not affect the duties
of the parties to this Agreement to comply with the terms of this Agreement.

2. LIMITED EXCLUSIVE RIGHTS

A. The System (including the products sold under the Proprietary Marks) has been developed,
and is designed, to function effectively in a wide variety of retail environments, many of which are not
practically available to Developer. Accordingly, EOS reserves to itself the rights to: (1) operate, and license
others to operate, restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” and/or
utilizing the System in the Development Territory that are located in airports, train stations, bus stations,
service plazas, stadiums, arenas, convention centers, military facilities, gas stations, convenience stores,
schools, colleges, universities, hospitals, theme parks, office buildings, food courts, venues in which
foodservice is or may be provided by a master concessionaire or contract foodservice provider, Indian
reservations, casinos or any similar captive market location not reasonably available to Developer;
(2) award national or regional licenses to third parties to sell products under the name and mark “Earl of
Sandwich” in foodservice facilities primarily identified by the third party’s trademark; (3) develop and
operate, and license others to develop and operate, restaurants other than restaurants identified in whole or
in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” and/or utilizing the System in the Development Territory;
(4) merchandise and distribute products identified by some or all of the Proprietary Marks in the
Development Territory through any other method or channel of distribution; and (5) sell and distribute
products identified by some or all of the Proprietary Marks in the Development Territory to restaurants
other than restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich,” provided
those restaurants are not licensed to use the Proprietary Marks in connection with their retail sales.

B. Except as reserved in the preceding paragraph, EOS will not, during the Development
Term, operate, or license others to operate, restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and mark
“Earl of Sandwich” in the Development Territory, provided Developer is in compliance with the terms of
this Agreement and any other agreements with EOS or its affiliates and is current on all obligations due
EOS and its affiliates. This Section 2 does not prohibit EOS or its affiliates from: (1) operating, and
licensing others to operate, during the Development Term, restaurants identified in whole or in part by the
name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” at any location outside of the Development Territory; (2) operating,
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and licensing others to operate, after this Agreement terminates or expires, restaurants identified in whole
or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” at any location; and (3) operating, and licensing others
to operate, at any location, during or after the Development Term, any type of restaurant other than a
restaurant identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich.”

C. The restrictions contained in this Section 2 apply only to EOS and do not apply to
restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” under construction or
in operation in the Development Territory as of the date of this Agreement.

3. DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE

A. Development Obligations. During the Development Term, Developer shall develop, open
and continuously operate in the Development Territory the number of Franchised Restaurants specified in
the Development Schedule in the attached Data Sheet. For each Franchised Restaurant to be developed
during the Development Term, Developer shall have obtained EOS’s written approval of the site by the site
approval date listed in the Development Schedule in the attached Data Sheet. Strict compliance with the
Development Schedule is essential to this Agreement. Any failure by Developer in fulfilling its obligations
to develop and open any Franchised Restaurant when required by the Development Schedule or to obtain
site approval by the date specified in the Development Schedule shall constitute a material, non-curable
breach of this Agreement permitting EOS immediately to terminate this Agreement by giving written notice
of termination to Developer. Time is of the essence.

B—Initial FeesFranchise Fee Due Under the Franchise Agreements. Subject to the
Development Fee credits set forth in Section 4 below, Developer shall pay to EOS the-fellowing-initial fees
an initial franchise fee in the amount of $25,000 (“Initial Franchise Fee”) for each Franchised Restaurant
to be developed under this Agreement aitial Fees™-upon execution of the Franchise Agreement for each
Franchised Restaurant.

33 4l : 99

D:C. _ Effect of Sale of Franchised Restaurant on Developer’s Obligations. If, during the
Development Term, Developer sells a Franchised Restaurant that was developed pursuant to this
Agreement, that Franchised Restaurant will continue to be counted as a Franchised Restaurant for the
purpose of meeting Developer’s obligations under the Development Schedule, provided that the sale has
been approved by EOS and only so long as that restaurant continues to be operated pursuant to a franchise
agreement with EOS or its affiliates.

E:D. _Execution of Franchise Agreements by Affiliated Entities. At Developer’s request,
EOS will permit the Franchise Agreement for any Franchised Restaurant in the Development Territory to
be executed by a corporation, a limited liability company or general or limited partnership formed by
Developer to develop and operate the Franchised Restaurant (“Affiliated Entity”), provided all of the
following conditions are met: (1) Developer, the Development Principal (defined in Section 8.G.) or
Developer’s Continuity Group (defined in Section 8.E.) owns at least 51% of the voting securities of a
corporate Affiliated Entity, at least 51% of the membership interests in a limited liability company
Affiliated Entity or all of the general partnership interests of a partnership Affiliated Entity; (2) the
Affiliated Entity conducts no business other than the operation of the Franchised Restaurant; (3) Developer,
the Development Principal, the members of Developer’s Continuity Group and all holders of a legal or
beneficial interest in Developer of 10% or more (“10% Owner(s)”) agree to assume full and unconditional
liability for, and agree to perform all obligations, covenants and agreements contained in the Franchise
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Agreement; and (4) all owners of voting securities of a corporate Affiliated Entity, membership interests of
a limited liability company Affiliated Entity or partnership interests of a partnership Affiliated Entity
possess a good moral character, as determined by EOS in its sole discretion, and Developer provides EOS
all reasonably requested information to permit EOS to make such a determination.

4. DEVELOPMENT FEE

Developer shall pay to EOS, at the time this Agreement is signed, a development fee equal to
$25,000 per Franchised Restaurant that Developer has agreed to develop in the Development Territory
during the Development Term (“Development Fee”). The total amount of the Development Fee paid by
Developer is set forth in the attached Data Sheet. Developer acknowledges and agrees that the Development
Fee is fully earned by EOS when paid, and it is not refundable. The Development Fee shall be credited
against Developer’s Initial Franchise Fee-and-AppheationFEeelees, which are payable pursuant to each
Franchise Agreement executed pursuant to the terms hereof, however, the aggregate amount of such credits
shall not exceed the Development Fee.

5. DEVELOPMENT PROCEDURES

A. Developer’s Responsibility. Developer assumes all cost, liability and expense for
locating, obtaining and developing sites for Franchised Restaurants and constructing and equipping
Franchised Restaurants in accordance with EOS’s standards at approved sites. Developer shall not make
any binding commitments to purchase or lease a site until EOS has approved the site in writing. EOS
reserves the right to require Developer to engage the services of a real estate broker approved by EOS to
assist Developer in identifying and securing sites for the Franchised Restaurants.

B. Site Selection Assistance. EOS will provide Developer with the following site selection
assistance within the Development Territory: (1) EOS’s site selection guidelines and, as Developer may
request, a reasonable amount of consultation with respect thereto; and (2) such on-site evaluation as EOS
may deem advisable as part of its evaluation of Developer’s request for site approval. EOS reserves the
right to retain the services of third party real estate analysts to evaluate proposed sites for Earl of Sandwich
Restaurants. If EOS does so, Developer must reimburse EOS for the costs of the third party evaluation of
Developer’s proposed sites.

C. Real Estate Site Application. Developer shall submit to EOS a Real Estate Site
Application (containing that information as EOS may reasonably require) for each proposed site which
Developer reasonably believes to conform to site selection criteria that EOS establishes from time to time
for demographic characteristics, traffic patterns, parking, character of the neighborhood, competition from
other businesses in the area, the proximity to other businesses (including restaurants operated or franchised
by EOS or its affiliates), the nature of other businesses in proximity to the site and other commercial
characteristics (including the purchase price, rental obligations and other lease terms for the proposed site)
and the size, appearance, other physical characteristics, and a site plan of the premises.

D. Business Plan. Developer shall develop and submit to EOS, simultaneously with the
submission of the Real Estate Site Application, a business plan (“Business Plan”) for the length of the
Development Term. The Business Plan shall outline the actions that Developer will take to ensure
Developer’s compliance with the Development Schedule and the development, operation and management
of the Franchised Restaurants in accordance with EOS’s standards. During the Development Term,
Developer agrees to revise the Business Plan as required by EOS and further agrees to implement that
Business Plan as approved by EOS.
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E. Site Approval.

) Within 15 days after EOS’s receipt of the Real Estate Site Application, the
Business Plan and any additional information that EOS may reasonably require, EOS’s Real Estate Review
Committee shall review that information, evaluate the proposed site and advise Developer in writing
whether it has approved a particular site. If EOS does not respond within that time period, EOS shall be
deemed to have rejected the site. EOS’s approval or rejection of a site may be subject to reasonable
conditions as determined in its sole discretion. (A site which EOS has approved shall be referred to as an
“Authorized Site.”)

?2) Developer acknowledges that, in order to preserve and enhance the reputation and
goodwill of all restaurants franchised by EOS and the goodwill of the Proprietary Marks, all Franchised
Restaurants must be properly developed, operated and maintained. Accordingly, Developer agrees that
EOS may refuse to approve a site for a proposed Franchised Restaurant unless Developer demonstrates
sufficient financial capabilities, in EOS’s sole judgment, applying standards consistent with criteria EOS
uses to establish restaurants in other comparable market areas, to properly develop, operate and maintain
the proposed Franchised Restaurant. To this end, Developer shall furnish EOS with such financial
statements and other information regarding Developer (or its Affiliated Entity, as defined in Section 3.D.)
and the development and operation of the proposed Franchised Restaurant, including, without limitation,
investment and financing plans for the proposed Franchised Restaurant, as EOS reasonably may require.

A3) EOS’s approval of one or more sites is not a representation or a promise by
EOS that an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant at the Authorized Site will achieve a certain sales volume
or a certain level of profitability. Similarly, EOS’s approval of one or more sites and its rejection of
other sites is not a representation or a promise that an Authorized Site will have a higher sales volume
or be more profitable than a site which EOS did not approve. EOS assumes no liability or
responsibility for: (a) evaluation of an Authorized Site’s soil for hazardous substances; (b) inspection
of any structure on the Authorized Site for asbestos or other toxic or hazardous materials;
(c) compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”); or (d) compliance with any other
applicable law. It is Developer’s sole responsibility to obtain satisfactory evidence and/or assurances
that the Authorized Site (and any structures thereon) is free from environmental contamination and
in compliance with the requirements of the ADA.

F. Execution of Agreements. Within 30 days after EOS approves the site, EOS will prepare
and forward to Developer a Franchise Agreement for the Authorized Site. The form of Franchise
Agreement for Developer’s first Franchised Restaurant shall be the form included in the applicable
Franchise Disclosure Document as of the date of this Agreement. The form of Franchise Agreement for
the other Franchised Restaurants to be developed by Developer pursuant to this Agreement shall be the
then-current standard form in general use at the time of EOS’s notice to Developer. Within 90 days after
EOS approves the site, Developer shall sign and return the Franchise Agreement (along with the Initial
EeesFranchise Fee) to EOS. EOS will then sign the Franchise Agreement and return a fully-executed
original of the Franchise Agreement to Developer.

G. Lease Provisions. If Developer proposes to lease or sublease the Authorized Location,
Developer shall provide EOS with a copy of the fully-executed lease or sublease (for a term, including
renewal terms, for at least the Initial Term of the Franchise Agreement) for the Authorized Location within
90 days after EOS approves the site for the Authorized Location. The lease or sublease shall not contain
any covenants or other obligations that would prevent Developer from performing its obligations under the
Franchise Agreement. Unless waived in writing by EOS, any lease, sublease, letter of intent or lease
memorandum for the Authorized Location shall contain provisions that satisfy the following requirements
during the entire term of the lease, including any renewal terms:
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a1 The landlord consents to Developer’s use of the proprietary signs, distinctive
exterior and interior designs and layouts and the Proprietary Marks prescribed by EOS and, upon expiration
or the earlier termination of the lease, consents to permit Developer, at Developer’s expense, to remove all
such items and other trade fixtures, so long as Developer makes repairs to the building caused by such
removal.

?2) The landlord agrees to provide EOS (at the same time sent to Developer) a copy
of all amendments, assignments and notices of default pertaining to the lease and the leased premises.

3) EOS shall have the right to enter the leased premises to make any modifications or
alterations necessary to protect the System and the Proprietary Marks and to cure, within the time periods
provided by the lease, any default under the lease, all without being guilty of trespass or other tort, and to
charge Developer for these costs.

“) The landlord agrees that Developer shall be solely responsible for all obligations,
debts and payments under the lease.

o) The landlord agrees that, following the expiration or earlier termination of the
Franchise Agreement, Developer shall have the right to make those alterations and modifications to the
premises as may be necessary to clearly distinguish to the public the premises from an Earl of Sandwich
Restaurant and also make those specific additional changes as EOS reasonably may request for that purpose.
The landlord also agrees that, if Developer fails to promptly make these alterations and modifications, EOS
shall have the right to do so without being guilty of trespass or other tort so long as EOS makes repairs to
the building caused by such alterations and modifications.

6) The landlord agrees not to amend or otherwise modify the lease in any manner that
would affect any of the foregoing requirements without EOS’s prior written consent, which consent shall
not be unreasonably withheld.

@) Developer may assign the lease to EOS or its designee with landlord’s consent
(which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld) and without payment of any assignment fee or similar
charge or increase in any rentals payable to the landlord.

®) The landlord agrees to consent to Developer’s collaterally assigning the lease to
EOS or its designee, granting EOS the option, but not the obligation, to assume the lease from the date EOS
takes possession of the leased premises, without payment of any assignment fee or similar charge or
increase in any rentals payable to the landlord.

H. Development Training. Developer shall complete, to EOS’s satisfaction, any
development training required by EOS. Developer also may attend optional development training as
offered by EOS from time to time, subject to payment of a tuition fee as established by EOS from time to
time. Developer will be required to pay all travel, living, food and other incidental expenses incurred by
Developer and its employees while attending development training and optional development training.

L. Delegation. EOS has the right, from time to time, to delegate the performance of any
portion or all of its obligations and duties under this Agreement to designees, whether affiliates or agents
of EOS or independent contractors with which EOS has contracted to provide this service.

6. INSURANCE

A. Procurement of Insurance by Developer. Developer shall be responsible for all loss or
damage arising from or related to Developer’s development and operation of each Franchised Restaurant,
and for all demands or claims with respect to any loss, liability, personal injury, death, property damage, or
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expense whatsoever occurring upon the premises of, or in connection with the development or operation
of, each Franchised Restaurant. Developer shall maintain in full force and effect throughout the
Development Term that insurance which Developer determines is necessary or appropriate for liabilities
caused by or occurring in connection with the development or operation of each Franchised Restaurant,
which shall include, at a minimum, insurance policies of the kinds, and in the amounts, required by
Section 6.B. EOS, and any entity with an insurable interest designated by EOS, shall be an additional
insured in all liability policies (except workers’ compensation) to the extent each has an insurable interest.

B. Minimum Insurance Requirements. All insurance policies shall be written by an
insurance company or companies satisfactory to EOS, in compliance with the standards, specifications,
coverages and limits set forth in the Manual or otherwise provided to Developer in writing. EOS may
reasonably increase the minimum required coverage and require different or additional kinds of insurance
to reflect inflation, changes in standards of liability, higher damage awards or other relevant changes in
circumstances. Developer shall receive written notice of such modifications and shall take prompt action
to secure the additional coverage or higher policy limits. These policies shall include, at a minimum, the
following for each Franchised Restaurant:

1) Comprehensive or Commercial General Liability Insurance, including coverage
for bodily injury, personal injury, products liability, contractual liability, broad form property damage, non-
owned automobiles and completed operations on an occurrence basis with policy limits of not less than
$1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 in the aggregate.

2) All Risks Property Insurance, for fire and related peril (including floods and
earthquakes where applicable) with limits of insurance of not less than the full replacement value of each
Franchised Restaurant and its furniture, fixtures, equipment, inventory and other tangible property.

3 Business Interruption and Extra Expense Insurance, including rental payment
continuation for a minimum of 12 months, loss of profits and other extra expenses experienced during the
recovery from property loss.

“4) Plate Glass Insurance for replacement of glass from breakage.

B) Employer’s Liability Insurance in the amount of $100,000 per person, $500,000 in
the aggregate and $100,000 for occupational disease.

6) Liquor Liability Insurance for bodily injury and property damage on an occurrence
basis with policy limits of not less than $1,000,000 per Franchised Restaurant operated by Developer, to
the extent that EOS has approved the sale of alcoholic beverages at any Franchised Restaurant.

@) Workers’ Compensation and such other insurance as may be required by statute or
rule of the state or locality in which each Franchised Restaurant will be located. This coverage shall also
be in effect for all of Developer’s employees who participate in any EOS training programs.

)] Builder’s All Risk Insurance in connection with any new construction or
substantial renovation, refurbishment or remodeling of a Franchised Restaurant. Developer shall also
maintain performance and completion bonds in forms and amounts, and written by carrier(s), reasonably
satisfactory to EOS.

) Cyber-Liability Insurance with a minimum limit of $1,000,000 to include coverage
for business interruption loss, cyber extortion, data recovery costs and data and network liability.

(10) Umbrella or Excess Liability Insurance in the amount of $3,000,000 per
occurrence and $3,000,000 in annual aggregate that includes the prior mentioned coverages as underlying
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policies. Coverage shall follow form over general liability (including non-owned & hired liability), liquor
liability, automobile liability and employer’s liability.

C. General Insurance Requirements. The following general requirements shall apply to
each insurance policy that Developer is required to maintain under this Agreement:

) Each insurance policy shall be specifically endorsed to provide that the coverages
shall be primary and that any insurance carried by any additional insured shall be excess and non-
contributory. The applicable limits of each insurance policy shall be exhausted before any benefits (defense
or indemnity) may be obtained under any other insurance (including self-insurance) providing coverage to
EOS. The workers’ compensation policy shall include a waiver of subrogation in favor of EOS. In the
event payments are required to be made under EOS’s own insurance policies or self-insurance (whether for
defense or indemnity) before the applicable coverage limits for the insurance policies obtained by
Developer are exhausted, Developer agrees to reimburse, hold harmless and indemnify EOS and its insurers
for such payments. Developer shall notify its insurers of this Agreement and shall use reasonable efforts
to obtain an endorsement on each policy it obtains pursuant to Section 6.B. stating as follows:

The applicable limits of this policy shall be applied and exhausted before
any benefits may be obtained (whether for defense or indemnity) under
any other insurance (including self-insurance) that may provide coverage
to EOS. All insurance coverage obtained by EOS shall be considered
excess insurance with respect to this policy, the benefits of which excess
insurance shall not be available until the applicable limits of this policy
are exhausted.

2) No insurance policy shall contain a provision that in any way limits or reduces
coverage for Developer in the event of a claim by EOS or its affiliates.

A3 Each insurance policy shall extend to, and provide indemnity for, all obligations
and liabilities of Developer to third parties and all other items for which Developer is required to indemnify
EOS under this Agreement.

“) Each insurance policy shall be written by an insurance company that has received
and maintains an “A+" or better rating by the latest edition of Best’s Insurance Rating Service.

Q)] No insurance policy shall provide for a deductible amount that exceeds $5,000,
unless otherwise approved in writing by EOS, and Developer’s co-insurance under any insurance policy
shall be 80% or greater.

D. Proof of Insurance. No later than 30 days after this Agreement is executed by EOS, and
on each policy renewal date thereafter, Developer shall submit a certificate of insurance, or other evidence
of satisfactory insurance as required by this Section 6.D. and proof of payment therefor to EOS. The
evidence of insurance shall include a statement by the insurer that the policy or policies will not be canceled
or materially altered without at least 10 days’ prior written notice to EOS. Upon request, Developer also
shall provide to EOS copies of all or any policies and policy amendments and riders.

E. No Representations. Developer acknowledges that no requirement for insurance
contained in this Agreement constitutes advice or a representation by EOS that only such policies, in such
amounts, are necessary or adequate to protect Developer from losses in connection with its business under
this Agreement. Maintenance of this insurance, and the performance by Developer of its obligations under
this Section, shall not relieve Developer of liability under the indemnification provisions of this Agreement.
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F. Procurement of Insurance by EOS. Should Developer, for any reason, fail to procure or
maintain at least the insurance required by this Section 6, as revised from time to time pursuant to the
Manual or otherwise in writing, EOS shall have the immediate right and authority, but not the obligation,
to procure such insurance and charge its cost to Developer. Developer shall reimburse EOS for all out-of-
pocket costs incurred by EOS in obtaining such insurance on behalf of Developer immediately upon
Developer’s receipt of an invoice therefor.

7. MANUAL

EOS will loan to Developer for the Development Term one copy of the Manual. The Manual
contains the System standards, including mandatory specifications and standards relating to construction of
Franchised Restaurants and information relating to Developer’s other obligations under this Agreement.
Developer agrees to comply fully with these obligations and mandatory specifications. EOS may modify
the Manual and Developer shall comply with all modified System standards. EranehiseeDeveloper agrees
at all times to develop the Franchised Restaurants in strict conformity with the Manual; to maintain the
Manual at the Developer’s offices; to not reproduce the Manual or any part of it; and to treat the Manual as
confidential and proprietary, and; to disclose the contents of the Manual only to those employees of
Developer who have a need to know. Developer shall keep its copy of the Manual current and up-to-date
with all additions and deletions provided by EOS and shall purchase whatever equipment and related
services (including, without limitation, computer system, Internet service, dedicated phone line, facsimile
machine, etc.) as may be necessary to receive these communications. If a dispute relating to the contents of
the Manual develops, the master copy maintained by EOS at its principal offices shall control.

8. ORGANIZATION OF DEVELOPER
A. Representations.
1) If Developer is a corporation, a limited liability company or a partnership,

Developer makes the following representations and warranties: (a) it is duly organized and validly existing
under the laws of the state of its formation; (b) it is qualified to do business in the state or states in which
the Development Territory is located; (¢) execution of this Agreement and the development and operation
of Franchised Restaurants is permitted by its governing documents; and (d) unless waived in writing by
EOS, Developer’s Articles of Incorporation, Articles of Organization or written partnership agreement shall
at all times provide that the activities of Developer are limited exclusively to the development and operation
of Earl of Sandwich Restaurants and other restaurants operated by Developer that are franchised by EOS
or its affiliates.

2) If Developer is an individual, or a partnership comprised solely of individuals,
Developer makes the following additional representations and warranties: (a) each individual has executed
this Agreement; (b) each individual shall be jointly and severally bound by, and personally liable for the
timely and complete performance and a breach of, each and every provision of this Agreement; and (c)
notwithstanding any transfer for convenience of ownership pursuant to Section 10.D., each individual shall
continue to be jointly and severally bound by, and personally liable for the timely and complete performance
and a breach of, each and every provision of this Agreement.

B. Governing Documents. If Developer is a corporation, copies of Developer’s Articles of
Incorporation, bylaws, other governing documents and any amendments, including the resolution of the
Board of Directors authorizing entry into and performance of this Agreement, and all shareholder
agreements, including buy/sell agreements, have been furnished to EOS. If Developer is a limited liability
company, copies of Developer’s Articles of Organization, Management Agreement, other governing
documents and any amendments, including the resolution of the Managers authorizing entry into and
performance of this Agreement, and all agreements, including buy/sell agreements, among the members
have been furnished to EOS. If Developer is a partnership, copies of Developer’s written partnership
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agreement, other governing documents and any amendments, as well as all agreements, including buy/sell
agreements, among the partners have been furnished to EOS, in addition to evidence of consent or approval
of the entry into and performance of this Agreement by the requisite number or percentage of partners, if
that approval or consent is required by Developer’s written partnership agreement. When any of these
governing documents are modified or changed, Developer promptly shall provide copies to EOS.

C. Ownership Interests.

1) If Developer is a corporation, a limited liability company or a partnership, all
interests in Developer are owned as set forth in the attached Data Sheet. In addition, if Developer is a
corporation, Developer shall maintain a current list of all owners of record and all beneficial owners of any
class of voting securities of the corporation (and the number of shares owned by each). If Developer is a
limited liability company, Developer shall maintain a current list of all members (and the percentage
membership interest of each member). If Developer is a partnership, Developer shall maintain a current
list of all owners of an interest in the partnership (and the percentage ownership of each owner). Developer
shall comply with Section 10 prior to any change in ownership interests and shall execute addenda to the
attached Data Sheet as changes occur in order to ensure the information contained in the attached Data
Sheet is true, accurate and complete at all times.

?2) The requirements of this Section 8.C. shall apply only to Developer’s Continuity
Group (defined in Section 8.E.) if, as of the date of the first franchise-related agreement between Developer
and EOS or one of its affiliates, Developer was a publicly-held entity (i.e., an entity that has a class of
securities traded on a recognized securities exchange or quoted on the inter-dealer quotation sheets known
as the “pink sheets”). If Developer becomes a publicly-held entity after that date, it shall thereafter be
required to execute addenda to the attached Data Sheet only with respect to changes in ownership interests
of members of the Continuity Group.

D. Restrictive Legend. If Developer is a corporation, Developer shall maintain stop-transfer
instructions against the transfer on its records of any voting securities, and each stock certificate of the
corporation shall have conspicuously endorsed upon its face the following statement: “Any assignment or
transfer of this stock is subject to the restrictions imposed on assignment by the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant
Development Agreement and the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Franchise Agreement(s) to which the
corporation is a party.” If Developer is a publicly-held corporation these requirements shall apply only to
the stock owned by Developer’s Continuity Group. If Developer is a limited liability company, each
membership or management certificate or other evidence of interest in Developer shall have conspicuously
endorsed upon its face the following statement: “Any assignment or transfer of an interest in this limited
liability company is subject to the restrictions imposed on assignment by the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant
Development Agreement and the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Franchise Agreement(s) to which the limited
liability company is a party.” If Developer is a partnership, its written partnership agreement shall provide
that ownership of an interest in the partnership is held subject to, and that further assignment or transfer is
subject to, all restrictions imposed on assignment by this Agreement.

E. Continuity Group. If Developer is a corporation, a limited liability company or a
partnership, the attached Data Sheet lists those persons whom EOS and Developer have designated as
Developer’s “Continuity Group.” In the event of any change in the Continuity Group or in the ownership
interests of any member of the Continuity Group, Developer shall execute addenda to the attached Data
Sheet to reflect the change. If Developer is a corporation, the Continuity Group shall at all times own at
least 51% of the voting securities of Developer; if Developer is a limited liability company, the Continuity
Group shall at all times own at least 51% of the membership interests in Developer; and if Developer is a
partnership, the Continuity Group shall at all times have at least a 51% interest in the operating profits and
losses and at least a 51% ownership interest in Developer.

F. Guarantees.
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a1 All members of the Continuity Group and each of their spouses, if applicable, shall
jointly and severally guarantee Developer’s payment and performance under this Agreement and shall bind
themselves to the terms of this Agreement pursuant to the attached Guarantee and Assumption of
Developer’s Obligations (“Guarantee”). Unless Developer is a publicly-held entity, all of Developer’s
officers, directors and all holders of a legal or beneficial interest in Developer of 10% or more (“10%
Owners”) and each of their spouses, if applicable, also shall jointly and severally guarantee Developer’s
payment and performance under this Agreement and also shall bind themselves to the terms of this
Agreement pursuant to the attached Guarantee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, EOS reserves the right, in
its sole discretion, to waive the requirement that some or all of the previously described individuals execute
the attached Guarantee. EOS reserves the right to require any guarantor to provide personal financial
statements to EOS from time to time.

2) With respect to 10% Owners, Developer acknowledges that, unless otherwise
agreed to in writing by EOS, it is EOS’s intent to have individuals (and not corporations, limited liability
companies or other entities) execute the Guarantee. Accordingly, if any 10% Owner is not an individual,
EOS shall have the right to have the Guarantee executed by individuals who have only an indirect ownership
interest in Developer. (By way of example, if a 10% Owner of Developer is a corporation, EOS has the
right to require that the Guarantee be executed by individuals who have an ownership interest in that
corporation.)

3) If Developer, any guarantor or any parent, subsidiary or affiliate of Developer
holds any interest in other restaurants that are franchised by EOS or its affiliates, the party who owns that
interest shall execute, concurrently with this Agreement, a form of cross-guarantee to EOS and its affiliates
for the payment of all obligations for such restaurants, unless waived in writing by EOS in its sole discretion.
For purposes of this Agreement, an affiliate of Developer is any company controlled, directly or indirectly,
by Developer or Developer’s parent or subsidiary.

G. Development Principal.

1) If Developer is owned by more than one individual, Developer shall designate and
retain an individual to serve as the Development Principal. The Development Principal as of the date of
this Agreement is identified in the attached Data Sheet. Unless waived in writing by EOS, the Development
Principal shall meet all of the following qualifications:

(a) The Development Principal, at all times, shall be a member of the
Continuity Group and, at a minimum, have full control over the day-to-day development of Developer’s
Franchised Restaurants.

(b) The Development Principal shall devote substantial and adequate time and
reasonable efforts to supervising the development of Developer’s Franchised Restaurants and shall not
engage in any other business or activity, directly or indirectly, that requires substantial management
responsibility.

(c) If requested by EOS, the Development Principal shall successfully
complete EOS’s development training. In addition, the Development Principal shall successfully complete
EOS’s initial manager training program (either the full initial manager training program or a modified
version of the initial manager training program to meet the specific needs of the candidate, as deemed
appropriate by EOS in its sole discretion).

(d) EOS shall have approved the Development Principal and not have later
withdrawn that approval.
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2) If the Development Principal no longer qualifies as such, Developer shall designate
another qualified person to act as Development Principal within 30 days after the date the prior
Development Principal ceases to be qualified. Developer’s designee to become the Development Principal
must successfully complete the initial manager training program. Following EOS’s approval of a new
Development Principal, that person shall execute the attached form of Guarantee unless waived by EOS in
its sole discretion.

9. TRANSFERS BY EARL OF SANDWICH

EOS shall have the absolute, unrestricted right, exercisable at any time, to transfer and assign all or
any part of its rights and obligations under this Agreement to any person or legal entity without the consent
of Developer.

10. TRANSFERS BY DEVELOPER
A. EOS’s Prior Written Approval Required.

1) Developer understands and acknowledges that the rights and duties set forth in this
Agreement are personal to Developer, that EOS has entered into this Agreement in reliance on Developer’s
business skill, financial capacity, personal character, experience and demonstrated or purported ability in
developing and operating high quality foodservice operations and that EOS has entered into this Agreement
with the understanding that, except as otherwise reserved by EOS in Section 2, Developer and/or its
Affiliated Entities will be the only franchisee of EOS in the Development Territory during the Development
Term. Accordingly, neither Developer nor any immediate or remote successor to any part of Developer’s
interest in this Agreement, nor any individual, partnership, corporation or other legal entity which directly
or indirectly controls Developer shall sell, assign, transfer, convey, give away, pledge, mortgage, or
otherwise encumber any interest in Developer, this Agreement or any other assets pertaining to Developer’s
operations under this Agreement (collectively “Transfer””) without the prior written consent of EOS, which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. EOS shall be free to withhold consent to any Transfer, without
consideration of the factors listed in Section 10.B., if Developer does not propose to Transfer the same
interest with respect to all agreements with EOS in the Development Territory.

2) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any purported Transfer, by
operation of law or otherwise, not having the prior written consent of EOS shall be null and void and shall
constitute a material breach of this Agreement, for which EOS may terminate this Agreement without
providing Developer an opportunity to cure the breach.

B. Transfer Considerations. Developer shall advise EOS in writing of any proposed
Transfer, submit (or cause the proposed transferee to submit) a franchise application for the proposed
transferee and submit a copy of all contracts and all other agreements or proposals, and all other information
requested by EOS, relating to the proposed Transfer. If EOS does not exercise its right of first refusal, the
decision as to whether or not to approve a proposed Transfer shall be made by EOS in its reasonable
business discretion and shall include numerous factors deemed relevant by EOS. These factors may
include, but will not be limited to, the following:

a1 The proposed transferee (and if the proposed transferee is other than an individual,
such owners of an interest in the transferee as EOS may request) must demonstrate that it has extensive
experience in high quality restaurant operations of a character and complexity similar to the restaurants
franchised by EOS or its affiliates; meets the managerial, operational, experience, quality, character and
business standards for a developer promulgated by EOS from time to time; possesses a good character,
business reputation and credit rating; has an organization whose management culture is compatible with
EOS’s management culture; and has adequate financial resources and working capital to meet Developer’s
development obligations under this Agreement.
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2) The sales price shall not be so high, in EOS’s reasonable judgment, as to jeopardize
the ability of the transferee to develop, maintain, operate and promote the Franchised Restaurants and meet
financial obligations to EOS, third party suppliers and creditors. EOS’s decision with respect to a proposed
Transfer shall not create any liability on the part of EOS: (a) to the transferee, if EOS approves the Transfer
and the transferee experiences financial difficulties; or (b) to Developer or the proposed transferee, if EOS
disapproves the Transfer pursuant to this Section 10 or for other legitimate business purposes. EOS,
without any liability to Developer or the proposed transferee, has the right, in its reasonable business
discretion, to communicate and counsel with Developer and the proposed transferee regarding any aspect
of the proposed Transfer.

3 All of Developer’s accrued monetary obligations to EOS and its affiliates (whether
arising under this Agreement or otherwise) and all other outstanding obligations related to the Franchised
Restaurants (including, but not limited to, bills from suppliers, taxes, judgments and any required
governmental reports, returns, affidavits or bonds) have been satisfied or, in the reasonable judgment of
EOS, adequately provided for. EOS reserves the right to require that a reasonable sum of money be placed
in escrow to ensure that all of these obligations are satisfied.

“4) Developer is not then in material default of any provision of this Agreement or any
other agreement between Developer and EOS or its affiliates, is not in default beyond the applicable cure
period under any real estate lease, equipment lease or financing instrument relating to Developer’s
Franchised Restaurants and is not in default beyond the applicable cure period with any vendor or supplier
to Developer’s Franchised Restaurants.

o) Developer, all individuals who executed this Agreement and all guarantors of
Developer’s obligations must execute a general release and a covenant not to sue, in a form satisfactory to
EOS, of any and all claims against EOS and its affiliates and their respective past and present officers,
directors, shareholders, agents and employees, in their corporate and individual capacities, including,
without limitation, claims arising under federal, state and local laws, rules and ordinances, and claims
arising out of, or relating to, this Agreement and any other agreements between Developer and EOS or its
affiliates and all other restaurants operated by Developer that are franchised by EOS or its affiliates.

6) Unless waived by EOS in its reasonable business discretion, the transferee and
those employees of the transferee designated by EOS shall complete the development training programs
provided in Section 5.H.

C. Conditions of Transfer. If EOS approves a proposed Transfer, prior to the Transfer
becoming effective:

€)) The transferor shall pay to EOS a nonrefundable Transfer fee in an amount of
$10,000 in connection with EOS’s review of the Transfer application.

2) Developer and the proposed transferee shall execute, at EOS’s election, either an
assignment agreement and any amendments to this Agreement deemed necessary or desirable by EOS to
reflect the Transfer or EOS’s then-current standard form of development agreement for a term ending on
the expiration date of this Agreement. In either event, a guarantee of the type required by Section 8.F. shall
be executed by those individuals identified in Section &.F.

3) Developer shall, at EOS’s request, execute a written guarantee pursuant to which
Developer shall remain liable for all obligations to EOS incurred before the date of the Transfer and for a
period of 1 year following such Transfer.

D. Transfers for Convenience of Ownership. If Developer is an individual or a partnership
and desires to Transfer this Agreement to a corporation (or limited liability company) formed for the
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convenience of ownership, the requirements of Section 10.B. shall apply to such a Transfer; however,
Developer will not be required to pay a Transfer fee. EOS’s approval also will be conditioned on the
following: (1) the corporation (or limited liability company) must be newly organized; (2) prior to the
Transfer, EOS must receive a copy of the documents specified in Section 8.B. and the transferee shall
comply with the remaining provisions of Section 8; and (3) Developer must own all voting securities of the
corporation (or membership interests of the limited liability company) or, if Developer is owned by more
than one individual, each person shall have the same proportionate ownership interest in the corporation
(or the limited liability company) as prior to the Transfer.

E. Issuance or Exercise of Stock Options. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 10.B.,
the issuance of options or the exercise of options pursuant to a qualified stock option plan or a qualified
employee stock ownership plan shall not be considered a Transfer and shall not require the prior written
approval of EOS; provided no more than a total of 49% of Developer’s outstanding voting securities are
subject to the qualified stock option plan or qualified employee stock ownership plan.

F. Changes in Ownership of Developer’s Voting Securities. If Developer was a
publicly-held entity as of the date of the first franchise-related agreement between Developer and EOS or
its affiliates, Section 10.B. shall be applicable to transfers of ownership interests in Developer only if the
proposed Transfer would result in either: (1) 50% or more of Developer’s voting securities being held by
different shareholders than as of the date of the first franchise-related agreement between Developer and
EOS or its affiliates; or (2) any change in ownership of Developer’s voting securities whereby any existing
shareholder of Developer acquires an additional 10% or more of Developer’s voting securities; or (3) any
change in the membership of the Continuity Group (unless such change is a permitted Transfer pursuant to
Section 10.G.).

G. Transfers Permitted Without EOS’s Prior Written Approval. Notwithstanding the
provisions of Section 10.B., EOS agrees that certain Transfers shall be permitted without EOS’s prior
written approval, provided all of the following conditions are satisfied:

1) The Transfer is a transfer of:

(a) A minority percentage of ownership interests in Developer and after the
Transfer, the Continuity Group owns at least 51% of Developer’s voting securities, if Developer is a
corporation; the Continuity Group owns at least 51% of the membership interests in Developer, if
Developer is a limited liability company; or the Continuity Group owns at least a 51% interest in the
operating profits and losses of a partnership Developer as well as at least a 51% ownership interest in a
partnership Developer.

b) Ownership interests in Developer following the death or permanent
disability of a person with an ownership interest in Developer, provided that the Transfer is to the parent,
adult sibling, spouse or adult children of that person or to a member of the Continuity Group. Such Transfer
shall be completed within a reasonable time, not to exceed 6 months from the date of death or permanent
disability. Failure to complete the Transfer within this period of time will constitute a breach of this
Agreement. A person shall be deemed to have a “permanent disability” if his personal, active participation
in the development and operation of the Franchised Restaurants is for any reason curtailed for a continuous
period of 6 months.

2) Developer provides EOS written notice of its intent to undertake the Transfer at
least 30 days prior to the effective date of the Transfer, together with documents demonstrating that the
Transfer meets the requirements of this Section.

(€)) At the time of Developer’s notice to EOS, Developer shall not be in default of this
Agreement or any other agreements between Developer and EOS or its affiliates.
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H. Grant of Security Interest. Developer shall not grant any security interest in its business
or in any Franchised Restaurant or the assets used in the operation or development of any Franchised
Restaurant without EOS’s prior written approval, which will not be unreasonably withheld. EOS’s approval
may be conditioned, in its reasonable business discretion, on the written agreement by the secured party
that, in the event of a default by Developer under any agreement related to the security interest, EOS shall
have the right and option (but not the obligation) to purchase the rights of the secured party upon payment
of all sums then due to the secured party.

L Offerings by Developer. Securities or partnership interests in Developer may be sold, by
private or public offering, only with EOS’s prior written consent (whether or not EOS’s consent is required
under any other provision of this Section), which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. In addition
to the requirements of Section 10.B., prior to the time that any public offering or private placement of
securities or partnership interests in Developer is made available to potential investors, Developer, at its
expense, shall deliver to EOS a copy of the offering documents. Developer, at its expense, also shall deliver
to EOS an opinion of Developer’s legal counsel and an opinion of one other legal counsel selected by EOS
(both of which shall be addressed to EOS and in a form acceptable to EOS) that the offering documents
properly use the Proprietary Marks and accurately describe Developer’s relationship with EOS and/or its
affiliates. The indemnification provisions of Section 16 shall also include any losses or expenses incurred
by EOS and/or its affiliates in connection with any statements made by or on behalf of Developer in any
public offering or private placement of Developer’s securities.

J. EOS’s Right of First Refusal.

a1 If any party holding any interest in Developer or in this Agreement receives a bona
fide offer (as determined by EOS in its reasonable discretion) from a third party or otherwise desires to
undertake any Transfer that would require EOS’s approval (other than a Transfer for convenience of
ownership pursuant to Section 10.D. or a sale of ownership interests in Developer to a spouse, parent, adult
child or adult sibling), it shall notify EOS in writing of the terms of the proposed Transfer, and shall provide
such information and documentation relating to the proposed Transfer as EOS may reasonably require.
EOS or its designee may elect to purchase the interest that the seller proposes to Transfer any time within
30 days after receipt of written notification, and all documents and other information required by Section
10.B., by sending written notice to the seller that EOS or its designee intends to purchase the seller’s interest
on the same financial terms and conditions offered by the third party (except that EOS or its designee shall
not be obligated to pay any finder’s or broker’s fees). In purchasing the interest, EOS or its designee shall
be entitled to set off any monies owed to EOS and/or its affiliates by Developer and EOS or its designee
shall be entitled to all customary representations and warranties that the assets are free and clear (or, if not,
accurate and complete disclosure) as to: (a) ownership, condition and title; (b) liens and encumbrances; (¢)
environmental and hazardous substances; and (d) validity of contracts inuring to the purchaser or affecting
the assets, whether contingent or otherwise.

2) If the offer to Developer involves assets in addition to this Agreement, Developer’s
Franchised Restaurants and other restaurants operated by Developer that are franchised by EOS or its
affiliates, Developer’s notice to EOS shall state the cash value of that portion of the offer received by
Developer relating to this Agreement and those other restaurants. If the proposed Transfer provides for
payment of consideration other than cash or it involves intangible benefits, EOS or its designee may elect
to purchase the interest proposed to be sold for the reasonable equivalent in cash. If the parties are unable
to agree within 30 days on the reasonable equivalent in cash of the non-cash part of the offer received by
Developer, or the cash value of that portion of the offer received by Developer relating to this Agreement,
Developer’s Franchised Restaurants and those other restaurants, the amount shall be determined by two
professionally certified appraisers, Developer selecting one and EOS or its designee selecting one. If the
amounts set by the two appraisers differ by more than 10%, the two appraisers shall select a third
professionally certified appraiser who also shall determine the amount. The average value set by the
appraisers (whether two or three appraisers as the case may be) shall be conclusive and EOS or its designee
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may exercise its right of first refusal within 30 days after being advised in writing of the decision of the
appraisers. The cost of the appraisers shall be shared equally by the parties.

A3 EOS’s failure to exercise its right of first refusal shall not constitute approval of
the proposed Transfer nor a waiver of any other provision of this Section 10 with respect to a proposed
Transfer. If EOS does not exercise its right of first refusal, Developer may not thereafter Transfer the
interest at a lower price or on more favorable terms than those that have been offered to EOS. EOS shall
again be given a right of first refusal if a transaction does not close within 6 months after EOS elected not
to exercise its right of first refusal. In no event shall Developer offer the interest for sale or transfer at
public auction, nor at any time shall an offer be made to the public to sell, transfer or assign, through any
advertisement, either in the newspapers or otherwise, without first having obtained the written approval of
EOS to the auction or advertisement.

K. No Waiver. EOS’s consent to any Transfer shall not constitute a waiver of any claims
EOS may have against the transferring party, nor shall it be deemed a waiver of EOS’s right to demand
exact compliance with any of the terms of this Agreement by the transferee, nor will it be deemed a waiver
of EOS’s right to give or withhold approval to future Transfers.

11. GENERAL RELEASE

Developer (on behalf of itself and its parent, subsidiaries and affiliates and their respective past and
present members, officers, directors, shareholders, agents and employees, in their corporate and individual
capacities), all individuals who execute this Agreement and all guarantors of Developer’s obligations under
this Agreement (collectively “Releasors”), freely and without any influence, forever release and covenant
not to sue EOS, its parent, subsidiaries and affiliates and their respective past and present officers, directors,
shareholders, agents and employees (collectively “Releasees”), in their corporate and individual capacities,
from any and all claims, demands, liabilities and causes of action of whatever kind or nature, whether
known or unknown, vested or contingent, suspected or unsuspected (collectively “claims”), that any
Releasor now owns or holds, or may at any time have owned or held, up to and including the date of this
Agreement, including, without limitation, claims arising under federal, state and local laws, rules and
ordinances, claims for contribution, indemnity and/or subrogation, and claims arising out of, or relating to
this Agreement and all other agreements between any Releasor and any Releasee, the sale of a franchise to
any Releasor, the development of any Franchised Restaurant and the development and operation of all other
restaurants operated by any Releasor that are franchised by any Releasee. Notwithstanding any provision
to the contrary in this Section 11, this General Release does not release any claims arising from
representations made in EOS’s Franchise Disclosure Document or its exhibits or otherwise impair or affect
any claims arising after the date of this Agreement.

12. COVENANTS

A. Best Efforts. During the Development Term, Developer and the Development Principal
shall devote their best efforts to the development, management and operation of the Franchised Restaurants
in the Development Territory.

B. Confidentiality.

) Developer acknowledges and agrees that: (a) EOS owns all right, title and interest
in and to the System; (b) the System consists of trade secrets and confidential and proprietary information
and know-how that gives EOS and its affiliates a competitive advantage; (¢) EOS and its affiliates have
taken all measures necessary to protect the trade secrets and the confidentiality of the proprietary
information and know-how comprising the System; (d) all material or other information now or hereafter
provided or disclosed to Developer regarding the System is disclosed in confidence; (e) Developer has no
right to disclose any part of the System to anyone who is not an employee of Developer; (f) Developer will
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disclose to its employees only those parts of the System that an employee needs to know; (g) Developer
will have a system in place to ensure its employees keep confidential EOS’s trade secrets and confidential
and proprietary information, and, if requested by EOS, Developer shall obtain from those of its employees
designated by EOS an executed Confidential Disclosure Agreement in the form prescribed by EOS; (h)
Developer will not acquire any interest in the System; and (i) Developer’s use or duplication of the System
or any part of the System in any other business would constitute an unfair method of competition, for which
EOS would be entitled to all legal and equitable remedies, including injunctive relief, without posting a
bond.

) Developer shall not, during the Development Term or at any time thereafter,
communicate or disclose any trade secrets or confidential or proprietary information or know-how of the
System to any unauthorized person, or do or perform, directly or indirectly, any other acts injurious or
prejudicial to any of the Proprietary Marks or the System. Any and all information, knowledge, know-how
and techniques, including all drawings, materials, equipment, specifications, recipes, techniques and other
data that EOS or its affiliates designate as confidential shall be deemed confidential for purposes of this
Agreement.

3) If Developer develops any new concepts, processes or improvements relating to
the System, Developer promptly shall notify EOS and provide EOS with all information regarding the new
concept, process or improvement, all of which shall become the property of EOS and its affiliates and which
may be incorporated into the System without any payment to Developer. Developer promptly shall take all
actions deemed necessary and desirable by EOS to vest in EOS ownership of such concepts, processes or
improvements.

C. Restrictions.

1) Developer acknowledges and agrees that: (a) pursuant to this Agreement,
Developer will have access to valuable trade secrets, specialized training and confidential information from
EOS and its affiliates regarding the development, operation, purchasing, sales and marketing methods and
techniques of EOS and its affiliates and the System; (b) the System and the opportunities, associations and
experience established and acquired by Developer under this Agreement are of substantial and material
value; (c) in developing the System, EOS and its affiliates have made and continue to make substantial
investments of time, technical and commercial research, and money; (d) EOS would be unable to
adequately protect the System and its trade secrets and confidential and proprietary information against
unauthorized use or disclosure and would be unable to adequately encourage a free exchange of ideas and
information among Earl of Sandwich Restaurants if franchisees or developers were permitted to hold
interests in competitive businesses; and (e) restrictions on Developer’s right to hold interests in, or perform
services for, competitive businesses will not hinder its activities.

2) Accordingly, Developer covenants and agrees that during the Development Term,
and for a continuous period of 1 year following its expiration or earlier termination, Developer shall not,
either directly or indirectly, for itself, or through, on behalf of, or in conjunction with, any person, firm,
partnership, corporation, or other entity:

(a) Divert or attempt to divert any business or customer, or potential business
or customer, of any restaurant franchised or operated by EOS or its affiliates to any competitor, by direct
or indirect inducement or otherwise.

(b) Own, maintain, operate, engage in, advise, help, make loans to, or have
any interest in, either directly or indirectly, any restaurant business: (i) that has sandwiches as a primary
menu item (i.e., sales of all sandwiches comprise at least 10% of sales) or that offers any individual menu
item that comprises at least 10% of sales at Earl of Sandwich Restaurants; or (ii) whose method of operation
or trade dress is similar to that employed in the System. During the Development Term, there is no
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geographical limitation on this restriction. Following the expiration or earlier termination of the
Development Term, this restriction shall apply within the Development Territory, within 2 miles of the
border of the Development Territory and within 2 miles of any then-existing Earl of Sandwich Restaurant,
except as otherwise approved in writing by EOS. This restriction shall not apply to Developer’s existing
restaurant or foodservice operations, if any, which are identified in the attached Data Sheet, nor shall it
apply to other restaurants operated by Developer that are franchised by EOS or its affiliates.

A3) If any part of these restrictions is found to be unreasonable in time or distance,
each month of time or mile of distance may be deemed a separate unit so that the time or distance may be
reduced by appropriate order of the court to that deemed reasonable. If, at any time during the 1-year period
following expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, Developer fails to comply with its obligations
under this Section, that period of noncompliance will not be credited toward Developer’s satisfaction of the
1-year obligation.

D. Additional Remedies for Breach. In addition to any other remedies or damages permitted
under this Agreement, if Developer breaches Section 12.C.(2)(c) (“Covenants Against Competition”)
during the 1-year period following the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, for each
restaurant business that violates those Sections, Developer shall pay to EOS: (1) a fee equal to EOS’s then-
current Initial Eees-(ineludingany-ApplicationFees-and-Initial- Franchise Fees)Fee for franchised Earl of
Sandwich Restaurants; and (2) 8% of the gross sales of that restaurant business until the expiration of the
1-year period following the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. Developer acknowledges
that a precise calculation of the full extent of EOS’s damages under these circumstances is difficult to
determine and the method of calculation of such damages as set forth in this Section 12.D. is reasonable.
Developer’s payment to EOS under this Section shall be in addition to any attorney’s fees and other costs
and expenses to which EOS is entitled pursuant to Section 22.E. Developer acknowledges that breach of
the Covenants Against Competition by Developer shall cause irreparable harm to EOS in addition to
monetary damages and nothing in this Section 12.D. shall preclude EOS from obtaining appropriate
injunctive relief to enforce the Covenants Against Competition and specific performance to enforce this
Section 12.D.

E. Modification. EOS shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to reduce the scope of any
covenant in this Section 12 effective immediately upon Developer’s receipt of written notice, and
Developer agrees that it shall comply forthwith with any covenant as so modified, which shall be fully
enforceable notwithstanding the provisions of Section 20.

F. Execution of Covenants by Third Parties. At EOS’s request, Developer shall require
and obtain the execution of covenants similar to those set forth in this Section 12 (including covenants
applicable upon the termination of an individual’s relationship with Developer) from all guarantors of
Developer’s obligations. Every covenant required by this Section 12.F. shall be in a form satisfactory to
EOS, including, without limitation, specific identification of EOS as a third party beneficiary of such
covenants with the independent right to enforce them. Failure by Developer to obtain execution of a
covenant required by this Section 12.F. shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement.

G. Applicability. The restrictions contained in this Section 12 shall apply to Developer and
all guarantors of Developer’s obligations. With respect to guarantors, these restrictions shall apply for a 1
year period after any guarantor ceases to be the Development Principal or an officer, stockholder, director,
member of the Continuity Group or a 10% Owner. The restrictions contained in this Section 12 shall not
apply to ownership of less than a 5% legal or beneficial ownership in the outstanding equity securities of
any publicly held corporation by Developer or any guarantor of Developer’s obligations. The existence of
any claim Developer or any guarantor of Developer’s obligations may have against EOS or its affiliates,
whether or not arising from this Agreement, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by EOS of
the covenants in this Section 12. The preceding sentence, however, does not constitute a waiver of any
such claim.
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13. TERMINATION

A. Grounds for Termination. In addition to the grounds for termination that may be stated
elsewhere in this Agreement, EOS may terminate this Agreement, and the rights granted by this Agreement,
upon written notice to Developer without an opportunity to cure upon the occurrence of any of the following
events:

1) Developer fails to obtain EOS’s written approval of a site by the applicable site
approval date listed in the attached Data Sheet.

2) At any time during the Development Term, Developer fails to have open and
operating the number of Franchised Restaurants required by the Development Schedule.

3) Developer begins construction of a Franchised Restaurant before Developer has
received a fully-executed Franchise Agreement for that location.

“) Developer is insolvent or is unable to pay its creditors (including EOS); files a
petition in bankruptcy, an arrangement for the benefit of creditors or a petition for reorganization; there is
filed against Developer a petition in bankruptcy, an arrangement for the benefit of creditors or petition for
reorganization, which is not dismissed within 60 days of the filing; Developer makes an assignment for the
benefit of creditors; or a receiver or trustee is appointed for Developer and not dismissed within 60 days of
the appointment.

Q) Execution is levied against Developer’s business or property; suit to foreclose any
lien or mortgage against the premises or equipment of any Franchised Restaurant developed hereunder is
instituted against Developer and is not dismissed within 60 days; or the real or personal property of any
Franchised Restaurant developed hereunder shall be sold after levy thereupon by any sheriff, marshal or
constable.

6) There is a material breach by Developer of any obligation under Section 12.

@) Any Transfer that requires EOS’s prior written approval occurs without Developer
having obtained that prior written approval.

6)) EOS discovers that Developer made a material misrepresentation or omitted a
material fact in the information that was furnished to EOS in connection with its decision to enter into this
Agreement.

9 Developer knowingly falsifies any report required to be furnished EOS or makes
any material misrepresentation in its dealings with EOS or fails to disclose any material facts to EOS.

(10)  Developer, the Development Principal, any stockholder, member, partner, director
or officer of Developer, any member of the Continuity Group or any 10% Owner is convicted of, or pleads
no contest to, a felony charge, a crime involving moral turpitude or any other crime or offense that is
reasonably likely, in the sole opinion of EOS, to adversely affect EOS, its affiliates or the System.

(11)  Developer, the Development Principal, any member of the Continuity Group or
any 10% Owner remains in default beyond the applicable cure period: (a) under any other agreement with
EOS or its affiliates; (b) under any real estate lease, equipment lease, or financing instrument relating to a
Franchised Restaurant; or (¢) with any vendor or supplier to a Franchised Restaurant; provided that if the
default is not by Developer, Developer is given written notice of the default and 30 days to cure said default.
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(12)  There is a material breach by Developer of any representation or warranty set forth
in Section 24.G.-H.

(13)  Developer fails or refuses to comply with any other provision of this Agreement
or any requirement of the System and does not correct the failure or refusal within 30 days (10 days for
monetary defaults) after receiving written notice of default. Except for monetary defaults, if the default
cannot be corrected within 30 days, Developer shall have such additional time to correct the default as
reasonably required (not to exceed 90 days) provided that Developer begins taking the actions necessary to
correct the default during the 30-day cure period and diligently and in good faith pursues those actions to
completion. Developer will be in default under this Section 13.A.(13) for any failure to materially comply
with any of the requirements imposed by this Agreement or otherwise in writing, or to carry out the terms
of this Agreement in good faith. If Developer has received 2 or more notices of default pursuant to this
Section 13.A.(13) within the previous 12 months, EOS shall be entitled to send Developer a notice of
termination upon Developer’s next default under this Section 13.A.(13) in that 12-month period without
providing Developer an opportunity to remedy that default.

B. Statutory Limitations. If any wvalid, applicable law or regulation of a competent
governmental authority with jurisdiction over this Agreement requires a notice or cure period prior to
termination longer than set forth in this Section, this Agreement will be deemed amended to conform to the
minimum notice or cure period required by the applicable law or regulation.

14. OBLIGATIONS ON TERMINATION OR EXPIRATION
A. Developer’s Obligations. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement:

Q) Developer shall have no further right to develop or open Franchised Restaurants
in the Development Territory, except that Developer shall be entitled to complete and open a Franchised
Restaurant for which a Franchise Agreement has been fully executed. Termination or expiration of this
Agreement shall not affect Developer’s right to continue to operate Franchised Restaurants that were open
and operating as of the date this Agreement terminated or expired.

?2) The limited exclusive rights granted Developer in the Development Territory shall
terminate, and EOS shall have the right to operate or license others to operate restaurants identified in whole
or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” anywhere in the Development Territory.

A3) Developer promptly shall return to EOS the Manual, any copies of the Manual and
all other materials and information furnished by EOS or its affiliates, except materials and information
furnished with respect to a Franchised Restaurant which is open and operating pursuant to an effective
franchise agreement.

“4) Developer and all persons and entities subject to the covenants contained in
Section 12 shall continue to abide by those covenants and shall not, directly or indirectly, take any action
that violates those covenants.

5) Developer immediately shall pay EOS and its affiliates all sums due and owing
EOS or its affiliates pursuant to this Agreement.

6) EOS shall retain the Development Fee.

B. Evidence of Compliance. Developer shall furnish EOS, within 30 days after the effective
date of termination or expiration, evidence (certified to be true, complete, accurate and correct by the chief
executive officer of Developer, if Developer is a corporation; by a manager of Developer, if Developer is a
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limited liability company; or by a general partner of Developer, if Developer is a partnership) satisfactory
to EOS of Developer’s compliance with Sections 14.A.(1) through 14.A.(6).

C. Developer Prohibited from Engaging in Certain Conduct. Developer shall not, except
with respect to a restaurant franchised by EOS or its affiliates which is then open and operating pursuant to
an effective franchise agreement: (1) operate or do business under any name or in any manner that might
tend to give the public the impression that Developer is connected in any way with EOS or its affiliates or
has any right to use the System or the Proprietary Marks; (2) make, use or avail itself of any of the materials
or information furnished or disclosed by EOS or its affiliates under this Agreement or disclose or reveal
any such materials or information or any portion thereof to anyone else; or (3) assist anyone not licensed
by EOS or its affiliates to construct or equip a foodservice outlet substantially similar to an Earl of Sandwich
Restaurant.

15. RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

A. This Agreement does not create a fiduciary or other special relationship between the
parties. No agency, employment, or partnership is created or implied by the terms of this Agreement, and
each party is not and shall not hold itself out as an agent, legal representative, partner, subsidiary, joint
venturer, joint employer, or employee of the other for any purpose whatsoever. Neither this Agreement nor
EOS’s course of conduct is intended, nor may anything in this Agreement (nor EOS’s course of conduct)
be construed to state or imply that EOS is the employer of Developer’s employees and/or independent
contractors, nor vice versa. Developer shall have no right or power to, and shall not, bind or obligate EOS
or its affiliates in any way or manner, nor represent that Developer has any right to do so.

B. Developer is an independent contractor and is solely responsible for all aspects of the
development and operation of the Franchised Restaurants, subject only to the conditions and covenants
established by this Agreement and the Franchise Agreements. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, Developer acknowledges that EOS has no responsibility to ensure that the Franchised
Restaurants are developed in compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances and regulations and that EOS
shall have no liability in the event the development or operation of the Franchised Restaurants violates any
law ordinance or regulation.

C. The sole relationship between Developer and EOS is a commercial, arms’ length business
relationship and, except as provided in Section 16, there are no third party beneficiaries to this Agreement.
Developer’s business is, and shall be kept, totally separate and apart from any that may be operated by EOS.
In all public records, in relationships with other persons, and on letterheads and business forms, Developer
shall indicate its independent ownership of the Franchised Restaurants and that Developer is solely a
franchisee of EOS. Developer shall not issue any press releases without the prior written approval of EOS.

16. INDEMNIFICATION

A. Developer and all guarantors of Developer’s obligations under this Agreement shall, at all
times, indemnify, defend (with counsel reasonably acceptable to EOS), and hold harmless (to the fullest
extent permitted by law) EOS and its affiliates, and their respective successors, assigns, past and present
stockholders, directors, officers, employees, agents and representatives (collectively “Indemnitees”) from
and against all “losses and expenses” (as defined below) incurred in connection with any action, suit,
proceeding, claim, demand, investigation, inquiry (formal or informal), judgment or appeal thereof by or
against Indemnitees or any settlement thereof (whether or not a formal proceeding or action had been
instituted), arising out of or resulting from or connected with Developer’s (or its employees’) development
of the Franchised Restaurants and Developer’s (or its employees’) activities under this Agreement,
excluding the gross negligence or willful misconduct of any Indemnitee. Developer promptly shall give
EOS written notice of any such action, suit, proceeding, claim, demand, inquiry or investigation filed or
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instituted against Developer and, upon request, shall furnish EOS with copies of any documents from such
matters as EOS may request.

B. At Developer’s expense and risk, EOS may elect to assume (but under no circumstances
will EOS be obligated to undertake), the defense and/or settlement of any action, suit, proceeding, claim,
demand, investigation, inquiry, judgment or appeal thereof subject to this indemnification. Such an
undertaking shall, in no manner or form, diminish Developer’s obligation to indemnify and hold harmless
EOS and Indemnitees. EOS shall not be obligated to seek recoveries from third parties or otherwise mitigate
losses.

C. As used in this Section, the phrase “losses and expenses” shall include, but not be limited
to, all losses; compensatory, exemplary and punitive damages; fines; charges; costs; expenses; lost profits;
reasonable attorneys’ fees; expert witness fees; court costs; settlement amounts; judgments; compensation
for damages to EOS’s reputation and goodwill; costs of or resulting from delays; financing; costs of
advertising material and media time/space and the costs of changing, substituting or replacing the same;
and any and all expenses of recall, refunds, compensation, public notices and other such amounts incurred
in connection with the matters described.

17. CONSENTS, APPROVALS AND WAIVERS

A. Whenever this Agreement requires the prior approval or consent of EOS, Developer shall
make a timely written request to EOS therefor; and any approval or consent received, in order to be effective
and binding upon EOS, must be obtained in writing and be signed by an authorized officer of EOS.

B. EOS makes no warranties or guarantees by providing any waiver, approval, consent or
suggestion to Developer in connection with this Agreement, and assumes no liability or obligation to
Developer therefor, or by reason of any neglect, delay, or denial of any request therefor. EOS shall not, by
virtue of any approvals, advice or services provided to Developer, assume responsibility or liability to
Developer or to any third parties to which EOS would not otherwise be subject.

C. No failure of EOS to exercise any power reserved to it by this Agreement or to insist upon
strict compliance by Developer with any obligation or condition hereunder, and no custom or practice of
the parties at variance with the terms of this Agreement, shall constitute a waiver of EOS’s right to demand
exact compliance with any of the terms of this Agreement. A waiver by EOS of any particular default by
Developer shall not affect or impair EOS’s rights with respect to any subsequent default of the same, similar
or different nature, nor shall any delay, forbearance or omission of EOS to exercise any power or right
arising out of any breach or default by Developer of any of the terms, provisions or covenants of this
Agreement affect or impair EOS’s right to exercise the same, nor shall such constitute a waiver by EOS of
any right hereunder, or the right to declare any subsequent breach or default and to terminate this Agreement
prior to the expiration of the Development Term. Subsequent acceptance by EOS of any payments due to
it hereunder shall not be deemed to be a waiver by EOS of any preceding breach by Developer of any terms,
covenants or conditions of this Agreement.

18. NOTICES

No notice, demand, request or other communication to the parties shall be binding upon the parties
unless the notice is in writing, refers specifically to this Agreement and is addressed to each party at the
notice address set forth in the attached Data Sheet. Any party may designate a new address for notices by
giving written notice of the new address pursuant to this Section. Notices shall be effective upon receipt
(or first rejection) and may be: (1) delivered personally; (2) mailed in the United States mail, postage
prepaid, certified mail, return receipt requested; or (3) mailed via overnight courier.
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19. FORCE MAJEURE

If the performance of any obligation by any party under this Agreement is prevented, hindered or
delayed by reason of Force Majeure, which cannot be overcome by reasonable commercial measures, the
parties shall be relieved of their respective obligations (to the extent that the parties, having exercised
reasonable efforts, are prevented, hindered or delayed in such performance) during the period of such Force
Majeure. The party whose performance is affected by an event of Force Majeure shall give prompt written
notice of such Force Majeure event to the other party by setting forth the nature thereof and an estimate as
to its duration. As used in this Agreement, the term “Force Majeure” means any act of God, strike, lock-out
or other industrial disturbance, war (declared or undeclared), riot, epidemic, fire or other catastrophe, act
of any government or other third party and any other cause not within the control of the party affected
thereby. Developer’s inability to obtain financing (regardless of the reason) shall not constitute Force
Majeure.

20. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

EOS and Developer acknowledge that each element of this Agreement is essential and material and
that, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the parties shall deal with each other in good faith.
This Agreement, the Manual, the documents referred to herein, and the attachments hereto, constitute the
entire, full and complete agreement between the parties concerning Developer’s rights in the Development
Territory and EOS’s approval of sites for Franchised Restaurants, and supersede any and all prior or
contemporaneous negotiations, discussions, understandings or agreements. There are no other
representations, inducements, promises, agreements, arrangements, or undertakings, oral or written,
between the parties relating to the matters covered by this Agreement other than those set forth in this
Agreement, in the attachments to this Agreement and in EOS’s Franchise Disclosure Document. Nothing
in this Agreement or any related agreement is intended to disclaim the representations EOS made in EOS’s
Franchise Disclosure Document. No obligations or duties that contradict or are inconsistent with the express
terms of this Agreement may be implied into this Agreement. Except as expressly set forth herein, no
amendment, change or variance from this Agreement shall be binding on either party unless mutually
agreed to by the parties and executed in writing.

21. SEVERABILITY AND CONSTRUCTION

A. Severability. Each article, paragraph, subparagraph, term and condition of this
Agreement, and any portions thereof, will be considered severable. If, for any reason, any portion of this
Agreement is determined to be invalid, contrary to, or in conflict with, any applicable present or future law,
rule or regulation in a final, unappealable ruling issued by any court, agency or tribunal with valid
jurisdiction in a proceeding to which EOS is a party, that ruling will not impair the operation of, or have
any other effect upon, any other portions of this Agreement; all of which will remain binding on the parties
and continue to be given full force and effect.

B. No Third Party Beneficiaries. Except as otherwise provided in Section 16, nothing in
this Agreement is intended, nor shall be deemed, to confer upon any person or legal entity other than
Developer and EOS and its affiliates and such of their heirs, successors and assigns, any rights or remedies
under or by reason of this Agreement.

C. Modification to Scope of Covenants by Law. Developer expressly agrees to be bound
by any promise or covenant imposing the maximum duty permitted by law that is subsumed within the
terms of any provision of this Agreement, as though it were separately articulated in and made a part of this
Agreement, that may result from striking from any of the provisions of this Agreement any portion or
portions which a court may hold to be unreasonable and unenforceable in a final decision to which EOS is
a party, or from reducing the scope of any promise or covenant to the extent required to comply with such
a court order.
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D. Interpretation. No provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in favor of, or against,
any party because of the party that drafted this Agreement.

22— GOVERNING AW FORUM-AND HIMITATIONS
22.  CHOICEOFLAW-THIS AGREEMENTDISPUTE

A. Mediation. Except as provided with respect to injunctive relief as set forth in this
Agreement, in the event of any dispute arising from or in connection with this Agreement or the breach
thereof or the relationship of the parties, the parties shall use their best efforts to settle the dispute by
consulting and negotiating with each other in good faith to attempt to reach a solution satisfactory to both
parties. If these methods fail, EOS and Developer agree to submit any claim, controversy, or dispute arising
out of this Agreement or the relationship of the parties to non-binding mediation conducted by the American
Arbitration Association (the “AAA”) and in accordance with its then-current rules for commercial
mediation. Once either party has submitted a dispute to mediation, the obligation to attend will be binding
on both parties. Both parties must sign a confidentiality agreement before participating in any mediation
proceeding. The mediation will take place in the city where EOS’s principal offices are located at the time
the demand for mediation is filed. If a dispute cannot be resolved through mediation, the parties agree to
submit the dispute to arbitration, subject to the terms and conditions of Section 22.B.

B. Arbitration. Subject to Section 22.A., EOS and Developer agree that all controversies,
disputes, or claims between the parties and their respective affiliates, owners, shareholders, officers,
directors, agents, and/or employees arising out of or related to: (1) this Agreement; (2) the relationship
between the Qartlesz (3) the scope and Valld1t¥ of thls Agreement or any grov1s10n of thls Agreement

acknowledge is to be determined by an arbitrator and not a court); or (4) any aspect of the System or any
System standard must be submitted for binding arbitration, on demand of either party, to the AAA and in
accordance with its then-current rules for commercial arbitration. The arbitration proceedings will be
conducted by a single arbitrator. The arbitration will take place in the city where EOS’s principal offices
are located at the time the demand for arbitration is filed. The arbitrator will have no authority to select a

different hearing locale other than as described in the prior sentence. All matters relating to arbitration will
be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. 1 et seq.) and not by any state arbitration law.

@ The arbitrator will have the right to award or include in the award any relief which
the arbitrator deems proper under the circumstances, including, without limitation, money damages (with
interest on unpaid amounts from the date due), specific performance, injunctive relief, and reasonable
attorneys’ fees and costs, provided that the arbitrator will not have the right to amend or modify the terms
of this Agreement, declare any Proprietary Marks generic or otherwise invalid, or award any punitive or
exemplary damages against either party (EOS and Developer hereby waiving to the fullest extent permitted
by law any right to or claim for any punitive or exemplary damages against the other). The award and
decision of the arbitrator will be conclusive and binding upon all parties, and judgment upon the award may
be entered in any court of competent jurisdiction.

2) EOS and Developer agree to be bound by the provisions of any limitation on the
period of time in which claims must be brought under applicable law. EOS and Developer further agree
that, in connection with any such arbitration proceeding, each must submit or file any claim which would
constitute a compulsory counterclaim (as defined by Rule 13 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure) within
the same proceeding as the claim to which it relates. Any such claim which is not submitted or filed as
described above will be forever barred. The arbitrator may not consider any settlement discussions or offers
that might have been made by either party.

3 EOS and Developer agree that arbitration will be conducted on an individual, not
a class-wide, basis, and that an arbitration proceeding between EOS and Developer and their respective
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affiliates, owners, shareholders, officers, directors, agents, and/or employees may not be consolidated with
any other arbitration proceeding involving EOS and Developer and another party. Notwithstanding the
foregoing or anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if any court or arbitrator determines that all or any
part of the preceding sentence is unenforceable with respect to a dispute that otherwise would be subject to
arbitration under this Section 22.B., then the parties agree that this arbitration clause shall not apply to that
dispute and that such dispute will be resolved in a judicial proceeding in accordance with this Section 22

(excluding this Section 22.B.).

A=C. _Governing Law. All matters relating to arbitration will be governed by the Federal
Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. Sections 1 et seq.). Except to the extent governed by the Federal Arbitration Act,
the United States Trademark Act of 1946 (Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. Sections 1051 ef seq.), or other federal
law, this Agreement, and any claim or controversy arising out of, or relating to, rights and obligations of
the parties under this Agreement, and any other claim or controversy between the parties shall be governed
by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida without regard to conflicts of laws
principles. Nothing in this Section is intended, or shall be deemed, to make any Florida law regulating the
offer or sale of franchises or the franchise relationship applicable to this Agreement if such law would not
otherwise be applicable.

D. Cheieeof Forum—TheConsent to Jurisdiction. Subject to Section 22.B. above and the
provisions below the parties agree that—te-the-extent-any—disputes—cannot-beresolved-direetlybetween

them; Developer shall file any suit against EOS only in the federal or state court having jurisdiction where
EOS’s principal offices are located at the time suit is filed. EOS may file suit in the federal or state court
located in the jurisdiction where its principal offices are located at the time suit is filed or in the jurisdiction
where Developer resides or does business or where the DevelopmentFerritory-eranyFranchised Restaurant
is or was located or where the claim arose. Developer consents to the personal jurisdiction of those courts
over Developer and to venue in those courts.

E. Injunctive Relief. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 22
Developer recognizes that its failure to comply with the terms of this Agreement is likely to cause
irreparable harm to EOS, its affiliates and the System. Therefore, Developer agrees that, in the event of a
breach or threatened breach of any of the terms of this Agreement by Developer, EOS shall be entitled to
injunctive relief (preliminary and permanent) restraining that breach and/or temporary restraining orders
and/or to specific performance from a court of competent jurisdiction without showing or proving actual
damages and without posting any bond or security; provided, however, that EOS and Developer must
contemporaneously submit the disputes for non-binding mediation under Section 22.A. and then for
arbitration under Section 22.B. on the merits as provided herein if such disputes cannot be resolved through

mediation. Developer acknowledges that a proper case to obtain temporary restraining orders and
preliminary or permanent injunctive relief from a court of competent jurisdiction contemporaneously with
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submitting the disputes to mediation and then to arbitration shall include, but not be limited to, the
following: (1) any dispute involving actual or threatened disclosure or misuse of the contents of the Manual
or any other confidential information or trade secrets of EOS; (2) any dispute involving the ownership,
validity, use of, or right to use or license the Proprietary Marks; (3) any action by EOS to enforce post-
termination obligations; and (4) any action by EOS to stop or prevent any threat or danger to public health

or safety resulting from the construction , maintenance, or operation of any Franchised Restaurant. Any

equitable remedies sought by EOS shall be in addition to, and not in licu of, all remedies and rights that
EOS otherwise may have arising under applicable law or by virtue of any breach of this Agreement.

E:E.___ Reimbursement of Costs and Expenses. If either party brings an action to enforce this
Agreement in aan arbitration or judicial proceeding, the party prevailing in that proceeding shall be entitled
to reimbursement of costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, reasonable accountants’, attorneys’,
attorneys’ assistants’ and expert witness fees, the cost of investigation and proof of facts, court costs, other
litigation expenses, and travel and living expenses, whether incurred during, prior to, in preparation for, or
in contemplation of the filing of, the proceeding. If EOS utilizes legal counsel (including in-house counsel
employed by EOS) in connection with any failure by Developer to comply with this Agreement, Developer
shall reimburse EOS for any of the above-listed costs and expenses incurred by EOS. In any judicial
proceeding, the amount of these costs and expenses will be determined by the court and not by a jury.

G. WAIVER OF CERTAIN DAMAGES AND RIGHTS. DEVELOPER AND EOS
WAIVE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, ANY RIGHT OR CLAIM OF ANY
PUNITIVE OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES AGAINST EACH OTHER AND AGREE THAT, IN
THE EVENT OF A DISPUTE BETWEEN THEM, EACH SHALL BE LIMITED TO THE
RECOVERY OF ACTUAL DAMAGES SUSTAINED BY IT. SUBJECT TO THE PARTIES’
ARBITRATION OBLIGATIONS, DEVELOPER AND EOS WAIVE, TO THE FULLEST
EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE RIGHT TO BRING, OR BE A CLLASS MEMBER IN, ANY
CLASS ACTION SUITS AND THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

E:H. _Rights and Remedies Cumulative. No right or remedy conferred upon or reserved to
EOS or Developer by this Agreement is intended to be, nor shall be deemed, exclusive of any other right
or remedy herein or by law or equity provided or permitted, but each shall be cumulative of every other
right or remedy. The provisions of this Section 22 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this
Agreement.

L Limitation of Actions. Except for payments owed by one party to the other, and unless
prohibited by applicable law, any legal action or proceeding (including the offer and sale of a franchise to
Developer) brought or instituted with respect to any dispute arising from or related to this Agreement or
with respect to any breach of the terms of this Agreement must be brought or instituted within a period of
2 years after the initial occurrence of any act or omission that is the basis of the legal action or proceeding
whenever discovered.

23. MISCELLANEOUS

A. Gender and Number. All references to gender and number shall be construed to include
such other gender and number as the context may require.

B. Captions. All captions in this Agreement are intended solely for the convenience of the
parties and none shall be deemed to affect the meaning or construction of any provision of this Agreement.

C. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which
when executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original and all of which together shall constitute one
and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page efto this Agreement by
faestmile—and—any—other—electronic transmission (including an electronic signature platform or the
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transmission of a scanned PDF document) shall be—as effective as delivery of a manually executed
counterpart of this Agreement.

D. Time. Time is of the essence of this Agreement for each provision in which time is a
factor. Whenever this Agreement refers to a period of days or months, the first day or month to be counted
shall be the day or month of the designated action, event or notice. Days shall be measured by calendar
days, except that if the last day of a period is a Saturday, Sunday or national holiday, the period
automatically shall be extended to the next day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or national holiday.

EE. _ Variations. EOS has the right, in its sole discretion, to waive, defer, or permit variations

from the standards of the System or any applicable agreement to any developer, franchisee, prospective
developer, or prospective franchisee based on the peculiarities of a particular site, existing building
configuration or circumstance, density of population, business potential, trade area population or any other
condition or circumstance. EOS has the right, in its sole discretion, to deny any such request EOS believes
would not be in the best interests of the System.

24. REPRESENTATIONS

Developer represents, acknowledges and warrants to EOS (and Developer agrees that these
representations, acknowledgments and warranties shall survive termination of this Agreement) that:

A. Franchise Application. All information Developer provided to EOS in connection
with Developer’s franchise application and EOS’s grant to Developer of the opportunity to develop
Earl of Sandwich Restaurants is truthful, complete and accurate.

B. Signatories to This Agreement. The persons signing this Agreement on behalf of
Developer have full authority to enter into this Agreement and the other agreements contemplated
by the parties, including the Franchise Agreement. Execution of this Agreement or such other
agreements by Developer does not and will not conflict with or interfere with, directly or indirectly,
intentionally or otherwise, with the terms of any other agreement with any other third party to which
Developer or any person with an ownership interest in Developer is a party.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Agreement

as of the day and year first above written.

09/2325

EOS:

EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

DEVELOPER:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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APPENDIX A
GUARANTEE AND ASSUMPTION OF DEVELOPER’S OBLIGATIONS

In consideration of, and as an inducement to, the execution of the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant
Development Agreement dated as of (the “Agreement”) by Earl of Sandwich
(USA), LLC, a Florida Ilimited liability company (“EOS”), entered into with
(“Developer”), the undersigned (“Guarantors”), each of
whom is an officer, director, member of Developer’s Continuity Group, a direct or indirect holder of a legal
or beneficial interest in Developer of 10% or more (“10% Owner”), or a spouse of one of the foregoing
individuals, hereby personally and unconditionally: (1) guarantee to EOS and its successors and assigns,
for the term of the Agreement and thereafter as provided in the Agreement, that Developer shall punctually
pay and perform each and every undertaking, agreement and covenant set forth in the Agreement; (2) agree
personally to be bound by the provisions of Sections 12 and 16 of the Agreement; and (3) agree personally
to be liable for the breach of Section 12 of the Agreement.

Each of the undersigned waives: (a) acceptance and notice of acceptance by EOS of the foregoing
undertakings; (b) notice of demand for payment of any indebtedness or nonperformance of any obligations
hereby guaranteed; (c) protest and notice of default to any party with respect to the indebtedness or
nonperformance of any obligations hereby guaranteed; (d) any right he may have to require that an action
be brought against Developer or any other person as a condition of liability; (e) all rights to payments and
claims for reimbursement or subrogation which any of the undersigned may have against Developer arising
as a result of the execution of and performance under this Guarantee by the undersigned; (f) any law or
statute which requires that EOS make demand upon, assert claims against or collect from Developer or any
others, foreclose any security interest, sell collateral, exhaust any remedies or take any other action against
Developer or any others prior to making any demand upon, collecting from or taking any action against the
undersigned with respect to this Guarantee; (g) any and all other notices and legal or equitable defenses to
which he may be entitled; and (h) any and all right to have any legal action under this Guarantee decided
by a jury.

Each of the undersigned consents and agrees that: (i) his direct and immediate liability under this
Guarantee shall be joint and several; (ii) he shall render any payment or performance required under the
Agreement upon demand if Developer fails or refuses punctually to do so; (iii) such liability shall not be
contingent or conditioned upon pursuit by EOS of any remedies against Developer or any other person;
(iv) such liability shall not be diminished, relieved or otherwise affected by any amendment of the
Agreement, any extension of time, credit or other indulgence which EOS may from time to time grant to
Developer or to any other person including, without limitation, the acceptance of any partial payment or
performance or the compromise or release of any claims, none of which shall in any way modify or amend
this Guarantee, which shall be continuing and irrevocable during the term of the Agreement and for so long
thereafter as there are monies or obligations owing from Developer to EOS or its affiliates under the
Agreement; and (v) monies received from any source by EOS for application toward payment of the
obligations under the Agreement and under this Guarantee may be applied in any manner or order deemed
appropriate by EOS.

If EOS brings an action to enforce this Guarantee, the prevailing party in such proceeding shall be
entitled to reimbursement of its costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, reasonable accountants’,
attorneys’, attorneys’ assistants’ and expert witness fees, cost of investigation and proof of facts, arbitration
or court costs, other arbitration or litigation expenses and travel and living expenses, whether incurred
during, prior to, in preparation for or in contemplation of the filing of any such proceeding. In any judicial
proceeding, these costs and expenses shall be determined by the court and not by a jury.
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If EOS utilizes legal counsel (including in-house counsel employed by EOS or its affiliates) in
connection with any failure by the undersigned to comply with this Guarantee, the undersigned shall
reimburse EOS for any of the above-listed costs and expenses incurred by it.

This Guarantee shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties and their respective
heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns. EOS’s interests in and rights under this Guarantee are
freely assignable, in whole or in part, by EOS. Any assignment shall not release the undersigned from this
Guarantee.

Seetions22-A—threugh—22E-Section 31 (Disputes) of the Agreement areis incorporated by

reference into this Guarantee and all capitalized terms that are not defined in this Guarantee shall have the
meaning given them in the Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has hereunto affixed his signature, under seal.

GUARANTORS:
Date: (Seal)
Print Name:
Address:
Date: (Seal)
Print Name:
Address:
2 EOS Development Agreement Guarantee —
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EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

This Data Sheet summarizes certain terms of the attached Franchise Agreement. The Data Sheet

DATA SHEET

is an integral part of the attached Franchise Agreement and is hereby incorporated therein.

Effective Date:

Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC
a Florida limited liability company

Franchisor: Notice Address: 4700 Millenia Boulevard, Suite #400
Orlando, Florida 32839 (Attn: General Counsel)
. Name:

Franchisee: Notice Address:
Restaurant Number if Multi- of
Unit Operator —_— —
Operating Principal:

o . 25,000-ApplicationFee
Initial EeesFranchise Fee: $;952;5; 0; OIO. L hise E

Site Approval Deadline:

Site Selection Area:

Franchised Location:

Protected Area:

Opening Deadline:

Expiration Date of Initial
Term:

Midnight on the day preceding the 10th anniversary of the date the
Franchised Restaurant first opened for business

Renewal Term:

10 years
Notice of Renewal required 8 — 12 months prior to expiration of
Initial Term

Renewal Fee:

$5,000

Royalty Fee:

6% of weekly Gross Sales
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Franchisee must, during the period beginning 30 days before the
scheduled opening of the Franchised Restaurant and continuing until
30 days after the Franchised Restaurant first opens for business,
spend at least $7,500 to conduct grand opening advertising.

Grand Opening Advertising

Will not exceed 5% of Gross Sales. Consists of Franchisee’s
contribution to the Brand Fund, a Regional Advertising Fund or
Regional Co-op and Local Store Marketing. The total WMO as of

) a0 : .
Weekly Marketing the Effective Date is 3% of Gross Sales including:

Obligation Brand Fund: 42% of Gross Sales {subjeet-to-maximum-annual

contribution-o£$30,000)

Local Store Marketing: 21% of Gross Sales

Franchisee’s Interests in
Other Restaurants (Non-
Compete Waiver):

Guarantors:

OWNERSHIP INTERESTS
CORPORATE FRANCHISEE
If Franchisee is a corporation, the number of authorized shares of Franchisee that have been issued is

and the name, address, number of shares owned (legally or beneficially) and office held
by each shareholder is as follows:

Name Address No. of Shares Office Held

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY FRANCHISEE

If Franchisee is a limited liability company, the name, address and percentage interest of each member is
as follows:

Name Address Percentage Interest

EOS Franchise Agreement - 09/2325




BUSINESS ENTITY FRANCHISEE

If Franchisee is a business entity other than a corporation or a limited liability company, the name, address
and percentage interest of each owner is as follows:

Name Address Percentage Interest

Franchisee’s Continuity Group shall be comprised of the following persons:
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EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of the Effective Date identified on the attached Data Sheet (the
“Effective Date”) by and between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”), a Florida limited liability
company, and the person(s) or entity identified on the attached Data Sheet (“Franchisee”).

RECITALS:

As a result of the expenditure of time, skill, effort and money, EOS has developed and owns a
unique and distinctive system (“System”) relating to the development, establishment and operation of fast
casual restaurants (“Earl of Sandwich Restaurants”™).

The distinguishing characteristics of the System include, without limitation, uniform and distinctive
exterior and interior design and layout, including specially designed décor and furnishings; special recipes
and menu items; procedures and techniques for food and beverage preparation and service; automated
management information and control systems for inventory controls, cash controls and sales analysis;
technical assistance and training through course instruction and manuals; and advertising and promotional
programs. The System and its components may be changed, improved and further developed by EOS from
time to time.

Pursuant to a License Agreement with Earl of Sandwich (FamilyCo) AG, a Swiss corporation and
Earl of Sandwich (LicenseCo) Ltd., an English corporation (jointly “Licensor”), EOS has the exclusive
right to use, and permit its franchisees to use, the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” in addition to certain
related trademarks, service marks and other commercial symbols anywhere in the world.

EOS identifies the System by means of the “Earl of Sandwich” name and mark and certain other
names, marks, logos, insignias, slogans, emblems, symbols and designs (collectively “Proprietary Marks”),
which EOS has designated, or may in the future designate, for use with the System. The Proprietary Marks
used to identify the System, including the principal Proprietary Marks, may be modified by EOS and/or its
affiliates from time to time.

EOS continues to develop, use and control the use of these Proprietary Marks in order to identify
to the public the source of services and products marketed under the Proprietary Marks and the System and
to represent the System’s high standards of quality, appearance and service.

Franchisee desires to obtain a license to use the System and to operate continuously one Earl of
Sandwich Restaurant (“Franchised Restaurant™) at the location specified in the attached Data Sheet or a
location approved by EOS in accordance with this Agreement (“Franchised Location”), subject to the terms
and conditions of this Agreement and in strict compliance with the standards and specifications established
by EOS.

Franchisee understands and acknowledges the importance of EOS’s high and uniform standards of
quality, operations and service and the necessity of developing and operating the Franchised Restaurant in

strict conformity with this Agreement and the Earl of Sandwich Operations Manual (“Manual”).

EOS is willing to grant Franchisee a license to operate the Franchised Restaurant at the Franchised
Location, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
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NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of EOS’s grant to Franchisee of the right to operate a
Franchised Restaurant at the Franchised Location during the term of this Agreement, as well as the mutual
covenants, agreements and obligations set forth below, and other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

1. GRANT OF FRANCHISE
A. Grant.

a Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, EOS hereby grants to Franchisee the
right (“Franchise”) to continuously operate the Franchised Restaurant at the Franchised Location and to use
the Proprietary Marks in the operation of the Franchised Restaurant. If EOS has not approved the site for
the Franchised Restaurant as of the date of this Agreement, the provisions of Section 3 will apply with
regard to Franchisee’s selection of a site for the Franchised Restaurant.

2) Franchisee may not operate the Franchised Restaurant at any site other than the
Franchised Location and may not relocate the Franchised Restaurant without EOS’s prior written consent,
which may be withheld by EOS in its sole discretion. If EOS approves a relocation of the Franchised
Restaurant, itshall-have-theright-to-charge-Franchisee for-allreasonable-expenses—actually-ineurred-in
connection-with-consideration-oftheshall pay a relocation reguest;fec to EOS in the amount of $10,000 and
EOS may condition its approval upon the payment of an agreed minimum royalty to EOS during the period
in which the Franchised Restaurant is not in operation.

A3) Franchisee agrees that it will at all times faithfully, honestly and diligently perform
its obligations under this Agreement, that it will continuously exert reasonable efforts to promote and
enhance the business of the Franchised Restaurant and that it will not engage in any other business or
activity that may conflict with its obligations under this Agreement, except the operation of other Earl of
Sandwich Restaurants or other restaurants operated by Franchisee that are franchised by EOS or its
affiliates.

“é@ EOS reserves the right, upon reasonable notice, to require that Franchisee
participate in the Earl of Sandwich Catering and/or Delivery Program to provide the catering and/or delivery
services designated by EOS from the Franchised Restaurant to customers located within the Protected Area
(as defined in Section 1.B.(1)). Franchisee must obtain all licenses and permits necessary for such
participation and must comply with EOS’s procedures and menu requirements, purchase all supplies,
products and ingredients through EOS’s approved and designated suppliers and otherwise follow the
Manual with respect to the catering and/or delivery services.

B. Limited Exclusivity.

a Provided Franchisee is in compliance with this Agreement and any other
agreements with EOS or its affiliates and is current on all obligations due EOS and its affiliates, during the
term of this Agreement, EOS and its affiliates will not operate, or license others to operate, restaurants
identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” within the geographic area described
on the attached Data Sheet (“Protected Area”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, EOS reserves to itself the
rights to: (a) operate, and license others to operate, restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name
and mark “Earl of Sandwich” and/or utilizing the System in the Protected Area that are located in airports,
train stations, bus stations, service plazas, stadiums, arenas, gas stations, convention centers, military
facilities, convenience stores, schools, colleges, universities, hospitals, theme parks, office buildings, food
courts, venues in which foodservice is or may be provided by a master concessionaire or contract
foodservice provider, Indian reservations, casinos or any similar captive market location not reasonably
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available to Franchisee; (b) award national or regional licenses to third parties to sell products under the
name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” in foodservice facilities primarily identified by the third party’s
trademark; (c) develop and operate, and license others to develop and operate, restaurants other than
restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” and/or utilizing the
System in the Protected Area; (d) merchandise and distribute products identified by some or all of the
Proprietary Marks in the Protected Area through any other method or channel of distribution; and (e) sell
and distribute products identified by some or all of the Proprietary Marks in the Protected Area to
restaurants other than restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich,”
provided those restaurants are not licensed to use the Proprietary Marks in connection with their retail sales.

Q) The restrictions contained in this Section 1.B. apply only to EOS and do not apply
to restaurants identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” under construction
or in operation in the Protected Area as of the date of this Agreement. EOS reserves to itself and its affiliates
all rights to use and license the System and the Proprietary Marks other than those expressly granted under
this Agreement.

[R))] This Section 1.B. does not prohibit EOS or its affiliates from: (a) operating, and
licensing others to operate, during the term of this Agreement, restaurants identified in whole or in part by
the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” at any location outside of the Protected Area; (b) operating, and
licensing others to operate, after this Agreement terminates or expires, restaurants identified in whole or in
part by the name and mark “Earl of Sandwich” at any location; and (c) operating, and licensing others to
operate, at any location, during the term of this Agreement or after this Agreement terminates or expires,
any type of restaurant other than a restaurant identified in whole or in part by the name and mark “Earl of
Sandwich.”

C. Forms of Agreement. Franchisee acknowledges that EOS intends to enter into agreements
with other franchisees that may contain provisions, conditions and obligations that differ from those
contained in this Agreement. The existence of different forms of agreement and the fact that EOS and other
franchisees may have different rights and obligations do not affect the duties of the parties to this Agreement
to comply with the terms of this Agreement.

2. TERM

A. Initial Term.

a The initial term of this Agreement (“Initial Term”) and the Franchise granted by
this Agreement shall begin on the date this Agreement is signed by EOS and expire at midnight on the day
preceding the 10th anniversary of the date the Franchised Restaurant first opened for business, unless this
Agreement is terminated at an earlier date pursuant to Section 22. (EOS shall complete and forward to
Franchisee a notice, in a form substantially similar to attached Rider 1, to memorialize the date the
Franchised Restaurant first opened for business.) Except as described in the next paragraph, Franchisee
acknowledges that it does not have the unilateral right to cease operating the Franchised Restaurant prior
to the expiration of the Initial Term.

2) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if, during the term of this Agreement, Franchisee,
through no act or failure to act on its part (except the failure to extend the lease for the Franchised Location
through the Initial Term of this Agreement), loses the right to possession of the Franchised Location, the
Initial Term shall expire as of the date of Franchisee’s loss of the right to possession. If the right to
possession is lost through no act or failure to act on Franchisee’s part however, Franchisee may relocate the
Franchised Restaurant (without paying any additional initial feesfranchise fee or transfer fee) at its expense,
and the Initial Term shall not expire if: (a) EOS approves the new location; (b) Franchisee constructs and
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equips a Franchised Restaurant at the new location in accordance with the then-current System standards
and specifications; (¢) a Franchised Restaurant at the new location is open to the public for business within
8 months after Franchisee’s loss of possession of the Franchised Location; and (d) Franchisee reimburses
EOS for all reasonable expenses actually incurred by EOS in connection with the approval of the new
location.

B. Renewal Term.

@ Upon the expiration of the Initial Term, Franchisee shall have an option to remain
a franchisee at the Franchised Location for one renewal term of 10 years (“Renewal Term”). Franchisee
shall give EOS written notice of whether or not it intends to exercise its renewal option not less than 8
months, nor more than 12 months, before the expiration of the Initial Term. Franchisee’s failure to provide
EOS the required notice in a timely manner constitutes a waiver by Franchisee of its option to remain a
franchisee beyond the expiration of the Initial Term.

Q) If Franchisee desires to continue as a franchisee for the Renewal Term, Franchisee
must comply with all of the following conditions prior to and at the end of the Initial Term:

(a) Franchisee and its affiliates shall not be in default under this Agreement
or any other agreements between Franchisee and EOS or its affiliates; Franchisee shall not be in default
beyond the applicable cure period under any real estate lease, equipment lease or financing instrument
relating to the Franchised Restaurant; Franchisee shall not be in default beyond the applicable cure period
with any vendor or supplier to the Franchised Restaurant; and, for the 12 months before the date of
Franchisee’s notice and the 12 months before the expiration of the Initial Term, Franchisee and its affiliates
shall not have been in default beyond the applicable cure period under this Agreement or any other
agreements between Franchisee and EOS or its affiliates.

(b) Franchisee shall make the capital expenditures required to renovate and
modernize the Franchised Restaurant to conform to the interior and exterior designs, décor, color schemes,
furnishings and equipment and presentation of the Proprietary Marks consistent with the image of the
System for new Earl of Sandwich Restaurants at the time Franchisee provides EOS the renewal notice,
including such structural changes, remodeling, redecoration and modifications to existing improvements as
may be necessary to do so.

(©) Franchisee and its employees at the Franchised Restaurant shall be in
compliance with EOS’s then-current training requirements.

) Franchisee shall have the right to remain in possession of the Franchised
Location, or other premises acceptable to EOS, for the Renewal Term and all monetary obligations owed
to Franchisee’s landlord, if any, must be current.

(e) Franchisee, all individuals who executed this Agreement and all
guarantors of Franchisee’s obligations shall have executed a general release and a covenant not to sue, in a
form satisfactory to EOS, of any and all claims against EOS and its affiliates and their respective past and
present officers, directors, shareholders, agents and employees, in their corporate and individual capacities,
including, without limitation, claims arising under federal, state and local laws, rules and ordinances, and
claims arising out of, or relating to, this Agreement, any other agreements between Franchisee and EOS or
its affiliates and Franchisee’s operation of the Franchised Restaurant, other Earl of Sandwich Restaurants
operated by Franchisee and all other restaurants operated by Franchisee that are franchised by EOS or its
affiliates.
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@ As determined by EOS in its sole discretion, Franchisee has operated the
Franchised Restaurant and all of its other franchised Earl of Sandwich Restaurants in accordance with the
applicable franchise agreements and with the System (as set forth in the Manual or otherwise and as revised
from time to time by EOS) and has operated each of its other restaurants that are franchised by EOS or its
affiliates in accordance with the applicable franchise agreement.

A3) Within 4 months after EOS’s receipt of Franchisee’s written notice of its desire to
renew, EOS shall advise Franchisee whether or not Franchisee is entitled to remain a franchisee for the
Renewal Term. If EOS intends to permit Franchisee to remain a franchisee for the Renewal Term, EOS’s
notice will contain preliminary information regarding actions Franchisee must take to satisfy Sections
2.B.(2)(b) and (c). If EOS does not intend to permit Franchisee to remain a franchisee for the Renewal
Term, EOS’s notice shall specify the reasons for non-renewal. If EOS chooses not to permit Franchisee to
remain a franchisee for the Renewal Term, EOS shall have the right to unilaterally extend the Initial Term
of this Agreement as necessary to comply with any applicable laws.

@ If Franchisee will remain a franchisee for the Renewal Term, EOS shall forward
to Franchisee a new franchise agreement for the Renewal Term for Franchisee’s signature at least 1 month
prior to the expiration of the Initial Term. The form of renewal franchise agreement shall be the form then
in general use by EOS for Earl of Sandwich Restaurants (or, if EOS is not then granting franchises for Earl
of Sandwich Restaurants, that form of agreement as specified by EOS) and likely will differ from this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, provisions relating to the royalty fee and advertising obligations.

8) Franchisee shall execute the renewal franchise agreement for the Renewal Term
and return the signed agreement to EOS, along with a renewal fee in the amount of set forth on the attached
Data Sheet (“Renewal Fee”), prior to the expiration of the Initial Term. The Renewal Fee shall be in addition
to any capital expenditures that Franchisee is required to make pursuant to Section 2.B.(2)(B). Failure by
Franchisee to sign the renewal franchise agreement and return it to EOS (along with the Renewal Fee)
within this time shall be deemed an election by Franchisee not to renew the Franchise and shall result in
termination of this Agreement and the Franchise granted by this Agreement at the expiration of the Initial
Term. Provided Franchisee has timely complied with all of the conditions set forth in this Section 2.B.,
EOS shall execute the renewal franchise agreement and promptly return a fully-executed copy to
Franchisee.

DEVELOPMENT3. DEVELOPMENT PROCEDURES

If Franchisee is developing the Franchised Restaurant pursuant to an Earl of Sandwich
Development Agreement or EOS has approved the site for the Franchised Restaurant as of the date of this
Agreement, the provisions of this Section 3 shall not apply.

A. Franchisee’s Responsibility. Franchisee shall select the site from within the geographic
area identified in the attached Data Sheet (“Site Selection Area”). Prior to the site approval deadline set
forth in the attached Data Sheet (“Site Approval Deadline”), Franchisee shall obtain site approval from
EOS for the Franchised Restaurant. If EOS has not approved a site within this time period, EOS, at its
option, may terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 22. Franchisee assumes all cost, liability and
expense for locating, obtaining and developing a site for the Franchised Restaurant and constructing and
equipping the Franchised Restaurant in accordance with EOS’s standards at an approved site. EOS reserves
the right to require Franchisee to engage the services of a real estate broker approved by EOS to assist
Franchisee in identifying and securing a site for the Franchised Restaurant. Franchisee shall not make any
binding commitments to purchase or lease a site until EOS has approved the site in writing.
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B. Site Selection Assistance. EOS will provide Franchisee with the following site selection
assistance: (1) EOS’s site selection guidelines and, as Franchisee may request, a reasonable amount of
consultation with respect thereto; and (2) such on-site evaluation as EOS may deem advisable as part of its
evaluation of Franchisee’s request for site approval. EOS reserves the right to retain the services of third
party real estate analysts to evaluate proposed sites for Earl of Sandwich Restaurants.

C. Real Estate Site Application. Franchisee shall submit to EOS a Real Estate Site
Application (containing that information as EOS may reasonably require) for a proposed site which
Franchisee reasonably believes to conform to site selection criteria that EOS establishes from time to time
for demographic characteristics, traffic patterns, parking, character of the neighborhood, competition from
other businesses in the area, the proximity to other businesses (including restaurants operated or franchised
by EOS or its affiliates), the nature of other businesses in proximity to the site and other commercial
characteristics (including the purchase price, rental obligations and other lease terms for the proposed site)

and the size, appearance, other physical characteristics, and a site plan of the premises.

D. Business Plan. Franchisee shall develop and submit to EOS, simultaneously with the
submission of the Real Estate Site Application, a three-year business plan (“Business Plan”) outlining the
actions that Franchisee will take to ensure that Franchisee’s operation and management of the Franchised
Restaurant are in compliance with EOS’s standards. During the term of this Agreement, Franchisee agrees
to revise the Business Plan as required by EOS and further agrees to implement that Business Plan as
approved by EOS.

E. Site Approval

a Within 15 days after EOS’s receipt of the Real Estate Site Application, the
Business Plan and any additional information that EOS may reasonably require, EOS’s Real Estate Review
Committee shall review that information, evaluate the proposed site and advise Franchisee in writing
whether it has approved a particular site. If EOS does not respond within that time period, EOS shall be
deemed to have rejected the site. EOS’s approval or rejection of a site may be subject to reasonable
conditions as determined in its sole discretion.

Q) Franchisee acknowledges that, in order to preserve and enhance the reputation and
goodwill of all restaurants franchised by EOS and the goodwill of the Proprietary Marks, all Earl of
Sandwich Restaurants must be properly developed, operated and maintained. Accordingly, Franchisee
agrees that EOS may refuse to approve a site for a proposed Franchised Restaurant unless Franchisee
demonstrates sufficient financial capabilities, in EOS’s sole judgment, applying standards consistent with
criteria EOS uses to establish restaurants in other comparable market areas, to properly develop, operate
and maintain the proposed Franchised Restaurant. To this end, Franchisee shall furnish EOS with such
financial statements and other information regarding Franchisee and the development and operation of the
proposed Franchised Restaurant, including, without limitation, investment and financing plans for the
proposed Franchised Restaurant, as EOS reasonably may require.

3 EOS’s approval of one or more sites is not a representation or a promise by
EOS that an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant at the site will achieve a certain sales volume or a certain
level of profitability. Similarly, EOS’s approval of one or more sites and its refusal to approve other
sites is not a representation or a promise that the approved site will have a higher sales volume or be
more profitable than a site which EOS did not approve. EOS assumes no liability or responsibility
for: (a) evaluation of the Franchised Location’s soil for hazardous substances; (b) inspection of any
structure on the Franchised Location for asbestos or other toxic or hazardous materials;
(c) compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”); or (d) compliance with any other
applicable law. Itis Franchisee’s sole responsibility to obtain satisfactory evidence and/or assurances
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that the Franchised Location (and any structures thereon) is free from environmental contamination
and in compliance with the requirements of the ADA.

4. LEASE PROVISIONS

If Franchisee proposes to lease or sublease the Franchised Location, Franchisee shall provide EOS
with a copy of the fully-executed lease or sublease (for a term, including renewal terms, for at least the
Initial Term) for the Franchised Location within 90 days after EOS approves the site for the Franchised
Location. The lease or sublease shall not contain any covenants or other obligations that would prevent
Franchisee from performing its obligations under this Agreement. Unless waived in writing by EOS, any
lease, sublease, letter of intent or lease memorandum for the Franchised Location shall contain provisions
that satisfy the following requirements (as set forth in the Addendum to Lease Agreement attached to this
Agreement as Exhibit B) during the entire term of the lease, including any renewal terms:

A. The landlord consents to Franchisee’s use of the proprietary signs, distinctive exterior and
interior designs and layouts and the Proprietary Marks prescribed by EOS, and upon expiration or the earlier
termination of the lease, consents to permit Franchisee, at Franchisee’s expense, to remove all such items
and other trade fixtures, so long as Franchisee makes repairs to the building caused by such removal.

B. The landlord agrees to provide EOS (at the same time sent to Franchisee) a copy of all
amendments, assignments and notices of default pertaining to the lease and the leased premises.

C. EOS shall have the right to enter the leased premises to make any modifications or
alterations necessary to protect the System and the Proprietary Marks, to cure, within the time periods
provided by the lease, any default under the lease, all without being guilty of trespass or other tort, and to
charge Franchisee for these costs.

D. The landlord agrees that Franchisee shall be solely responsible for all obligations, debts
and payments under the lease.

E. The landlord agrees that, following the expiration or earlier termination of the Franchise
Agreement, Franchisee shall have the right to make those alterations and modifications to the premises as
may be necessary to clearly distinguish to the public the premises from an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant and
also make those specific additional changes as EOS reasonably may request for that purpose. The landlord
also agrees that, if Franchisee fails to promptly make these alterations and modifications, EOS shall have
the right to do so without being guilty of trespass or other tort so long as EOS makes repairs to the building
caused by such alterations and modifications.

E. The landlord agrees not to amend or otherwise modify the lease in any manner that would
affect any of the foregoing requirements without EOS’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld.

2

Franchisee may assign the lease to EOS or its designee with landlord’s consent (which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld) and without payment of any assignment fee or similar charge
or increase in any rentals payable to the landlord.

H. The landlord agrees to consent to Franchisee’s collaterally assigning the lease to EOS or
its designee, granting EOS the option, but not the obligation, to assume the lease from the date EOS takes
possession of the leased premises, without payment of any assignment fee or similar charge or increase in
any rentals payable to the landlord.
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5. CONSTRUCTION OF THE FRANCHISED RESTAURANT

A. Development Training. Franchisee shall complete, to EOS’s satisfaction, any
development training required by EOS. Franchisee also may attend optional development training as
offered by EOS from time to time, subject to payment of a tuition fee as established by EOS from time to
time. Franchisee will be required to pay all travel, living, food and other incidental expenses incurred by
Franchisee and its employees while attending development training and optional development training.

B. Restaurant Development.

a Franchisee assumes all cost, liability and expense for developing, constructing and
equipping the Franchised Restaurant. EOS will furnish to Franchisee prototypical plans and specifications
for an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant, including requirements for dimensions, design, image, interior layout,
décor, fixtures, equipment, signs, furnishings, storefront and color scheme. EOS reserves the right to
require Franchisee to engage the services of an architect that has been approved by EOS. It shall be
Franchisee’s responsibility to have the approved architect prepare all required construction plans and
specifications to suit the shape and dimensions of the Franchised Location, and Franchisee must ensure that
these plans and specifications comply with applicable ordinances, building codes and permit requirements
and with lease requirements and restrictions. Franchisee shall use only registered architects, registered
engineers, and professional and licensed contractors.

2) Franchisee shall submit proposed construction plans, specifications and drawings
for the Franchised Restaurant (“Plans”) to EOS and shall, upon EOS’s request, submit all revised or “as
built” Plans during the course of such construction. EOS will approve or refuse to approve the Plans and
notify Franchisee within 14 days after EOS receives the Plans. (EOS’s approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld.) Once EOS has approved the Plans, no substantial change shall be made to the Plans without the
prior approval of EOS, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. If, in the course of construction, any
such change in the Plans is contemplated, EOS’s approval must first be obtained before proceeding. EOS
shall approve or reject Plan changes within 10 business days after receipt. If EOS does not respond within
that time period, EOS shall be deemed to have rejected approval of the Plans.

A3) Franchisee is prohibited from beginning site preparation or construction prior to
receiving written notification from EOS that EOS has approved the Plans. All construction must be in
accordance with Plans approved by EOS and must comply in all respects with applicable laws, ordinances
and local rules and regulations. The Franchised Restaurant may not open if construction has not been
performed in substantial compliance with Plans approved by EOS, and this Agreement may be terminated
if such non-compliance is not cured within a commercially reasonable amount of time. EOS may, in its
sole discretion, furnish guidance to Franchisee in developing the Franchised Restaurant and may
periodically inspect the premises during its development.

C. Construction.

a Prior to the commencement of construction, Franchisee shall have provided EOS
a copy of the fully-executed lease for the Franchised Location or, if Franchisee owns the Franchised
Location, proof of Franchisee’s ownership interest. Franchisee must obtain EOS’s approval of and retain
the services of a project manager as set forth in the Manual to manage the due diligence, design, bidding
and construction processes for the Franchised Restaurant. EOS reserves the right to require Franchisee to
use a general contractor approved by EOS as set forth in the Manual. As used in this Agreement,
construction shall have commenced only after Franchisee has obtained all required permits and: (a) with
respect to a free-standing Restaurant, Franchisee has begun the installation of building footings with the
intent to maintain continuous construction thereafter; or (b) with respect to a non-free-standing Restaurant
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or a Restaurant being converted from a prior use, Franchisee has begun the installation of sub-floor
plumbing with the intent to maintain continuous construction thereafter.

2) Once construction has commenced, it shall continue uninterrupted except for
interruption by reason of events constituting Force Majeure until completed. Force Majeure means any act
of God, strike, lock-out or other industrial disturbance, war (declared or undeclared), riot, epidemic, fire or
other catastrophe, act of any government or other third party and any other cause not within the control of
the party affected thereby. If events constituting Force Majeure cause a delay in the commencement of
construction of the Franchised Restaurant, EOS shall proportionately extend the Opening Deadline (as
defined below) for the Franchised Restaurant. Notwithstanding the occurrence of any events, except events
constituting Force Majeure, construction shall be completed, and the Franchised Restaurant shall be
furnished, equipped and shall otherwise be ready to open for business in accordance with this Agreement
not later than the date specified in the attached Data Sheet (“Opening Deadline”).

A3) Franchisee agrees, at its sole expense, to do, or cause to be done, the following, by
the Opening Deadline:

(@) Obtain and maintain all required building, utility, sign, health, sanitation,
business and other permits and licenses applicable to the Franchised Restaurant.

(b) Construct all required improvements to the Franchised Location and
decorate the exterior and interior of the Franchised Restaurant in compliance with the Plans approved by
EOS.

©) Purchase or lease and install all specified and required fixtures, equipment,
furnishings and interior and exterior signs required for the Franchised Restaurant.

d) Purchase an opening inventory for the Franchised Restaurant of only
authorized and approved products and other materials and supplies.

D. Acquisition of Necessary Furnishings, Fixtures and Equipment.

@ Franchisee agrees to use in the development and operation of the Franchised
Restaurant only the fixtures, furnishings, equipment and signs that EOS has approved for Earl of Sandwich
Restaurants as meeting its specifications and standards for quality, design, appearance, function and
performance. Franchisee further agrees to place or display at the Franchised Restaurant (interior and
exterior) only those signs, emblems, lettering, logos and display materials that EOS approves in writing
from time to time.

2) Franchisee shall purchase or lease approved brands, types or models of fixtures,
furnishings, equipment and signs only from suppliers designated or approved by EOS, which may include
EOS. If Franchisee proposes to purchase, lease or otherwise use any fixtures, furnishings, equipment or
signs which have not been approved by EOS, Franchisee shall first notify EOS in writing and shall, at its
sole expense, submit to EOS upon its request sufficient specifications, photographs, drawings and/or other
information or samples for a determination as to whether those fixtures, furnishings, equipment and/or signs
comply with EOS’s specifications and standards. EOS will, in its sole discretion, approve or disapprove
the items and notify Franchisee within 30 days after EOS receives the request.

[R))] If Franchisee builds any portion of the Franchised Restaurant outside of EOS’s
specifications without receiving EOS’s prior written consent, EOS shall have the right to delay the opening
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of the Franchised Restaurant until Franchisee, at its sole expense, brings the Franchised Restaurant’s
development within full compliance of EOS’s specifications.

E. Inspection, Cooperation. During the course of construction and/or renovation,
Franchisee shall (and shall cause Franchisee’s architect, project manager, engineer, general contractor and
subcontractors to) cooperate fully with EOS and its designees for the purpose of permitting EOS and its
designees to inspect the Franchised Location and the course of construction of the Franchised Restaurant
in order to determine whether construction is proceeding according to the Plans. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, Franchisee and Franchisee’s architect, project manager, engineer, general
contractor and subcontractors shall: (1) supply EOS or its designees with samples of construction materials,
test borings, corings, due diligence environmental studies, supplies, equipment and other material and
reports, if any such tests, studies or reports indicate there may be material problems or as EOS or its
designees may request; and (2) afford EOS’s representatives and its designees access to the Franchised
Location and to the construction work in order to permit EOS and its designees to carry out their inspections.

E. Reports. If requested by EOS, Franchisee shall submit to EOS, on or before the first day

of each month (or more frequently if EOS requests), a report with photographs showing progress made in
connection with the construction and equipping of the Franchised Restaurant.

G. Limitation of EOS’s Liability. Notwithstanding the right of EOS to recommend and
approve the Plans, architects, project managers and general contractors and to inspect the construction work
at the Franchised Restaurant, EOS and its designees shall have no liability or obligation with respect to the
Franchised Location, the design or construction of the Franchised Restaurant or the furnishings, fixtures
and equipment to be acquired; EOS’s rights being exercised solely for the purpose of ensuring compliance
with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

H. Final Inspection and Opening. Franchisee shall notify EOS in writing at least 30 days
prior to the date Franchisee expects construction and/or renovation to be completed and a certificate of
occupancy to be issued. If requested by EOS, Franchisee shall submit a copy of the certificate of occupancy
to EOS. EOS reserves the right, after receiving Franchisee’s notice, to conduct a final inspection of the
Franchised Restaurant and its premises to determine if Franchisee has complied with this Agreement. EOS
shall not be liable for delays or loss occasioned by its inability to complete its investigation and to make a
determination within this period. Franchisee shall not open the Franchised Restaurant for business without
EOS’s express written authorization, which will not be granted unless Franchisee has satisfied the
conditions contained in Section 6.

6. OPENING OF THE FRANCHISED RESTAURANT

A. Right to Open the Franchised Restaurant. Except for a conditional opening pursuant to
Section 6.B., EOS will not authorize the opening of the Franchised Restaurant unless all the following
conditions have been met:

a Franchisee is not in material default under this Agreement or any other agreements
with EOS; Franchisee is not in default beyond the applicable cure period under any real estate lease,
equipment lease or financing instrument relating to the Franchised Restaurant; Franchisee is not in default
beyond the applicable cure period with any vendor or supplier to the Franchised Restaurant; and for the
previous 6 months, Franchisee has not been in default beyond the applicable cure period under any
agreement with EOS.

2) Franchisee is current on all obligations due EOS and Franchisee has signed all
documents required by EOS to participate in EOS’s electronic funds transfer program.
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[R))] EOS is satisfied that the Franchised Restaurant was constructed and/or renovated
substantially in accordance with the Plans approved by EOS and state and local codes.

“) If the Franchised Location is leased, EOS has received a copy of the fully-executed
lease.

[R) Franchisee, to the extent approval for the sale of alcoholic beverages has been
obtained from EOS, has obtained a liquor license authorizing the sale of alcoholic beverages at the
Franchised Restaurant.

(6) Franchisee has obtained a certificate of occupancy and any other required health,
safety or fire department certificates.

a Franchisee has certified to EOS in writing that the installation of all items of
furnishings, fixtures, equipment, signs, computer terminals and related equipment, supplies and other items
has been accomplished.

8) An adequate number of Franchisee’s managers as determined by EOS in its sole
discretion have attended, successfully completed and become “certified” in the initial manager training
program, and an adequate number of Franchisee’s employees as determined by EOS in its sole discretion
have attended and successfully completed Team Member Training (as defined in Section 12).

[)) EOS has determined that the Franchised Restaurant has been constructed and/or
renovated and equipped substantially in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement and that
Franchisee has hired and trained a staff in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.

(10)  _EOS has been furnished with copies of all insurance policies required by
Section 16 or such other evidence of insurance coverage and payment of premiums as EOS reasonably may
request.

B. Conditional Opening. EOS may conditionally authorize Franchisee to open and operate
the Franchised Location as a Franchised Restaurant, even though Franchisee has not fully complied with
the terms of this Agreement, if Franchisee agrees to fulfill all remaining terms of this Agreement on or
before the Opening Deadline. EOS’s determination as to whether to authorize a conditional opening shall
be final and binding and shall be made in its sole discretion based upon those factors that EOS deems
relevant, including its determination that a conditional opening will not be injurious to the reputation of the
System. If Franchisee fails to fulfill all remaining terms of this Agreement on or before the Opening
Deadline (or such extension thereof as may be granted by EOS in its sole discretion), this Agreement shall
terminate without further action by EOS, and Franchisee shall take such steps as are required by Section
23.

1. FEES

A—A. Initial FeesFranchise Fee. Simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement,
Franchisee shall pay thefelewingan initial feesfranchise fee to EOS Initial Kees™):

HD——An-application-fee-in the amount of $10:000-(“ApplicationFee™)-for EOS s-upfront
iated with site selection. devel | craining: and

H—MMS%%H%W%M2S 000 (“Initial Franchise Fee*)-te-use
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). Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that the Initial Franchise Fee and-the-ApplicationFee
areis fully earned by EOS when paid and areis not refundable. Any Development Fees previously paid by
Franchisee to EOS with respect to the Franchised Restaurant shall be credited against the Initial Franchise

Feesnd—hetpplicationliee—

B. Royalty Fee. In addition to all other amounts to be paid by Franchisee to EOS, Franchisee
shall pay EOS a nonrefundable and continuing royalty fee in an-ameunt-equal-te-6%ofthein the amount
specified in the attached Data Sheet, which shall be a percentage of Gross Sales (as defined below) of the
Franchised Restaurant, for the right to use the System and the Proprietary Marks at the Franchised Location.
If, due to federal, state or local laws, EOS is prohibited from receiving a percentage royalty based on
alcoholic beverage revenues, Franchisee shall pay EOS a royalty fee on all Gross Sales except alcoholic
beverage revenues in the same dollar amount as would have been paid if Franchisee paid the specified
royalty fee percentage on all Gross Sales. If any taxes, fees or assessments are imposed on EOS by reason
of its acting as franchisor or licensing the Proprietary Marks under this Agreement, Franchisee shall
reimburse EOS for the amount of those taxes, fees or assessments within 30 days after receipt of an invoice
from EOS.

C. Advertising Fees. Franchisee also shall spend and/or contribute for advertising. The exact
amount of the advertising fees to be spent and/or contributed by Franchisee, and the allocation of the
advertising fees, as of the date of this Agreement, is set forth in Section 9 and the attached Data Sheet.

D. Gross Sales. Gross Sales shall include all revenue from the sale of all food products,
beverages and all other income of every kind and nature related to the Franchised Restaurant (including the
redemption value of stored value gift cards and gift certificates when purchases are made) whether for cash
or credit and regardless of collection in the case of credit, monies or credit received from the sale of food
and merchandise, from tangible property of every kind and nature, promotional or otherwise, and for
services performed from or at the Franchised Restaurant, including, but not limited to, such off-premises
services as catering and delivery. Gross Sales do not include employee tips, sales taxes or other taxes
collected from customers for transmittal to the appropriate taxing authority, promotional discounts and
coupons, the value of any employee discounts provided to Franchisee’s bona fide employees during the
fiscal week in which the discounts are provided, all proceeds from the sale of gift certificates or stored value
cards, customer refunds made in good faith to customers, or the sale of equipment used in the operation of
the Franchised Restaurant.

E. Remittance Reports. Within 3 business days after the end of each fiscal week (as defined
by EOS from time to time), Franchisee shall submit to EOS in writing by electronic mail, polling by
computer or such other form or method as EOS may designate the amount of Gross Sales from the
Franchised Restaurant during the preceding fiscal week and such other data or information as EOS may
require.

=

Payment of Fees.

a Franchisee must participate in EOS’s then-current electronic funds transfer
program authorizing EOS to utilize a pre-authorized bank draft system. All royalty fees applicable to the
Gross Sales and other amounts owed under this Agreement, including advertising fees and interest charges
must be received by EOS or credited to EOS’s account by pre-authorized bank debit before 5:00 p.m. on
the 5™ day after the end of each fiscal week, or at a later point specified by EOS from time to time (“Due
Date”). On each Due Date, EOS will transfer from the Franchised Restaurant’s commercial bank operating
account (“Account”) the amount reported to EOS in Franchisee’s remittance report or determined by EOS
based on the records contained in the cash registers/computer terminals of the Franchised Restaurant. If
Franchisee has not reported Gross Sales to EOS for any fiscal period, EOS will transfer from the Account
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an amount calculated in accordance with its estimate of the Gross Sales during the fiscal period. If, at any
time, EOS determines that Franchisee has underreported the Gross Sales of the Franchised Restaurant, or
underpaid the royalty fee or other amounts due to EOS under this Agreement or any other agreement, EOS
shall initiate an immediate transfer from the Account in the appropriate amount in accordance with the
foregoing procedure, including interest as provided in this Agreement. Any overpayment will be credited
to the Account effective as of the first reporting date after EOS and Franchisee determine that such credit
is due.

2) In connection with payment of fees by electronic funds transfer, Franchisee shall
no later than 30 days prior to opening the Franchised Restaurant: (a) comply with procedures specified by
EOS in the Manual or otherwise in writing; (b) perform those acts and sign and deliver those documents
(including the ACH Authorization form attached as Exhibit C) as may be necessary to accomplish payment
by electronic funds transfer as described in this Section 7.F.; (¢) designate an account at a commercial bank
and furnish to EOS an authorization in the form designated by EOS to initiate debit entries and/or credit
correction entries to the Account for payments of the royalty fee and other amounts payable under this
Agreement, including any interest charges; and (d) make sufficient funds available in the Account for
withdrawal by electronic funds transfer no later than the Due Date for payment thereof.

A3) Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 7.F., EOS reserves the right to
modify, at its option, the method by which Franchisee pays the royalty fee and other amounts owed under
this Agreement, including advertising fees and interest charges, upon receipt of written notice from EOS.

“) Failure by Franchisee to have sufficient funds in the Account shall constitute a
default of this Agreement pursuant to Section 22.B.(2). Franchisee shall not be entitled to set off, deduct
or otherwise withhold any royalty fees, advertising contributions, interest charges or any other monies
payable by Franchisee under this Agreement on grounds of any alleged non-performance by EOS of any of
its obligations or for any other reason.

G. Interest. If any payments by Franchisee due to EOS are not received by EOS by the Due
Date, Franchisee, in addition to paying the amount owed, shall pay EOS interest on the amount owed from
the date due until paid at the maximum rate permitted for indebtedness of this nature in the state in which
the Franchised Restaurant is located, not to exceed 1.5% per month or a portion of a month. Payment of
interest by Franchisee on past due obligations is in addition to all other remedies and rights available to

EOS pursuant to this Agreement or under applicable law.

H. Partial Payments. No payment by Franchisee or acceptance by EOS of any monies under
this Agreement for a lesser amount than due shall be treated as anything other than a partial payment on
account. Franchisee’s payment of a lesser amount than due with an endorsement, statement or
accompanying letter to the effect that payment of the lesser amount constitutes full payment shall be given
no effect, and EOS may accept the partial payment without prejudice to any rights or remedies it may have
against Franchisee. Acceptance of payments by EOS other than as set forth in this Agreement shall not
constitute a waiver of EOS’s right to demand payment in accordance with the requirements of this
Agreement or a waiver by EOS of any other remedies or rights available to it pursuant to this Agreement
or under applicable law. Notwithstanding any designation by Franchisee, EOS shall have sole discretion
to apply any payments by Franchisee to any of its past due indebtedness for royalty fees, advertising
contributions, purchases from EOS or its affiliates, interest or any other indebtedness. EOS has the right to
accept payment from any other entity as payment by Franchisee. Acceptance of that payment by EOS will
not result in that other entity being substituted for Franchisee.

L Collection Costs and Expenses. Franchisee agrees to pay to EOS on demand any and all
costs and expenses incurred by EOS in enforcing the terms of this Agreement, including, without limitation,

13 EOS Franchise Agreement - 09/2325



collecting any monies owed by Franchisee to EOS. These costs and expenses include, but are not limited
to, costs and commissions due a collection agency, reasonable attorneys’ fees (including attorneys’ fees for
in-house counsel employed by EOS or its affiliates and any attorneys’ fees incurred by EOS in bankruptcy
proceedings), costs incurred in creating or replicating reports demonstrating Gross Sales of the Franchised
Restaurant, court costs, expert witness fees, discovery costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs on
appeal, together with interest charges on all of the foregoing.

8. RECORDKEEPING AND REPORTS

A. Recordkeeping. Franchisee agrees to use computerized cash and data capture and retrieval
systems that meet EOS’s specifications and to record sales of the Franchised Restaurant electronically or
on tape for all sales at or from the Franchised Location. Franchisee shall keep and maintain, in accordance
with any procedures set forth in the Manual, complete and accurate books and records pertaining to the
Franchised Restaurant sufficient to fully report to EOS. Franchisee’s books and records shall be kept and
maintained using generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP?”), if Franchisee uses GAAP in any of
its other operations, otherwise Franchisee shall use other recognized accounting principles applied on a
consistent basis which accurately and completely reflect the financial condition of Franchisee. Franchisee
shall preserve all of its books, records and state and federal tax returns for at least 5 years after the later of
preparation or filing (or such longer period as may be required by any governmental entity) and make them
available and provide duplicate copies to EOS within 5 days after EOS’s written request.

B. Quarterly Reports. Franchisee shall, at Franchisee’s expense, submit to EOS, in the form
prescribed by EOS, a quarterly profit and loss statement and balance sheet (both of which may be unaudited)
within 30 days after the end of each fiscal quarter (as defined by EOS from time to time) during each fiscal
year (as defined by EOS from time to time). EOS shall have the right, to be exercised in its sole discretion,
to require that Franchisee provide EOS profit and loss statements and balance sheets at other times requested
by EOS. Each statement and balance sheet shall be signed by Franchisee or by Franchisee’s treasurer or
chief financial officer attesting that it is true, correct and complete and uses accounting principles applied
on a consistent basis which accurately and completely reflect Franchisee’s financial condition.

C. Annual Reports. Franchisee shall, at its expense, provide to EOS either a reviewed or
audited profit and loss statement and balance sheet for the Franchised Restaurant within 60 days after the
end of each fiscal year to be signed by Franchisee or by Franchisee’s treasurer or chief financial officer
attesting that the financial statements present fairly the financial position of Franchisee and the results of
operations of the Franchised Restaurant during the period covered. EOS shall have the right, in its
reasonable discretion, to require that Franchisee, at Franchisee’s expense, submit audited financial
statements prepared by a certified public accounting firm acceptable to EOS for any fiscal year or any
period or periods of a fiscal year.

D. Other Reports. Franchisee shall submit to EOS, for review or auditing, such other forms,
reports, records, information and data as EOS may reasonably designate, in the form and at the times and
places reasonably required by EOS, upon request and as specified from time to time in the Manual or
otherwise in writing.

E. Public Filings. If Franchisee is or becomes a publicly-held entity in accordance with other
provisions of this Agreement, Franchisee shall send to EOS copies of all reports (including responses to
comment letters) or schedules that Franchisee may file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(certified by Franchisee’s chief executive officer to be true, correct, complete and accurate) and copies of
any press releases it may issue, within 3 days of the filing of those reports or schedules or the issuance of
those releases.
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F. _ Audit Rights.

@ EOS or its designee shall have the right at all reasonable times, both during and
after the term of this Agreement, to inspect, copy and audit Franchisee’s books, records, and federal, state
and local tax returns, and such other forms, reports, information and data as EOS reasonably may designate,
applicable to the operation of the Franchised Restaurant. If an inspection or audit discloses an
understatement of Gross Sales, Franchisee shall pay EOS, within 10 days after receipt of the inspection or
audit report, the deficiency in the royalty fees and advertising contributions plus interest (at the rate and on
the terms provided in Section 7.G.) from the date originally due until the date of payment. If an inspection
or audit is made necessary by Franchisee’s failure to furnish reports or supporting records as required under
this Agreement, or to furnish such reports, records or information on a timely basis, or if an understatement
of Gross Sales for the period of any audit is determined by any audit or inspection to be greater than 2%,
Franchisee also shall reimburse EOS for the reasonable cost of the audit or inspection including, without
limitation, the charges of attorneys and independent accountants, and the travel expenses, room, board and
compensation of EOS’s employees or designees involved in the audit or inspection. The foregoing
remedies shall be in addition to all other remedies and rights available to EOS under this Agreement or
applicable law.

Q) If Franchisee fails to provide EOS on a timely basis with the records, reports and
other information required by this Agreement or, upon request of EOS, with copies of the same, EOS or its
designee shall have access at all reasonable times (and as often as necessary) to Franchisee’s books and
records for the purpose, among other things, of preparing the required records, reports and other
information. Franchisee promptly shall reimburse EOS or its designee for all costs and expenses associated
with EOS’s obtaining such records, reports or other information.

9. ADVERTISING

A. Grand Opening Required Spending. At least 30 days prior to the opening of the
Franchised Restaurant, Franchisee must submit a Grand Opening Required Spending Plan (“Grand Opening
Plan”) to EOS outlining Franchisee’s proposal for grand opening advertising of the Franchised Restaurant.
Franchisee shall not implement the Grand Opening Plan unless and until EOS has consented to the Grand
Opening Plan in writing. Franchisee agrees to modify the Grand Opening Plan as requested by EOS and,
thereafter, no substantial changes shall be made to the Grand Opening Plan without the advance written
consent of EOS. In addition to the requirements of Section 9.F., Franchisee shall, during the period
beginning 30 days before the scheduled opening of the Franchised Restaurant and continuing for 60 days
after the Franchised Restaurant first opens for business (“Grand Opening Period”), spend at least $7,500 to
conduct grand opening advertising in authorized advertising media and for authorized expenditures (as
defined in Section 9.F.). Within 10 days after the end of the Grand Opening Period, Franchisee shall submit
proof of such grand opening advertising expenditures to EOS.

B. Contributions/Expenditures by Franchisee. During the term of this Agreement,

Franchisee shall have a weekly marketing obligation (“WMO”) in an amount up to 5% of the Gross Sales
ofthe F ranchlsed Restaurant as set forth in this Section 9 and in the attached Data Sheet A&ef—th&Effeetwe

Followrng ertten notice to Franchlsee EOS may increase and reallocate the WMO among the Brand Fund
a Regional Advertising Fund (or a Regional Co-op) in accordance with Section 9.E., and/or local store
marketing.
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C. Brand Fund.

a EOS has established the Earl of Sandwich brand fund for the enhancement and
protection of the System and the Proprietary Marks, and for the creation and development of advertising,

marketing and public relations, research and related programs, activities and materials that EOS, in its sole
discretion deems approprrate (“Brand Fund”) A&ef—th%l%ﬁfeetﬁeDat%Franchlsee shall contrrbute st

e#E@S—s—ﬁseal—years—}to the Brand Fund asin the amount set forth n the attached Data Sheet Wthh amount
may be modified by EOS in accordance with Section 9.B. EOS will have sole discretion to use the Brand
Fund, and the monies in the Brand Fund, for any purpose that EOS deems will enhance and protect the
System and Proprietary Marks and will improve and increase public recognition and perception of the
System and Proprietary Marks. Earl of Sandwich Restaurants operated by EOS and its affiliates shall
contribute to the Brand Fund on the same basis as comparable franchisees.

2) EOS (or its designee) shall direct all programs that the Brand Fund finances, with
sole control over the creative concepts, materials, and endorsements used in those programs and their
geographic, market, and media placement and allocation. Franchisee must participate in all advertising,
marketing, promotions, research and public relations programs instituted by the Brand Fund. Franchisee
agrees that EOS may utilize the Brand Fund for programs, concepts, and expenditures including, but not
limited to: (1) creative development and production of print ads, commercials, radio spots, point of purchase
materials, direct mail pieces, door hangers, and other advertising and marketing materials; (2) creative
development, preparation, production and placement of video, audio, and written materials and electronic
media; (3) media placement and buying, including all associated expenses and fees; (4) administering
regional and multi-regional marketing and advertising programs; (5) market research and customer
satisfaction surveys, including the use of secret shoppers; (6) the creative development of, and actual
production associated with, premium items, giveaways, promotions, contests, public relation events, and
charitable or nonprofit events; (7) creative development of signage, posters, and individual restaurant décor
items including wall graphics and signage; (8) development and management of a kiosk or truck program;
(9) website, extranet and/or intranet development and maintenance; (10) development, implementation, and
maintenance of an electronic commerce website and/or related strategies; (11) development and
implementation of search engine optimization strategies; (12) development and administration of consumer
surveys, interviews and other customer satisfaction and retention policies; (13) retention and payment of
advertising and marketing agencies and other outside advisors including retainer and management fees;
(14) public relations and community involvement activities and programs; and (15) real estate analytics and
modeling. From time to time, EOS or its designee may furnish Franchisee with marketing, advertising and
promotional materials at the cost of producing them, plus any related shipping, handling and storage
charges. Franchisee shall not modify any of these materials without EOS’s prior written consent.

D. Regional Advertising Funds.

a EOS shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to establish one or more regional
advertising funds for Earl of Sandwich Restaurants (“Regional Advertising Funds”). If a Regional
Advertising Fund is established for a geographical area that includes the Franchised Location, Franchisee
shall contribute to that Regional Advertising Fund in the amount set forth in the attached Data Sheet, as
subsequently modified by EOS. Earl of Sandwich Restaurants operated by EOS and its affiliates in an area
covered by a Regional Advertising Fund shall contribute to the Regional Advertising Fund on the same
basis as comparable franchisees.

Q) EOS or its designee shall direct all advertising, marketing, and public relations

programs and activities financed by the Regional Advertising Fund, with sole discretion over the creative
concepts, materials and endorsements used in those programs and activities, and the geographic, market
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and media placement and allocation of advertising and marketing materials. Franchisee agrees that the
Regional Advertising Fund may be used to pay the costs of preparing and producing such associated
materials and programs as EOS or its designee may determine, including video, audio and written
advertising materials; employing advertising agencies; sponsorship of sporting, charitable or similar events;
administering regional and multi-regional advertising programs, including, without limitation, purchasing
direct mail and other media advertising and employing advertising agencies to assist with these efforts; and
supporting public relations, market research and other advertising, promotional and marketing activities.
Franchisee agrees to participate in all advertising, marketing, promotions, research and public relations
programs instituted by the Regional Advertising Fund.
E. Regional Co-op.

a In lieu of a Regional Advertising Fund for the area that includes the Franchised
Location, EOS, in its sole discretion, may establish a Regional Co-op. Franchisee shall contribute to the
Regional Co-op in the amount set forth in the attached Data Sheet, as subsequently modified by EOS. EOS,
if it so elects, may prepare bylaws to be used by the Regional Co-op and may require the Regional Co-op
to incorporate.

Q) Monies in the Regional Co-op may be spent for the purposes determined by
majority vote of the Regional Co-op on the basis of one vote for each Earl of Sandwich Restaurant in the
Regional Co-op. Unless otherwise consented to in writing by EOS, the Regional Co-op shall only conduct
advertising that conforms with those advertising and sales promotions specified by EOS from time to time
(including the media in which conducted). All advertising shall be submitted to EOS prior to first use as
provided in Section 9.F., and all advertising shall adhere to the standards set forth in Section 9.F. Each
franchisee who is a member of the Regional Co-op shall be entitled to vote on Regional Co-op matters;
however, a franchisee shall not be entitled to vote if it is in default under its franchise agreement or any
other agreement with EOS or its affiliates. EOS always shall be a member of the Regional Co-op and be
entitled to attend and fully participate in Regional Co-op meetings, but EOS shall not have a vote unless it
or its affiliates operates Earl of Sandwich Restaurants in the area covered by the Regional Co-op. EOS
shall be given at least 3 days’ prior written notice of Regional Co-op meetings. If the members of the
Regional Co-op are unable or fail to determine the manner in which Regional Co-op monies should be
spent, EOS may assume this decision making authority following 10 days’ advance written notice to the
members of the Regional Co-op.

A3) EOS or its designee shall have the right to terminate (and subsequently restart) the
Regional Co-op or convert the Regional Co-op to a Regional Advertising Fund. Upon termination, all
monies in the Regional Co-op shall be spent for advertising and/or promotional purposes.

“) EOS or its designee may grant to any franchisee an exemption for any length of
time from the requirement of membership in the Regional Co-op, upon written request of such a franchisee
stating reasons supporting an exemption. Decisions regarding a request for exemption shall be final. EOS
shall have the sole right to enforce the obligations of franchisees who are members of the Regional Co-op
to contribute to the Regional Co-op, and neither Franchisee nor any other franchisees who contribute to the
Regional Co-op shall be deemed a third party beneficiary with respect to the Regional Co-op obligations
of other franchisees or have any right to enforce the obligation of any franchisee to contribute to the
Regional Co-op.

F. Local Store Marketing.

a Franchisee shall spend, at a minimum, that portion of its WMO not otherwise spent

or contributed pursuant to this Section 9 for local store marketing (“LSM”) in authorized advertising media
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and for authorized advertising expenditures. As-oftheEffeetiveDate;-Franchisee shall spend atdeast 2%
ofthe-Gross—Sales—of the Franchised Restauvrant for E-SM-asthe amount set forth i#ron the attached Data
Sheet_for LSM, which amount may be modified by EOS in accordance with Section 9.B. EOS or its
designee periodically shall advise Franchisee of the advertising and sales promotions approved by EOS,
however, EOS will not design or place any local advertising materials in Franchisee’s market.

Q) Franchisee may purchase local advertising and promotion materials from any
EOS-approved source. If purchased from a source other than EOS or its affiliates, these materials shall
comply with federal and local laws and regulations and with the guidelines for advertising and promotions
promulgated from time to time by EOS or its designee and shall be submitted to EOS or its designee at least
30 days prior to first use for its approval, which EOS may grant or withhold in its sole discretion. All local
advertising and promotion materials shall bear the Proprietary Marks in the form, color, location and
manner prescribed by EOS. In no event shall Franchisee’s advertising contain any statement or material
which, in the sole discretion of EOS, may be considered: (a) in bad taste or offensive to the public or to any
group of persons; (b) defamatory of any person or an attack on any competitor; (¢) to infringe upon the use,
without permission, of any other persons’ trade name, trademark, service mark or identification; or
(d) inconsistent with the public image of EOS or the System.

G. Treatment of Payments to EOS.

a EOS shall separately account for the Brand Fund and Regional Advertising Funds,
but EOS shall not be required to segregate any of the funds from EOS’s other monies. None of the funds
shall be used to defray any of EOS’s general operating expenses. Each fund may hire employees, either
full-time or part-time, for its administration. EOS and its affiliates may be reimbursed by each fund for
expenses directly related to the fund’s marketing programs, including, without limitation, conducting
market research, preparing advertising and marketing materials and collecting and accounting for
contributions to each fund. EOS may spend in any fiscal year an amount greater or less than the aggregate
contribution of all Earl of Sandwich Restaurants to each fund during that year or cause each fund to invest
any surplus for future use by the fund. A statement of monies collected and costs incurred by each fund
shall be prepared annually and shall be furnished to Franchisee within a reasonable period of time following
a written request. EOS or its designee will have the right to cause each fund to be incorporated or operated
through an entity separate from EOS at such time as EOS or its designee deems appropriate, and such
successor entity shall have all rights and duties of EOS pursuant to this Section 9.

2) Franchisee understands and acknowledges that each fund is intended to
enhance recognition of the Proprietary Marks and patronage of Earl of Sandwich Restaurants. EOS
will endeavor to utilize each fund to develop advertising and marketing materials and programs and
to place advertising that will benefit the System and all Earl of Sandwich Restaurants contributing
to the fund. Franchisee agrees, however, that EOS is not liable to Franchisee, and Franchisee forever
covenants not to sue and holds EOS harmless of any liability or obligation to ensure that expenditures
by each fund in or affecting any geographic area (including the Franchised Location) are
proportionate or equivalent to the contributions to the fund by Earl of Sandwich Restaurants
operating in that geographic area, or that any Earl of Sandwich Restaurant will benefit directly or
in proportion to its contribution to each fund from the development of advertising and marketing
materials or the placement of advertising. Except as expressly provided in this Section 9, neither
EOS nor its designee assumes any direct or indirect liability to Franchisee with respect to the
maintenance, direction or administration of each fund.

A3) EOS reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to: (a) suspend contributions to and

operations of each fund for one or more periods that it determines to be appropriate; (b) terminate any fund
upon 30 days’ written notice to Franchisee and establish, if EOS so elects, one or more new advertising
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funds; and (c¢) defer or waive, in whole or in part, upon the written request of any franchised or company
restaurants, any advertising fees required by this Section if, in EOS’s sole judgment, there has been
demonstrated unique, objective circumstances justifying any such waiver or deferral. On termination of a
fund, all monies in the fund shall be spent for advertising and/or promotional purposes. EOS has the right
to reinstate any fund upon the same terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement upon 30 days’ prior
written notice to Franchisee. EOS, in its sole discretion as it deems appropriate in order to maximize media
effectiveness, may transfer monies from the Brand Fund to any Regional Advertising Fund or from all
Regional Advertising Funds to the Brand Fund.

10. MANUAL

Franchisee acknowledges receipt on loan of EOS’s confidential and proprietary Manual, which
contains the System standards, which include detailed standards, specifications, instructions, requirements,
methods and procedures for the operation of the Franchised Restaurant. The Manual also may relate to the
selection, purchase, storage, preparation, packaging, ingredients, recipes, service and sale of all products
and beverages sold at the Franchised Restaurant; operations training; marketing, advertising and sales
promotions; maintenance and repair of the Franchised Restaurant building, grounds, equipment, graphics,
signs, interior and exterior décor items, fixtures and furnishings; employee dress attire and appearance
standards; menu concept and graphics; and other business procedures. EOS may modify the Manual and
Franchisee shall comply with all modified System standards. Franchisee agrees at all times to operate the
Franchised Restaurant in strict conformity with the Manual; to maintain the Manual at the Franchised
Restaurant; to not reproduce the Manual or any part of it; and to treat the Manual as confidential and
proprietary, and; to disclose the contents of the Manual only to those employees of Franchisee who have a
need to know. Franchisee shall keep its copy of the Manual current and up-to-date with all additions and
deletions provided by or on behalf of EOS and shall purchase whatever equipment and related services
(including, without limitation, computer system, Internet service, dedicated phone line, facsimile machine,
etc.) as may be necessary to receive these communications. If a dispute relating to the contents of the
Manual develops, the master copy maintained by EOS at its principal offices shall control.

11. MODIFICATIONS OF THE SYSTEM

A. System Modifications. EOS, in its sole discretion, shall be entitled from time to time to
change or modify the System, including modifications to the Manual, the menu and menu formats, the
required equipment, the signage, the building and premises of the Franchised Restaurant (including the
trade dress, décor and color schemes), the presentation of the Proprietary Marks, the adoption of new
administrative forms and methods of reporting and of payment of any monies owed to EOS (including
electronic means of reporting and payment) and the adoption and use of new or modified Proprietary Marks
or copyrighted materials. Franchisee shall accept and use or display in the Franchised Restaurant any such
changes or modifications to the System as if they were a part of the System at the time this Agreement was
executed, and Franchisee will make such expenditures as the changes or modifications in the System may
reasonably require.

B. Authorized Menu Items. Within 30 days after receipt of written notice from EOS,
Franchisee shall begin selling any newly authorized menu items and cease selling any menu items that are
no longer authorized. All food, beverage and merchandise items authorized for sale at the Franchised
Restaurant shall be offered for sale under the specific name designated by EOS. EOS, in its sole discretion,
may restrict sales of menu items to certain time periods during the day. If Franchisee has a suggestion for
a new menu item or for a change to an authorized menu item or Franchisee desires to participate in a test
market program, Franchisee shall provide EOS written notice prior to implementation. Franchisee shall
not add or modify any menu item or participate in a test market program without first having obtained
EOS’s prior written approval. Franchisee shall purchase any additional equipment and smallwares as EOS
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deems reasonably necessary in connection with new menu items. If EOS requires Franchisee to begin
offering a new menu item which requires the purchase of additional equipment, a reasonable period of time,
as determined in the sole discretion of EOS, shall be provided for the financing, purchase and installation
of any such equipment before such new menu items must be offered for sale at the Franchised Restaurant.

C. Renovation of Franchised Restaurant. Extensive structural changes, major remodeling
and renovations, and substantial modifications to existing equipment and improvements to modernize and
conform the Franchised Restaurant to the image of the System for new franchised and company restaurants
shall be required at EOS’s request (but not more often than every 5 years). Capital expenses necessary for
the repair and maintenance of the Franchised Location are not subject to the time limitations described in
the preceding sentence. Within 60 days after receipt of EOS’s written notice regarding the required
modernization, Franchisee shall prepare and complete drawings and plans for the required modernization.
These drawings and plans must be submitted to, and their use approved by, EOS prior to the commencement
of work. Franchisee shall complete the required modernization within the time reasonably specified by
EOS in its written notice.

D. Variations from System Standards. EOS has the right, in its sole discretion, to waive,
defer or permit variations from the standards of the System or the applicable agreement to any franchisee
or prospective franchisee based on the peculiarities of a particular site, existing building configuration or
circumstance, density of population, business potential, trade area population or any other condition or
circumstance. EOS shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to deny any such request EOS believes would
not be in the best interests of the System.

E. Franchisee’s Development of System Improvements. If Franchisee develops any new
concepts, processes or improvements relating to the System, whether or not pursuant to an EOS authorized
test, Franchisee promptly shall notify EOS and provide EOS with all information regarding the new
concept, process or improvement, all of which shall become the property of EOS and its affiliates and which
may be incorporated into the System without any payment to Franchisee. Franchisee, at its expense,
promptly shall take all actions deemed necessary or desirable by EOS to vest in EOS ownership of such
concepts, processes or improvements.

12. TRAINING

A. Initial Manager Training Program.

a At least 45 days prior to the opening of the Franchised Restaurant, Franchisee (or,
if Franchisee is owned by more than one individual, Franchisee’s Operating Principal, as defined in
Section 17.G.) and up to 2 restaurant managers that Franchisee designates shall attend, and become certified
in, an initial manager training program in the operation of an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant offered by EOS.
The initial manager training program will include classroom instruction and on-the-job training at EOS’s
designated training facilities or a certified training restaurant (“CTR”). Upon completion of the initial
manager training program, Franchisee (or, if applicable, Franchisee’s Operating Principal) and Franchisee’s
designated employees who attend the initial manager training program shall take an exam, upon successful
completion of which a “Certificate of Completion” will be awarded to each applicable individual, and
Franchisee will “certified” to operate the Franchised Restaurant. EOS will not authorize the Franchised
Restaurant to open until an adequate number of Franchisee’s employees, as determined by EOS in its sole
discretion, have attended, successfully completed and been “certified” in the initial manager training
program.

2) Subsequent to the opening of the Franchised Restaurant, any employee of
Franchisee who assumes any management position must, within 30 days after assuming such position,
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attend the initial manager training program and become certified for that position after completing such
training. The initial manager training program will be provided by EOS, unless a restaurant operated by
Franchisee has been certified as a CTR in accordance with Section 12.C.

A3) EOS shall bear all expenses for the initial manager training program, provided that
Franchisee will be required to pay all travel, living, food and other incidental expenses incurred by
Franchisee and Franchisee’s employees while attending the training. EOS reserves the right to dismiss
from the training program any person whom EOS does not believe will perform acceptably in the position
for which he has been hired by Franchisee, and Franchisee shall provide a suitable replacement within one
month of such dismissal.

B. Additional Training. EOS shall have the right (which may be exercised at any time and
in EOS’s sole discretion) to require that Franchisee, the Operating Principal, Franchisee’s restaurant
manager and any other employees designated by EOS take and successfully complete other training courses
in addition to the initial manager training program. EOS reserves the right to require Franchisee to pay a
tuition fee as established by EOS from time to time for these additional training programs within 30 days
of receipt of an invoice from EOS. Franchisee will be required to pay all travel, living, food and other
incidental expenses incurred by Franchisee and Franchisee’s employees while attending the training.
Franchisee will also be required to pay EOS’s costs and expenses incurred for developing, compiling and
distributing any additional training materials, if requested by Franchisee. Such costs and expenses, at
EOS’s option, may be a fixed fee based on EOS’s reasonable estimate in consultation with Franchisee based
on EOS’s average costs and expenses incurred in creating such additional training materials.

C. Team Member Training.

@ Prior to opening the Franchised Restaurant, Franchisee or Franchisee’s “certified”
restaurant manager shall train each newly hired team member in the operation of the Franchised Restaurant.
EOS will not authorize the Franchised Restaurant to open until an adequate number of Franchisee’s
employees, as determined by EOS in its sole discretion, have attended and successfully completed such
training. Franchisee also shall conduct any additional initial and continuing training programs for its
employees as EOS may require from time to time.

2) If the Franchised Restaurant is the first Earl of Sandwich Restaurant developed by
Franchisee or its affiliates, EOS will conduct the team member training on-site at the Franchised Restaurant
for non-management staff for 7 days prior to and 7 days after the opening of the Franchised Restaurant.
Franchisee must reimburse EOS for the reasonable travel and lodging accommodation expenses incurred
by EOS’s training personnel in conducting the on-site training.

A3) Franchisee shallmust provide EOS with a written netice 30-days-in-advance-ofthe
scheduled-openingdaterequest for theFranchised Restaurant-training within seven days of receipt of a

certificate of occupancy, and EOS shall have the right to rely on that daterequest to schedule and coordinate
thc drnval of its pefseﬂﬁel mployee s who w111 assist in the team member tralnmg H&mhseem&st—haaea

will schedule and eoondmate the arr1va1 of EOS S employees 1‘01 training as soon as reasonab]y possible

after receiving the request for training. EOS will arrive for training no later than 30 days after EOS receives
Franchisee’s request. EOS may delay the scheduled arrival of its employees if EOS determines, in its sole
discretion, that the Franchised Restaurant building is not safe or not ready to begin training. If the team
member training date or the opening date is postponed or delayed for failure to obtain a certificate of
occupancy or for any other reason and, as a direct result thereof, EOS incur any additional costs and
expenses, Franchisee shall promptly reimburse EOS for those costs and expenses, including the salaries
and wages for EOS’s trainers during the period of such delay.

21 EOS Franchise Agreement - 09/2325



“) If the Franchised Restaurant is not the first Earl of Sandwich Restaurant developed
by Franchisee or its affiliates and if Franchisee requests that EOS conduct the team member training for
non-management staff, and if EOS agrees in its sole discretion, Franchisee must pay all reasonable expenses
incurred by EOS in connection with such on-site training, including without limitation, travel expenses,
lodging accommodations, salaries and wages of EOS training personnel, and other reasonable expenses of
all such persons sent to the Franchised Restaurant in connection with the on-site training of the Franchised
Restaurant employees.

5) If Franchisee operates 2 or more franchised Earl of Sandwich Restaurants, within
90 days after Franchisee opens its third franchised Earl of Sandwich Restaurant, Franchisee may request
permission from EOS to establish one of Franchisee’s Earl of Sandwich Restaurants as a CTR at which
Franchisee’s employees will offer the initial manager training program to Franchisee’s employees. EOS
must certify the Franchised Restaurant as a CTR before Franchisee may begin training there. EOS may
periodically visit the CTR to ensure that it continues to meet EOS’s standards.

13. ADDITIONAL SERVICES BY EOS

A. Pre-Opening Assistance. EOS may provide consultation and advice to Franchisee, as
EOS deems appropriate, with regard to the development and operation of the Franchised Restaurant,
building layout, furnishings, fixtures and equipment plans and specifications, employee training,
purchasing and inventory control, and such other matters as EOS deems appropriate.

B. Post-Opening Assistance. EOS periodically, as it deems appropriate, shall advise and
consult with Franchisee in connection with the operation of the Franchised Restaurant. EOS, as it deems
appropriate, shall provide to Franchisee its knowledge and expertise regarding the System and pertinent
new developments, techniques and improvements in the areas of restaurant design, management, food and
beverage preparation, sales promotion, service concepts and other areas. EOS may provide these services
through visits by EOS’s representatives to the Franchised Restaurant or Franchisee’s offices, the
distribution of printed or filmed material or electronic information, meetings or seminars, telephone
communications, electronic mail communications or other communications.

C. Periodic Inspections. EOS shall inspect the Franchised Restaurant and its operations to
assist Franchisee’s operations and ensure compliance with the System.

D. Delegation. EOS has the right, from time to time, to delegate the performance of any
portion or all of its obligations and duties under this Agreement to designees, whether affiliates or agents
of EOS or independent contractors with which EOS has contracted to provide this service.

14. PERFORMANCE STANDARDS AND UNIFORMITY OF OPERATION

Products sold and services performed under the Proprietary Marks have a reputation for quality.
This reputation has been developed and maintained by EOS, and it is of the utmost importance to EOS,
Franchisee and all other franchisees of EOS that this reputation be maintained. In recognition of the mutual
benefits that come from maintaining the reputation for quality enjoyed by the System, Franchisee covenants
and agrees, with respect to the operation of the Franchised Restaurant, that Franchisee and its employees
shall comply with all of the requirements of the System as set forth in the Manual or otherwise, and
Franchisee additionally shall comply with the following:

A. Standards, Specifications and Procedures. Franchisee acknowledges that each and
every detail of the appearance, layout, décor, services and operation of the Franchised Restaurant is
important to EOS and other Earl of Sandwich Restaurants. Franchisee agrees to cooperate with EOS by

22 EOS Franchise Agreement - 09/2325



maintaining these high standards in the operation of the Franchised Restaurant. Franchisee further agrees
to comply with all System specifications, recipes, standards and operating procedures (whether contained
in the Manual or any other written communication to Franchisee) relating to the appearance, function,
cleanliness and operation of an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant, including, but not limited to: (1) type, quality,
taste, weight, dimensions, ingredients, uniformity, manner of preparation, and sale of all food products and
beverages sold at the Franchised Restaurant and all other products used in the packaging and sale of those
products and beverages; (2) sales and marketing procedures and customer service; (3) advertising and
promotional programs; (4) layout, décor and color scheme of the Franchised Restaurant; (5) appearance
and dress of employees; (6) safety, maintenance, appearance, cleanliness, sanitation, standards of service,
and operation of the Franchised Restaurant; (7) submission of requests for approval of brands of products,
supplies and suppliers; (8) use and illumination of signs, posters, displays, standard formats and similar
items; (9) identification of Franchisee as the owner of the Franchised Restaurant; (10) types of fixtures,
furnishings, equipment, smallwares and packaging; and (11) the make, type, location and decibel level of
any game, entertainment or vending machine and the music programming service that is played at the
Franchised Restaurant. Mandatory specifications, standards and operating procedures, including upgraded
or additional equipment and software, that EOS prescribes from time to time in the Manual or otherwise
communicates to Franchisee in writing, shall constitute provisions of this Agreement as if fully set forth in
this Agreement.

B. Approved Products, Distributors and Suppliers.

a Franchisee acknowledges that the reputation and goodwill of Earl of Sandwich
Restaurants are based upon, and can only be maintained by, the sale of distinctive, high quality food
products and beverages, and the presentation, packaging and service of such products and beverages in an
efficient and appealing manner. EOS may develop certain proprietary food products that will be prepared
by or for EOS according to EOS’s proprietary special recipes and formulas (collectively “proprietary
products”). EOS also has developed standards and specifications for other food products, ingredients,
seasonings, mixes, beverages, materials and supplies incorporated or used in the preparation, cooking,
serving, packaging and delivery of prepared food products authorized for sale at Earl of Sandwich
Restaurants. Franchisee agrees that it will: (a) purchase those proprietary products only from EOS or a
third party designated and licensed by EOS to prepare and sell such products (collectively “designated
suppliers”); (b) use the proprietary products only in accordance with the Manual and for items sold at the
Franchised Restaurant; and (c) purchase from manufacturers, distributors, vendors and suppliers approved
by EOS (collectively “approved suppliers™) all other goods, food products, ingredients, spices, seasonings,
mixes, beverages, materials and supplies used in the preparation of products (collectively “goods”), as well
as advertising materials furniture, fixtures, equipment, smallwares, menus, menu boards, forms, paper and
plastic products, packaging or other materials (collectively “materials”) that meet the standards and
specifications promulgated by EOS from time to time. EOS has the right to require that Franchisee use
only certain brands and to prohibit Franchisee from using other brands. EOS may from time to time modify
the list of approved brands (including certain brands of soft drinks and bottled beverages), and Franchisee
shall not, after receipt of such modification in writing, reorder any brand that is no longer an approved
brand. EOS may from time to time modify the list of designated suppliers and/or approved suppliers, and
Franchisee shall not, after receipt of such modification in writing, order any proprietary products from a
supplier who is no longer a designated supplier or order any goods or materials from a supplier who is no
longer an approved supplier.

Q) EOS may approve one or more suppliers for any goods or materials and may
approve a supplier only as to certain goods or materials. EOS may concentrate purchases with one or more
suppliers to obtain lower prices and/or the best advertising support and/or services for any group of Earl of
Sandwich Restaurants or any other group of restaurants franchised or operated by EOS or its affiliates.
Approval of a supplier may be conditioned on requirements relating to the frequency of delivery, reporting
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capabilities, standards of service, including prompt attention to complaints, or other criteria, and
concentration of purchases, as set forth above, and may be rescinded or provided on a temporary basis
pending a further evaluation of such supplier by EOS. EOS may establish commissaries and distribution
facilities owned and operated by EOS or an affiliate that EOS shall designate as an approved supplier.

[R))] If Franchisee proposes to purchase any goods or materials (that Franchisee is not
required to purchase from EOS, an affiliate of EOS or a designated supplier) from a supplier that EOS has
not previously approved, Franchisee shall submit to EOS a written request for such approval, or shall
request the supplier to do so itself. EOS has the right to require, as a condition of its approval, that its
representatives be permitted to inspect the supplier’s facilities, and that such information, specifications
and samples as EOS reasonably designates be delivered to EOS and/or to an independent, certified
laboratory designated by EOS for testing prior to granting approval. A charge not to exceed thereasenable
eostEOS’s actual costs of the-nspeetienreviewing the supplier or distributor and auditing the aetual-eostof
the—testfacility, if needed, shall be paid by Franchisee. EOS will notify Franchisee within 60 days of
Franchisee’s request as to whether Franchisee is authorized to purchase such products from that supplier.
EOS reserves the right, at its option, to re-inspect the facilities and products of any such approved supplier
and to revoke its approval upon the suppliers’ failure to continue to meet any of the foregoing criteria.

“) Franchisee shall at all times maintain an inventory of approved goods and materials
sufficient in quality and variety to realize the full potential of the Franchised Restaurant. EOS may, from
time to time, conduct market research and testing to determine consumer trends and the salability of new
food products and services. Franchisee agrees to cooperate in these efforts by participating in EOS’s
customer surveys and market research programs if requested by EOS. All customer surveys and market
research programs will be at EOS’s sole cost and expense, unless such survey or program has been approved
by Franchisee and Franchisee has approved its proportionate cost. Franchisee shall not be allowed to test
anything without first being requested to by EOS and signing a test letter agreement in a form satisfactory
to EOS.

(&) EOS and its affiliates disclaim all express or implied warranties concerning
any approved goods, materials or services, including, without limitation, any warranties as to
merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, availability, quality, pricing or profitability.
Franchisee acknowledges that EOS and its affiliates may, under appropriate circumstances, receive
fees, commissions, royalties, or other consideration from approved suppliers based on sales to
franchisees, and that EOS may charge non-approved suppliers reasonable testing or inspection fees.

C. Menu Boards and Formats. EOS shall have the right to prescribe, and subsequently vary,
one or more menu boards and formats to be utilized in the Franchised Restaurant. The menu boards and
formats may include requirements concerning organization, graphics, product descriptions, illustrations and
other matters (except prices) related to the menu. Prescribed menu boards and formats may vary depending
on region, market size or other factors deemed relevant by EOS. If any menu board and format utilized by
Franchisee ceases to be an authorized menu board and format, Franchisee shall have a reasonable period of
time (not to exceed 6 months) to discontinue use of the old menu board and format and begin using an
authorized menu board and format.

D. Menu Pricing. Franchisee shall be solely responsible for determining the prices of
products offered at the Franchised Restaurant; provided, however, EOS reserves the right to require
Franchisee to comply with any maximum or minimum resale pricing restrictions implemented by EOS.
Any such pricing adjustments shall be made in EOS’s reasonable business judgment as market conditions
dictate in order to enhance sales and maximize profitability of all Earl of Sandwich Restaurants, and only
to the extent that such pricing does not violate applicable law. Franchisee acknowledges that: (1) any such
pricing restrictions at Earl of Sandwich Restaurants are essential to maintaining and furthering the goodwill
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and appeal that has come to be associated with Earl of Sandwich Restaurants and the System; and (2) EOS’s
required pricing policies are not anti-competitive and benefit Franchisee because it ensures uniform prices
to consumers and avoids any unfair competitive advantage in favor of any Earl of Sandwich Restaurant.

E. Technology.

@ Franchisee agrees to procure and install, at its expense, a technology system
including such data processing equipment, computer hardware, software, point of sale system, required
dedicated data, telephone lines, broadband and wireless Internet connections, modems, printers and other
computer-related accessories or peripheral equipment as EOS specifies in the Manual or otherwise. All of
the foregoing must be able to provide EOS that information, in that format/medium, as EOS reasonably
may specify from time to time. Franchisee shall provide all assistance required by EOS to bring
Franchisee’s technology system on-line with the technology system designated by EOS and maintained by
EOS or its affiliates at the earliest possible time. All of the hardware and software specified to be installed
or purchased, or activities Franchisee is to accomplish, including, but not limited to, the delivery and
installation or set-up cost of all hardware and software, and any and all ongoing software licensing fees
shall be at Franchisee’s expense. EOS reserves the right to require Franchisee to engage EOS or a hardware
maintenance and/or help desk support provider approved by EOS to maintain Franchisee’s technology
system.

2) As part of its technology system, Franchisee must record all sales at the Franchised
Restaurant on a point of sale system that is fully compatible with EOS’s technology system and that includes
an information interface capability to communicate electronically with EOS’s technology system to provide
EOS with continuous transaction level point of sale data. Franchisee agrees that EOS shall have the free
and unfettered right to retrieve any data and information from Franchisee’s point of sale system as EOS, in
its sole discretion, deems appropriate, including electronically polling the daily sales, menu/product mix
and other data of the Franchised Restaurant. All data pertaining to, derived from, or displayed at the
Franchised Restaurant (including without limitation data pertaining to or otherwise about Franchised
Restaurant customers) is and shall be EOS’s exclusive property, and EOS hereby grants Franchisee a
royalty-free non-exclusive license to use that data during the Initial Term of this Agreement.

A3) Franchisee shall: (a)use any proprietary software programs, system
documentation manuals and other proprietary materials provided to Franchisee by EOS in connection with
the operation of the Franchised Restaurant; (b) input and maintain in Franchisee’s technology system such
data and information as EOS prescribes in the Manual, software programs, documentation or otherwise;
and (¢) purchase new or upgraded software programs, system documentation manuals and other proprietary
materials at then-current prices (including ongoing software licensing fees) within 90 days after receipt of
notice from EOS that EOS has adopted such new or upgraded programs, manuals and materials system-
wide.

“) Franchisee shall participate in EOS’s online ordering system, if established, on
such terms and conditions that EOS may specify in the Manual, and to pay the fees for such online ordering
system that EOS and/or its vendor reasonably specify.

[Q) Franchisee acknowledges that technology systems are designed to accommodate a
finite amount of data and terminals, and that, as these limits are reached, or as technology or software is
developed in the future, EOS may, in its sole discretion, mandate that Franchisee: (a) add memory, ports
and other accessories or peripheral equipment or additional, new or substitute software to the original
technology system purchased by Franchisee; and (b) replace or upgrade the entire technology system with
a larger system capable of assuming and discharging the technology-related tasks and functions specified
by EOS. Franchisee acknowledges that technology system designs and functions change periodically and
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that EOS may desire to make substantial modifications to its technology systems specifications or to require
installation of entirely different systems during the term of this Agreement or upon renewal of this
Agreement.

(6) To ensure full operational efficiency and communication capability between
EOS’s computers and those of all Earl of Sandwich Restaurants, Franchisee agrees, at its expense, to keep
its technology system in good maintenance and repair and to make additions, changes, modifications,
substitutions and replacements to its hardware, software, telephone and data lines and other technology-
related facilities as directed by EOS, and on the dates and within the times specified by EOS in its sole
discretion. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, all software, disks, tapes, data storage
devices, and other magnetic storage media shall be returned to EOS in good operating condition, excepting
normal wear and tear.

F. Non-Cash Payment Systems and PCI Compliance.

a Within a reasonable period of time following EOS’s request, Franchisee shall
accept debit cards, credit cards, stored value gift cards or other non-cash payment systems, including
participation in loyalty programs, specified by EOS to enable customers to purchase authorized products
and shall obtain all necessary hardware and/or software used in connection with these non-cash systems.
Franchisee shall comply with all policies and procedures set forth by EOS in the Manual with respect to
these non-cash payment systems.

Q) Franchisee shall maintain, at all times, credit-card relationships with the credit-
and debit-card issuers or sponsors, check or credit verification services, financial-center services, merchant
service providers, and electronic-fund-transfer systems (together, “Credit Card Vendors”) that EOS may
periodically designate as mandatory. Franchisee shall not to use any Credit Card Vendor for which EOS
has not given its prior written approval or as to which EOS has revoked its earlier approval. The term
“Credit Card Vendors” includes, among other things, companies that provide services for electronic
payment, such as near field communication vendors (e.g., “Apple Pay” and “Google Wallet”). EOS has
the right to modify its requirements and designate additional approved or required methods of payment and
vendors for processing such payments, and to revoke its approval of any service provider. Franchisee shall
comply with EOS’s policies regarding acceptance of payment by credit and/or debit cards, including for
example minimum purchase requirements for a customer’s use of a credit card (EOS may set these
requirements in the Manual).

A3) Franchisee shall comply with the then-current Payment Card Industry Data
Security Standards as those standards may be revised and modified by the PCI Security Standards Council,
LLC (see www.pcisecuritystandards.org), or any successor organization or standards that EOS may
reasonably specify. Among other things, Franchisee agrees to implement the enhancements, security
requirements, and other standards that the PCI Security Standards Council (or its successor) requires of a
merchant that accepts payment by credit and/or debit cards.

G. EOS Inspections.

@ To determine whether Franchisee and the Franchised Restaurant are in compliance
with this Agreement and with all specifications, quality standards and operating procedures prescribed by
EOS for the operation of Earl of Sandwich Restaurants, EOS or its designees shall have the right at any
reasonable time and without prior notice to Franchisee to: (a) inspect the Franchised Location; (b) observe,
photograph and videotape the operations of the Franchised Restaurant for such consecutive or intermittent
periods as EOS deems necessary; (¢) remove samples of any food and beverage product, material or other
products for testing and analysis (without paying for the samples); (d) interview personnel of the Franchised
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Restaurant; (e) interview customers of the Franchised Restaurant; and (f) inspect and copy any books,
records and documents relating to the operation of the Franchised Restaurant or, upon the request of EOS
or its designee, require Franchisee to send copies thereof to EOS or its designee. Franchisee shall present
to its customers those evaluation forms as are periodically prescribed by EOS and shall participate and/or
request its customers to participate in any surveys performed by or on behalf of EOS as EOS may direct.

Q) Franchisee agrees to cooperate fully with EOS or its designee in connection with
any such inspections, observations, videotaping, product removal and interviews. Following each
inspection, EOS will provide Franchisee an inspection report listing Franchisee’s score on the inspection
and those conditions at the Franchised Restaurant that must be rectified. Franchisee shall take all necessary
steps to immediately correct any deficiencies detected during these inspections (regardless of Franchisee’s
inventory), including, without limitation, ceasing further sale of unauthorized menu items and ceasing
further use of any equipment, advertising materials or supplies that do not conform with the standards and
requirements promulgated by EOS from time to time.

A3) If Franchisee fails to achieve a passing score on an inspection, EOS mayj, in its sole
discretion, require that Franchisee’s to Operating Principal and/or one or more managerial employees of
the Franchised Restaurant attend and successfully complete an additional management training program
(the length of which will not exceed 10 consecutive days) to be held at a location designated by EOS.
Franchisee shall pay a tuition charge as established by EOS from time to time for this training program and
the travel, living, food and other incidental expenses incurred by Franchisee’s employees while attending
this training program.

4) If Franchisee fails to achieve a passing score on an inspection, the inspection report
shall constitute a notice of default. If Franchisee fails to achieve a passing score on the next inspection
(which shall be conducted at least 30 days after Franchisee’s receipt of the inspection report for the prior
inspection), EOS may terminate this Agreement, without opportunity to cure, by providing Franchisee
written notice of termination along with the inspection report.

H. Upkeep of the Franchised Restaurant.

a Franchisee shall constantly maintain and continuously operate the Franchised
Restaurant and all furniture, fixtures, equipment, furnishings, floor coverings, interior and exterior signage,
the building interior and exterior, interior and exterior lighting, landscaping and parking lot surfaces in first-
class condition and repair in accordance with the requirements of the System, including all ongoing
necessary remodeling, redecorating, refurbishing and repairs. In addition, Franchisee shall promptly and
diligently perform all necessary maintenance, repairs and replacements to the Franchised Restaurant as
EOS may prescribe from time to time, including periodic interior and exterior painting; resurfacing of the
parking lot; roof repairs; and replacement of obsolete or worn out signage, floor coverings, furnishings,
equipment and decor.

2) Franchisee shall not make any material alterations to the Franchised Restaurant
that affect operations or the image of the System without EOS’s prior written approval. Franchisee
acknowledges and agrees that the requirements of this Section are both reasonable and necessary to ensure
continued public acceptance and patronage of Earl of Sandwich Restaurants, to assist the Franchised
Restaurant to compete effectively in the marketplace and to avoid deterioration or obsolescence of the
operation of the Franchised Restaurant.
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L Maximum Operation of the Franchised Restaurant.

@ During the term of this Agreement, Franchisee shall use the Franchised Location
solely for the operation of the Franchised Restaurant and shall maintain sufficient inventories, adequately
staff each shift with qualified employees and continuously operate the Franchised Restaurant at its
maximum capacity and efficiency for the minimum number of days and hours set forth in the Manual or as
EOS otherwise prescribes in writing (subject to the requirements of local laws and licensing requirements).

2) Franchisee shall immediately resolve any customer complaints regarding the
quality of food or beverages, service and/or cleanliness of the Franchised Restaurant or any similar
complaints. When any customer complaints cannot be immediately resolved, Franchisee shall use
reasonable efforts to resolve the customer complaints as soon as practical and shall, whenever feasible, give
the customer the benefit of the doubt. If EOS, in its sole discretion, determines that its intervention is
necessary or desirable to protect the System or the goodwill associated with the System, or if EOS, in its
sole discretion, believes that Franchisee has failed adequately to address or resolve any customer
complaints, EOS may, without Franchisee’s consent, resolve any complaints and charge Franchisee an
amount sufficient to cover EOS’s reasonable costs and expenses in resolving the customer complaints,
which amount Franchisee shall pay EOS immediately on demand.

J. Franchised Restaurant Management and Personnel.

a The Franchised Restaurant shall at all times be under the on-site supervision of the
Operating Principal or a restaurant manager who must meet, to the satisfaction of EOS, EOS’s applicable
training qualifications for their designated position. Franchisee must, at all times, employ at least 2
management personnel for the Franchised Restaurant who have successfully completed the initial manager
training program. If, at any time, Franchisee ceases to employ 2 management personnel as described above,
Franchisee has 30 days (from the date on which Franchisee has less than 2 specified management personnel)
to hire and enroll replacement personnel in the initial manager training program. At Franchisee’s option,
one person may hold more than one of the above positions.

Q) Franchisee (or, if Franchisee is owned by more than one individual, the Operating
Principal) shall remain active in overseeing the operations of the Franchised Restaurant, including, without
limitation, regular, periodic visits to the Franchised Restaurant and sufficient communications with EOS to
ensure that the Franchised Restaurant’s operations comply with the operating standards as promulgated by
EOS from time to time in the Manual or otherwise in written or oral communications.

A3) Franchisee shall hire all employees of the Franchised Restaurant and be
exclusively responsible for the terms of their employment and compensation, and for the proper training of
such employees in the operation of the Franchised Restaurant, in human resources and customer relations.
Franchisee shall establish at the Franchised Restaurant a training program for all employees that meets the
standards prescribed by EOS.

“) Franchisee shall employ only suitable persons of good character and reputation
who will at all times conduct themselves in a competent and courteous manner in accordance with the image
and reputation of EOS and the System and, while on duty, comply with the dress attire, personal appearance
and hygiene standards set forth in the Manual. Franchisee shall use reasonable efforts to ensure that
Franchisee’s employees maintain a neat and clean appearance and render competent and courteous service
to all customers and fellow employees of the Franchised Restaurant.

K. Signs and Logos. Subject to local ordinances, Franchisee shall prominently display in and
upon the land and buildings of the Franchised Restaurant interior and exterior signs and logos using the
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name “Earl of Sandwich,” without any prefix or suffix, and those other names, marks, advertising signs and
logos, of such nature, form, color, number, location and size, and containing that material as EOS may from
time to time direct. Franchisee shall not display in or upon the Franchised Location any sign, logo or
advertising media of any kind to which EOS objects.

L. Entertainment Equipment. Franchisee shall not permit at the Franchised Restaurant any
juke box, vending or game machine, gum machine, game, ride, gambling or lottery device, coin or token
operated machine, or any other music, film or video device not authorized by EOS.

M. Compliance with Laws and Good Business Practices.

a Franchisee shall secure and maintain in force in its name all required licenses,
permits and certificates relating to the operation of the Franchised Restaurant. Franchisee shall operate the
Franchised Restaurant in full compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances and regulations including,
without limitation, all laws or regulations governing or relating to the handling of food products,
immigration and discrimination, occupational hazards and health insurance, employment laws, including,
without limitation, workers’ compensation insurance, unemployment insurance, and the withholding and
payment of federal and state income taxes, social security taxes and sales taxes. Franchisee must provide
EOS with a copy of any health inspection report upon request. All advertising and promotion by Franchisee
shall be completely factual and shall conform to the highest standards of ethical advertising. Franchisee
shall, in all dealings with Franchisee’s customers, suppliers and the public, adhere to the highest standards
of honesty, integrity, fair dealing and ethical conduct. Franchisee agrees to refrain from any business or
advertising practice that may be injurious to the goodwill associated with the Proprietary Marks or the
business of EOS or its affiliates, the System or other restaurants operated or franchised by EOS or its
affiliates.

Q) Franchisee agrees to abide by all applicable laws pertaining to the privacy of
customer, employee, and transactional information (“Privacy Laws”). Franchisee agrees to comply with
EOS’s standards and policies pertaining to Privacy Laws. If there is a conflict between EOS’s standards
and policies pertaining to Privacy Laws and actual applicable law, Franchisee shall: (a) comply with the
requirements of applicable law; (b) immediately give EOS written notice of said conflict; and (¢) promptly
and fully cooperate with EOS and its counsel in determining the most effective way, if any, to meet EOS’s
standards and policies pertaining to Privacy Laws within the bounds of applicable law. Franchisee agrees
not to publish, disseminate, implement, revise, or rescind a data privacy policy without EOS’s prior written
consent.

[R))] Franchisee shall notify EOS in writing within 5 days after the commencement of:
(a) any action, suit or proceeding, or the issuance of any order, writ, injunction, award or decree of any
court, agency or other governmental instrumentality, which may adversely affect the operation or financial
condition of Franchisee or the Franchised Restaurant; or (b) of any notice of violation of any law, ordinance
or regulation relating to health or sanitation at the Franchised Restaurant.

N. Customer Service Satisfaction and Secret Shopper Programs. In order to (among other
things) maintain and enhance the goodwill associated with the Proprietary Marks, the System and each Earl
of Sandwich Restaurant, Franchisee agrees to participate in programs initiated to verify customer
satisfaction and/or Franchisee’s compliance with all operational and other aspects of the System, including
(but not limited to) customer service satisfaction program, secret shoppers or other programs as EOS may
require. EOS will share the results of these programs, as they pertain to the Franchised Restaurant, with
Franchisee. Franchisee will reimburse EOS for all costs related to the Franchised Restaurant associated
with any and all of these programs.
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15. PROPRIETARY MARKS

symbols, insignia, devices, designs, trade names, service marks or combinations thereof designated by EOS
as identifying the System and the products sold and services provided in connection with the System. EOS
shall, from time to time, advise Franchisee as to any additions or deletions to the Proprietary Marks, and
Franchisee’s right to use the Proprietary Marks shall be deemed modified by those additions or deletions.

A. Scope. The term “Proprietary Marks” as used in this Agreement refers to all words,

B. Limited Right To Use Proprietary Marks. Franchisee’s right to use the Proprietary
Marks is limited to its use of the Proprietary Marks in the operation of the Franchised Restaurant at the
Franchised Location and as expressly provided in this Agreement and the Manual. Franchisee shall not use
the Proprietary Marks on any vehicles without EOS’s prior written approval. Franchisee shall not modify
the Proprietary Marks in any manner in connection with Franchisee’s display of, or creation or duplication
of materials bearing, the Proprietary Marks. Franchisee shall not use the Proprietary Marks or any
variations of the Proprietary Marks or marks or names confusingly similar to the Proprietary Marks in any
manner not authorized by EOS or in any corporate, limited liability company or partnership name and shall
not use any other trade names, service marks or trademarks in conjunction with the Franchised Restaurant.
If local laws or ordinances require that Franchisee file an affidavit of doing business under an assumed
name or otherwise make a filing indicating that the Proprietary Marks are being used as a fictitious or
assumed name, Franchisee shall include in such filing or application an indication that the filing is made
“as a franchisee of Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC.” Franchisee shall use the symbol ® with all registered
marks and the symbol ™ with all pending registrations or other marks.

C. Use of Proprietary Marks on Internet.

@ Franchisee shall not use the Proprietary Marks or any variations of the Proprietary
Marks or marks or names confusingly similar to the Proprietary Marks in any manner not authorized by
EOS in writing as part of any URL, domain name, Website, meta-tag, download, application, posting, social
networking profile, directory listing, screen name, anonymous name, blog, vlog, e-mail account, instant
messaging account, texting identity, user generated content, or any other identification of Franchisee or the
Franchised Restaurant in any electronic medium (collectively, and individually, “Electronic Identifiers”).
As used in this Agreement, the term “Website” means one or more related documents, designs, or other
communications that can be accessed through electronic means (including, but not limited to, the Internet,
the World Wide Web, and social networking sites like Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, Pinterest, blogs, vlogs,
and other applications, etc.).

2) EOS may grant or withhold its consent in its sole discretion and may condition its
consent on such requirements as EOS deems appropriate, including, among other things, that Franchisee
obtain EOS’s prior written approval of: (a) any and all Electronic Identifiers related to the Franchised
Restaurant; (b) the proposed form and content (including any visible and non-visible content such as meta-
tags) of any Website related to the Franchised Restaurant; (c¢) Franchisee’s use of any hyperlinks or other
links; (d) Franchisee’s use of any materials (including text, video clips, photographs, images and sound
bites) in which any third party has an ownership interest; and (e) any proposed modification of Franchisee’s
Website. EOS may designate the form and content of Franchisee’s Website and/or require that any such
Website be hosted by EOS or a third party designated by EOS, using one or more Websites that EOS owns
and/or controls. In addition, EOS may require Franchisee to establish hyperlinks to EOS’s Website or
another Website designated by EOS. EOS may charge Franchisee a fee for developing, reviewing and
approving Franchisee’s Website and/or for hosting the Website.

A3) Unless otherwise approved by EOS, Franchisee must use, and only use, the e-mail
address and other Electronic Identifiers that EOS designates in connection with the business of the
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Franchised Restaurant. Franchisee agrees not to transmit or cause any other party to transmit
advertisements or solicitations by e-mail or other electronic media without first obtaining EOS’s written
consent as to: (a) the content of such e-mail advertisements or solicitations; and (b) Franchisee’s plan for
transmitting such advertisements. Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that any consent provided by EOS
pursuant to this Section 15 shall be solely for the purpose of assuring compliance with EOS’s standards and
shall not be construed as any express or implied representation or warranty that the Electronic Identifier or
its proposed content complies with any applicable laws, codes or regulations. In addition to any other
provision of this Agreement, Franchisee will be solely responsible for compliance with any laws pertaining
to sending e-mails including but not limited to the Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography
and Proprietary Marketing Act of 2003 (known as the “CAN-SPAM Act of 2003”).

“) Notwithstanding this Section 15.C., EOS in its sole discretion and upon notice to
Franchisee, may elect to register and own any domain name(s) or other Electronic Identifiers intended to
be used by Franchisee in connection with its Franchised Restaurant. In such case, EOS will provide
Franchisee all administrative access to the Electronic Identifier(s) and Franchisee shall be solely responsible
for content development and creation, and maintenance thereof, in accordance with this Section 15.
Franchisee shall reimburse EOS for all out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by EOS in connection
with the registration or renewal of any Electronic Identifier immediately upon Franchisee’s receipt of an
invoice therefor.

D. Modifications to Proprietary Marks. If EOS should elect to use a principal name other
than “Earl of Sandwich” to identify the System, EOS may select another name and notify Franchisee to
change all or some items bearing the Proprietary Marks to the new name within a reasonable period of time
as determined by EOS without any liability to Franchisee, and Franchisee promptly shall adopt that name.
Franchisee agrees that nothing in this Agreement gives it any right, title or interest in the Proprietary Marks
(except the right to use the Proprietary Marks in accordance with the terms of this Agreement), that the
Proprietary Marks are the sole property of Licensor, EOS and their affiliates, that Franchisee shall not
directly or indirectly contest the validity or ownership of the Proprietary Marks or EOS’s right to license
the Proprietary Marks, and that any and all uses by Franchisee of the Proprietary Marks and the goodwill
arising therefrom shall inure exclusively to the benefit of Licensor, EOS and their affiliates. Franchisee
will not seek to register, reregister, assert claim to ownership of, license or allow others to use, or otherwise
appropriate to itself, any of the Proprietary Marks or any mark or name confusingly similar thereto, or the
goodwill symbolized by any of the foregoing except to the extent this action inures to the benefit of, and
has the prior written approval of, EOS. Any unauthorized use of the Proprietary Marks by Franchisee or
attempt by Franchisee, directly or indirectly, to register the Proprietary Marks in any jurisdiction shall
constitute a breach of this Agreement and an infringement of EOS’s rights in and to the Proprietary Marks.

E. Notice of Infringement. Franchisee promptly shall inform EOS in writing as to any
infringement of the Proprietary Marks of which it has knowledge. Franchisee shall not make any demand
or serve any notice, orally or in writing, or institute any legal action or negotiate, compromise or settle any
controversy with respect to any such infringement without first obtaining EOS’s written approval. EOS
shall have the right, but not the obligation, to bring such action or take such steps as it may deem advisable
to prevent any such infringement and to join Franchisee as a party to any action in which EOS is or may be
a party and as to which Franchisee is or would be a necessary or proper party. Franchisee also shall
promptly notify EOS of any litigation (including administrative or arbitration proceedings) of which
Franchisee is aware instituted against EOS, its affiliates or Franchisee relating to the Proprietary Marks.
Franchisee shall execute any and all instruments and documents, render such other assistance and do any
acts and things as may, in the opinion of EOS’s counsel, be necessary or advisable to protect and maintain
EOS’s interests in the Proprietary Marks, including, without limitation, EOS’s interests in litigation or
proceedings before the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office or other tribunal relating to the Proprietary Marks.
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16. INSURANCE

A. Procurement of Insurance by Franchisee. Franchisee shall be responsible for all loss or
damage arising from or related to Franchisee’s development and operation of the Franchised Restaurant,
and for all demands or claims with respect to any loss, liability, personal injury, death, property damage, or
expense whatsoever occurring upon the premises of, or in connection with the development or operation
of, the Franchised Restaurant. Franchisee shall maintain in full force and effect throughout the term of this
Agreement that insurance which Franchisee determines is necessary or appropriate for liabilities caused by
or occurring in connection with the development or operation of the Franchised Restaurant which shall
include, at a minimum, insurance policies of the kinds, and in the amounts, required by Section 16.B. EOS,
and any entity with an insurable interest designated by EOS, shall be an additional insured in all liability
policies (except workers’ compensation) to the extent each has an insurable interest.

B. Minimum Insurance Requirements. All insurance policies shall be written by an
insurance company or companies satisfactory to EOS, in compliance with the standards, specifications,
coverages and limits set forth in the Manual or otherwise provided to Franchisee in writing. EOS may
reasonably increase the minimum required coverage and require different or additional kinds of insurance
to reflect inflation, changes in standards of liability, higher damage awards or other relevant changes in
circumstances. Franchisee shall receive written notice of such modifications and shall take prompt action
to secure the additional coverage or higher policy limits. These policies shall include, at a minimum, the
following:

1) Comprehensive or Commercial General Liability Insurance, including coverage
for bodily injury, personal injury, products liability, contractual liability, broad form property damage, non-
owned automobiles and completed operations on an occurrence basis with policy limits of not less than
$1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 in the aggregate.

) All Risks Property Insurance for fire and related peril (including floods and
earthquakes where applicable) with limits of insurance of not less than the full replacement value of the
Franchised Restaurant, and its furniture, fixtures, equipment, inventory and other tangible property.

A3) Business Interruption and Extra Expense Insurance, including rental payment
continuation for a minimum of 12 months, loss of profits and other extra expenses experienced during the
recovery from property loss.

“) Plate Glass Insurance for replacement of glass from breakage.

(5) Employer’s Liability Insurance in the amount of $+66500,000 per person,
$500,000 in the aggregate and $306500,000 for occupational disease.

(6) Liquor Liability Insurance for bodily injury and property damage on an occurrence
basis with policy limits of not less than $1,000,000, to the extent that EOS has approved the sale of alcoholic
beverages at the Franchised Restaurant.

() Workers’ Compensation and such other insurance as may be required by statute or
rule of the state or locality in which the Franchised Restaurant is located. This coverage shall also be in
effect for all of Franchisee’s employees who participate in any of the training programs described in Section
12.

(8) Builder’s All Risk Insurance in connection with any new construction or
substantial renovation, refurbishment or remodeling of the Franchised Restaurant. Franchisee shall also
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maintain performance and completion bonds in forms and amounts, and written by carrier(s), reasonably
satisfactory to EOS.

&) Automobile Liability if Franchisee is engaged in any delivery operations.
Coverage shall be on a Symbol 1 (any auto) basis and in the amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence on any
auto.

(10)  Cyber-Liability Insurance with a minimum limit of $1,000,000 to include coverage
for business interruption loss, cyber extortion, data recovery costs and data and network liability.

(11) Umbrella or Excess Liability Insurance in the amount of $3,000,000 per
occurrence and $3,000,000 in annual aggregate that includes the prior mentioned coverages as underlying
policies. Coverage shall follow form over general liability (including non-owned & hired liability), liquor
liability, automobile liability and employer’s liability.

C. General Insurance Requirements. The following general requirements shall apply to
each insurance policy that Franchisee is required to maintain under this Agreement:

a Each insurance policy shall be specifically endorsed to provide that the coverages
shall be primary and that any insurance carried by any additional insured shall be excess and non-
contributory. The applicable limits of each insurance policy shall be exhausted before any benefits (defense
or indemnity) may be obtained under any other insurance (including self-insurance) providing coverage to
EOS. The workers’ compensation policy shall include a waiver of subrogation in favor of EOS. In the
event payments are required to be made under EOS’s own insurance policies or self-insurance (whether for
defense or indemnity) before the applicable coverage limits for the insurance policies obtained by
Franchisee are exhausted, Franchisee agrees to reimburse, hold harmless and indemnify EOS and its
insurers for such payments. Franchisee shall notify its insurers of this Agreement and shall use reasonable
efforts to obtain an endorsement on each policy it obtains pursuant to Section 16.B. stating as follows:

The applicable limits of this policy shall be applied and exhausted before
any benefits may be obtained (whether for defense or indemnity) under
any other insurance (including self-insurance) that may provide coverage
to EOS. All insurance coverage obtained by EOS shall be considered
excess insurance with respect to this policy, the benefits of which excess
insurance shall not be available until the applicable limits of this policy
are exhausted.

2) No insurance policy shall contain a provision that in any way limits or reduces
coverage for Franchisee in the event of a claim by EOS or its affiliates.

A3) Each insurance policy shall extend to, and provide indemnity for, all obligations
and liabilities of Franchisee to third parties and all other items for which Franchisee is required to indemnify
EOS under this Agreement.

“) Each insurance policy shall be written by an insurance company that has received
and maintains an “A+” or better rating by the latest edition of Best’s Insurance Rating Service.

5) No insurance policy shall provide for a deductible amount that exceeds $5,000,

unless otherwise approved in writing by EOS, and Franchisee’s co-insurance under any insurance policy
shall be 80% or greater.
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D. Proof of Insurance. No later than 30 days after this Agreement is executed by EOS, and
on each policy renewal date thereafter, Franchisee shall submit a certificate of insurance, or other evidence
of satisfactory insurance as required by this Section 16.D. and proof of payment therefor to EOS. The
evidence of insurance shall include a statement by the insurer that the policy or policies will not be canceled
or materially altered without at least 10 days’ prior written notice to EOS. Upon request, Franchisee also
shall provide to EOS copies of all or any policies, and policy amendments and riders.

E. No Representations. Franchisee acknowledges that no requirement for insurance
contained in this Agreement constitutes advice or a representation by EOS that only such policies, in such
amounts, are necessary or adequate to protect Franchisee from losses in connection with its business under
this Agreement. Maintenance of this insurance, and the performance by Franchisee of its obligations under
this Section, shall not relieve Franchisee of liability under the indemnification provisions of this Agreement.

F. Procurement of Insurance by EOS. Should Franchisee, for any reason, fail to procure
or maintain at least the insurance required by this Section 16, as revised from time to time pursuant to the
Manual or otherwise in writing, EOS shall have the immediate right and authority, but not the obligation,
to procure such insurance and charge its cost to Franchisee. Franchisee shall reimburse EOS for all out-of-
pocket costs incurred by EOS in obtaining such insurance on behalf of Franchisee immediately upon
Franchisee’s receipt of an invoice therefor.

17. ORGANIZATION OF FRANCHISEE

A. Representations.

a If Franchisee is a corporation, a limited liability company or a partnership,
Franchisee makes the following representations and warranties: (a) it is duly organized and validly existing
under the laws of the state of its formation; (b) it is qualified to do business in the state or states in which
the Franchised Restaurant is located; (c¢) execution of this Agreement and the development and operation
of the Franchised Restaurant is permitted by its governing documents; and (d) unless waived in writing by
EOS, Franchisee’s Articles of Incorporation, Articles of Organization or written partnership agreement
shall at all times provide that the activities of Franchisee are limited exclusively to the development and
operation of Earl of Sandwich Restaurants and other restaurants operated by Franchisee that are franchised
by EOS or its affiliates.

2) If Franchisee is an individual, or a partnership comprised solely of individuals,
Franchisee makes the following additional representations and warranties: (a) each individual has executed
this Agreement; (b) each individual shall be jointly and severally bound by, and personally liable for the
timely and complete performance and a breach of, each and every provision of this Agreement; and (c)
notwithstanding any transfer for convenience of ownership, pursuant to Section 19.D., each individual shall
continue to be jointly and severally bound by, and personally liable for the timely and complete performance
and a breach of, each and every provision of this Agreement.

B. Governing Documents. If Franchisee is a corporation, copies of Franchisee’s Articles of
Incorporation, bylaws, other governing documents and any amendments, including the resolution of the
Board of Directors authorizing entry into and performance of this Agreement, and all shareholder
agreements, including buy/sell agreements, have been furnished to EOS. If Franchisee is a limited liability
company, copies of Franchisee’s Articles of Organization, Management Agreement, other governing
documents and any amendments, including the resolution of the Managers authorizing entry into and
performance of this Agreement, and all agreements, including buy/sell agreements, among the members
have been furnished to EOS. If Franchisee is a partnership, copies of Franchisee’s written partnership
agreement, other governing documents and any amendments, as well as all agreements, including buy/sell
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agreements, among the partners have been furnished to EOS, in addition to evidence of consent or approval
of the entry into and performance of this Agreement by the requisite number or percentage of partners, if
that approval or consent is required by Franchisee’s written partnership agreement. When any of these
governing documents are modified or changed, Franchisee promptly shall provide copies to EOS.

C. Ownership Interests.

a If Franchisee is a corporation, a limited liability company or a partnership, all
interests in Franchisee are owned as set forth in the attached Data Sheet. In addition, if Franchisee is a
corporation, Franchisee shall maintain a current list of all owners of record and all beneficial owners of any
class of voting securities of the corporation (and the number of shares owned by each). If Franchisee is a
limited liability company, Franchisee shall maintain a current list of all members (and the percentage
membership interest of each member). If Franchisee is a partnership, Franchisee shall maintain a current
list of all owners of an interest in the partnership (and the percentage ownership of each owner). Franchisee
shall comply with Section 19 prior to any change in ownership interests and shall execute addenda to the
attached Data Sheet as changes occur in order to ensure the information contained in the attached Data
Sheet is true, accurate and complete at all times.

Q) The requirements of this Section 17.C. shall apply only to Franchisee’s Continuity
Group (defined in Section 17.E.) if, as of the date of the first franchise-related agreement between
Franchisee and EOS or one of its affiliates, Franchisee was a publicly-held entity (i.e., an entity that has a
class of securities traded on a recognized securities exchange or quoted on the inter-dealer quotation sheets
known as the “pink sheets”). If Franchisee becomes a publicly-held entity after that date, it shall thereafter
be required to execute addenda to the attached Data Sheet only with respect to changes in ownership
interests of members of the Continuity Group.

D. Restrictive Legend. If Franchisee is a corporation, Franchisee shall maintain stop-transfer
instructions against the transfer on its records of any voting securities, and each stock certificate of the
corporation shall have conspicuously endorsed upon its face the following statement: “Any assignment or
transfer of this stock is subject to the restrictions imposed on assignment by the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant
Franchise Agreement(s) to which the corporation is a party.” If Franchisee is a publicly-held corporation
these requirements shall apply only to the stock owned by Franchisee’s Continuity Group. If Franchisee is
a limited liability company, each membership or management certificate or other evidence of interest in
Franchisee shall have conspicuously endorsed upon its face the following statement: “Any assignment or
transfer of an interest in this limited liability company is subject to the restrictions imposed on assignment
by the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Franchise Agreement(s) to which the limited liability company is a
party.” If Franchisee is a partnership, its written partnership agreement shall provide that ownership of an
interest in the partnership is held subject to, and that further assignment or transfer is subject to, all
restrictions imposed on assignment by this Agreement.

E. Continuity Group. If Franchisee is a corporation, a limited liability company or a
partnership, the attached Data Sheet lists those persons whom EOS and Franchisee have designated as
Franchisee’s “Continuity Group.” In the event of any change in the Continuity Group or in the ownership
interests of any member of the Continuity Group, Franchisee shall execute addenda to the attached Data
Sheet to reflect the change. If Franchisee is a corporation, the Continuity Group shall at all times own at
least 51% of the voting securities of Franchisee; if Franchisee is a limited liability company, the Continuity
Group shall at all times own at least 51% of the membership interests in Franchisee; and if Franchisee is a
partnership, the Continuity Group shall at all times have at least a 51% interest in the operating profits and
losses and at least a 51% ownership interest in Franchisee.
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E. Guarantees.

@ All members of the Continuity Group and each of their spouses, if applicable, shall
jointly and severally guarantee Franchisee’s payment and performance under this Agreement and shall bind
themselves to the terms of this Agreement pursuant to the attached Guarantee and Assumption of
Franchisee’s Obligations (“Guarantee”). Unless Franchisee is a publicly-held entity, all of Franchisee’s
officers, directors and all holders of a legal or beneficial interest in Franchisee of 10% or more (“10%
Owners”) and each of their spouses, if applicable, also shall jointly and severally guarantee Franchisee’s
payment and performance under this Agreement and also shall bind themselves to the terms of this
Agreement pursuant to the attached Guarantee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, EOS reserves the right, in
its sole discretion, to waive the requirement that some or all of the previously described individuals execute
the attached Guarantee. EOS reserves the right to require any guarantor to provide personal financial
statements to EOS from time to time.

Q) With respect to 10% Owners, Franchisee acknowledges that, unless otherwise
agreed to in writing by EOS, it is EOS’s intent to have individuals (and not corporations, limited liability
companies or other entities) execute the Guarantee. Accordingly, if any 10% Owner is not an individual,
EOS shall have the right to have the Guarantee executed by individuals who have only an indirect ownership
interest in Franchisee. (By way of example, if a 10% Owner of Franchisee is a corporation, EOS has the
right to require that the Guarantee be executed by individuals who have an ownership interest in that
corporation.)

A3) If Franchisee, any guarantor or any parent, subsidiary or affiliate of Franchisee
holds any interest in other restaurants that are franchised by EOS or its affiliates, the party who owns that
interest shall execute, concurrently with this Agreement, a form of cross-guarantee to EOS and its affiliates
for the payment of all obligations for such restaurants, unless waived in writing by EOS in its sole discretion.
For purposes of this Agreement, an affiliate of Franchisee is any company controlled, directly or indirectly,
by Franchisee or Franchisee’s parent or subsidiary.

G. Operating Principal.

a If Franchisee is owned by more than one individual, Franchisee shall designate and
retain an individual to serve as the Operating Principal. The Operating Principal as of the date of this
Agreement is identified in the attached Data Sheet. Unless waived in writing by EOS, the Operating
Principal shall meet all of the following qualifications:

(a) The Operating Principal, at all times, shall have at least a 10% equity
ownership interest in Franchisee. This Section 17.G.(1)(a) shall not apply if Franchisee was a publicly-
held entity or a wholly-owned subsidiary of a publicly-held entity as of the date of the first franchise-related
agreement between Franchisee and EOS.

(b) The Operating Principal, at all times, shall be a member of the Continuity
Group and, at a minimum, have full control over the day-to-day activities, including operations, of the
Franchised Restaurant and those other restaurants (that are franchised by EOS or its affiliates) operated by
Franchisee in the same geographic area as the Franchised Restaurant, including control over the standards
of operation and financial performance.

(©) The Operating Principal shall devote full-time and reasonable efforts to

supervising the operation of the Franchised Restaurant and those other restaurants (that are franchised by
EOS or its affiliates) operated by Franchisee in the same geographic area as the Franchised Restaurant and
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shall not engage in any other business or activity, directly or indirectly, that requires substantial
management responsibility.

) The Operating Principal shall successfully complete the initial manager
training program (either the full initial manager training program or a modified version of the initial
manager training program to meet the specific needs of the candidate, as deemed appropriate by EOS in its
sole discretion) and any additional training required by EOS.

(e) EOS shall have approved the Operating Principal, and not have later
withdrawn that approval.

2) If the Operating Principal no longer qualifies as such, Franchisee shall designate
another qualified person to act as Operating Principal within 30 days after the date the prior Operating
Principal ceases to be qualified. Franchisee’s designee to become the Operating Principal must successfully
complete the initial manager training program. Following EOS’s approval of a new Operating Principal,
that person shall execute the attached form of Guarantee unless waived by EOS in its sole discretion.

18. TRANSFERS BY EARL OF SANDWICH

EOS shall have the absolute, unrestricted right, exercisable at any time, to transfer and assign all or
any part of its rights and obligations under this Agreement to any person or legal entity without the consent
of Franchisee.

19. TRANSFERS BY FRANCHISEE

A. EOS’s Prior Written Approval Required.

a Franchisee understands and acknowledges that the rights and duties set forth in this
Agreement are personal to Franchisee and that EOS has entered into this Agreement in reliance on
Franchisee’s business skill, financial capacity, personal character, experience and demonstrated or
purported ability in developing and operating high quality foodservice operations. Accordingly, neither
Franchisee nor any immediate or remote successor to any part of Franchisee’s interest in this Agreement,
nor any individual, partnership, corporation or other legal entity which directly or indirectly controls
Franchisee shall sell, assign, transfer, convey, give away, pledge, mortgage, or otherwise encumber any
interest in Franchisee, this Agreement, the Franchise, the Franchised Restaurant, the assets of the
Franchised Restaurant, the Franchised Location or any other assets pertaining to Franchisee’s operations
under this Agreement (collectively “Transfer””) without the prior written consent of EOS, which consent
shall not be unreasonably withheld.

2) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any purported Transfer, by
operation of law or otherwise, not having the prior written consent of EOS shall be null and void and shall
constitute a material breach of this Agreement, for which EOS may terminate this Agreement without
providing Franchisee an opportunity to cure the breach.

B. Transfer Considerations. Franchisee shall advise EOS in writing of any proposed
Transfer, submit (or cause the proposed transferee to submit) a franchise application for the proposed
transferee, and submit a copy of all contracts and all other agreements or proposals, and all other
information requested by EOS, relating to the proposed Transfer. If EOS does not exercise its right of first
refusal, the decision as to whether or not to approve a proposed Transfer shall be made by EOS in its
reasonable business discretion and shall include numerous factors deemed relevant by EOS. These factors
may include, but will not be limited to, the following:
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a The proposed transferee (and if the proposed transferee is other than an individual,
such owners of an interest in the transferee as EOS may request) must demonstrate that it has extensive
experience in high quality restaurant operations of a character and complexity similar to the restaurants
franchised by EOS or its affiliates; meets the managerial, operational, experience, quality, character and
business standards for a franchisee promulgated by EOS from time to time; possesses a good character,
business reputation and credit rating; has an organization whose management culture is compatible with
EOS’s management culture; and has adequate financial resources and working capital to meet Franchisee’s
obligations under this Agreement.

Q) The sales price shall not be so high, in EOS’s reasonable judgment, as to jeopardize
the ability of the transferee to develop, maintain, operate and promote the Franchised Restaurant and meet
financial obligations to EOS, third party suppliers and creditors. EOS’s decision with respect to a proposed
Transfer shall not create any liability on the part of EOS: (a) to the transferee, if EOS approves the Transfer
and the transferee experiences financial difficulties; or (b) to Franchisee or the proposed transferee, if EOS
disapproves the Transfer pursuant to this Section 19 or for other legitimate business purposes. EOS,
without any liability to Franchisee or the proposed transferee, has the right, in its reasonable business
discretion, to communicate and counsel with Franchisee and the proposed transferee regarding any aspect
of the proposed Transfer.

A3) All of Franchisee’s accrued monetary obligations to EOS and its affiliates (whether
arising under this Agreement or otherwise) and all other outstanding obligations related to the Franchised
Restaurant (including, but not limited to, bills from suppliers, taxes, judgments and any required
governmental reports, returns, affidavits or bonds) have been satisfied or, in the reasonable judgment of
EOS, adequately provided for. EOS reserves the right to require that a reasonable sum of money be placed
in escrow to ensure that all of these obligations are satisfied.

“) Franchisee is not then in material default of any provision of this Agreement or
any other agreement between Franchisee and EOS or its affiliates, is not in default beyond the applicable
cure period under any real estate lease, equipment lease or financing instrument relating to the Franchised
Restaurant and is not in default beyond the applicable cure period with any vendor or supplier to the
Franchised Restaurant.

[Q) Franchisee, all individuals who executed this Agreement and all guarantors of
Franchisee’s obligations must execute a general release and a covenant not to sue, in a form satisfactory to
EOS, of any and all claims against EOS and its affiliates and their respective past and present officers,
directors, shareholders, agents and employees, in their corporate and individual capacities, including,
without limitation, claims arising under federal, state and local laws, rules and ordinances, and claims
arising out of, or relating to, this Agreement, any other agreements between Franchisee and EOS or its
affiliates and Franchisee’s operation of the Franchised Restaurant and all other restaurants operated by
Franchisee that are franchised by EOS or its affiliates.

(6) Unless waived by EOS in its reasonable business discretion, the transferee and
those employees of the transferee designated by EOS shall complete the training provided in Sections 12.A.-
B.

C. Conditions of Transfer. If EOS approves a proposed Transfer, prior to the Transfer
becoming effective:

@ The transferor shall pay EOS a nonrefundable Transfer fee in the amount of
$10,000 in connection with EOS’s review of the Transfer application.
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2) Franchisee and the proposed transferee shall execute, at EOS’s election, either an
assignment agreement and any amendments to this Agreement deemed necessary or desirable by EOS to
reflect the Transfer or EOS’s then-current standard form of franchise agreement for an initial term ending
on the expiration date of the Initial Term of this Agreement. In either event, a guarantee of the type required
by Section 17.F. shall be executed by those individuals identified in Section 17.F.

A3) Franchisee shall, at EOS’s request, execute a written guarantee pursuant to which
Franchisee shall remain liable for all obligations to EOS incurred before the date of the Transfer and for a
period of 1 year following such Transfer.

D. Transfers for Convenience of Ownership. If Franchisee is an individual or a partnership
and desires to Transfer this Agreement to a corporation (or limited liability company) formed for the
convenience of ownership, the requirements of Section 19.B. shall apply to such a Transfer; however,
Franchisee will not be required to pay a Transfer fee. EOS’s approval also will be conditioned on the
following: (1) the corporation (or limited liability company) must be newly organized; (2) prior to the
Transfer, EOS must receive a copy of the documents specified in Section 17.B. and the transferee shall
comply with the remaining provisions of Section 17; and (3) Franchisee must own all voting securities of
the corporation (or membership interests of the limited liability company) or, if Franchisee is owned by
more than one individual, each person shall have the same proportionate ownership interest in the
corporation (or the limited liability company) as prior to the Transfer.

E. Issuance or Exercise of Stock Options. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 19.B.,
the issuance of options or the exercise of options pursuant to a qualified stock option plan or a qualified
employee stock ownership plan shall not be considered a Transfer and shall not require the prior written
approval of EOS; provided no more than a total of 49% of Franchisee’s outstanding voting securities are
subject to the qualified stock option plan or qualified employee stock ownership plan.

E. Changes in Ownership of Voting Securities. If Franchisee was a publicly-held entity as
of the date of the first franchise-related agreement between Franchisee and EOS or its affiliates, Section
19.B. shall be applicable to transfers of ownership interests in Franchisee only if the proposed Transfer
would result in either: (1) 50% or more of Franchisee’s voting securities being held by different
shareholders than as of the date of the first franchise-related agreement between Franchisee and EOS or its
affiliates; or (2) any change in ownership of Franchisee’s voting securities whereby any existing
shareholder of Franchisee acquires an additional 10% or more of Franchisee’s voting securities; or (3) any
change in the membership of the Continuity Group (unless such change is a permitted Transfer pursuant to
Section 19.G.).

G. Transfers Permitted Without EOS’s Prior Written Approval. Notwithstanding the
provisions of Section 19.B., EOS agrees that certain Transfers shall be permitted without EOS’s prior
written approval, provided all of the following conditions are satisfied:

@ The Transfer is a transfer of:

(a) A minority percentage of ownership interests in Franchisee and after the
Transfer, the Continuity Group owns at least 51% of Franchisee’s voting securities, if Franchisee is a
corporation; the Continuity Group owns at least 51% of the membership interests in Franchisee, if
Franchisee is a limited liability company; or the Continuity Group owns at least a 51% interest in the
operating profits and losses of a partnership Franchisee as well as at least a 51% ownership interest in a
partnership Franchisee.
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(b) Ownership interests in Franchisee following the death or permanent
disability of a person with an ownership interest in Franchisee, provided that the Transfer is to the parent,
adult sibling, spouse or adult children of that person or to a member of the Continuity Group. Such Transfer
shall be completed within a reasonable time, not to exceed 6 months from the date of death or permanent
disability. Failure to complete the Transfer within this period of time will constitute a breach of this
Agreement. A person shall be deemed to have a “permanent disability” if his personal, active participation
in the development and operation of the Franchised Restaurant is for any reason curtailed for a continuous
period of 6 months.

2) Franchisee provides EOS written notice of its intent to undertake the Transfer at
least 30 days prior to the effective date of the Transfer, together with documents demonstrating that the
Transfer meets the requirements of this Section.

[R))] At the time of Franchisee’s notice to EOS, Franchisee shall not be in default of this
Agreement or any other agreements between Franchisee and EOS or its affiliates.

H. Grant of Security Interest. Franchisee shall not grant any security interest in its business,
the Franchised Restaurant, the Franchised Location or the assets used in the operation or development of
the Franchised Restaurant without EOS’s prior written approval, which will not be unreasonably withheld.
EOS’s approval may be conditioned on the written agreement by the secured party that, in the event of a
default by Franchisee under any agreement related to the security interest, EOS shall have the right and
option (but not the obligation) to purchase the rights of the secured party upon payment of all sums then
due to the secured party.

L Offerings by Franchisee. Securities or partnership interests in Franchisee may be sold,
by private or public offering, only with EOS’s prior written consent (whether or not EOS’s consent is
required under any other provision of this Section), which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. In
addition to the requirements of Section 19.B., prior to the time that any public offering or private placement
of securities or partnership interests in Franchisee is made available to potential investors, Franchisee, at its
expense, shall deliver to EOS a copy of the offering documents. Franchisee, at its expense, also shall deliver
to EOS an opinion of Franchisee’s legal counsel and an opinion of one other legal counsel selected by EOS
(both of which shall be addressed to EOS and in a form acceptable to EOS) that the offering documents
properly use the Proprietary Marks and accurately describe Franchisee’s relationship with EOS and/or its
affiliates. The indemnification provisions of Section 26 shall also include any losses or expenses incurred
by EOS and/or its affiliates in connection with any statements made by or on behalf of Franchisee in any
public offering or private placement of Franchisee’s securities.

J. EOS’s Right of First Refusal.

a If any party holding any interest in Franchisee or in this Agreement receives a bona
fide offer (as determined by EOS in its reasonable discretion) from a third party or otherwise desires to
undertake any Transfer that would require EOS’s approval (other than a Transfer for convenience of
ownership pursuant to Section 19.D. or a sale of ownership interests in Franchisee to a spouse, parent, adult
child or adult sibling), it shall notify EOS in writing of the terms of the proposed Transfer, and shall provide
such information and documentation relating to the proposed Transfer as EOS may reasonably require.
EOS or its designee may elect to purchase the interest that the seller proposes to Transfer any time within
30 days after receipt of written notification, and all documents and other information required by Section
19.B., by sending written notice to the seller that EOS or its designee intends to purchase the seller’s interest
on the same financial terms and conditions offered by the third party (except that EOS or its designee shall
not be obligated to pay any finder’s or broker’s fees). In purchasing the interest, EOS or its designee shall
be entitled to set off any monies owed to EOS or its affiliates by Franchisee and EOS or its designee shall
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be entitled to all customary representations and warranties that the assets are free and clear (or, if not,
accurate and complete disclosure) as to: (a) ownership, condition and title; (b) liens and encumbrances;
(c) environmental and hazardous substances; and (d) validity of contracts inuring to the purchaser or
affecting the assets, whether contingent or otherwise.

2) If the offer to Franchisee involves assets in addition to this Agreement, the
Franchised Location, the Franchised Restaurant and other restaurants operated by Franchisee that are
franchised by EOS or its affiliates, Franchisee’s notice to EOS shall state the cash value of that portion of
the offer received by Franchisee relating to this Agreement, the Franchised Location, the Franchised
Restaurant and those other restaurants. If the proposed Transfer provides for payment of consideration
other than cash or it involves intangible benefits, EOS or its designee may elect to purchase the interest
proposed to be sold for the reasonable equivalent in cash. If the parties are unable to agree within 30 days
on the reasonable equivalent in cash of the non-cash part of the offer received by Franchisee or the cash
value of that portion of the offer received by Franchisee relating to this Agreement, the Franchised Location,
the Franchised Restaurant and those other restaurants, the amount shall be determined by two professionally
certified appraisers, Franchisee selecting one and EOS or its designee selecting one. If the amounts set by
the two appraisers differ by more than 10%, the two appraisers shall select a third professionally certified
appraiser who also shall determine the amount. The average value set by the appraisers (whether two or
three appraisers as the case may be) shall be conclusive and EOS or its designee may exercise its right of
first refusal within 30 days after being advised in writing of the decision of the appraisers. The cost of the
appraisers shall be shared equally by the parties.

A3) EOS’s failure to exercise its right of first refusal shall not constitute approval of
the proposed Transfer nor a waiver of any other provision of this Section 19 with respect to a proposed
Transfer. If EOS does not exercise its right of first refusal, Franchisee may not thereafter Transfer the
interest at a lower price or on more favorable terms than those that have been offered to EOS. EOS shall
again be given a right of first refusal if a transaction does not close within 6 months after EOS elected not
to exercise its right of first refusal. In no event shall Franchisee offer the interest for sale or transfer at
public auction, nor at any time shall an offer be made to the public to sell, transfer or assign, through any
advertisement, either in the newspapers or otherwise, without first having obtained the written approval of
EOS to the auction or advertisement.

K. No Waiver. EOS’s consent to any Transfer shall not constitute a waiver of any claims
EOS may have against the transferring party, nor shall it be deemed a waiver of EOS’s right to demand
exact compliance with any of the terms of this Agreement by the transferee, nor will it be deemed a waiver
of EOS’s right to give or withhold approval to future Transfers.

20. GENERAL RELEASE

Franchisee (on behalf of itself and its parent, subsidiaries and affiliates and their respective past
and present members, officers, directors, shareholders, agents and employees, in their corporate and
individual capacities), all individuals who execute this Agreement and all guarantors of Franchisee’s
obligations under this Agreement (collectively “Releasors”), freely and without any influence, forever
release and covenant not to sue EOS, its parent, subsidiaries and affiliates and their respective past and
present officers, directors, shareholders, agents and employees, in their corporate and individual capacities
(collectively “Releasees”), from any and all claims, demands, liabilities and causes of action of whatever
kind or nature, whether known or unknown, vested or contingent, suspected or unsuspected (collectively
“claims”), that any Releasor now owns or holds, or may at any time have owned or held, up to and including
the date of this Agreement, including, without limitation, claims arising under federal, state and local laws,
rules and ordinances, claims for contribution, indemnity and/or subrogation, and claims arising out of, or
relating to this Agreement and all other agreements between any Releasor and any Releasee, the sale of a
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franchise to any Releasor, the development and operation of the Franchised Restaurant and the development
and operation of all other restaurants operated by any Releasor that are franchised by any Releasee.
Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Section 20, this General Release does not release any
claims arising from representations made in EOS’s Franchise Disclosure Document or its exhibits or
otherwise impair or affect any claims arising after the date of this Agreement.

21. COVENANTS
A. Best Efforts. During the term of this Agreement, Franchisee and the Operating Principal
shall devote their best efforts to the development, management and operation of the Franchised Restaurant.

B. Confidentiality

@ Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that: (a) EOS owns all right, title and interest
in and to the System; (b) the System consists of trade secrets and confidential and proprietary information
and know-how that gives EOS and its affiliates a competitive advantage; (¢) EOS and its affiliates have
taken all measures necessary to protect the trade secrets and the confidentiality of the proprietary
information and know-how comprising the System; (d) all material or other information now or hereafter
provided or disclosed to Franchisee regarding the System is disclosed in confidence; (e) Franchisee has no
right to disclose any part of the System to anyone who is not an employee of Franchisee; (f) Franchisee will
disclose to its employees only those parts of the System that an employee needs to know; (g) Franchisee
will have a system in place to ensure its employees keep confidential EOS’s trade secrets and confidential
and proprietary information, and, if requested by EOS, Franchisee shall obtain from those of its employees
designated by EOS an executed Confidential Disclosure Agreement in the form prescribed by EOS;
(h) Franchisee will not acquire any interest in the System; and (i) Franchisee’s use or duplication of the
System or any part of the System in any other business would constitute an unfair method of competition,
for which EOS would be entitled to all legal and equitable remedies, including injunctive relief, without
posting a bond.

2) Franchisee shall not, during the term of this Agreement or at any time thereafter,
communicate or disclose any trade secrets or confidential or proprietary information or know-how of the
System to any unauthorized person, or do or perform, directly or indirectly, any other acts injurious or
prejudicial to any of the Proprietary Marks or the System. Any and all information, knowledge, know-how
and techniques, including all drawings, materials, equipment, specifications, recipes, techniques and other
data that EOS or its affiliates designate as confidential, shall be deemed confidential for purposes of this
Agreement.

C. Restrictions

a Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that: (a) pursuant to this Agreement,
Franchisee will have access to valuable trade secrets, specialized training and confidential information from
EOS and its affiliates regarding the development, operation, purchasing, sales and marketing methods and
techniques of EOS and its affiliates and the System; (b) the System and the opportunities, associations and
experience established and acquired by Franchisee under this Agreement are of substantial and material
value; (c) in developing the System, EOS and its affiliates have made and continue to make substantial
investments of time, technical and commercial research, and money; (d) EOS would be unable to
adequately protect the System and its trade secrets and confidential and proprietary information against
unauthorized use or disclosure and would be unable to adequately encourage a free exchange of ideas and
information among Earl of Sandwich Restaurants if franchisees or developers were permitted to hold
interests in competitive businesses; and (e) restrictions on Franchisee’s right to hold interests in, or perform
services for, competitive businesses will not hinder its activities.
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2) Accordingly, Franchisee covenants and agrees that during the term of this
Agreement, and for a continuous period of 1 year following its expiration or earlier termination, Franchisee
shall not, either directly or indirectly, for itself, or through, on behalf of, or in conjunction with, any person,
firm, partnership, corporation, or other entity:

(@) Divert or attempt to divert any business or customer, or potential business
or customer, of any restaurant franchised or operated by EOS or its affiliates to any competitor, by direct
or indirect inducement or otherwise.

(b) Own, maintain, operate, engage in, advise, help, make loans to, or have
any interest in, either directly or indirectly, any restaurant business: (i) that has sandwiches as a primary
menu item (i.e., sales of all sandwiches comprise at least 10% of sales) or that offers any individual menu
item that comprises at least 10% of sales at Earl of Sandwich Restaurants; or (ii) whose method of operation
or trade dress is similar to that employed in the System.

A3) During the term of this Agreement, there is no geographical limitation on this
restriction. Following the expiration or earlier termination of the term of this Agreement, this restriction
shall apply within the Protected Area and within 2 miles of any then-existing Earl of Sandwich Restaurant,
except as otherwise approved in writing by EOS. This restriction shall not apply to Franchisee’s existing
restaurant or foodservice operations, if any, which are identified in the attached Data Sheet, nor shall it
apply to other restaurants operated by Franchisee that are franchised by EOS or its affiliates.

“) If any part of these restrictions is found to be unreasonable in time or distance,
each month of time or mile of distance may be deemed a separate unit so that the time or distance may be
reduced by appropriate order of the court to that deemed reasonable. If, at any time during the 1-year period
following expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, Franchisee fails to comply with its obligations
under this Section, that period of noncompliance will not be credited toward Franchisee’s satisfaction of
the 1-year obligation.

[R) Franchisee further covenants and agrees that, for a period of 1 year following the
expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, Franchisee will not, either directly or indirectly, for
itself, or through, on behalf of, or in conjunction with any person, firm, partnership, corporation, or other
entity, sell, assign, lease or transfer the Franchised Location to any person, firm, partnership, corporation,
or other entity which Franchisee knows, or has reason to know, intends to operate a restaurant business at
the Franchised Location that would violate Sections 21.C.(2)(c) or 21.C.(3). Franchisee, by the terms of
any conveyance selling, assigning, leasing or transferring its interest in the Franchised Location, shall
include these restrictive covenants as are necessary to ensure that a restaurant business that would violate
Sections 21.C.(2)(c) or 21.C.(3) is not operated at the Franchised Location for this 1 year period, and
Franchisee shall take all steps necessary to ensure that these restrictive covenants become a matter of public
record.

D. Additional Remedies for Breach. In addition to any other remedies or damages permitted
under this Agreement, if Franchisee breaches Sections 21.C.(2)(c), 21.C.(3) or 21.C.(5) (“Covenants
Against Competition”) during the 1-year period following the expiration or earlier termination of this
Agreement, for each restaurant business that violates those Sections, Franchisee shall pay to EOS: (1) a fee
equal to EOS’s then-current Initial Eees-(inehadinganyApplicationFees-and-Initial Franchise Eees)Fee for
franchised Earl of Sandwich Restaurants; and (2) 8% of the gross sales of that restaurant business until the
expiration of the 1-year period following the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. Franchisee
acknowledges that a precise calculation of the full extent of EOS’s damages under these circumstances is
difficult to determine and the method of calculation of such damages as set forth in this Section 21.D. is
reasonable. Franchisee’s payment to EOS under this Section shall be in addition to any attorney’s fees and
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other costs and expenses to which EOS is entitled pursuant to Sections 7.I. or 31.E. Franchisee
acknowledges that breach of the Covenants Against Competition by Franchisee shall cause irreparable harm
to EOS in addition to monetary damages and nothing in this Section 21.D. shall preclude EOS from
obtaining appropriate injunctive relief to enforce the Covenants Against Competition and specific
performance to enforce this Section 21.D.

E. Modification. EOS shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to reduce the scope of any
covenant in this Section 21 effective immediately upon Franchisee’s receipt of written notice, and
Franchisee agrees that it shall comply forthwith with any covenant as so modified, which shall be fully
enforceable notwithstanding the provisions of Section 29.

E. Execution of Covenants by Third Parties. At EOS’s request, Franchisee shall require
and obtain the execution of covenants similar to those set forth in this Section 21 (including covenants
applicable upon the termination of an individual’s relationship with Franchisee) from all guarantors of
Franchisee’s obligations. Every covenant required by this Section 21.F. shall be in a form satisfactory to
EOS, including, without limitation, specific identification of EOS as a third party beneficiary of such
covenants with the independent right to enforce them. Failure by Franchisee to obtain execution of a
covenant required by this Section 21.F. shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement.

G. Applicability. The restrictions contained in this Section 21 shall apply to Franchisee and
all guarantors of Franchisee’s obligations. With respect to guarantors, these restrictions shall apply for a 1
year period after any guarantor ceases to be the Operating Principal or an officer, stockholder, director,
member of the Continuity Group or a 10% Owner. The restrictions contained in this Section 21 shall not
apply to ownership of less than a 5% legal or beneficial ownership in the outstanding equity securities of
any publicly held corporation by Franchisee or any guarantor of Franchisee’s obligations. The existence
of any claim Franchisee or any guarantor of Franchisee’s obligations may have against EOS or its affiliates,
whether or not arising from this Agreement, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by EOS of
the covenants in this Section 21. The preceding sentence, however, does not constitute a waiver of any
such claim.

22, TERMINATION

A. Termination Without Cure Period. In addition to the grounds for termination that may
be stated elsewhere in this Agreement, EOS may terminate this Agreement, and the rights granted by this
Agreement, upon written notice to Franchisee without an opportunity to cure upon the occurrence of any
of the following events:

@ Franchisee fails to obtain site approval before the Site Approval Deadline.

2) Franchisee fails to begin construction or renovation of the Franchised Restaurant
on or before the Construction Commencement Deadline.

A3) Franchisee fails to open the Franchised Restaurant for business on or before the
Opening Deadline. EOS may, in its sole discretion, extend this period to address unforeseen construction
delays that are not within Franchisee’s control.

“) Franchisee ceases to continuously operate the Franchised Restaurant for a period

in excess of 5 consecutive days, unless the closing is due to an act of God, fire or other natural disaster or
is approved in writing in advance by EOS.
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5) Franchisee is insolvent or is unable to pay its creditors (including EOS); files a
petition in bankruptcy, an arrangement for the benefit of creditors or a petition for reorganization; there is
filed against Franchisee a petition in bankruptcy, an arrangement for the benefit of creditors or petition for
reorganization, which is not dismissed within 60 days of the filing; Franchisee makes an assignment for the
benefit of creditors; or a receiver or trustee is appointed for Franchisee and not dismissed within 60 days of
the appointment.

(6) Execution is levied against Franchisee’s business or property; suit to foreclose any
lien or mortgage against the premises or equipment of the Franchised Restaurant is instituted against
Franchisee and is not dismissed within 60 days; or the real or personal property of the Franchised Restaurant
shall be sold after levy thereupon by any sheriff, marshal or constable.

[0h) There is a material breach by Franchisee of any obligation under Section 21.

[£:)) Any Transfer that requires EOS’s prior written approval occurs without Franchisee
having obtained that prior written approval.

[£)) EOS discovers that Franchisee made a material misrepresentation or omitted a
material fact in the information that was furnished to EOS in connection with its decision to enter into this
Agreement.

(10)  Franchisee knowingly falsifies any report required to be furnished EOS or makes
any material misrepresentation in its dealings with EOS or fails to disclose any material facts to EOS.

(11)  EOS makes a reasonable determination that continued operation of the Franchised
Restaurant by Franchisee will result in an imminent danger to public health or safety.

(12)  Franchisee loses possession of the Franchised Location through its own fault or its
failure to extend the lease for the Franchised Location through the Initial Term of this Agreement.

(13) _ Franchisee, the Operating Principal, any stockholder, member, partner, director or
officer of Franchisee, any member of the Continuity Group or any 10% Owner is convicted of, or pleads
no contest to, a felony charge, a crime involving moral turpitude or any other crime or offense that is
reasonably likely, in the sole opinion of EOS, to adversely affect EOS, its affiliates or the System.

(14) _ There is a material breach by Franchisee of any representation or warranty set forth
in Section 33.J.-K.

(15)  Franchisee fails or refuses to have its employees attend the training programs
described in Section 12.

(16)  Franchisee fails to achieve a passing score on a second inspection as described in
Section 14.G.(4).

(17) ___ Franchisee, the Operating Principal, any member of the Continuity Group or any
10% Owner: (a) remains in default beyond the applicable cure period under any other agreement with EOS
or its affiliates (provided that, if the default is not by Franchisee, EOS shall provide to Franchisee written
notice of the default and a 30-day period to cure the default); (b) remains in default beyond the applicable
cure period under any real estate lease, equipment lease, or financing instrument relating to the Franchised
Restaurant; (¢) remains in default beyond the applicable cure period under any contract with any vendor or
supplier to the Franchised Restaurant; or (d) fails to pay when due any taxes or assessments relating to the
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Franchised Restaurant or its employees, unless Franchisee is actively prosecuting or defending the claim or
suit in a court of competent jurisdiction or by appropriate government administrative procedure or by
arbitration or mediation conducted by a recognized alternative dispute resolution organization.

B. Termination Following Expiration of Cure Period.

@ Except for those items listed in preceding Section 22.A., Franchisee shall have 30
days after written notice of default from EOS within which to remedy the default and provide evidence of
that remedy to EOS. If any such default is not cured within that time, this Agreement shall terminate
without further notice to Franchisee effective immediately upon expiration of that time, unless EOS notifies
Franchisee otherwise in writing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the default cannot be corrected within
30 days, Franchisee shall have such additional time to correct the default as reasonably required (not to
exceed 90 days) provided that Franchisee begins taking the actions necessary to correct the default during
the 30 day cure period and diligently and in good faith pursues those actions to completion. Franchisee
will be in default under this Section 22.B.(1) for any failure to materially comply with any of the
requirements imposed by this Agreement, the Manual or otherwise in writing, or to carry out the terms of
this Agreement in good faith.

Q) Notwithstanding the provisions of preceding Section 22.B.(1), if Franchisee
defaults in the payment of any monies owed to EOS when such monies become due and payable and
Franchisee fails to pay such monies within 10 days after receiving written notice of default, then this
Agreement will terminate effective immediately upon expiration of that time, unless EOS notifies
Franchisee otherwise in writing.

A3) If Franchisee has received 2 or more notices of default within the previous 12
months, EOS shall be entitled to send Franchisee a notice of termination upon Franchisee’s next default
within that 12 month period under this Section 22.B. without providing Franchisee an opportunity to
remedy the default.

“é@ In addition to the other provisions of this Section 22.B;.. if EOS reasonably
determines that Franchisee becomes or will become unable to meet its obligations to EOS or its affiliates
under this Agreement, EOS may provide Franchisee written notice to that effect and demand that Franchisee
provide those assurances reasonably designated by EOS, which may include security or letters of credit for
the payment of Franchisee’s obligations to EOS and its affiliates. If Franchisee fails to provide the
assurances demanded by EOS within 30 days after its receipt of written notice from EOS, this Agreement
shall terminate without further notice to Franchisee effective immediately upon expiration of that time,
unless EOS notifies Franchisee otherwise in writing.

C. Statutory Limitations. If any valid, applicable law or regulation of a competent
governmental authority with jurisdiction over this Agreement requires a notice or cure period prior to
termination longer than set forth in this Section, this Agreement will be deemed amended to conform to the
minimum notice or cure period required by the applicable law or regulation.

23. OBLIGATIONS ON TERMINATION OR EXPIRATION

A. Franchisee’s Obligations. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement:
@ The limited exclusive rights granted to Franchisee in the Protected Area

immediately shall terminate, and EOS shall have the right to operate, or license others to operate, Earl of
Sandwich Restaurants anywhere in the Protected Area.

46 EOS Franchise Agreement - 09/2325



2) Franchisee immediately shall pay EOS and its affiliates all sums due and owing
EOS or its affiliates pursuant to this Agreement.

A3) Franchisee promptly shall return to EOS the Manual, any copies of the Manual and
all other materials and information furnished by EOS, and Franchisee promptly shall return to EOS, in good
condition and repair excepting normal wear and tear, all computer software, disks, tapes and other magnetic
storage media.

“) Franchisee and all persons and entities subject to the covenants contained in
Section 21 shall continue to abide by those covenants and shall not, directly or indirectly, take any action
that violates those covenants.

(&) Franchisee immediately shall discontinue all use of the Proprietary Marks and
EOS’s trade secrets in connection with the Franchised Restaurant and of any and all items bearing the
Proprietary Marks; remove the Proprietary Marks from the Franchised Restaurant and from clothing, signs,
materials, motor vehicles and other items owned or used by Franchisee in the operation of the Franchised
Restaurant; cease to use, in any manner whatsoever, any Websites or other Electronic Identifiers associated
with the Proprietary Marks or the System; cancel all advertising for the Franchised Restaurant that contains
the Proprietary Marks (including telephone directory listings); and take such action as may be necessary to
cancel any filings or registrations for the Franchised Restaurant that contain any Proprietary Marks.

(6) Franchisee promptly shall make such alterations and modifications to the
Franchised Location as may be necessary to clearly distinguish to the public the Franchised Location from
its former appearance and also make those specific additional changes as EOS may request for that purpose.
If Franchisee fails to promptly make these alterations and modifications, EOS shall have the right (at
Franchisee’s expense, to be paid upon Franchisee’s receipt of an invoice from EOS) to do so without being
guilty of trespass or other tort.

a If Franchisee has used the Proprietary Marks, in whole or in part, in connection
with the Internet, any Website or any Electronic Identifier, whether or not authorized by EOS, then
Franchisee shall, at EOS’s option, cancel or assign to EOS, or EOS’s designee, all of Franchisee’s rights,
title and interest in any Websites, Electronic Identifiers or registrations that contain or previously contained
the Proprietary Marks, or any of them, in whole or in part, and Franchisee shall notify Verisign (Network
Solutions), register.com, or other applicable domain name registrar and all listing agencies, upon the
termination or expiration of this Agreement, of the termination of Franchisee’s right to use any Electronic
Identifier associated with the System, the Proprietary Marks or the Franchised Restaurant, and authorize
and instruct their cancellation or transfer to EOS, as directed by EOS. Franchisee is not entitled to any
compensation from EOS if EOS exercises these rights or options. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in
this Section 23.A.(7) shall be deemed to permit Franchisee to use the Proprietary Marks, or any of them in
whole or in part, in connection with the Internet or any Electronic Identifier, except with EOS’s prior written
consent as provided in this Agreement.

B. Evidence of Compliance. Franchisee shall furnish EOS, within 30 days after the effective
date of termination or expiration, evidence (certified to be true, complete, accurate and correct by the chief
executive officer of Franchisee, if Franchisee is a corporation; by a manager of Franchisee, if Franchisee is
a limited liability company; or by a general partner of Franchisee, if Franchisee is a partnership) satisfactory
to EOS of Franchisee’s compliance with Sections 23.A. through 23.F.

C. Franchisee Prohibited from Engaging in Certain Conduct. Franchisee shall not, except

with respect to a restaurant franchised by EOS or its affiliates which is then open and operating pursuant to
an effective franchise agreement: (1) operate or do business under any name or in any manner that might
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tend to give the public the impression that Franchisee is connected in any way with EOS or its affiliates or
has any right to use the System or the Proprietary Marks; (2) make, use or avail itself of any of the materials
or information furnished or disclosed by EOS or its affiliates under this Agreement or disclose or reveal
any such materials or information or any portion thereof to anyone else; or (3) assist anyone not licensed
by EOS or its affiliates to construct or equip a foodservice outlet substantially similar to an Earl of Sandwich
Restaurant.

D. Early Termination Damages. If Franchisee default on its obligations and Franchisor
terminates this Agreement prior to the expiration of the Initial Term of this Agreement, it is hereby agreed
by the parties that the amount of damages which Franchisor would incur for any such termination of this
Agreement would be difficult, if not impossible, to accurately ascertain. Accordingly, within 30 days
following such termination, Franchisee and its owners shall pay to Franchisor an amount equal to the
average weekly Royalty Fees that Franchisee owed during the one year period prior to termination (or, if
the Franchised Restaurant was open for less than one year, the average Royalty Fees owed by Franchisee
for the number of weeks that the Franchised Restaurant was in operation) multiplied by the lesser of 104
weeks or the number of weeks (including any partial week) remaining in the Initial Term of this Agreement.
These early termination damages shall constitute liquidated damages, are not to be construed as a penalty,
and shall be the joint and several liability of Franchisee and its owners. The parties acknowledge and agree
that: (1) the early termination damages are a reasonable estimation of the damages that would be incurred
by Franchisor resulting from or arising out of the premature termination of this Agreement; and (2)
Franchisee’s payment of such early termination damages is intended to fully compensate Franchisor only
for any and all damages related to or arising out of the premature termination of this Agreement, and shall
not constitute an election of remedies, waiver of any default under this Agreement, nor waiver of
Franchisor’s claim for other damages and/or equitable relief arising out of Franchisee’s breach of this
Agreement.

24. OPTION TO PURCHASE

A. Scope. Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason, EOS shall
give written notice to Franchisee, within 30 days after the effective date of termination or expiration, if
EOS intends to exercise its option to purchase from Franchisee some or all of the assets used in the
Franchised Restaurant (“Assets™). As used in this Section 24, “Assets” shall mean and include, without
limitation, leasehold improvements, equipment, vehicles, furnishings, fixtures, signs and inventory (non-
perishable products, materials and supplies) used in the Franchised Restaurant, the real estate fee simple or
the lease or sublease for the Franchised Location, and any liquor licenses and any other licenses necessary
to operate the Franchised Restaurant. EOS shall have the unrestricted right to assign this option to purchase
the Assets. EOS or its assignee shall be entitled to all customary representations and warranties that the
Assets are free and clear (or, if not, accurate and complete disclosure) as to: (1) ownership, condition and
title; (2) liens and encumbrances; (3) environmental and hazardous substances; and (4) validity of contracts
and liabilities inuring to EOS or affecting the Assets, whether contingent or otherwise.

B. Purchase Price. The purchase price for the Assets (“Purchase Price”) shall be their fair
market value, (or, for leased assets, the fair market value of Franchisee’s lease) determined as of the
effective date of purchase in a manner that accounts for reasonable depreciation and condition of the Assets;
provided, however, that the Purchase Price shall take into account the termination of this Agreement.
Further, the Purchase Price for the Assets shall not contain any factor or increment for any trademark,
service mark or other commercial symbol used in connection with the operation of the Franchised
Restaurant nor any goodwill or “going concern” value for the Franchised Restaurant. EOS may exclude
from the Assets purchased in accordance with this Section any equipment, vehicles, furnishings, fixtures,
signs, and inventory that are not approved as meeting then-current standards for an Earl of Sandwich
Restaurant or for which Franchisee cannot deliver a Bill of Sale in a form satisfactory to EOS.
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C. Certified Appraisers. If EOS and Franchisee are unable to agree on the fair market value
of the Assets within 30 days after Franchisee’s receipt of EOS’s notice of its intent to exercise its option to
purchase the Assets, the fair market value shall be determined by two professionally certified appraisers,
Franchisee selecting one and EOS selecting one. If the valuations set by the two appraisers differ by more
than 10%, the two appraisers shall select a third professionally certified appraiser who also shall appraise
the fair market value of the Assets. The average value set by the appraisers (whether two or three appraisers
as the case may be) shall be conclusive and shall be the Purchase Price.

D. Access to Franchised Restaurant. The appraisers shall be given full access to the
Franchised Restaurant, the Franchised Location and Franchisee’s books and records during customary
business hours to conduct the appraisal and shall value the leasehold improvements, equipment, furnishings,
fixtures, signs and inventory in accordance with the standards of this Section 24. The appraisers’ fees and
costs shall be borne equally by EOS and Franchisee.

E. Exercise of Option. Within 10 days after the Purchase Price has been determined, EOS
may exercise its option to purchase the Assets by so notifying Franchisee in writing (“EOS’s Purchase
Notice”). The Purchase Price shall be paid in cash or cash equivalents at the closing of the purchase
(“Closing”), which shall take place no later than 60 days after the date of EOS’s Purchase Notice. From
the date of EOS’s Purchase Notice until Closing:

a Franchisee shall operate the Franchised Restaurant and maintain the Assets in the
usual and ordinary course of business and maintain in full force all insurance policies required under this
Agreement; and

2) EOS shall have the right to appoint a manager, at EOS’s expense, to control the
day-to-day operations of the Franchised Restaurant, and Franchisee shall cooperate, and instruct its
employees to cooperate, with the manager appointed by EOS. Alternatively, EOS may require Franchisee
to close the Franchised Restaurant during such time period without removing any Assets from the
Franchised Restaurant.

E. Due Diligence Period. For a period of 30 days after the date of EOS’s Purchase Notice
(“Due Diligence Period”), EOS shall have the right to conduct such investigations as it deems necessary
and appropriate to determine: (1) the ownership, condition and title of the Assets; (2) liens and
encumbrances on the Assets; (3) environmental and hazardous substances at or upon the Franchised
Location; and (4) the validity of contracts and liabilities inuring to EOS or affecting the Assets, whether
contingent or otherwise. Franchisee will afford EOS and its representatives access to the Franchised
Restaurant and the Franchised Location at all reasonable times for the purpose of conducting inspections
of the Assets; provided that such access does not unreasonably interfere with Franchisee’s operations of the

Franchised Restaurant.

G. EOS’s Rights During Due Diligence Period. During the Due Diligence Period, at its sole
option and expense, EOS may (1) cause the title to the Assets that consist of real estate interests (“Real
Estate Assets”) to be examined by a nationally recognized title company and conduct lien searches as to
the other Assets; (2) procure “AS BUILT” surveys of the Real Estate Assets; (3) procure environmental
assessments and testing with respect to the Real Estate Assets; and/or (4) inspect the Assets that consist of
leasehold improvements, equipment, vehicles, furnishings, fixtures, signs and inventory (“Fixed Assets”)
to determine if the Fixed Assets are in satisfactory working condition. Prior to the end of the Due Diligence
Period, EOS shall notify Franchisee in writing of any objections that EOS has to any finding disclosed in
any title to lien search, survey, environmental assessment or inspection. If Franchisee cannot or elects not

to correct any such title defect, environmental objection or defect in the working condition of the Fixed
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Assets, EOS will have the option to either accept the condition of the Assets as they exist or rescind its
option to purchase on or before the Closing.

H. Compliance with Law. Prior to the Closing, Franchisee and EOS shall comply with all
applicable legal requirements, including the bulk sales provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code of the
state in which the Franchised Restaurant is located and the bulk sales provisions of any applicable tax laws
and regulations. Franchisee shall, prior to or simultaneously with the Closing, pay all tax liabilities incurred
in connection with the operation of the Franchised Restaurant prior to Closing. EOS shall have the right to
set off against and reduce the Purchase Price by any and all amounts owed by Franchisee to EOS, and the
amount of any encumbrances or liens against the Assets or any obligations assumed by EOS.

I Franchised Location Leased. If the Franchised Location is leased, EOS agrees to use
reasonable efforts to effect a termination of the existing lease for the Franchised Location. If the lease for
the Franchised Location is assigned to EOS or EOS subleases the Franchised Location from Franchisee,
EOS will indemnify and hold Franchisee harmless from any ongoing liability under the lease from the date
EOS assumes possession of the Franchised Location, and Franchisee will indemnify and hold EOS harmless
from any liability under the lease prior to and including that date.

J. Franchised Location Owned by Franchisee. If Franchisee owns the Franchised
Location, EOS, at its option, will either purchase the fee simple interest or, upon purchase of the other
Assets, enter into a standard lease with Franchisee on terms comparable to those for which similar
commercial properties in the area are then being leased. The initial term of this lease with Franchisee shall
be at least 10 years with 2 options to renew of 5 years each, and the rent shall be the fair market rental value
of the Franchised Location. If Franchisee and EOS cannot agree on the fair market rental value of the
Franchised Location, then appraisers (selected in the manner described in Section 24.C.) shall determine
the rental value.

K. Franchisee’s Obligations at Closing. At the Closing, Franchisee shall deliver instruments
transferring to EOS or its assignee: (1) good and merchantable title to the Assets purchased, free and clear
of all liens and encumbrances (other than liens and security interests acceptable to EOS or its assignee),
with all sales and other transfer taxes paid by Franchisee; (2) all liquor licenses and licenses and permits
for the Franchised Restaurant that may be assigned or transferred, with appropriate consents, if required;
and (3) the lease or sublease for the Franchised Location, with appropriate consents, if required. If
Franchisee cannot deliver clear title to all of the purchased Assets as indicated in this Section, or if there
are other unresolved issues, the Closing shall be accomplished through an escrow.

25. RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

A. This Agreement does not create a fiduciary or other special relationship between the
parties. No agency, employment, or partnership is created or implied by the terms of this Agreement, and
each party is not and shall not hold itself out as an agent, legal representative, partner, subsidiary, joint
venturer, joint employer, or employee of the other for any purpose whatsoever. Neither this Agreement nor
EOS’s course of conduct is intended, nor may anything in this Agreement (nor EOS’s course of conduct)
be construed to state or imply that EOS is the employer of Franchisee’s employees and/or independent
contractors, nor vice versa. Franchisee shall have no right or power to, and shall not, bind or obligate EOS
or its affiliates in any way or manner, nor represent that Franchisee has any right to do so.

B. Franchisee is an independent contractor and is solely responsible for all aspects of the
development and operation of the Franchised Restaurant, subject only to the conditions and covenants
established by this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Franchisee acknowledges
that EOS has no responsibility to ensure that the Franchised Restaurant is developed and operated in
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compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances and regulations and that EOS shall have no liability in the
event the development or operation of the Franchised Restaurant violates any law, ordinance or regulation.

C. The sole relationship between Franchisee and EOS is a commercial, arms’ length business
relationship, and, except as provided in Section 26, there are no third party beneficiaries to this Agreement.
Franchisee’s business is, and shall be kept, totally separate and apart from any that may be operated by
EOS. In all public records, in relationships with other persons, and on letterheads and business forms,
Franchisee shall indicate its independent ownership of the Franchised Restaurant and that Franchisee is
solely a franchisee of EOS. Franchisee shall post a sign in a conspicuous location in the Franchised
Restaurant which will contain Franchisee’s name and state that the Franchised Restaurant is independently
owned and operated by Franchisee under a franchise agreement with EOS. Franchisee shall not issue any
press releases without the prior written approval of EOS.

26. INDEMNIFICATION

A. Franchisee and all guarantors of Franchisee’s obligations under this Agreement shall, at all
times, indemnify, defend (with counsel reasonably acceptable to EOS), and hold harmless (to the fullest
extent permitted by law) EOS and its affiliates, and their respective successors, assigns, past and present
stockholders, directors, officers, employees, agents and representatives (collectively “Indemnitees”) from
and against all “losses and expenses” (as defined below) incurred in connection with any action, suit,
proceeding, claim, demand, investigation, inquiry (formal or informal), judgment or appeal thereof by or
against Indemnitees or any settlement thereof (whether or not a formal proceeding or action had been
instituted), arising out of or resulting from or connected with Franchisee’s (or its employees’) operation of
the Franchised Restaurant and Franchisee’s (or its employees’) activities under this Agreement, excluding
the gross negligence or willful misconduct of any Indemnitee. Franchisee promptly shall give EOS written
notice of any such action, suit, proceeding, claim, demand, inquiry or investigation filed or instituted against
Franchisee and, upon request, shall furnish EOS with copies of any documents from such matters as EOS
may request.

B. At Franchisee’s expense and risk, EOS may elect to assume (but under no circumstances
will EOS be obligated to undertake), the defense and/or settlement of any action, suit, proceeding, claim,
demand, investigation, inquiry, judgment or appeal thereof subject to this indemnification. Such an
undertaking shall, in no manner or form, diminish Franchisee’s obligation to indemnify and hold harmless
EOS and Indemnitees. EOS shall not be obligated to seek recoveries from third parties or otherwise mitigate
losses.

C. As used in this Section, the phrase “losses and expenses” shall include, but not be limited
to, all losses; compensatory, exemplary and punitive damages; fines; charges; costs; expenses; lost profits;
reasonable attorneys’ fees; expert witness fees; court costs; settlement amounts; judgments; compensation
for damages to EOS’s reputation and goodwill; costs of or resulting from delays; financing; costs of
advertising material and media time/space and the costs of changing, substituting or replacing the same;
and any and all expenses of recall, refunds, compensation, public notices and other such amounts incurred
in connection with the matters described.

27, CONSENTS, APPROVALS AND WAIVERS

A. Whenever this Agreement requires the prior approval or consent of EOS, Franchisee shall
make a timely written request to EOS therefor, and any approval or consent received, in order to be effective
and binding upon EOS, must be obtained in writing and be signed by an authorized officer of EOS.
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B. EOS makes no warranties or guarantees by providing any waiver, approval, consent or
suggestion to Franchisee in connection with this Agreement, and assumes no liability or obligation to
Franchisee therefor, or by reason of any neglect, delay, or denial of any request therefor. EOS shall not, by
virtue of any approvals, advice or services provided to Franchisee, assume responsibility or liability to
Franchisee or to any third parties to which EOS would not otherwise be subject.

C. No failure of EOS to exercise any power reserved to it by this Agreement or to insist upon
strict compliance by Franchisee with any obligation or condition hereunder, and no custom or practice of
the parties at variance with the terms of this Agreement, shall constitute a waiver of EOS’s right to demand
exact compliance with any of the terms of this Agreement. A waiver by EOS of any particular default by
Franchisee shall not affect or impair EOS’s rights with respect to any subsequent default of the same, similar
or different nature, nor shall any delay, forbearance or omission of EOS to exercise any power or right
arising out of any breach or default by Franchisee of any of the terms, provisions or covenants of this
Agreement affect or impair EOS’s right to exercise the same, nor shall such constitute a waiver by EOS of
any right hereunder, or the right to declare any subsequent breach or default and to terminate this Agreement
prior to the expiration of its term. Subsequent acceptance by EOS of any payments due to it hereunder shall
not be deemed to be a waiver by EOS of any preceding breach by Franchisee of any terms, covenants or
conditions of this Agreement.

28. NOTICES

No notice, demand, request or other communication to the parties shall be binding upon the parties
unless the notice is in writing, refers specifically to this Agreement and is addressed to each party at the
notice address set forth in the attached Data Sheet. Any party may designate a new address for notices by
giving written notice of the new address pursuant to this Section. Notices shall be effective upon receipt
(or first rejection) and may be: (1) delivered personally; (2) mailed in the United States mail, postage
prepaid, certified mail, return receipt requested; or (3) mailed via overnight courier. The Manual, any
changes that EOS makes to the Manual, and/or any other written instructions that EOS provides relating to
operational matters, are not considered to be “notices” for the purpose of the delivery requirements in this
Section 28.

29. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

EOS and Franchisee acknowledge that each element of this Agreement is essential and material
and that, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the parties shall deal with each other in good
faith. This Agreement, the Manual, the documents referred to herein, and the attachments hereto, constitute
the entire, full and complete agreement between the parties concerning Franchisee’s rights, and supersede
any and all prior or contemporaneous negotiations, discussions, understandings or agreements. There are
no other representations, inducements, promises, agreements, arrangements, or undertakings, oral or
written, between the parties relating to the matters covered by this Agreement other than those set forth in
this Agreement, in the attachments to this Agreement and in EOS’s Franchise Disclosure Document.
Nothing in this Agreement or any related agreement is intended to disclaim the representations EOS made
in EOS’s Franchise Disclosure Document. No obligations or duties that contradict or are inconsistent with
the express terms of this Agreement may be implied into this Agreement. Except as expressly set forth
herein, no amendment, change or variance from this Agreement shall be binding on either party unless
mutually agreed to by the parties and executed in writing.

30. SEVERABILITY AND CONSTRUCTION

A. Severability. Each article, paragraph, subparagraph, term and condition of this
Agreement, and any portions thereof, will be considered severable. If, for any reason, any portion of this
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Agreement is determined to be invalid, contrary to, or in conflict with, any applicable present or future law,
rule or regulation in a final, unappealable ruling issued by any court, agency or tribunal with valid
jurisdiction in a proceeding to which EOS is a party, that ruling will not impair the operation of, or have
any other effect upon, any other portions of this Agreement; all of which will remain binding on the parties
and continue to be given full force and effect.

B. No Third Party Beneficiaries. Except as otherwise provided in Section 26, nothing in
this Agreement is intended, nor shall be deemed, to confer upon any person or legal entity other than
Franchisee and EOS and its affiliates and such of their heirs, successors and assigns, any rights or remedies
under or by reason of this Agreement.

C. Modification to Scope of Covenants by Law. Franchisee expressly agrees to be bound
by any promise or covenant imposing the maximum duty permitted by law that is subsumed within the
terms of any provision of this Agreement, as though it were separately articulated in and made a part of this
Agreement, that may result from striking from any of the provisions of this Agreement any portion or
portions which a court may hold to be unreasonable and unenforceable in a final decision to which EOS is
a party, or from reducing the scope of any promise or covenant to the extent required to comply with such
a court order.

D. Interpretation. No provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in favor of, or against,
any party because of the party that drafted this Agreement.

22— GOVERNING EAW, FORUM-AND- HIMITATIONS
CHOICE OF EAW—THIS AGREEMENT3 1. DISPUTES

A. Mediation. Except as provided with respect to injunctive relief as set forth in this
Agreement, in the event of any dispute arising from or in connection with this Agreement or the breach
thereof or the relationship of the parties, the parties shall use their best efforts to settle the dispute by
consulting and negotiating with each other in good faith to attempt to reach a solution satisfactory to both
parties. If these methods fail, EOS and Franchisee agree to submit any claim, controversy, or dispute arising
out of this Agreement or the relationship of the parties to non-binding mediation conducted by the American
Arbitration Association (the “AAA”) and in accordance with its then-current rules for commercial
mediation. Once either party has submitted a dispute to mediation, the obligation to attend will be binding
on both parties. Both parties must sign a confidentiality agreement before participating in any mediation
proceeding. The mediation will take place in the city where EOS’s principal offices are located at the time
the demand for mediation is filed. If a dispute cannot be resolved through mediation, the parties agree to
submit the dispute to arbitration, subject to the terms and conditions of Section 31.B.

B. Arbitration. Subject to Section 31.A., EOS and Franchisee agree that all controversies
disputes, or claims between the parties and their respective affiliates, owners, shareholders, officers,
directors, agents, and/or employees arising out of or related to: (1) this Agreement; (2) the relationship
between the parties; (3) the scope and validity of this Agreement or any provision of this Agreement

including the validity and scope of the arbitration obligations under this Section 31.B., which the parties

acknowledge is to be determined by an arbitrator and not a court); or (4) any aspect of the System or any
System standard must be submitted for binding arbitration, on demand of either party, to the AAA and in
accordance with its then-current rules for commercial arbitration. The arbitration proceedings will be
conducted by a single arbitrator. The arbitration will take place in the city where EOS’s principal offices
are located at the time the demand for arbitration is filed. The arbitrator will have no authority to select a
different hearing locale other than as described in the prior sentence. All matters relating to arbitration will
be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq.) and not by any state arbitration law.
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1) The arbitrator will have the right to award or include in the award any relief which
the arbitrator deems proper under the circumstances, including, without limitation, money damages (with
interest on unpaid amounts from the date due), specific performance, injunctive relief, and reasonable
attorneys’ fees and costs, provided that the arbitrator will not have the right to amend or modify the terms
of this Agreement, declare any Proprietary Marks generic or otherwise invalid, or award any punitive or
exemplary damages against either party (EOS and Franchisee hereby waiving to the fullest extent permitted
by law any right to or claim for any punitive or exemplary damages against the other). The award and
decision of the arbitrator will be conclusive and binding upon all parties, and judgment upon the award may
be entered in any court of competent jurisdiction.

2) EOS and Franchisee agree to be bound by the provisions of any limitation on the
period of time in which claims must be brought under applicable law. EOS and Franchisee further agree
that, in connection with any such arbitration proceeding, each must submit or file any claim which would
constitute a compulsory counterclaim (as defined by Rule 13 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure) within
the same proceeding as the claim to which it relates. Any such claim which is not submitted or filed as
described above will be forever barred. The arbitrator may not consider any settlement discussions or offers
that might have been made by either party.

) EOS and Franchisee agree that arbitration will be conducted on an individual, not
a class-wide, basis, and that an arbitration proceeding between EOS and Franchisee and their respective
affiliates, owners, shareholders, officers, directors, agents, and/or employees may not be consolidated with
any other arbitration proceeding involving EOS and Franchisee and another party. Notwithstanding the
foregoing or anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if any court or arbitrator determines that all or any
part of the preceding sentence is unenforceable with respect to a dispute that otherwise would be subject to

arbitration under this Section 31.B., then the parties agree that this arbitration clause shall not apply to that

dispute and that such dispute will be resolved in a judicial proceeding in accordance with this Section 31
(excluding this Section 31.B.).

A=C. Governing Law. All matters relating to arbitration will be governed by the Federal
Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. Sections 1 et seq.). Except to the extent governed by the Federal Arbitration Act,
the United States Trademark Act of 1946 (Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. Sections 1051 ef seq.), or other federal
law. this Agreement, and any claim or controversy arising out of, or relating to, rights and obligations of
the parties under this Agreement, and any other claim or controversy between the parties shall be governed
by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida without regard to conflicts of laws
principles. Nothing in this Section is intended, or shall be deemed, to make any Florida law regulating the
offer or sale of franchises or the franchise relationship applicable to this Agreement if such law would not
otherwise be applicable.

D. Cheiee-of Forum-—TheConsent To Jurisdiction. Subject to Section 31.B. above and the
provisions below - parties agree that—e—the—sdopirmsdipuieeopner bepeesloeddiioale bopoens
them; Franchisee shall file any suit against EOS only in the federal or state court having jurisdiction where
EOS’s principal offices are located at the time suit is filed. EOS may file suit in the federal or state court
located in the jurisdiction where its principal offices are located at the time suit is filed or in the jurisdiction
where Franchisee resides or does business or where the Franchised Restaurant is or was located or where
the claim arose. Franchisee consents to the personal jurisdiction of those courts over Franchisee and to
venue in those courts.

E. Injunctive Relief. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 31,
Franchisee recognizes that its failure to comply with the terms of this Agreement is likely to cause

irreparable harm to EOS, its affiliates and the System. Therefore, Franchisee agrees that, in the event of a
breach or threatened breach of any of the terms of this Agreement by Franchisee, EOS shall be entitled to
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injunctive relief (preliminary and permanent) restraining that breach and/or temporary restraining orders
and/or to specific performance from a court of competent jurisdiction without showing or proving actual
damages and without posting any bond or security; provided, however, that EOS and Franchisee must
contemporaneously submit the disputes for non-binding mediation under Section 31.A. and then for
arbitration under Section 31.B. on the merits as provided herein if such disputes cannot be resolved through

mediation. Franchisee acknowledges that a proper case to obtain temporary restraining orders and

preliminary or permanent injunctive relief from a court of competent jurisdiction contemporaneously with
submitting the disputes to mediation and then to arbitration shall include, but not be limited to, the

following: (1) any dispute involving actual or threatened disclosure or misuse of the contents of the Manual
or any other confidential information or trade secrets of EOS; (2) any dispute involving the ownership,
validity, use of, or right to use or license the Proprietary Marks; (3) any action by EOS to enforce post-
termination obligations; and (4) any action by EOS to stop or prevent any threat or danger to public health
or safety resulting from the construction, maintenance, or operation of the Franchised Restaurant. Any
equitable remedies sought by EOS shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, all remedies and rights that
EOS otherwise may have arising under applicable law or by virtue of any breach of this Agreement.

E. Reimbursement of Costs and Expenses. If either party brings an action to enforce this

Agreement in an arbitration or judicial proceeding, the party prevailing in that proceeding shall be entitled
to reimbursement of costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, reasonable accountants’, attorneys’

attorneys’ assistants’ and expert witness fees, the cost of investigation and proof of facts, arbitration or
court costs, other arbitration or litigation expenses, and travel and living expenses, whether incurred during,
prior to, in preparation for, or in contemplation of the filing of, the proceeding. If EOS utilizes legal counsel
(including in-house counsel employed by EOS) in connection with any failure by Franchisee to comply
with this Agreement, Franchisee shall reimburse EOS for any of the above-listed costs and expenses

incurred by EOS. In any judicial proceeding, the amount of these costs and expenses will be determined
by the court and not by a jury.

G. WAIVER OF CERTAIN DAMAGES AND RIGHTS. FRANCHISEE AND EOS
WAIVE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, ANY RIGHT OR CLAIM OF ANY
PUNITIVE OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES AGAINST EACH OTHER AND AGREE THAT, IN
THE EVENT OF A DISPUTE BETWEEN THEM, EACH SHALL BE LIMITED TO THE
RE ERY OF ACTUAL DAMAGE TAINED BY IT. BJECT TO THE PARTIES’
ARBITRATION OBLIGATIONS, FRANCHISEE AND EOS WAIVE, TO THE FULLEST
EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE RIGHT TO BRING, OR BE A CLLASS MEMBER IN, ANY
CLASS ACTION SUITS AND THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

H. Rights and Remedies Cumulative. No right or remedy conferred upon or reserved to
EOS or Franchisee by this Agreement is intended to be, nor shall be deemed, exclusive of any other right

or remedy herein or by law or equity provided or permitted, but each shall be cumulative of every other
right or remedy. The provisions of this Section 31 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this
Agreement.

€l Limitation of Actions. Except for payments owed by one party to the other, and unless

prohibited by applicable law, any legal action or proceeding (including the offer and sale of a franchise to
Franchisee) brought or instituted with respect to any dispute arising from or related to this Agreement or
with respect to any breach of the terms of this Agreement must be brought or instituted within a period of
2 years after the initial occurrence of any act or omission that is the basis of the legal action or proceeding,
whenever discovered.
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32. MISCELLANEOUS

A. Gender and Number. All references to gender and number shall be construed to include
such other gender and number as the context may require.

B. Captions. All captions in this Agreement are intended solely for the convenience of the
parties and none shall be deemed to affect the meaning or construction of any provision of this Agreement.

C. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which
when executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original and all of which together shall constitute
one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page ofto this Agreement
by faesimie—and-any—ether—electronic transmission (including an electronic signature platform or the
transmission of a scanned PDF document) shall be-as effective as delivery of a manually executed
counterpart of this Agreement.

D. Time. Time is of the essence of this Agreement for each provision in which time is a
factor. Whenever this Agreement refers to a period of days or months, the first day or month to be counted
shall be the day or month of the designated action, event or notice. Days shall be measured by calendar
days, except that if the last day of a period is a Saturday, Sunday or national holiday, the period
automatically shall be extended to the next day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or national holiday.
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E. Control During Crisis Situation.

@ If an event occurs at the Franchised Restaurant that has or reasonably may cause
harm or injury to customers, guests or employees (i.e., food spoilage/poisoning, food tampering/sabotage,
slip and fall injuries, natural disasters, robberies, shootings, etc.) or may damage the Proprietary Marks, the
System or the reputation of EOS (collectively “Crisis Situation’), Franchisee shall: (a) immediately contact
appropriate emergency care providers to assist it in curing the harm or injury; and (b) immediately inform
EOS by telephone of the Crisis Situation. Franchisee shall refrain from making any internal or external
announcements (i.e., no communication with the news media) regarding the Crisis Situation (unless
otherwise directed by EOS or public health officials).

Q) To the extent EOS deems appropriate, in its sole and absolute discretion, EOS or
its designee may control the manner in which the Crisis Situation is handled by the parties, including,
without limitation, conducting all communication with the news media, providing care for injured persons
and/or temporarily closing the Franchised Restaurant. The parties acknowledge that, in directing the
management of any Crisis Situation, EOS or its designee may engage the services of attorneys, experts,
doctors, testing laboratories, public relations firms and those other professionals as it deems appropriate.
Franchisee and its employees shall cooperate fully with EOS or its designee in its efforts and activities in
this regard and shall be bound by all further Crisis Situation procedures developed by EOS from time to
time hereafter. The indemnification under Section 26 shall include all losses and expenses that may result
from the exercise by EOS or its designee of the management rights granted in this Section 32.F.

33. REPRESENTATIONS
Franchisee represents, acknowledges and warrants to EOS (and Franchisee agrees that these
representations, acknowledgments and warranties shall survive termination of this Agreement) that:

A. Franchise Application. All information Franchisee provided to EOS in connection
with Franchisee’s franchise application and EOS’s grant of this Franchise is truthful, complete and
accurate.

B. Signatories to This Agreement. The persons signing this Agreement on behalf of
Franchisee have full authority to enter into this Agreement and the other agreements contemplated
by the parties. Execution of this Agreement or such other agreements by Franchisee does not and
will not conflict with or interfere with, directly or indirectly, intentionally or otherwise, with the
terms of any other agreement with any other third party to which Franchisee or any person with an
ownership interest in Franchisee is a party.

[Signatures follow on next page.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Agreement
as of the day and year first above written.

EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

Date:

FRANCHISEE:

By:

Print Name:

Title:

Date:
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EXHIBIT A
GUARANTEE AND ASSUMPTION OF FRANCHISEE’S OBLIGATIONS

In consideration of, and as an inducement to, the execution of the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant
Franchise Agreement dated as of (the “Agreement”) by Earl of Sandwich
(USA), LLC, a Florida Ilimited liability company (“EOS”), entered into with
(“Franchisee”), the undersigned (“Guarantors”), each of whom
is an officer, director, member of Franchisee’s Continuity Group, a direct or indirect holder of a legal or
beneficial interest in Franchisee of 10% or more (“10% Owner”), or a spouse of one of the foregoing
individuals, hereby personally and unconditionally: (1) guarantee to EOS and its successors and assigns,
for the term of the Agreement and thereafter as provided in the Agreement, that Franchisee shall punctually
pay and perform each and every undertaking, agreement and covenant set forth in the Agreement; (2) agree
personally to be bound by the provisions of Sections 21 and 26 of the Agreement; and (3) agree personally
to be liable for the breach of Section 21 of the Agreement.

Each of the undersigned waives: (a) acceptance and notice of acceptance by EOS of the foregoing
undertakings; (b) notice of demand for payment of any indebtedness or nonperformance of any obligations
hereby guaranteed; (c) protest and notice of default to any party with respect to the indebtedness or
nonperformance of any obligations hereby guaranteed; (d) any right he may have to require that an action
be brought against Franchisee or any other person as a condition of liability; (e) all rights to payments and
claims for reimbursement or subrogation which any of the undersigned may have against Franchisee arising
as a result of the execution of and performance under this Guarantee by the undersigned; (f) any law or
statute which requires that EOS make demand upon, assert claims against or collect from Franchisee or any
others, foreclose any security interest, sell collateral, exhaust any remedies or take any other action against
Franchisee or any others prior to making any demand upon, collecting from or taking any action against the
undersigned with respect to this Guarantee; (g) any and all other notices and legal or equitable defenses to
which he may be entitled; and (h) any and all right to have any legal action under this Guarantee decided
by a jury.

Each of the undersigned consents and agrees that: (i) his direct and immediate liability under this
Guarantee shall be joint and several; (ii) he shall render any payment or performance required under the
Agreement upon demand if Franchisee fails or refuses punctually to do so; (iii) such liability shall not be
contingent or conditioned upon pursuit by EOS of any remedies against Franchisee or any other person;
(iv) such liability shall not be diminished, relieved or otherwise affected by any amendment of the
Agreement, any extension of time, credit or other indulgence which EOS may from time to time grant to
Franchisee or to any other person including, without limitation, the acceptance of any partial payment or
performance or the compromise or release of any claims, none of which shall in any way modify or amend
this Guarantee, which shall be continuing and irrevocable during the term of the Agreement and for so long
thereafter as there are monies or obligations owing from Franchisee to EOS or its affiliates under the
Agreement; and (v) monies received from any source by EOS for application toward payment of the
obligations under the Agreement and under this Guarantee may be applied in any manner or order deemed
appropriate by EOS.

If EOS brings an action to enforce this Guarantee, the prevailing party in such proceeding shall be
entitled to reimbursement of its costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, reasonable accountants’,
attorneys’, attorneys’ assistants’ and expert witness fees, cost of investigation and proof of facts, arbitration
or court costs, other arbitration or litigation expenses and travel and living expenses, whether incurred
during, prior to, in preparation for or in contemplation of the filing of any such proceeding. In any judicial
proceeding, these costs and expenses shall be determined by the court and not by a jury.
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If EOS utilizes legal counsel (including in-house counsel employed by EOS or its affiliates) in
connection with any failure by the undersigned to comply with this Guarantee, the undersigned shall
reimburse EOS for any of the above-listed costs and expenses incurred by it.

This Guarantee shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties and their respective
heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns. EOS’s interests in and rights under this Guarantee are
freely assignable, in whole or in part, by EOS. Any assignment shall not release the undersigned from this
Guarantee.

SeetionsSection 3 1-A—threugh3+-E- (Disputes) of the Agreement areis incorporated by reference
into this Guarantee and all capitalized terms that are not defined in this Guarantee shall have the meaning
given them in the Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has hereunto affixed his signature, under seal.

GUARANTORS:
Date: (Seal)
Print Name:
Address:
Date: (Seal)
Print Name:
Address:
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EXHIBIT B
ADDENDUM TO LEASE AGREEMENT

This Addendum to the Lease Agreement (“Addendum”) between

(“Landlord™) and , a
company (“Tenant” or “Franchisee”) is entered into simultaneously with
the execution of the Lease Agreement between Landlord and Franchisee (the “Lease”) on this day
of ,20 .
RECITALS

WHEREAS, Landlord desires to lease the Leased Premises to Tenant, and Tenant desires to lease
the Leased Premises from Landlord for the term upon the provisions set forth in the Lease.

Pursuant to that certain Franchise Agreement, to be entered into between Earl of Sandwich (USA),
LLC (“Franchisor” or “EOS”) and Franchisee (the “Franchise Agreement”), Franchisor shall grant
Franchisee the right to operate a franchised Earl of Sandwich Restaurant (“Franchised Restaurant™) at the
Leased Premises.

Pursuant to Section 4 of the Franchise Agreement, Franchisee is required to request that Landlord
include certain provisions in the Lease.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, agreements and obligations set
forth below, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the Landlord and Franchisee, accordingly, are entering into this Addendum.

1. Permitted Use: Franchisee shall be permitted to use the Premises for an eat-in/take-out/delivery
fast casual restaurant selling sandwiches, salads, soups, wraps, grab and go items, dessert items,
beverages and other products sold in restaurants operating under the “Earl of Sandwich” trade
name, including without limitation retail branded merchandise sales, and other ancillary purposes
associated therewith, and for no other purpose (“Permitted Use”’) without Landlord’s prior written
consent. Provided Franchisee has obtained all necessary licenses and insurance, Tenant shall be
allowed to sell beer and wine as part of its Permitted Use.

2. Exclusive Use: Landlord agrees that Tenant shall have the exclusive right throughout the Term of
the Lease to engage in the sale of counter service sandwiches in the Leased Premises. Tenant agrees
that other tenants in the Leased Premises may sell sandwiches so long as sandwiches are an
incidental part of any such other tenant’s food sales (less than 10% of gross sales). Landlord agrees
that it shall advise other tenants, and any future landlord, of Tenant’s exclusivity rights as set forth
herein and shall not allow any other party to violate the terms of this exclusivity provision. If a
violation occurs, Tenant, in addition to any other rights it may have in law or equity shall have the
right to terminate this Lease upon thirty (30) days prior written notice.

marks, logos, insignias, slogans, emblems, symbols and designs, which Franchisor has designated,
or may in the future designate for use with the Earl of Sandwich franchise system. Landlord
consents to Franchisee’s use of the proprietary signs, distinctive exterior and interior designs and
layouts and the Proprietary Marks prescribed by Franchisor. Upon expiration or the earlier
termination of the Lease, Landlord consents to permit Franchisee, at Franchisee’s expense, to
remove all such items and other trade fixtures, so long as Franchisee makes any necessary repairs
to the building caused by such removal.

3. Marks: Proprietary Marks means the “Earl of Sandwich” name and mark and certain other names,

1 EOS Franchise Agreement -
09/2325



4,

Signage Criteria: Landlord agrees that Tenant may install signage in conformance with Earl of

S.

Sandwich sign criteria attached hereto as Exhibit A, which is incorporated herein by this reference.
Tenant must ensure drawings, plans and specifications for installation of signage (the “Plans”)
comply with applicable ordinances, building codes and zoning and permit requirements.
Installation and construction of signage and costs incurred shall be the responsibility of Tenant. If,
in the course of construction, any such change in the Plans is contemplated, Tenant shall be required
to obtain Landlord and Franchisor’s written approval prior to proceeding.

Right to Enter: Franchisor shall have the right to enter the Leased Premises to make any
modifications or alterations necessary to protect the “Earl of Sandwich System” and the proprietary
marks and to cure, within the time periods provided by the Lease, any default under the Lease, all
without being guilty of trespass or other tort, and to charge Franchisee for these costs.

a. Landlord agrees that, following the expiration or earlier termination of the Franchise
Agreement, Franchisee shall have the right to make those alterations and modifications to
the Leased Premises as may be necessary to clearly distinguish to the public the Leased
Premises from an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant and also make those specific additional
changes as Franchisor reasonably may request for that purpose.

b. Landlord also agrees that, if Franchisee fails to promptly make such alterations and
modifications, Franchisor shall have the right to do so without being guilty of trespass or
other tort so long as Franchisor makes any necessary repairs to the building caused by such
removal.

Assignment: Franchisee may assign the Lease to Franchisor, or its designee, with Landlord’s

consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld) and without payment of any
assignment fee or similar charge or increase in any rentals payable to Landlord. Landlord agrees
to consent to Franchisee’s collaterally assigning the Lease to Franchisor and granting Franchisor
the option, but not the obligation, to assume the Lease from the date Franchisor takes possession
of the Leased Premises, without payment of any assignment fee or similar charge or increase in any
rentals payable to the landlord.

Franchisee’s Obligations: Landlord acknowledges and agrees that Franchisee shall be solely

8.

responsible for all obligations, debts and payments under the Lease.

Default Under Franchise Agreement: Any default under the Lease which is not cured by

0.

10.

09/2325

Franchisee within the applicable cure period shall also constitute grounds for termination of the
Franchise Agreement.

Notice: Landlord agrees to provide Franchisor (at the same time sent to Franchisee) a copy of all
amendments, assignments and notices of default pertaining to the Lease and the Leased Premises
at the following address, or to such other address as Franchisor may provide to Landlord from time
to time:

Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC
ATTN: General Counsel

4700 Millenia Boulevard, Suite #400
Orlando, FL 32839

Amendment of Lease: Landlord agrees not to amend or otherwise modify the Lease in any manner
that would affect any of the foregoing requirements without Franchisor’s prior written consent,
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.
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Incorporation. This Addendum and the Lease shall be read as one document. If there is any

conflict between the provisions of this Addendum and the provisions of the Lease, the terms of this
Addendum shall govern and control. Any capitalized terms that are not defined in this Addendum
shall have the meaning given them in the Lease.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum

as of the day and year first above written.

09/2325

LANDLORD:

By:

Print Name:

Title:

Date:

TENANT:

By:

Print Name:

Title:

Date:
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EXHIBIT A TO ADDENDUM OF LEASE AGREEMENT

EARL OF SANDWICH SIGN CRITERIA

The purpose of this document is to outline the criteria which have been established governing the design,
fabrication, and installation of signage for franchised restaurant locations. Sign construction and installation
shall be completed in compliance with the instructions for sign criteria set forth below in this Exhibit A, or
as further directed by EOS.

The required sign criteria is as follows:

1.

Tenant shall submit drawings, plans and specifications for all proposed signage work for its
franchised restaurant to EOS for written approval prior to fabrication of any signage. Such
drawings, plans and specifications shall clearly show location of sign on designated sign area,
including graphics, color, construction, and attachment details. EOS will either mark the drawings
as “Approved,” “Approved Based on EOS Modifications,” or “Disapproved.” Signage that has
been “Approved Based on EOS Modifications” or “Disapproved” must be redesigned and
resubmitted for EOS approval within ten (10) days of receipt by EOS. Any sign erected without
being approved and not meeting EOS’s sign criteria may be removed by Landlord or by EOS at
Tenant’s sole expense.

Franchisee shall not place anything on the canopies, awnings and/or umbrellas other than the
approved signage.

All permits, as required by ordinances, building codes, sign codes and zoning laws shall be obtained
by Tenant or Sign Contractor prior to installation.

All graphics for use on exterior signage will be approved on a site by site basis, at the sole discretion
of EOS and Landlord.

All signage shall be installed, constructed in a workmanlike manner and shall comply with all
applicable laws, ordinances and regulations, including the requirements of local and state
regulatory authorities.

As depicted below, standard signage package should include: EARL OF SANDWICH and THE

WORLD’S GREATEST HOT SANDWICH taglines. Internally Illuminated Push-Through
Letter Faces. Earl of Sandwich logo Blade Sign — Internally Illuminated Cabinet Sign.
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PRIMARY SIGN - FASCIA/CANOPY (C1)
MAXIMUM ALLOWED LETTER HEIGHT IS 2'-0°
MAXIMUM ALLOWED 33SF BASED ON 26' LONG STOREFRONT (26 X 1.5)

INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED, PUSH-THROUGH LETTER FACES

INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED LETTERS MOUNT TO UNDERSIDE OF CANOPY

I 39 5F D

12.25 5F WINDOW GRAPHICS (E1)

TRAMSLUCENT WINYL

BLADE SIGN (C2)

MAXIMUM ALLOWED HEIGHT IS
36" INTERMALLY ILLUMINATED
CABINET SIGN

STOREFRONT ELEVATION
SCALE: 14 =10"
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EXHIBIT C

ACH AUTHORIZATION FORM

EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT ADDRESS:

DEPOSITOR (NAME OR LEGAL ENTITY):

The undersigned depositor (“Depositor”) hereby authorizes Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”) to
initiate debit entries and credit correction entries to Depositor’s checking or savings account indicated
below and Depositor hereby authorizes the depository designated below (“Bank”) to debit or credit such
account pursuant to EOS’s instructions. This authorization is to remain in full force and effect until 60 days

after EOS has received written notification from Depositor of its termination.

DEPOSITOR INFORMATION

Depositor Name:

Mailing Address:

City/ State/ Zip Code:

Telephone:

Email:

DEBITING BANK ACCOUNT INFORMATION

Bank Name:

City / State / Zip Code:

Branch:

Account Number to Debit:

Routing Number (9 digit #):

Account Name:

The undersigned representative of Depositor represents and warrants to EOS and the Bank that the person
executing this ACH Authorization Form is an authorized signatory on the account referenced above and all

information regarding the account is true and accurate.

Depositor By:

Print Name:

Title:

Date:
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RIDER 1

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT EXPIRATION DATE

TO:

The Franchised Restaurant located at

first opened for business on . The initial term of the Franchise Agreement for the

Franchised Restaurant expires on . If Franchisee desires to renew the Franchise

Agreement, Franchisee must give EOS notice no earlier than (12 months before the

expiration date of the Franchise Agreement) and no later than (8 months before the

expiration date).

EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

Date:

FRANCHISEE:

By:

Print Name:

Title:

Date:
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EXHIBIT F

NONTRADITIONAL LOCATION ADDENDUM
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ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
FOR A NONTRADITIONAL LOCATION

THIS ADDENDUM to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Franchise Agreement dated
(“Franchise Agreement”) by and between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”) and
(“Franchisee”) is entered into

simultaneously with the execution of the Franchise Agreement.
RECITALS

Pursuant to the Franchise Agreement, EOS granted Franchisee the right to operate the Franchised
Restaurant at the Franchised Location.

Since the Restaurant will be operated at a “Nontraditional Location” or “Captive Market
Location,” certain provisions of the Franchise Agreement will not be applicable to Franchisee’s operation
of the Franchised Restaurant and certain other provisions need to be added to the Franchise Agreement to
govern Franchisee’s operation of the Franchised Restaurant.

The parties have agreed to modify the Franchise Agreement to reflect the necessary changes.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, agreements and obligations set
forth below, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which the parties
hereby acknowledge, the parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Grant of Franchise. Section 1.A. is deleted and replaced with the following:

Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, EOS hereby grants to Franchisee the right
(“Franchise”) to continuously operate the Franchised Restaurant at the Franchised Location
(as defined below) and to use the Proprietary Marks in the operation of the Franchised
Restaurant. The Franchised Restaurant is located within a larger building at the street
address specified in Exhibit A (“Facility”), and it occupies the physical area of the Facility
(comprising the Franchised Restaurant, whether a food-court, in-line application, stand-
alone restaurant or other location, and any dedicated back of the house area), as indicated
on the floor plan attached to Exhibit A (“Franchised Location”). If the Franchised
Restaurant serves a limited Earl of Sandwich menu (as indicated in attached Exhibit A and
as determined by EOS in its discretion), Franchisee may offer for sale and sell at the
Franchised Location only those System menu items specified in Exhibit A. In addition to
the Franchised Restaurant, Franchisee or its affiliates operate those other businesses at the
Facility identified in attached Exhibit A.

2. No Exclusivity. Section 1.B. is deleted and replaced with the following:

B. No Exclusivity. Franchisee has no exclusive territory or Protected Area and any
reference made thereto in this Agreement shall be deemed deleted and inapplicable. EOS
reserves to itself all rights to use and license the System and the Proprietary Marks other
than those expressly granted under this Agreement, including the right to operate, and
license others to operate, Earl of Sandwich Restaurants at locations that directly or
indirectly compete with the Franchised Restaurant.
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3. Term. Section 2.A.(2) is deleted and replaced with the following:

2) Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement shall automatically terminate if
Franchisee’s contract to provide foodservice at the Facility terminates or expires without renewal.
In addition, Franchisee may terminate this Agreement following 60 days’ written notice to EOS if
Franchisee’s client at the Facility instructs Franchisee in writing to cease operating the Franchised
Restaurant (provided Franchisee has exercised reasonable efforts to arrange a meeting between
Franchisee’s client and EOS, if EOS so elects, to discuss the continued operation of the
Franchised Restaurant). If Franchisee’s contract to provide foodservice at the Facility permits
Franchisee’s client to take this action on shorter notice, the notice period provided in that contract
shall govern, provided Franchisee has provided EOS a copy of the relevant contract provision.

A. Renewal Term

) At the expiration of the Initial Term, Franchisee shall have an option to remain a
franchisee at the Franchised Location for two additional consecutive Renewal Terms of 5 years
each. The conditions for renewal at the expiration of the Initial Term are set forth in this Section
2.B. The conditions for renewal at the expiration of the first Renewal Term shall be set forth in
the franchise agreement in effect at that time. Franchisee must give EOS written notice of
whether or not it intends to exercise its option for the first Renewal Term not less than 9 months,
nor more than 12 months, before the expiration of the Initial Term. Failure to timely provide
EOS the required notice constitutes a waiver by Franchisee of its option to remain a franchisee
beyond the expiration of the Initial Term.

2) If Franchisee desires to continue as a franchisee for the first Renewal Term,
Franchisee must comply with all of the following conditions prior to and at the end of the Initial
Term:

(a) Franchisee shall not be in default under this Agreement or any other agreements

between Franchisee and EOS or its affiliates.

(b) Franchisee shall renovate and modernize the Franchised Restaurant so that it
conforms with the image of the System for new Earl of Sandwich Restaurants for similar
nontraditional locations at the time Franchisee provides EOS the renewal notice.

() Franchisee shall have the right to remain in possession of the Franchised
Location for the first Renewal Term.

(d) Franchisee shall execute a general release and a covenant not to sue, in a form
satisfactory to EOS, of any and all claims against EOS and its affiliates and their past and present
officers, directors, shareholders, agents and employees, in their corporate and individual
capacities.

(e) Franchisee shall pay a renewal fee in the amount of 50% of EOS’s then-current
Initial Fees (including any Application Fees and Initial Franchise Fees) for a Nontraditional
Location and execute a new franchise agreement for the first Renewal Term in the form then in
general use by EOS (or, if EOS is not then granting franchises for Earl of Sandwich Restaurants
in Nontraditional Locations, that form of agreement as reasonably specified by EOS). The
renewal fee shall be in addition to any capital expenditures that Franchisee is required to make
pursuant to Section 2.B.(2)(B).
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4. Lease. The first sentence of Section 4 is deleted and replaced with the following:

If Franchisee proposes to lease or sublease the Franchised Location, Franchisee shall provide
EOS with a copy of the fully-executed lease or sublease (for a term, including renewal terms, for
at least the Initial Term) for the Franchised Location within 30 days after EOS approves the site
for the Franchised Location.

5. Royalty Fee. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 7.B.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if: (a) beverages cannot be ordered at the Franchised
Restaurant; or (b) Franchisee’s point of sale system cannot allocate to Gross Sales
beverages ordered at the Franchised Restaurant, Franchisee shall pay a royalty fee in the
amount of 8% of the Gross Sales of the Franchised Restaurant.

6. Gross Sales. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 7.D.:

Gross Sales shall not include revenues from any other businesses that Franchisee operates
at the Facility other than the Franchised Restaurant.

7. Grand Opening Spending. The fourth sentence of Section 9.A. is deleted and replaced with the
following:

In addition to the requirements of Section 9.G., Franchisee shall, during the period
beginning 30 days before the scheduled opening of the Franchised Restaurant and
continuing for 60 days after the Franchised Restaurant first opens for business (“Grand
Opening Period”), spend at least $3,000 to conduct grand opening advertising in authorized
advertising media and for authorized expenditures (as defined in Section 9.G.)

8. Maintenance. The following subsection is added at the end of Section 14.H.:

A3) Franchisee and its affiliates shall maintain in first class condition and repair any
other businesses operated at the Facility, all areas adjacent to the Franchised Restaurant
and any common area of the Facility that is utilized by the customers of the Franchised
Restaurant and that may be associated with the Franchised Restaurant.

9. Maximum Operation of the Franchised Restaurant. The following sentence is added at the
end of Section 14.1.(1):

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Franchisee is not required to keep the Franchised
Restaurant open and operating during any periods of the day when the adjacent businesses
at the Facility are not open and operating.

10. Signage. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 14.K.:

EOS has the right to approve, in its sole discretion, all Earl of Sandwich signage to be
displayed in, at or near the Facility. All Earl of Sandwich signage shall be of a size at least
equal to the signage for any other businesses that Franchisee operates at the Facility. If
EOS objects to any sign, logo or advertising media of any kind, Franchisee shall not
display that sign, logo or advertising.
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11. Indemnification. The following sentence is added to Section 26:

Franchisee’s indemnification obligations under this Section 26 shall include any claim
arising out of, resulting from or connected with Franchisee’s operation of any of the other
businesses at the Facility.

12. Miscellaneous. The captions in this Addendum are for convenience only. Any capitalized term
that is not defined in this Addendum shall have the meaning given to it in the Franchise Agreement. In
the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Addendum and the provisions of the Franchise
Agreement, the terms of this Addendum shall govern and control. Except as expressly provided in this
Addendum, the Franchise Agreement remains unmodified and in full force and effect. This Addendum
may be executed in counterparts, and each copy so executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an
original. Any signature by facsimile or scanned PDF shall be deemed an original signature.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum
as of the date of the Franchise Agreement.

EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

FRANCHISEE:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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EXHIBIT A

1. Address of the Facility:

2. Full Menu or Limited Menu:

3. Menu Items, if Limited Menu Earl of Sandwich Restaurant:
4. Other Businesses Operated by Franchisee at the Facility:

5. Attach Floor Plan of the Facility.
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VETERANS ADDENDUM
TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

This Veterans Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Franchise Agreement dated
(“Franchise Agreement”) between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”), a Florida
limited liability company, and (“Franchisee”), a , 1s entered into as
ofthe  day of ,20 .

RECITALS

In order to recognize the contribution of United States military personnel, attract new franchisees
and encourage the development of franchised Earl of Sandwich restaurants (“Earl of Sandwich
Restaurants”), EOS has implemented a veterans incentive program (“Veterans Program™) for qualified
veteran franchisees that develop and open new Earl of Sandwich Restaurants.

Franchisee (or if Franchisee is an entity, a holder of at least a 51% ownership in Franchisee) is a
veteran and has provided EOS with a DD Form 214 or other adequate documentation, as determined by
EOS, demonstrating honorable discharge from the United States military.

Franchisee does not currently operate any Earl of Sandwich Restaurants.

Since Franchisee’s development of the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant to be located at
(“Restaurant”) meets the criteria for the Veterans Program, EOS and
Franchisee are entering into this Addendum to provide the Veterans Program benefits to Franchisee and to
modify certain provisions of the Franchise Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, agreements and obligations set
forth below, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

1. Initial Franchise Fee Reduction. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Data Sheet and Section
7.A.(2) of the Franchise Agreement, Franchisee shall receive a $5,000 discount and pay a reduced Initial
Franchise Fee to EOS in the amount of $20,000.

2. Repayment of Reduced Application Fee on Transfer or Termination. If, prior to the first
anniversary of the opening date of the Restaurant, (a) Franchisee transfers the Restaurant; or (b) EOS
terminates the Franchise Agreement, then Franchisee must pay to EOS the portion of the Initial Franchise
Fee that was waived by EOS in the amount of $5,000.

3. Capitalized Terms. Any capitalized terms that are not defined in this Addendum shall have the
meaning given them in the Franchise Agreement.

4. Limited Modification. Except as expressly modified by this Addendum, the Franchise Agreement
remains unmodified and in full force and effect.

[Signature Page Follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum

as of the day and year first above written.

EOS:

EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

FRANCHISEE:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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PURVIS GRAY

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Member
Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC and Subsidiaries
Orlando, Florida

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC and
Subsidiaries (the Company), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 29, 2024
and December 31, 2023 and the related consolidated statements of income, member’s equity, and cash
flows for the fiscal years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 29, 2024 and December 31, 2023, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the fiscal years then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Other Matter - Prior Period Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 25, 2022, were audited by other
auditors whose report dated September 11, 2023, expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there
are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date the consolidated financial statements
are available to be issued.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Gainesville | Ocala

Tallahassee | Sarasota

Orlando | Tampa
purvisgray.com

Members of American and Florida Institutes of Certified Public Accountants
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To the Member
Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC and Subsidiaries
Orlando, Florida

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in
the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated
financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we:
m Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

m Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements.

m  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

m Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

m  Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Purvis Gray

July 30, 2025
Winter Park, Florida
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EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 29, 2024, DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 25, 2022

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Restricted Investments
Accounts Receivable
Inventories
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Due from Related Parties

Total Current Assets

Property and Equipment, Net
Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets
Due from Related Parties
Other Asset
Deposits

Total Assets

ASSETS

December 29,

December 31,

December 25,

2024 2023 2022
S 572,551 S 501,797 S 171,861
1,800,000 300,000 300,000
342,586 277,162 175,823
154,472 181,162 144,454
477,879 534,820 580,205
37,007,138 33,996,076 27,380,419
40,354,626 35,791,017 28,752,762
4,621,927 1,629,740 1,197,961
11,307,618 1,891,449 3,182,935
4,552,068 6,739,731 7,712,299
145,900 145,900 -
400,000 400,000 2,552

$ 61,382,139

$ 46,597,837

S 40,848,509

LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Contract Liabilities, Current Portion
Current Portion of Operating Lease Liabilities
Due to Related Parties
Obligation Under Marketing Arrangement
Long-Term Debt, Current Portion, Net

Total Current Liabilities

Long-Term Debt, Net, Less Current Portion
Operating Lease Liabilities, Less Current Portion
Contract Liabilities, Long-Term Portion

Total Liabilities

Member's Equity
Contributed Capital
Retained Earnings

Total Member's Equity

Total Liabilities and Member's Equity

S 6,407,238 S 6,337,878 S 5,039,110
106,756 69,194 63,515
1,173,314 523,293 1,580,268
4,282,001 4,282,001 4,285,001
- 210,437 -

64,429 - -
12,033,738 11,422,803 10,967,894
5,659,514 1,849,895 -
10,606,069 1,387,333 1,945,558
1,271,857 1,397,277 1,416,652
29,571,178 16,057,308 14,330,104
3,759,714 3,759,714 3,759,714
28,051,247 26,780,815 22,758,691
31,810,961 30,540,529 26,518,405

S 61,382,139

S 46,597,837

$ 40,848,509

See accompanying notes.
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EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 29, 2024,

DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 25, 2022

Revenues
Restaurant
Franchise and Royalty
Other

Total Revenues

Costs and Expenses
Cost of Restaurant Revenues
Operating Expenses
Salaries and Benefits
Occupancy
Depreciation and Amortization
Total Costs and Expenses

Income Before Other Operating Expenses

Other Operating Expenses
General and Administrative Expenses

Operating Income

Non-Operating Income (Expense)
Pre-Opening Expense
Interest Expense
Loss on Uncollectible Related Party Receivable
Other Income (Expense), Net
Net Non-Operating Income (Expense)

Net Income

December 29,
2024

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

S 34,900,126

$ 33,023,379

S 18,852,442

1,615,235 1,822,526 1,740,027
11,536 8,615 -
36,526,897 34,854,520 20,592,469
9,597,622 8,859,546 5,145,625
4,038,877 4,606,121 2,970,735
9,556,422 8,556,436 4,547,531
6,241,776 5,709,121 3,624,666
570,337 415,525 679,712
30,005,034 28,146,749 16,968,269
6,521,863 6,707,771 3,624,200
1,852,757 2,319,582 2,595,915
4,669,106 4,388,189 1,028,285
(477,273) (211,327) (100,226)
(565,481) (154,738) -
(2,355,920) - -
- - 469,045
(3,398,674) (366,065) 368,819
$ 1270432 S 4,022,124 $ 1,397,104

See accompanying notes.
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Balance, December 26, 2021
Net Income

Balance, December 25, 2022
Net Income

Balance, December 31, 2023
Net Income

Balance, December 29, 2024

EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEMBER'S EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 29, 2024,
DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 25, 2022

Contributed Retained
Capital Earnings Total

S 3,759,714 S 21,361,587 25,121,301
- 1,397,104 1,397,104

3,759,714 22,758,691 26,518,405

- 4,022,124 4,022,124

3,759,714 26,780,815 30,540,529

- 1,270,432 1,270,432

S 3,759,714 S 28,051,247 31,810,961

See accompanying notes.
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net Income

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Depreciation and Amortization

Loss on Uncollectible Related Party Receivable

Deferred Rent

Loss on Disposal of Assets

Amortization of Deferred Financing Costs
Non-Cash Operating Lease Expense

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:

Accounts Receivable

Inventories

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Due from/to Related Parties, Net

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Operating Lease Liabilities
Contract Liabilities

Net Cash Flows Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases of Property and Equipment
Purchase of Restricted Investment
Purchase of Other Long-Term Asset
Increase in Deposits

Net Cash Flows Used In Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds Received Under Marketing Arrangement

Repayments Under Marketing Arrangement

Proceeds from Long-Term Debt, Net of Financing Costs

Payments on Long-Term Debt

Net Cash Flows Provided By Financing Activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

Cash Paid for Interest

Supplemental Non-Cash Financing Activities

Operating Lease Liabilities Incurred for
Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets

December 29,

EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 29, 2024,

DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 25, 2022

December 31,

December 25,

2024 2023 2022
$ 1,270,432 $ 4,022,124 $ 1,397,104
570,337 415,525 679,712
2,355,920 - -

- - (97,918)

- - 34,403

164,048 - -
1,161,607 1,291,486 324,369
(65,424) (101,339) 48,108

26,690 (36,708) 299

56,941 45,385 (160,563)
(3,179,319) (5,646,089) (1,864,054)
69,360 1,298,768 226,415
(709,019) (1,615,200) -
(87,858) (13,696) (2,033)
1,633,715 (339,744) 585,842
(3,562,524) (847,304) (647,430)
(1,500,000) - -

- (145,900) -

- (397,448) -

(5,062,524) (1,390,652) (647,430)
275,000 650,000 -
(485,437) (439,563) -
5,710,000 1,849,895 -
(2,000,000) - -
3,499,563 2,060,332 -
70,754 329,936 (61,588)
501,797 171,861 233,449

$ 572,551 $ 501,797 $ 171,861
$ 401,433 $ 154,738 S -
s 10,577,776 - $ 4,494,549

See accompanying notes.
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EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 - Nature of Operations and Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (the Company) was organized in the state of Florida on June 17, 2004, for the
purpose of developing the Earl of Sandwich restaurant concept, including the sale of franchises, and is
comprised of one member. At December 29, 2024, the Company owns and operates five fast casual
restaurants under the name “Earl of Sandwich,” offering a menu featuring hot, fresh, premium
sandwiches, salads, wraps, and related items. The restaurants are located in California, Florida, and
Nevada.

Basis of Accounting
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions for the periods presented have
been eliminated in consolidation.

Fiscal Year

The Company utilizes a 52 or 53-week fiscal year ending on the last Sunday of December for financial
reporting purposes. There were 52, 53, and 52 weeks in the years ended December 29, 2024,
December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months
or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents also include amounts due from commercial credit card
companies, which are generally received within a few days of the related transaction.

Restricted Investments

Restricted investments are comprised of certificates of deposit maturing in February 2025 and May 2025.
These investments are restricted as they are required as collateral against letters of credit issued by the
Company to ensure payments of rent for its Orlando and Anaheim restaurant leases. Investments in
certificates of deposit are recorded at amortized cost as the Company intends to hold these securities to
maturity.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses

Accounts receivable are primarily comprised of franchisee and customer obligations due under normal
trade terms. The Company recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses, which is updated at each
reporting date, to reflect any changes in credit risk since the receivables were initially recorded. The
allowance is determined by evaluating factors such as customer creditworthiness, the length of time
accounts receivable are past due, the Company’s previous loss history, the customer’s current ability to
pay its obligation to the Company, and the condition of the general economy and the industry as a whole.
Accounts receivable balances are charged off against the allowance for credit losses after recovery efforts
have ceased.



EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Historically, the Company has not had credit losses. The Company believes that the composition of
accounts receivable at year-end is consistent with historical conditions as credit terms and practices and
its customer base have not changed significantly. As a result, the Company has not recorded an allowance
for expected credit losses at December 29, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022.

Accounts receivable from contracts with customers as of December 26, 2021, December 25, 2022, and as
of the beginning and end of the year ended December 29, 2024, were approximately $110,000, $71,000
$158,000 and $251,000, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of food, beverage, and supplies, are valued at the lower of cost or net
realizable value. Cost is determined using the weighted-average method, which approximates the first-in,
first-out method.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives
or the related lease life. For leases with renewal options, the Company generally uses the renewal periods
to determine the lease life if failure to exercise a renewal option would impose an economic penalty to
the Company and management determines the renewal is reasonably assured.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value of an asset or group of assets may not be recoverable. The Company considers a
history of consistent and significant operating losses to be a primary indicator of potential asset impairment.
Assets are grouped and evaluated for impairment at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash
flows, primarily the individual restaurants. A restaurant is deemed to be impaired if a forecast of its future
operating cash flows directly related to the restaurant are less than its carrying amount. If a restaurant is
determined to be impaired, the loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the
restaurant exceeds its fair value. Fair value is an estimate based on the best information available including
prices for similar assets or the results of valuation techniques such as discounted, estimated future cash
flows, as if the decision to continue to use the impaired restaurant was a new investment decision.
Judgments and estimates made related to long-lived assets are affected by factors such as economic
conditions, changes in historical resale values, and changes in operating performance. This process requires
the use of estimates and assumptions, which are subject to a high degree of judgment. If these assumptions
change in the future, the Company may be required to record impairment charges for these assets. There
were no impairment charges recognized for years ended December 29, 2024, December 31, 2023, and
December 25, 2022.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs are amortized using the effective interest method over the term of the related
debt. Amortization of deferred financing costs is included in interest expense in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income. Upon the extinguishment of the related debt, any unamortized
deferred financing costs are immediately expensed and included in current earnings. Deferred financing
costs are presented as a direct reduction from the carrying amount of the related debt liability on the
consolidated balance sheets.



EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue Recognition

Revenues consist primarily of sales from restaurant operations and franchise revenues. The Company
recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control over a product or
service to a restaurant guest or franchisee as further discussed in Note 2.

Advertising Expenses

The Company expenses all advertising costs as they are incurred. Total advertising costs for the fiscal years
ended December 29, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022 were approximately $114,000,
$202,000, and $105,000, respectively, and are included in operating expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income.

Self-Insurance

The Company is primarily self-insured for a significant portion of its current medical and dental programs
along with an insignificant portion of general liability insurance. In estimating its self-insurance reserves,
the Company utilizes estimates of future losses, based upon historical loss trends and historical industry
data and actuarial estimates of settlement costs for incurred claims. These reserves are monitored and
adjusted when warranted by changing circumstances. Should an additional change in claims occur
compared to current estimates, the Company’s reserves could be either increased or decreased based
upon that data. Any increases or decreases in insurance reserves would be offset by a corresponding
increase or decrease in insurance expense. Self-insurance liability was approximately $50,000, $30,000,
and $31,000 at December 29, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022, respectively, which is
included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Pre-Opening Costs

Pre-opening costs, consisting primarily of employee payroll and related training costs and occupancy costs
incurred prior to the opening of the restaurant, are expensed as incurred. Pre-opening costs were
approximately $477,000, $211,000 and $100,000 for the years ended December 29, 2024, December 31,
2023, and December 25, 2022, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company was formed as a limited liability company and is treated as a pass-through entity for federal
income tax purposes. The member includes the Company’s income or loss in its individual income tax
return. Accordingly, no provisions for federal and state income taxes have been included in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company identifies and evaluates uncertain tax positions, if any, and recognizes the impact of
uncertain tax positions for which there is a less than more-likely-than-not probability of the position being
upheld when reviewed by the relevant taxing authority. Such positions are deemed to be unrecognized
tax benefits and a corresponding liability is established on the balance sheets. The Company has not
recognized a liability for uncertain tax positions. If there were an unrecognized tax benefit, the Company
would recognize interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and penalties in
operating expenses. The Company’s open tax years subject to examination by the Internal Revenue
Service generally remain open for three years from the date of filing.



EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement contains a lease at inception based on whether the Company
has the right to control the asset during the contract period, and other facts and circumstances, and also
assesses lease classification as either operating or finance. For operating leases with terms greater than
twelve months, the Company records a right-of-use (ROU) asset and lease liability at the present value of
lease payments over the term of the lease. Leases with a term of twelve months or less are not recorded
on the balance sheet but are expensed on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. When available,
the Company uses the rate implicit in the lease to discount lease payments to present value. In situations
where a lease does not provide a readily determinable implicit rate, the Company has elected to apply the
provisions under Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2021-09, Leases (Topic 842): Discount Rate for
Lessees that are not Public Business Entities, which allows the Company to use a risk-free rate as its
discount rate. When an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Company accounts
for both components as a single lease component for its real estate leases. ROU assets and lease liabilities
are presented separately in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Rent expense for operating leases, which may have escalating rentals over the term of the lease and may
include rent holidays or abatements, is recorded on a straight-line basis over the entire lease term,
including renewal option periods where the Company has determined exercise of such options is
reasonably certain. The Company’s restaurant leases may include variable lease obligations based on a
percentage of gross revenues. In addition, the Company’s restaurant leases may periodically be adjusted
based on changes in the consumer price index. Subsequent changes in the index are recorded as variable
rental payments and are expensed as incurred in the Company’s consolidated statements of income.
Other variable rental payments, such as percentage rent, common area maintenance and operating costs,
are expensed as incurred in the Company’s consolidated statements of income. Payments received from
landlords as incentives for leasehold improvements are recorded as a reduction of the ROU asset and
amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease as a reduction of rent expense.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company follows the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC) 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure, which clarifies the definition of fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands required disclosure about fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities. ASC 820 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be
received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous
market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement
date. ASC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The standard
describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
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Level 1—Valuation based on quoted market prices in active markets that the Company has the ability to
access for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Valuation based on quoted market prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets.

Level 3—Valuation based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity,
therefore requiring management’s best estimate of what market participants would use as fair value.

The Company does not have any assets or liabilities recognized at fair value at December 29, 2024,
December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022.

The respective carrying values of certain on-balance-sheet financial instruments approximated their fair
values due to the short-term nature of these instruments. These financial instruments include cash and
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, due from related parties, accounts payable and accrued expenses,
and due to related parties.

The fair value of the Company’s debt is estimated based on current rates that would be available for debt
of similar terms, which is not significantly different from its stated value.

Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements

Leases

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which supersedes existing guidance
for accounting for leases under Topic 840, Leases. The FASB also subsequently issued additional ASUs
which amend and clarify Topic 842. The updated guidance requires balance sheet recognition for all leases
with lease terms greater than one year including a lease liability, which is a lessee’s obligation to make
lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and a right-of-use asset that
represents the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term.

The Company adopted the ASUs effective December 27, 2021, using the modified retrospective approach.
The Company elected to adopt the package of practical expedients available under the transition guidance
of ASC 842. This package includes the following: relief from determination of lease contracts included in
existing or expiring leases at the date of adoption, relief from having to reevaluate the classification of
leases in effect at the date of adoption, and relief from reevaluation of existing leases that have initial
direct costs associated with the execution of the lease contract. The Company has also elected the
practical expedient allowing the Company not to separate non-lease components from lease components
within the contract for its leases. In addition, the Company has elected the land easement practical
expedient not to reassess whether an existing or expired land easement is a lease or contains a lease if it
has not historically been accounted for as a lease. The Company has made an accounting policy election
not to apply the recognition requirements in Topic 842 to short-term leases with initial terms of twelve
months or less.
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As a result, the Company recorded ROU assets and lease liabilities of approximately $4,487,000 and
$4,506,000, respectively. Adoption of the new standard had no impact on beginning member’s equity.
The adoption of Topic 842 did not have an impact on the consolidated statements of income.

Current Expected Credit Losses

InJune 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments (Topic 326). Topic 326 introduced a new forward-looking approach, based
on expected losses, to estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments, including trade
receivables. The estimate of expected credit losses requires entities to incorporate considerations of
historical information, current information, and reasonable and supportable forecasts, and will generally
result in earlier recognition of allowances for losses. The Company adopted the new standard effective
December 26, 2022. The adoption of Topic 326 did not have a material impact on the Company's
consolidated financial statements.

Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated events and transactions occurring subsequent to December 29, 2024 as of
July 30, 2025, which is the date the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. No
material events have occurred since December 29, 2024, that require recognition or disclosure in the
financial statements except as discussed below.

On February 26, 2025, the Company entered into a promissory note and security agreement with a vendor
in the amount of $1,031,502 to extend the payment terms on certain invoices for the purchase of food
and beverages. Fixed weekly payments of $10,953 are due beginning March 3, 2025 through February 22,
2027. The note bears interest at a fixed rate of 10% and is collateralized by a security interest in certain
property of the Company.

On March 3, 2025, the Company entered into an equipment finance lease agreement whereby the lessor
will fund the purchase of certain equipment on the Company’s behalf in an aggregate amount of
$2,000,000. A total of $810,000 has been funded by the lessor as of the date these financial statements
were available to be issued. Interest is based on a lease rate factor of 0.02886 and principal and interest
payments are due in 36 monthly installments of $57,720 beginning on the first day of the calendar quarter
following the final acceptance date of the lease. In connection with the agreement, the Company is
required to provide a security deposit totaling 10% of the leased property cost.

Note 2 - Revenue Recognition

Restaurant Revenue

The Company recognizes revenues from restaurant sales, net of sales tax, when payment is tendered at
the point of sale and the Company’s performance obligation to provide food and beverage to the customer
has been satisfied. Coupons and other in-restaurant promotions are recognized at the point of sale as a
direct reduction of revenue. Sales tax is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses until remitted
to the appropriate taxing authority.

Proceeds from the sale of the Company’s gift cards are recorded as unredeemed gift card liabilities and
recognized as revenue upon redemption by the customer. Gift card breakage, the value associated with

the portion of gift cards sold that will most likely never be redeemed, is recognized as gift card breakage
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income within restaurant revenue based on historical redemption patterns by applying an estimate of the
rate of gift card breakage on a pro rata basis over the period of estimated redemption. The Company
updates its estimate of breakage rates periodically and adjusts the unredeemed gift card balance
accordingly. Incremental direct costs related to gift card sales, including discounts, are deferred and
recognized in earnings in the same pattern as the related gift card revenue. If actual redemptions vary
from assumptions used to estimate breakage, gift card breakage income may differ from the amount
recorded. Contract liabilities related to unredeemed gift cards at December 29, 2024, December 31, 2023,
December 25, 2022, and December 26, 2021 were approximately $107,000, $169,000, $169,000 and
$166,000, respectively, and are included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

Franchise Revenue

The Company recognizes revenue from development and franchise fees as well as franchise royalties when
control of promised goods or services are transferred to a customer in an amount that reflects the
consideration expected to be received for those goods or services.

The Company’s development and franchise agreements typically require an upfront non-refundable fee to
be paid upon execution of the agreement. The Company’s standard initial development and franchise fee
is $25,000 per restaurant for any franchise agreement entered into by a new franchisee. The Company
provides its franchisees with management expertise, training, pre-opening assistance, and restaurant
operating assistance in exchange for area development fees and up-front franchise fees. The services
provided by the Company under its development and franchise agreements are highly interrelated with
the franchise right and are not considered distinct. As a result, initial development and franchise fees are
recognized over the term of the development and franchise agreements, which is generally ten years.
Unearned area development fees and franchise fees are included in contract liabilities in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Contract liabilities as of December 26, 2021, December 25,
2022, and as of the beginning and end of the year ended December 29, 2024, were approximately
$1,482,000, $1,480,000, $1,466,000, and $1,379,000, respectively.

Franchisees are required to remit 3.0% to 6.0% of their net sales as royalties to the Company. The
Company recognizes these sales-based royalties as the underlying franchisee sales occur. Franchise

royalties are generally due to the Company weekly.

Note 3 - Restaurant Closures

In September 2024, the Company closed a restaurant in Boston, Massachusetts. The Company incurred
net operating losses of approximately $102,000 from this restaurant during the fiscal year ended
December 29, 2024. In January 2023, the Company closed a restaurant in Tampa, Florida and in June 2023,
the Company closed a restaurant in St Petersburg, Florida. The Company incurred net operating losses of
approximately $36,000 and $90,000, respectively, for these two locations during the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2023. In January 2022, the Company closed a restaurant located in Anaheim, California.
The Company incurred net operating losses of approximately $514,000 from this restaurant during the
fiscal year ended December 25, 2022.
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Note 4 - Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net is summarized as follows:

Estimated December 29, December31, December 25,

Useful Lives 2024 2023 2022
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 5-10 Years S 1,098,418 §$ 1,098,418 § 963,555
Leasehold Improvements 5-25 Years 4,211,727 2,791,605 2,513,915
Computer Equipment 5 Years 564,882 564,882 550,492
Construction in Progress N/A 3,206,980 1,064,578 649,684
9,082,007 5,519,483 4,677,646

Less Accumulated Depreciation
and Amortization (4,460,080) (3,889,743) (3,479,685)
$ 4,621,927 S 1629740 $ 1,197,961

Depreciation and amortization expense was approximately $570,000, $416,000, and $680,000 for the
fiscal years ended December 29, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022, respectively.

Note 5 - Long-Term Debt

Effective June 15, 2023, the Company entered into a term loan agreement with Bank United for $5,000,000,
of which up to $1,500,000 was to be used for closing costs and monies expended by the Company for a pop-
up facility on certain licensed property and soft construction costs related to a permanent facility in Anaheim,
California. The remaining $3,500,000 was to be funded to the Company upon completion of certain criteria
as defined in the loan agreement. The loan boar interest at a rate equal to a floating 1-month SOFR plus
2.75% (8.11% at December 31, 2023). Interest-only payments were due monthly through January 2025, after
which principal payments of $92,593 plus interest were payable monthly through maturity on June 15, 2029.
The loan was guaranteed by an individual related to the Company’s sole member and was collateralized by
substantially all of the assets of the Company and a collateral assignment of membership interest. The loan
was subject to certain financial and non-financial covenants. At December 31, 2023, $2,000,000 was
outstanding under the loan agreement and unamortized deferred financing costs totaled approximately
$150,000.

In May 2024, the Company entered into a promissory note with Synovus Bank for up to $8,000,000, the
proceeds of which were used, in part, to repay the $2,000,000 owed to Bank United. Interest on the note
accrues at a per annum variable rate of 2.49% above Term SOFR, with a floor of 3.49% and a ceiling of the
lesser of 18% per annum or the maximum non-usurious interest rate allowed under law (6.85% at
December 29, 2024). Interest only payments are due monthly through November 2025, after which
principal payments in an amount based upon the outstanding balance at that date plus interest are
payable monthly through maturity in May 2029. The note is collateralized by substantially all of the assets
of the Company and a collateral assignment of membership interest. The note is subject to certain
financial and non-financial covenants. Principal on the note at December 29, 2024, is scheduled to mature
as follows:
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Year
2025 S 88,333
2026 1,060,000
2027 1,060,000
2028 1,060,000
2029 2,561,180
Total 5,829,513
Less Unamortized Deferred Financing Costs (105,570)
5,723,943
Less Current Portion (64,429)
Long-Term Debt, Net S 5,659,514

The terms of the debt also require the Company to obtain a $1,500,000 certificate of deposit with the
lender to secure a letter of credit issued to a lessor as discussed in Note 1.

Note 6 - Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company leases certain restaurant facilities and equipment under non-cancelable operating lease
agreements expiring at various dates through November 2040. Renewal and termination clauses included
in the Company’s lease agreements are factored into the determination of the lease term if it is reasonably
certain these options would be exercised by the Company. The leases provide for fixed monthly rental
payments and may include provisions for escalating future minimum rental payments. Certain of the
leases also provide for variable lease payments for percentage rent based on gross sales, common area
maintenance and other operating costs, which are expensed as incurred. The Company’s lease
agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. At
December 29, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022, the weighted-average discount rate
used in the determination of initial lease liabilities is 4.11%, 1.16%, and 1.16%, respectively, and the
weighted-average remaining lease term is 13.24, 3.64, and 3.50 years, respectively.

During the year ended December 29, 2024, total operating lease costs and variable lease payments incurred
were approximately $1,315,000 and $4,128,000, respectively, and operating lease costs for short-term leases
with terms less than twelve months totaled approximately $1,250,000 and are included in occupancy
expense and pre-opening expense within the consolidated statements of income. Cash paid for the amounts
included in the measurement of lease liabilities totaled approximately $862,000 for the year ended
December 29, 2024.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, total operating lease costs and variable lease payments incurred
were approximately $1,274,000 and $3,969,000, respectively, and operating lease costs for short-term leases
with terms less than twelve months totaled approximately $458,000 and are included in occupancy expense
within the consolidated statements of income. Cash paid for the amounts included in the measurement of
lease liabilities totaled approximately $1,584,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023.

During the year ended December 25, 2022, total operating lease costs and variable lease payments incurred
were approximately $1,361,000 and $2,238,000, respectively, and operating lease costs for short-term leases
with terms less than twelve months totaled approximately $2,000 and are included in occupancy expense
within the consolidated statements of income. Cash paid for the amounts included in the measurement of
lease liabilities totaled approximately $1,038,000 for the year ended December 25, 2022.
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As of December 29, 2024, maturities of the Company’s lease liabilities are as follows:

Year Ending December 31,

2025 S 1,636,839

2026 1,386,839

2027 1,224,901

2028 900,000

2029 900,000

Thereafter 9,750,000

Total Minimum Lease Payments 15,798,579

Less Amount Representing Interest (4,019,196)
Present Value of Future Minimum Lease Payments S 11,779,383

Employee Benefit Plan

The Company provides 401(k) plan benefits to employees through the Earl Enterprises Retirement Savings
Plan (the Plan). Employees are deemed eligible upon attaining age 21 and completing one year of service,
as defined by the Plan. Participants may contribute up to an annual maximum allowed under the Internal
Revenue Code. The Company made employer safe harbor matching contributions to the Plan of
approximately $49,000, $42,000, and $39,000, respectively, for the fiscal years ended December 29, 2024,
December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022.

Letters of Credit

In connection with its Orlando and Anaheim restaurant leases, the Company was required to obtain a
$300,000 and $1,500,000 letter of credit, respectively, to ensure payment of rent. The letters of credit
expire in May 2025 and will automatically renew for successive one year periods until terminated. As
discussed in Note 1, the Company has restricted certificates of deposit totaling $1,800,000 that serve as
collateral for the letters of credit.

Litigation - General

The Company is subject to certain legal actions arising in the normal course of business. Management
cannot predict the outcome of the lawsuits or estimate the amount of any loss that may result.
Accordingly, no provision for any contingent liabilities that may result has been made in the consolidated
financial statements. Management believes that losses resulting from these matters, if any, would not
have a material adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Company.

Note 7 - Related-Party Transactions

License Agreement

The Company entered into a global license agreement with a licensor related to the Company’s member
effective January 1, 2007. This agreement allows the Company the use of the Earl of Sandwich trademark
and name worldwide for a term of 99 years and may be extended by the Company for additional 49-year
periods unless the licensor elects to acquire the Company under the terms of the agreement. The licensor
may terminate the agreement by giving written notice to the Company within 30 days of default of the
agreement, as defined. The Company must pay the licensor, on a quarterly basis, 1.5% of the net sales of
all Company-owned stores located in the United States. For Company-owned stores located outside the
United States, the Company must pay the licensor, on a quarterly basis, 1.5% of the net sales that represent
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1/3 or less of the total sales for the region and 2% of the net sales that represent more than 1/3 of the
total sales. The Company must also pay 25% of licensee royalties subject to a minimum of 1.5% of net
sales of the franchisees. The percentage is 1% for those franchisees located outside of the United States
of America. The licensor will also receive 25% of certain licensee income as defined in the agreement. For
the fiscal years ended December 29, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022, the Company
incurred approximately $951,000, $956,000, and $748,000, respectively, in license fees, which are
included in operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. At December 29,
2024, December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022, approximately $451,000, $281,000, and $198,000,
respectively, was due to the licensor and is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Consulting Agreement

The Company has a consulting agreement with an entity related to the Company’s member in conjunction
with the development of the Earl of Sandwich brand including menu creation, logo design, brand
promotion, restaurant design, identifying potential franchises, and other general administrative duties.
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the consultant will be paid $500,000 annually for these services.
The agreement renews annually for one-year periods unless canceled by written notice of either party.
The agreement was terminated effective December 31, 2024. The parties agreed to waive the consulting
fees during each of the years ended December 29, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022.

Due From/To Related Parties

Amounts due from/to related parties are comprised of non-interest-bearing cash advances between
affiliated entities controlled by the Company’s member or parties related to the member. At December 29,
2024, December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022, approximately $37,000,000, $34,000,000, and
$27,000,000, respectively, of related-party advances are due on demand, and, therefore, classified as
current in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Certain amounts due from related parties have
been classified as long-term in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets because collection is not
anticipated within the next year. During the year ended December 29, 2024, the Company determined
that approximately $2,356,000 of advances due from a related party are uncollectible and recognized a
loss on uncollectible related party receivable which is included in non-operating expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income.

Administrative Fees

The Company is obligated to pay a related-party monthly administrative fees related to shared office
expenses and support. Under this agreement, the Company incurred total expenses of approximately
$1,200,000 for each of the years ended December 29, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022.
These expenses are included in the accompanying consolidated statements of income as general and
administrative expenses.

Note 8 - Concentrations of Credit Risk

Cash and cash equivalents are maintained at various financial institutions which are insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation up to $250,000 per institution, and at times, may exceed the federally
insured limit. The Company places its funds with high credit quality financial institutions and does not
believe it is exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and cash equivalents. Concentrations of credit
risk with respect to credit card receivables are limited as the receivables are anticipated to be collected
within three business days of the transaction.
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UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS HAVE BEEN PREPARED WITHOUT AN AUDIT.
PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEES OR SELLERS OF FRANCHISES SHOULD BE ADVISED THAT

NO CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT HAS AUDITED THESE FIGURES OR EXPRESSED AN
OPINION WITH REGARD TO THEIR CONTENT OR FORM.



EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

BALANCE SHEET THROUGH 06/29/2025

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted investments
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Due from related parties
Total Current Assets

Property and equipment, net
Other Asseets

Right of use asset - operating
Due from related parties
Deposits

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued exp
Contract liabilities, current portion
Current portion of operating lease liability
Notes payable

Total Current Liabilities

Notes payable, long-term portion

Operating lease liability, less current portion

Contract Liabilities, long-term portion

Total Long Term Liabilities

Total Liabilities
Member's Equity
Contributed capital
Retained earnings
Total Member's Equity

Total Liabilities and Member's Equity

[ 2024-@2 | 2025 - Q2
$1,914 $352,185
$1,800,000 $1,800,000
$248,697 $345,420
$178,185 $217,270
$433,059 $311,405
$30,913,060 $38,187,653
$33,574,915 $41,213,933
$3,113,358 $5,028,000
$145,900 $145,900
$1,628,739 $981,047
$6,864,576 $4,364,608
$400,000 $400,000
$12,152,573 $10,919,555
$45,727,488 $52,133,488
$5,365,776 $5,966,435
$75,194 $75,194
$510,559 $473,178
30 $569,538
$5,951,529 $7,084,345
$4,619,513 $9,648,286
$1,127,145 $523,222
$1,381,115 $1,268,721
$7,127,773 $11,440,228
$13,079,302 $18,524,574
$3,759,714 $3,759,714
$28,888,473 $29,849,200
$32,648,187 $33,608,914
$45,727,489 $52,133,488




EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Revenues:
Restaurant
Franchise and royalty
Other
Total Revenues

Costs and Expenses:
Cost of restaurant sales
Operating expenses
Salaries and benefits
Occupancy
Depreciation and amortization
Total Costs and Expenses

Income Before Other Operating Expenses

Other Operating Expenses:
General and administrative expenses
Total Other Operating Expenses

Operating Income

Nonoperating Income (Expenses):
Interest income (expense)
Other income (expense), net

Net Nonoperating Income

Net Income

YTD YTD

Qtr 2 2024 Qtr 2 2025
$18,125,701 $18,066,959
$777,627 $696,488
$49,259
$18,903,328 $18,812,706
$4,660,216 $4,521,315
$3,035,464 $2,812,928
$4,465,532 $4,781,571
$3,010,341 $2,966,334
$73,200 $65,169
$15,244,753 $15,147,317
$3,658,575 $3,665,389
$1,169,770 $1,054,090
$1,169,770 $1,054,090
$2,488,805 $2,611,299
($107,009) ($274,811)
S0 $0
($107,009) ($274,811)
$2,381,796 $2,336,488




EXHIBIT J

STATE SPECIFIC ADDENDA TO THE FDD

EOS Disclosure Document — 09/2325



ADDITIONAL BISCEOSUREDOCUMENT-DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

1. SECTION 31125 OF THE CALIFORNIA CORPORATIONS CODE REQUIRES US TO GIVE
YOU A DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT, IN A FORM CONTAINING THE INFORMATION
THAT THE COMMISSIONER MAY BY RULE OR ORDER REQUIRE, BEFORE A
SOLICITATION OF A PROPOSED MATERIAL MODIFICATION OF AN EXISTING

FRANCHISE.

THE CALIFORNIA FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW REQUIRES THAT A COPY OF ALL
PROPOSED AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE SALE OF THE FRANCHISE BE
DELIVERED TOGETHER WITH THE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT.

See the cover page of the disclosure document for EOS’s URL address. OUR WEBSITE HAS
NOT BEEN REVIEWED OR APPROVED BY THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF
FINANCIAL PROTECTION AND INNOVATION. ANY COMPLAINTS CONCERNING THE
CONTENTS OF THIS WEBSITE MAY BE DIRECTED TO THE CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL PROTECTION AND INNOVATION AT
WWW.DFPL.CA.GOV.

2. Item 3, Additional Disclosure. The following statement is added to Item 3:

Neither EOS nor any person listed in Item 2 is subject to any currently effective order of any
national securities association or national securities exchange, as defined in the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C.A. 78a ef seq., suspending or expelling such parties from membership in
such association or exchange.

3. Item 17, Additional Disclosures. The following statements are added to Item 17:

California Business and Professions Code Sections 20000 through 20043 provide rights to you
concerning transfer, termination or non-renewal of the franchise and development agreements. If
the agreements contain a provision that is inconsistent with the law, the law will control.

The franchise and development agreements provide for termination upon bankruptcy. These
provisions may not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law (11 U.S.C.A. § 101, et seq.).

The franchise and development agreements provide for application of the laws of Florida. This
provision may not be enforceable under California law.

This provision may not be enforceable under California law.

The franchise and development agreements contain a covenant not to compete that extends beyond
the termination of the franchise. These provisions may not be enforceable under California law.

The franchise and development agreements contain liquidated damages clauses. Under California
Civil Code Section 1671, certain liquidated damages clauses are unenforceable.
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You must sign a general release upon execution of the franchise and development agreements, if
you transfer the rights granted under those agreements and if you renew your franchise under the
franchise agreement. These provisions may not be enforceable under California law. California
Corporations Code Section 31512 voids a waiver of your rights under the Franchise Investment
Law (California Corporations Code Sections 31000 through 31516). Business and Professions
Code Section 21000 voids a waiver of your rights under the Franchise Relations Act (Business and
Professions Code Sections 20000 through 20043).

To obtain a liquor license in California, you must apply in-person with the State of California
Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control, at your district office (“Department”). The
Department will conduct an investigation, and you are responsible for posting a public notice and
furnishing any additional notices or information requested by the Department. An application for
a liquor license in California can take from 55 to 175 days or more to be approved, depending on
the circumstances. For more information, please visit https://www.abc.ca.gov/ or call the
Department at 916.419.2500.

4. Item 22, Additional Disclosure. The following statements are added to Item 22:

No diselatmerstatement, questionnaire, elause;—or statementacknowledgment signed or agreed to
by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall be

constraed-er-interpreted-as-have the effect of (i) waiving any elaim-efclaims under any applicable
state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, whethercommentaw-or statatory;-oras(ii)

disclaiming reliance on er-the-right-torely-upen-any statement made erinformation-provided-by
any franchrsor brekerfranchise seller or other person actlng on behalf of the franchlsor—that—was—a

ma#es%mem—dee&o& Th1s provision supersedes any other GHHGGHS-}S{%Ht—teI‘m of any document
executed in connection with the franchise.

The registration of this franchise offering by the California Department of Financial
Protection and Innovation does not constitute approval, recommendation, or endorsement by the
commissioner.

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF HAWAII

THESE FRANCHISES WILL BE/HAVE BEEN FILED UNDER THE FRANCHISE
INVESTMENT LAW OF THE STATE OF HAWAIIL. —FILING DOES NOT CONSTITUTE
APPROVAL, RECOMMENDATION OR ENDORSEMENT BY THE DIRECTOR OF
COMMERCE-AND-CONSUMER AFFAIRSREGULATORY AGENCIES OR A FINDING BY
THE DIRECTOR OF COMMERCEAND-CONSUMER AFFAIRSREGULATORY AGENCIES
THAT THE INFORMATION PROVIDED HEREIN IS TRUE, COMPLETE AND NOT
MISLEADING.

THE FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW MAKES IT UNLAWFUL TO OFFER OR SELL ANY
FRANCHISE IN THIS STATE WITHOUT FIRST PROVIDING TO THE PROSPECTIVE
FRANCHISEE, OR SUBFRANCHISOR, AT LEAST SEVEN DAYS PRIOR TO THE
EXECUTION BY THE PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEE; OF ANY BINDING FRANCHISE OR
OTHER AGREEMENT, OR AT LEAST SEVEN DAYS PRIOR TO THE PAYMENT OF ANY
CONSIDERATION BY THE FRANCHISEE, OR SUBFRANCHISOR, WHICHEVER OCCURS
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FIRST, A COPY OF THE BISCEOSURE-DOCUMENTOFFERING CIRCULAR, TOGETHER
WITH A COPY OF ALL PROPOSED AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE SALE OF THE
FRANCHISE.

THIS DISCEOSEREDOCUMENTOFFERING CIRCULAR CONTAINS A SUMMARY ONLY
OF CERTAIN MATERIAL PROVISIONS OF THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT.— THE
CONTRACT OR AGREEMENT SHOULD BE REFERRED TO FOR A STATEMENT OF ALL
RIGHTS, CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS AND OBLIGATIONS OF BOTH THE FRANCHISOR
AND THE FRANCHISEE.

Registered agent in the state authorized to receive service of process: Commissioner of Securities,
Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs, Business Registration Division, Securities Compliance
Branch, 335 Merchant Street, Room 203, Honolulu, Hawaii 96813.

ADDITIONAL-BISCELOSEREDOCUMENT DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF ILLINOIS

Item 17, Additional Disclosures. The following statements are added to Item 17:

Illinois law geverasshall applv to and govern the Franchise and Development Agreements.

In conformance with Section 4 of the [llinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any provision in a franchise
agreement that designates jurisdiction and venue in a forum outside of the State of Illinois is void.
However, a franchise agreement may provide for arbitration to take place outside of Illinois.

¥eurFranchisees’ rights upon Termination and Non-Renewal are set forth in sections 19 and 20 of
the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act.

In conformance with section 41 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any condition, stipulation
or provision purporting to bind any person acquiring any franchise to waive compliance with the
Ilinois Franchise Disclosure Act or any other law of Illinois is void.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by you in connection with the
commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under
any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance
on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the
franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with
the franchise.

For info about obtaining a liquor license in Illinois, see: https://www.illinois.gov/ilcc/Pages/Forms-and-
Applications.aspx

For info about obtaining TIPS certification in Illinois, see: https://www.tipscertified.com/tips-state-
pages/illinois
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ADDITIONAL BISCEOSUBREDOCUMENT-DISCLOSURES

REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF MARYLAND

1. Item 5: Initial Fees. The following is added at the end of Item 5 of the Disclosure Document:

Based upon our financial condition, the Maryland Securities Commissioner has required a financial
assurance. Therefore, all initial fees and payments owed by franchisees shall be deferred until we
complete our pre-opening obligations under the Franchise Agreement. In addition, all development
fees and initial payments by developers shall be deferred until the first Earl of Sandwich Restaurant
under the Development Agreement opens.

2. Item 17, Additional Disclosures. The following statements are added to Item 17:

The franchise agreements provide for termination upon bankruptcy. These provisions may not be
enforceable under federal bankruptcy law.

Any provisions requiring you to sign a general release of claims against EOS, including upon
execution of the franchise agreements, renewal or transfer, does not release any claim you may
have under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.

Any claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law must be brought
within 3 years after the grant of the franchise.

A franchisee may bring a lawsuit in Maryland for claims arising under the Maryland Franchise
Registration and Disclosure Law.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims
under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming
reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf
of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection
with the franchise.

Each provision of these Additional Disclosures shall be effective only to the extent, with respect to such
provision, that the jurisdictional requirements of the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law
are met independently without reference to these Additional Disclosures.

ADDITIONAL BISCELOSEREDOCUMENT-DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF MICHIGAN

THE STATE OF MICHIGAN PROHIBITS CERTAIN UNFAIR PROVISIONS THAT ARE
SOMETIMES IN FRANCHISE DOCUMENTS. IF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS
ARE IN THESE FRANCHISE DOCUMENTS, THE PROVISIONS ARE VOID AND CANNOT BE
ENFORCED AGAINST YOU.
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Each of the following provisions is void and unenforceable if contained in any documents relating
to a franchise:

(a) A prohibition of the right of a franchisee to join an association of franchisees.

(b) A requirement that a franchisee assent to a release, assignment, novation, waiver, or
estoppel which deprives a franchisee of rights and protections provided in this act. This
shall not preclude a franchisee, after entering into a franchise agreement, from settling any
and all claims.

(©) A provision that permits a franchisor to terminate a franchise prior to the expiration of its
term except for good cause. Good cause shall include the failure of the franchisee to
comply with any lawful provision of the franchise agreement and to cure such failure after
being given written notice thereof and a reasonable opportunity, which in no event need be
more than 30 days, to cure such failure.

(d) A provision that permits a franchisor to refuse to renew a franchise without fairly
compensating the franchisee by repurchase or other means for the fair market value at the
time of expiration of the franchisee’s inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures, and
furnishings. Personalized materials which have no value to the franchisor and inventory,
supplies, equipment, fixtures, and furnishings not reasonably required in the conduct of the
franchise business are not subject to compensation. This subsection applies only if: (i) the
term of the franchise is less than 5 years; and (ii) the franchisee is prohibited by the
franchise or other agreement from continuing to conduct substantially the same business
under another trademark, service mark, trade name, logotype, advertising, or other
commercial symbol in the same area subsequent to the expiration of the franchise or the
franchisee does not receive at least 6 months advance notice of franchisor’s intent not to
renew the franchise.

(e) A provision that permits the franchisor to refuse to renew a franchise on terms generally
available to other franchisees of the same class or type under similar circumstances. This
section does not require a renewal provision.

() A provision requiring that arbitration or litigation be conducted outside this state. This
shall not preclude the franchisee from entering into an agreement, at the time of arbitration,
to conduct arbitration at a location outside this state.

(g) A provision which permits a franchisor to refuse to permit a transfer of ownership of a
franchise, except for good cause. This subdivision does not prevent a franchisor from
exercising a right of first refusal to purchase the franchise. Good cause shall include, but
is not limited to:

(i) The failure of the proposed transferee to meet the franchisor’s then current
reasonable qualifications or standards.

(i1) The fact that the proposed transferee is a competitor of the franchisor or
subfranchisor.

(iii) The unwillingness of the proposed transferee to agree in writing to comply with
all lawful obligations.
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(iv) (iv) The failure of the franchisee or proposed transferee to pay any sums owing
to the franchisor or to cure any default in the franchise agreement existing at the
time of the proposed transfer.

(h) A provision that requires the franchisee to resell to the franchisor items that are not
uniquely identified with the franchisor. This subdivision does not prohibit a provision that
grants to a franchisor a right of first refusal to purchase the assets of a franchisee on the
same terms and conditions as a bona fide third party willing and able to purchase those
assets, nor does this subdivision prohibit a provision that grants the franchisor the right to
acquire the assets of a franchisee for the market or appraised value of such assets if the
franchisee has breached the lawful provisions of the franchise agreement and has failed to
cure the breach in the manner provided in subdivision (c).

(i) A provision which permits the franchisor to directly or indirectly convey, assign, or
otherwise transfer its obligations to fulfill contractual obligations to the franchisee unless
provision has been made for providing the required contractual services.

THE FACT THERE IS A NOTICE OF THIS OFFERING ON FILE WITH THE
ATTORNEY GENERAL DOES NOT CONSTITUTE APPROVAL, RECOMMENDATION, OR
ENDORSEMENT BY THE ATTORNEY GENERAL.

Any questions regarding this Notice shall be directed to the Department of Attorney General,
Corporate Oversight Division, Franchise Section, 525 West Ottawa Street, Lansing, Michigan 48913, (517)
373-7117.

ADDITIONAL BISCEOSUREDOCUMENT-DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF MINNESOTA

1. Trademarks. The following statement is added to Item 13:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, EOS will indemnify you against liability to a third party resulting
from claims that your use of a Proprietary Mark infringes trademark rights of a third party;
provided, that we will not indemnify against the consequences of your use of the Proprietary Marks
unless the use is in accordance with the requirements of the Franchise Agreement and the System.

2. Notice of Termination. The following statement is added to Item 17:

With respect to franchises governed by Minnesota law, EOS will comply with Minnesota Statute
§ 80C.14, subdivisions 3, 4, and 5 which requires, except in certain specified cases, that a franchisee
be given 90 days’ notice of termination (with 60 days to cure) and 180 days’ notice for non-renewal
of the franchise agreements.

3. Choice of Forum. The following statement is added to the State Cover Page and Item 17:

Minnesota Statute § 80C.21 and Minnesota Rule 2860.4400J prohibit us from requiring litigation
to be conducted outside Minnesota. In addition, nothing in the disclosure document or agreements
can abrogate or reduce any of your rights as provided for in Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 80C, or
your rights to any procedure, forum, or remedies provided for by the laws of the jurisdiction.

EOS — 09/2325 State Specific FDD Addenda 6



4. No Waiver. The following statement is added to Item 17:

Minnesota Rule 2860.4400D prohibits us from requiring you to assent to a release, assignment,
novation, or waiver that would relieve any person from liability imposed by Minnesota Statute
§§ 80C.01 - 80C.22.

Damages. The following statement is added to Item 17:

Minnesota Stat. § 80C.21 and Minnesota Rules 2860.4400(J) prohibit us from requiring you to
consent to liquidated damages, termination penalties or judgment notes.

Limitations of Claims. The following statement is added to Item 17:
Limitation of claims are governed by Minnesota Stat. § 80C.17, Subd. 5, which permits a legal
action pursuant to Minnesota Stat. § 80C.17 to be commenced for three years after the cause of

action accrues.

Contracts. The following statements are added to Item 22:

1.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims
under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming
reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf
of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection
with the franchise.

ADDITIONAL BDISCLOSUREDOCUBMENT-DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF NEW YORK

State Cover Page. The following information is added to the cover page of the Franchise
Disclosure Document:

INFORMATION COMPARING FRANCHISORS IS AVAILABLE. CALL THE STATE
ADMINISTRATORS LISTED IN EXHIBIT A OR YOUR PUBLIC LIBRARY FOR SOURCES
OF INFORMATION. REGISTRATION OF THIS FRANCHISE BY NEW YORK STATE DOES
NOT MEAN THAT NEW YORK STATE RECOMMENDS IT OR HAS VERIFIED THE
INFORMATION IN THIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT. IF YOU LEARN THAT
ANYTHING IN THE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT IS UNTRUE, CONTACT THE
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION AND NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF LAW,
INVESTOR PROTECTION BUREAU, 28 LIBERTY STREET, 21* FLOOR, NEW YORK, NEW
YORK 10005. THE FRANCHISOR MAY, IF IT CHOOSES, NEGOTIATE WITH YOU ABOUT
ITEMS COVERED IN THE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT. HOWEVER, THE
FRANCHISOR CANNOT USE THE NEGOTIATING PROCESS TO PREVAIL UPON A
PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEE TO ACCEPT TERMS WHICH ARE LESS FAVORABLE
THAN THOSE SET FORTH IN THIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT.

Item 3, Additional Disclosure. The following is added to the end of Item 3:

Except as provided above, with regard to the franchisor, its predecessor, a person identified in Item
2, or an affiliate offering franchises under the franchisor’s principal trademark:
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A. No such party has an administrative, criminal or civil action pending against that person
alleging: a felony, a violation of a franchise, antitrust, or securities law, fraud, embezzlement,
fraudulent conversion, misappropriation of property, unfair or deceptive practices, or comparable
civil or misdemeanor allegations.

B. No such party has pending actions, other than routine litigation incidental to the business,
which are significant in the context of the number of franchisees and the size, nature or financial
condition of the franchise system or its business operations.

C. No such party has been convicted of a felony or pleaded nolo contendere to a felony charge
or, within the 10 year period immediately preceding the application for registration, has been
convicted of or pleaded nolo contendere to a misdemeanor charge or has been the subject of a civil
action alleging: violation of a franchise, antifraud, or securities law; fraud; embezzlement;
fraudulent conversion or misappropriation of property; or unfair or deceptive practices or
comparable allegations.

D. No such party is subject to a currently effective injunctive or restrictive order or decree
relating to the franchise, or under a Federal, State, or Canadian franchise, securities, antitrust, trade
regulation or trade practice law, resulting from a concluded or pending action or proceeding brought
by a public agency; or is subject to any currently effective order of any national securities
association or national securities exchange, as defined in the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934,
suspending or expelling such person from membership in such association or exchange; or is
subject to a currently effective injunctive or restrictive order relating to any other business activity
as a result of an action brought by a public agency or department, including, without limitation,
actions affecting a license as a real estate broker or sales agent.

. Item 4, Additional Disclosure. The following is added to the end of Item 4:

Neither the franchisor, its affiliate, its predecessor, officers, or general partner during the 10-year
period immediately before the date of the offering circular: (a) filed as debtor (or had filed against
it) a petition to start an action under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code; (b) obtained a discharge of its debts
under the bankruptcy code; or (c) was a principal officer of a company or a general partner in a
partnership that either filed as a debtor (or had filed against it) a petition to start an action under the
U.S. Bankruptcy Code or that obtained a discharge of its debts under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code
during or within 1 year after that officer or general partner of the franchisor held this position in
the company or partnership.

. Item 5: Initial Fees. The following is added to the end of Item 5:

The initial franchise fee constitutes part of our general operating funds and will be used as such in
our discretion.

Item 7: Renewal, Termination, Transfer and Dispute Resolution

A. The following is added to the end of the “Summary” sections of Item 17(c), titled
“Requirements for franchisee to renew or extend,” and Item 17(m), entitled “Conditions for
franchisor approval of transfer”:

However, to the extent required by applicable law, all rights you enjoy and any causes of
action arising in your favor from the provisions of Article 33 of the General Business Law
of the State of New York and the regulations issued thereunder shall remain in force; it
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being the intent of this proviso that the non-waiver provisions of General Business Law
Sections 687.4 and 687.5 be satisfied.

B. The following language replaces the “Summary” section of Item 17(d), titled “Termination
by franchisee”:

You may terminate the agreement on any grounds available by law.

C. The following is added to the end of the “Summary” section of Item 17(j), titled
“Assignment of contract by franchisor”:

However, no assignment will be made except to an assignee who in good faith and
judgment of the franchisor, is willing and financially able to assume the franchisor’s
obligations under the Franchise Agreement.

D. The following is added to the end of the “Summary” sections of Item 17(v), titled “Choice
of forum”, and Item 17(w), titled “Choice of law”:

The foregoing choice of law should not be considered a waiver of any right conferred upon
the franchisor or upon the franchisee by Article 33 of the General Business Law of the
State of New York.

Each provision of these Additional Disclosures shall be effective only to the extent, with respect to such
provision, that the jurisdictional requirements of New York General Business Law, Article 33, Section 680
through 695, and of the Codes, Rules, and Regulations of the State of New York, Title 13, Chapter VII,
Section 200.1 through 201.16, are met independently without reference to these Additional Disclosures.

ADDITIONAL BISCEOSUREDOCUMENT-DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA

Item 17, Additional Disclosures. The North Dakota Securities Commissioner has held the following to

be unfair, unjust, or inequitable to North Dakota franchisees (Section 51-19-09, N.D.C.C.):

A.

=

e

=

3

=

Restrictive Covenants: Franchise disclosure documents which disclose the existence of covenants
restricting competition contrary to Section 9-08-06, N.D.C.C., without further disclosing that such
covenants will be subject to this statute.

Restriction on Forum: Requiring North Dakota franchisees to consent to the jurisdiction of courts
outside of North Dakota.

Liquidated Damages and Termination Penalties: Requiring North Dakota franchisees to
consent to liquidated damages or termination penalties.

Applicable Laws: Franchise agreements which specify that any claims arising under the North
Dakota franchise law will be governed by the laws of a state other than North Dakota.

Waiver of Trial by Jury: Requiring North Dakota franchisees to consent to the waiver of a trial
by jury.

Waiver of Exemplary and Punitive Damages: Requiring North Dakota franchisees to consent to
a waiver of exemplary and punitive damages.
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G.

H.

]
o

General Release: Requiring North Dakota franchisees to execute a general release of claims as a
condition of renewal or transfer of a franchise.

Limitation of Claims: Requiring that North Dakota franchisees to consent to a limitation of claims.
The statute of limitations under North Dakota law applies.

Enforcement of Agreement: Requiring that North Dakota franchisees to pay all costs and
expenses incurred by the franchisor in enforcing the agreement. The prevailing party in any
enforcement action is entitled to recover all costs and expenses including attorney's fees.

Each provision of the Additional Disclosures shall be effective only to the extent that the jurisdictional
requirements of the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law, with respect to each such provision, are met
independent of the Additional Disclosures. The Additional Disclosures shall have no force or effect if such
jurisdictional requirements are not met.

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSUREDOCUMENTDISCEOSURE
REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND

Item 17, Additional Disclosure. The following statement is added to Item 17:

Section 19-28.1-14 of the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act provides that: “A provision in a
franchise agreement restricting jurisdiction or venue to a forum outside this state or requiring the
application of the laws of another state is void with respect to a claim otherwise enforceable under
this Act.”

The provisions of this Additional Disclosure shall be effective only to the extent, with respect to such
provision, that the jurisdictional requirements of the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Law are met
independently without reference to this Additional Disclosure.

ADDITIONAL BISEEOSEREDOCEMENTDISCEOSEREDISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

Termination, Item 17. The following is added to Item 17.h:

Pursuant to Section 13.1-564 of the Virginia Retail Franchising Act, it is unlawful for a franchisor
to cancel a franchise without reasonable cause. If any ground for default or termination stated in
the franchise agreement does not constitute “reasonable cause,” as that term may be defined in the
Virginia Retail Franchising Act or the laws of Virginia, that provision may not be enforceable.

Contracts, Item 22.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by you in connection with
the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims
under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming
reliance on any statement made by us, any franchise seller, or any other person acting on our behalf.
This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the
franchise.
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These Additional Disclosures shall be effective only to the extent, with respect to such provision, that the
jurisdictional requirements of the Virginia Retail Franchising Act are met independently, without reference
to these Additional Disclosures.

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT DISCLOSURE
REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

The provisions of this Addendum form an integral part of, are incorporated into, and modify the

Franchise Disclosure Document regardless of anything to the contrary contained therein. This Addendum
applies if: (a) the offer to sell a franchise is accepted in Washington: (b) the purchaser of the franchise is a
resident of Washington; and/or (¢) the franchised business that is the subject of the sale is to be located or

operated, wholly or partly, in Washington.

1. Conflict of Laws. In the event of a eenfhetconflict of laws, the provisions of the Washington
Franchise Investment Protection Act, Chapterchapter 19.100 RCW will prevail.

2. Franchisee Bill of Rights. RCW 19.100.180 may supersede the—Franchise—Agreement—and
Development-Agreementinprovisions in the franchise agreement or related agreements concerning
your relationship with the franchisor, including in the areas of termination and renewal of your
franchise. There may also be court decisions which-maythat supersede the Eranchise-Agreement
and—Development-Agreement—in—franchise agreement or related agreements concerning your
relationship with the franchisor-ineluding-the-areas-of-termination-and-renewal-of yourfranchise.

Franchise agreement provisions, including those summarized in Item 17 of the Franchise
Disclosure Document, are subject to state law.

3. Site of Arbitration, Mediation, and/or Litigation. In any arbitration or mediation involving a
franchise purchased in Washington, the arbitration or mediation site will be either in the state of
Washington, or in a place mutually agreed upon at the time of the arbitration or mediation, or as
determined by the arbitrator or mediator at the time of arbitration or mediation. In addition, if
litigation is not precluded by the Eranchise-Agreement-or Development-Agreementyorfranchise
agreement, a franchisee may bring an action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with the
sale of franchises, or a violation of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, in
Washington.

4, General Release. A release or waiver of rights exeeuted-by-ain the franchise agreement or related
agreements purporting to bind the franchisee may-netineluderightsto waive compliance with any
provision under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act or any rwlerules or
erderorders thereunder is void except when executed pursuant to a negotiated settlement after the
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agreement is in effect and where the parties are represented by independent counsel-, in accordance
with RCW 19.100.220(2). In addition, any such release or waiver executed in connection with a
renewal or transfer of a franchise is likewise void except as provided for in RCW 19.100.220(2).

4.5. Statute of Limitations and Waiver of Jury Trial. Provisions saeh-as-these-whiehcontained in the
franchise agreement or related agreements that unreasonably restrict or limit the statute of
limitations period for claims under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, or rights
or remedies under the Act such as a right to a jury trial, may not be enforceable.

5.6. Transfer Fees. Transfer fees are collectable only to the extent that they refleetreflect the
franchisor’s reasonable estimated or actual costs in effecting a transfer.

7. Termination by Franchisee. The franchisee may terminate the franchise agreement under any
orounds permitted under state law.

8. Certain Buy-Back Provisions. Provisions in franchise agreements or related agreements that
permit the franchisor to repurchase the franchisee’s business for any reason during the term of the

franchise agreement without the franchisee’s consent are unlawful pursuant to RCW
19.100.180(2)(3), unless the franchise is terminated for good cause.

9. Fair and Reasonable Pricing. Any provision in the franchise agreement or related agreements that
requires the franchisee to purchase or rent any product or service for more than a fair and reasonable

price is unlawful under RCW 19.100.180(2)(d).

10. Waiver of Exemplary & Punitive Damages. RCW 19.100.190 permits franchisees to seek treble
damages under certain circumstances. Accordingly, provisions contained in the franchise
agreement or elsewhere requiring franchisees to waive exemplary, punitive, or similar damages are
void, except when executed pursuant to a negotiated settlement after the agreement is in effect and
where the parties are represented by independent counsel, in accordance with RCW 19.100.220(2).

11. Franchisor’s Business Judgement. Provisions in the franchise agreement or related agreements
stating that the franchisor may exercise its discretion on the basis of its reasonable business

judgment may be limited or superseded by RCW 19.100.180(1), which requires the parties to deal

with each other in good faith.

12. Indemnification. Any provision in the franchise agreement or related agreements requiring the
franchisee to indemnify, reimburse, defend, or hold harmless the franchisor or other parties is
hereby modified such that the franchisee has no obligation to indemnify, reimburse, defend, or hold
harmless the franchisor or any other indemnified party for losses or liabilities to the extent that they
are caused by the indemnified party’s negligence, willful misconduct, strict liability, or fraud.

13. Attorneys’ Fees. If the franchise agreement or related agreements require a franchisee to reimburse

the franchisor for court costs or expenses, including attorneys’ fees, such provision applies only if
the franchisor is the prevailing party in any judicial or arbitration proceeding.

6:14.  Noncompetition Covenants. Pursuant to RCW 49.62.020, a noncompetition covenant is void and
unenforceable against an employee, including an employee of a franchisee, unless the employee’s
earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed $100,000 per year (an
amount that will be adjusted annually for #nflatierinflation). In addition, a noncompetition covenant
is void and unenforceable against an independent contractor of a franchisee under RCW 49.62.030
unless the independent contractor’s earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized,
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F15.

exceed $250,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflatieninflation). As a
result, any previsiensprovision contained in the franchise agreement or elsewhere that
eenflietconflicts with these limitations areis void and unenforceable in Washington.

Nonsolicitation Agreements. RCW 49.62.060 prohibits a franchisor from restricting, restraining,

or prohibiting a franchisee from (i) soliciting or hiring any employee of a franchisee of the same
franchisor or (ii) soliciting or hiring any employee of the franchisor. As a result, any such provisions
contained in the franchise agreement or elsewhere are void and unenforceable in Washington.

8:16.

Questionnaires and Acknowledgments. No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed

9:18.

or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship
shall have the effect of (i)- waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including
fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor,
franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any
other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

on Commumcatmg with fespeet—te—SﬂehRegulators An;é provision; in the franchlse agreement or

related agreements that prohibits the jurisdietionalrequirements-effranchisee from communicating
with or complaining to regulators is inconsistent with the express instructions in the Franchise

Disclosure Document and is unlawful under RCW 19.100.180(2)(h).

Advisory Regarding Franchise Brokers. Under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection

Act, a “franchise broker” is defined as a person that engages in the business of the offer or sale of
franchises. A franchise broker represents the franchisor and is paid a fee for referring prospects to
the franchisor and/or selling the franchise. If a franchisee is working with a franchise broker

franchisees are mmet—independently—without—referenceadvised to these—Additional

Diselosurescarefully evaluate any information provided by the franchise broker about a franchise.
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ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
REQUIRED FOR ILLINOIS DEVELOPERS

This Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Development Agreement dated
(“Development Agreement”) between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”) and

(“Developer”) is entered into simultaneously

with the execution of the Development Agreement.

law governs the Development Agreement JPhﬂAééeiadam—ts—bemg—e*eeb&ed—beea&se—eé-)

In conformance with Section 4 of the eﬁfer—er—saﬂ}%ef—llhnms Franchlse Dlselosure Act any

provisionina franchlse :

h : atedagreement that
designates 1ur15d1ct10n and venue in a forum out51de of the State of Ilhn01s— is void. However, a
franchise agreement may provide for arbitration to take place outside of Illinois.

34,

4:5.

i Your rights upon terminatienTermination and nea-rerewalNon-Renewal of an agreement are set

forth in sections 19 and 20 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act.

In conformance with Seetiensection 41 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any condition,
stipulation or provision purporting to bind any person acquiring any franchise to waive compliance
with the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act or any other law of Illinois is void.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgementacknowledgment signed or agreed to by a
franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect

of: (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the
inducement, or (ii)- disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller,
or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any
document executed in connection with the franchise.
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[Signatures follow on next page.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum
as of the day and year first above written.

EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

DEVELOPER:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
REQUIRED FOR ILLINOIS FRANCHISEES

This Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Franchise Agreement dated
(“Franchise Agreement”) between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC

(“EOS”) and (“Franchisee™) is

entered into simultaneously with the execution of the Franchise Agreement.

_ 2—TFermination—Thefollowing sentenee—is—added—at—the—end—of-Illinois law governs the

Franchise Agreement.

In conformance with Section 22

2.

Seetion4 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act-prevides—that, any provision in a franchise
agreement that designates jurisdiction erand venue in a forum outside of the State of Illinois is void

withrespeetto-any-cause-of actionthatotherwiseis-enforeeablein. However, a franchise agreement

may Drowde for arbitration to take place out51de of Illinois.

Your rlghts upon Termmatlon and Non- Renewal of an agreement are set forth in sections 19 and

20 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act.

20 In conformance with section 41 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any condition, stipulation
or provision purporting to bind any person acquiring any franchise to waive compliance with the
linois Franchise Disclosure Act or any other law of Illinois is void.

3.5.  No statement, questionnaire, or acknewledgementacknowledgment signed or agreed to by a

franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect
of: (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the
inducement, or (ii)- disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller,
or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any

document executed in connection with the franchise.
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[Signatures follow on next page.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum
as of the day and year first above written.

EOS:

EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

FRANCHISEE:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
REQUIRED FOR MARYLAND DEVELOPERS

This Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Development Agreement dated
between  Earl of  Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”) and

(“Developer”) is  entered  into

simultaneously with the execution of the Development Agreement.

1.

09/2325

The provisions of this Addendum form an integral part of, and are incorporated into the
Development Agreement. This Addendum is being executed because: (A) the offer or sale of a
franchise to Developer was made in the State of Maryland; (B) Developer is a resident of the State
of Maryland; and/or (C) part or all of the Development Territory is located in the State of Maryland.

Development Fee. The following language is added to the end of Section 4 of the Development
Agreement:

Based upon Franchisor's financial condition, the Maryland Securities Commissioner has required
a financial assurance. Therefore, all development fees and initial payments owed by Developer
shall be deferred until the first Franchised Restaurant under this Agreement opens.

Releases. The following sentence is added to the end of Sections 10.B.(5) and 11:

This release shall not apply to any liability under the Maryland Franchise Registration and
Disclosure Law.

Choice of Law. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 22.AC. :

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law shall
govern any claim arising under that Law.

Choice of Venue. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 22.BD.:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Developer may bring a lawsuit in Maryland for claims arising
under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.

Statute of Limitations. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 22.€L.:

Any claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law must be brought
within 3 years after the grant of the franchise.

Representations. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 24:

Section 14-226 of the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law prohibits a franchisor
from requiring a prospective franchisee to assent to any release, estoppel, or waiver of liability as
a condition of purchasing a franchise. Representations in this Agreement are not intended to, nor
shall they act as a release, estoppel, or waiver of any liability incurred under the Maryland Franchise
Registration and Disclosure Law.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims
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under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming
reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf
of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection
with the franchise.

Miscellaneous. Any capitalized terms that are not defined in this Addendum shall have the meaning
given them in the Development Agreement. Except as expressly modified by this Addendum, the
Development Agreement remains unmodified and in full force and effect. This Addendum may be
executed in multiple counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be deemed to
be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an
executed counterpart of a signature page efto this Addendum by faesimie-and-any-etherelectronic
transmission (including an electronic signature platform or the transmission of a scanned PDF
document) shall be-as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Addendum.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum

as of the day and year first above written.

09/2325

EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

DEVELOPER:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
REQUIRED FOR MARYLAND FRANCHISEES

This Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Franchise Agreement dated
between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”) and

(“Franchisee”) is  entered into

simultaneously with the execution of the Franchise Agreement.

1.

The provisions of this Addendum form an integral part of, and are incorporated into the Franchise
Agreement. This Addendum is being executed because: (A) the offer or sale of a franchise to
Franchisee was made in the State of Maryland; (B) Franchisee is a resident of the State of Maryland;
and/or (C) the Franchised Restaurant will be located and/or operated, and/or all or part of the
Protected Area will be located, in the State of Maryland.

Fees. The following language is added to the end of Section 7. A. of the Franchise Agreement:
Based upon Franchisor's financial condition, the Maryland Securities Commissioner has required
a financial assurance. Therefore, all initial fees and payments owed by Franchisee shall be deferred
until EOS completes its pre-opening obligations under this Agreement.

Releases. The following sentence is added to the end of Sections 2.B.(2)(e), 19.B.(5) and 20:

This release shall not apply to any liability under the Maryland Franchise Registration and
Disclosure Law.

Choice of Law. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 31.AC:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law shall
govern any claim arising under that Law.

Choice of Venue. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 31.BD.:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Franchisee may bring a lawsuit in Maryland for claims arising
under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.

Statute of Limitations. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 31.€L.:

Any claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law must be brought
within 3 years after the grant of the franchise.

Representations. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 33:

Section 14-226 of the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law prohibits a franchisor
from requiring a prospective franchisee to assent to any release, estoppel, or waiver of liability as
a condition of purchasing a franchise. Representations in this Agreement are not intended to, nor
shall they act as a release, estoppel, or waiver of any liability incurred under the Maryland Franchise
Registration and Disclosure Law.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims
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under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming
reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf
of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection
with the franchise.

8. Miscellaneous. Any capitalized terms that are not defined in this Addendum shall have the meaning
given them in the Franchise Agreement. Except as expressly modified by this Addendum, the
Franchise Agreement remains unmodified and in full force and effect. This Addendum may be
executed in multiple counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be deemed to
be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an
executed counterpart of a signature page efto this Addendum by faesimie-and-any-etherelectronic
transmission (including an electronic signature platform or the transmission of a scanned PDF
document) shall be-as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Addendum.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum
as of the day and year first above written.

EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

FRANCHISEE:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
REQUIRED FOR MINNESOTA DEVELOPERS

This Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Development Agreement dated
between  Earl of  Sandwich  (USA), LLC (“EOS”) and
(“Developer™) is entered into simultaneously

with the execution of the Development Agreement.

1. The provisions of this Addendum form an integral part of, and are incorporated into, the
Development Agreement. This Addendum is being executed because: (A) the offer or sale of a
franchise to Developer was made in the State of Minnesota; (B) Developer is a resident of the State
of Minnesota; and/or (C) part or all of the Development Territory is located in the State of
Minnesota.

2. Releases. The following sentence is added to the end of Sections 10.B.(5) and 11:
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Developer will not be required to assent to a release, assignment,
novation, or waiver that would relieve any person from liability imposed by Minnesota Statute

§§ 80C.01 - 80C.22.

3. Injunctive Relief. Section 12.B.(1)(i) is deleted and replaced with the following statement:

Developer’s use or duplication of the System or any part of the System in any other business would
constitute an unfair method of competition, for which EOS would be entitled to all legal and
equitable remedies, including the right to seek injunctive relief.

4. Termination. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 13.A.:
With respect to franchises governed by Minnesota law, EOS will comply with Minnesota Statute
§ 80C.14, Subdivisions 3, 4, and 5 which require, except in certain cases, that a franchisee be given
90 days’ notice of termination (with 60 days to cure) and 180 days’ notice for non-renewal of the

franchise agreements.

5. Choice of Venue. The following sentences are added to the end of Sections 22.A-BC-D.:

Minnesota Statute § 80C.21 and Minnesota Rule 2860.4400J prohibit EOS from requiring litigation
to be conducted outside Minnesota. In addition, nothing in our disclosure document or agreements
can abrogate or reduce any of Developer’s rights as provided for in Minnesota Statutes, Chapter
80C, or Developer’s rights to any procedure, forum, or remedies provided for by the laws of the
jurisdiction.
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Injunctive Relief. The second sentence of Section 23.E. is deleted and replaced with the following

sentence:

Therefore, Developer agrees that, in the event of a breach or threatened breach of any of the terms
of this Agreement by Developer, EOS shall be entitled to seek injunctive relief (both preliminary
and permanent) restraining that breach and/or to specific performance. A court will determine if a
bond or security must be posted.

Waiver of Jury Trial. The second sentence of Section 22.G. is deleted and replaced with the

following sentence:

SUBJECT TO THE PARTIES’ ARBITRATION OBLIGATIONS, DEVELOPER AND EOS
WAIVE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE RIGHT TO BRING,

OR BE A C1.ASS MEMBER IN, ANY CLASS ACTION SUITS.

Limitations of Actions. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 22.1:

This subsection 22.1 must comply with Minnesota Stat. § 80C.17, Subd. 5.

Damages. The following is added to the end of Section 22 as a new subsection 22.J:

10.

11.

12.

09/2325

Minnesota Stat. § 80C.21 and Minnesota Rules 2860.4400(J) prohibit the EOS from requiring the
Developer to consent to liquidated damages, termination penalties or judgment notes.

Representations — Waiver of Jury Trial. Section 24.M. is deleted.

Representations — Disclaimers. The following language is added to end of Section 24:

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by Developer in connection
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims
under any applicable state franchise law, including, fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming
reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf
of EOS. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed with the franchise,
including but not limited to Sections 11, 20, and Appendix B of this Agreement.

Miscellaneous. Any capitalized terms that are not defined in this Addendum shall have the meaning
given them in the Development Agreement. Except as expressly modified by this Addendum, the
Development Agreement remains unmodified and in full force and effect. This Addendum may be
executed in multiple counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be deemed to
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be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an
executed counterpart of a signature page efto this Addendum by faesimie-and-any-etherelectronic
transmission (including an electronic signature platform or the transmission of a scanned PDF
document) shall be-as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Addendum.

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum
as of the day and year first above written.

EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

DEVELOPER:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
REQUIRED FOR MINNESOTA FRANCHISEES

This Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Franchise Agreement dated
between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”) and

(“Franchisee™) is entered into simultaneously

with the execution of the Franchise Agreement.

L.

The provisions of this Addendum form an integral part of, and are incorporated into, the Franchise
Agreement. This Addendum is being executed because: (A) the offer or sale of a franchise to
Franchisee was made in the State of Minnesota; (B) Franchisee is a resident of the State of
Minnesota; and/or (C) the Franchised Restaurant will be located and/or operated, and/or all or part
of the Protected Area will be located, in the State of Minnesota.

Releases. The following sentence is added to the end of Sections 2.B.(2)(e), 19.B.(5) and 20:
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Franchisee will not be required to assent to a release, assignment,
novation, or waiver that would relieve any person from liability imposed by Minnesota Statute
§§ 80C.01 - 80C.22.

Non-Renewal. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 2.B.:

With respect to franchises governed by Minnesota law, EOS will comply with Minnesota Statute
§ 80C.14, Subdivision 3, 4, and 5 which requires, except in certain cases, that a franchisee be given
90 days’ notice of termination (with 60 days to cure) and 180 days’ notice for non-renewal of

franchise agreements.

Indemnification. The following sentence is added at the end of Section 15:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, EOS will indemnify Franchisee against liability to a third party
resulting from claims that Franchisee’s use of a Proprietary Mark infringes trademark rights of a
third party; provided, that EOS will not indemnify against the consequences of Franchisee’s use of
the Proprietary Marks unless the use is in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement and
the System.

Injunctive Relief. Section 21.B.(1)(i) is deleted and replaced with the following statement:

Franchisee’s use or duplication of the System or any part of the System in any other business would
constitute an unfair method of competition, for which EOS would be entitled to all legal and
equitable remedies, including the right to seek injunctive relief.

Termination. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 22:
With respect to franchises governed by Minnesota law, EOS will comply with Minnesota Statute
§ 80C.14, Subdivision 3, 4, and 5 which requires, except in certain cases, that a franchisee be given

90 days’ notice of termination (with 60 days to cure) and 180 days’ notice for non-renewal of
franchise agreements.
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Early Termination Damages. The following sentences are added to the end of Section 23.D:

These provisions are not enforceable under Minnesota law. Additionally, Minnesota Stat. § 80C.21
and Minnesota Rules 2860.4400(J) prohibit the EOS from requiring the Franchisee to consent to
liquidated damages, termination penalties or judgment notes.

Choice of Venue. The following sentences are added to the end of Sections 31.A—BC.-D.:

Minnesota Statute § 80C.21 and Minnesota Rule 2860.4400J prohibit EOS from requiring litigation
to be conducted outside Minnesota. In addition, nothing in the disclosure document or agreements
can abrogate or reduce any of Franchisee’s rights as provided for in Minnesota Statutes, Chapter
80C, or Franchisee’s rights to any procedure, forum, or remedies provided for by the laws of the
jurisdiction.

Injunctive Relief. The second sentence of Section 32.E. is deleted and replaced with the following

sentence:

Therefore, Franchisee agrees that, in the event of a breach or threatened breach of any of the terms
of this Agreement by Franchisee, EOS shall be entitled to seek injunctive relief (both preliminary
and permanent) restraining that breach and/or to specific performance. A court will determine if a
bond or security must be posted.

Waiver of Jury Trial. The second sentence of Section 31.G. is deleted and replaced with the

11.

following sentence:

SUBJECT TO THE PARTIES’ ARBITRATION OBLIGATIONS, FRANCHISEE AND
EOS WAIVE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE RIGHT TO
BRING, OR BE A CLLASS MEMBER IN, ANY CLLASS ACTION SUITS AND THE RIGHT
TO TRIAL BY JURY

Limitations of Actions. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 31.1:

12.

13.

This subsection 31.1 must comply with Minnesota Stat. § 80C.17, Subd. 5.

Waiver of Jury Trial. Section 33.0. is deleted.

Representations — Disclaimers. The following language is added to end of Section 33:

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by Franchisee in connection
with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims
under any applicable state franchise law, including, fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming
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reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf
of EOS. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed with the franchise,
including but not limited to Sections 20, 29, and Exhibit D of this Agreement.

Miscellaneous. Any capitalized terms that are not defined in this Addendum shall have the meaning
given them in the Franchise Agreement. Except as expressly modified by this Addendum, the
Franchise Agreement remains unmodified and in full force and effect. This Addendum may be
executed in multiple counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be deemed to
be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an
executed counterpart of a signature page efto this Addendum by faesimie-and-any-etherelectronic
transmission (including an electronic signature platform or the transmission of a scanned PDF
document) shall be-as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Addendum.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum

as of the day and year first above written.

EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

FRANCHISEE:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
REQUIRED FOR NEW YORK DEVELOPERS

This Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Development Agreement dated
(“Development Agreement”) between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”) and

(“Developer™) is entered into simultaneously

with the execution of the Development Agreement.

1.

The provisions of this Addendum form an integral part of, and are incorporated into, the
Development Agreement. This Addendum is being executed because: (A) the offer or sale of a
franchise to Developer was made in the State of New York; (B) Developer is a resident of the State
of New York; and/or (C) part or all of the Development Territory is located in the State of New
York.

Any provision in the Development Agreement that is inconsistent with the New York General
Business Law, Article 33, Sections 680 — 695, may not be enforceable.

The following sentence is added to Section 9:

EOS will not assign its rights under this Agreement, except to an assignee who in EOS’s good faith
and judgment is willing and able to assume EOS’s obligations under this Agreement.

The following sentence is added to the end of Sections 10.B.(5) and 11:

Any provision in this Agreement requiring Developer to sign a general release of claims against
EOS does not release any claim Developer may have under New York General Business Law,
Article 33, Sections 680-695.

The following sentence is added to the end of Sections 12.B.(1) and 23.E.:

EOS’s right to obtain injunctive relief exists only after proper proofs are made and the appropriate
authority has granted such relief.

The following sentence is added to the end of Section 22.A.:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the New York Franchises Law shall govern any claim arising under
that law.

Miscellaneous. Any capitalized terms that are not defined in this Addendum shall have the meaning
given them in the Development Agreement. Except as expressly modified by this Addendum, the
Development Agreement remains unmodified and in full force and effect. This Addendum may be
executed in multiple counterparts, each of which when executed and This Addendum may be
executed in multiple counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be deemed to
be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an
executed counterpart of a signature page efto this Addendum by faesimie-and-any-etherelectronic
transmission (including an electronic signature platform or the transmission of a scanned PDF
document) shall be-as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Addendum.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum
as of the day and year first above written.

EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

DEVELOPER:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
REQUIRED FOR NEW YORK FRANCHISEES

This Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Franchise Agreement dated
(“Franchise Agreement”) between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”)

and

(“Franchisee”) is entered into

simultaneously with the execution of the Franchise Agreement.

1.

The provisions of this Addendum form an integral part of, and are incorporated into, the Franchise
Agreement. This Addendum is being executed because: (A) the offer or sale of a franchise to
Franchisee was made in the State of New York; (B) Franchisee is a resident of the State of New
York; and/or (C) the Franchised Restaurant will be located and/or operated, and/or all or part of
the Protected Area will be located, in the State of New York.

Any provision in the Franchise Agreement that is inconsistent with the New York General Business
Law, Article 33, Sections 680 — 695, may not be enforceable.

The following sentence is added to the end of Sections 2.B.(2)(e), 19.B.(5) and 20:

Any provision in this Agreement requiring Franchisee to sign a general release of claims against
EOS does not release any claim Franchisee may have under New York General Business Law,
Article 33, Sections 680-695.

The following sentence is added to Section 18:

EOS will not assign its rights under this Agreement, except to an assignee who in EOS’s good faith
and judgment is willing and able to assume EOS’s obligations under this Agreement.

The following sentence is added to the end of Sections 21.B.(1) and 32.E.:

EOS’s right to obtain injunctive relief exists only after proper proofs are made and the appropriate
authority has granted such relief.

The following sentence is added to the end of Section 31.A.:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the New York Franchises Law shall govern any claim arising under
that law.

Miscellaneous. Any capitalized terms that are not defined in this Addendum shall have the meaning
given them in the Franchise Agreement. Except as expressly modified by this Addendum, the
Franchise Agreement remains unmodified and in full force and effect. This Addendum may be
executed in multiple counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be deemed to
be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an
executed counterpart of a signature page efto this Addendum by faesimile-and-any-otherelectronic
transmission (including an electronic signature platform or the transmission of a scanned PDF
document) shall be-as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Addendum.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum
as of the day and year first above written.

EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

FRANCHISEE:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
REQUIRED FOR NORTH DAKOTA DEVELOPERS

This Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Development Agreement dated
(“Development Agreement”) between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”) and

(“Developer”) is entered into simultaneously with

the execution of the Development Agreement.

1.

The provisions of this Addendum form an integral part of, and are incorporated into, the
Development Agreement. This Addendum is being executed because: (A) the offer or sale of a
franchise to Developer was made in the State of North Dakota; (B) Developer is a resident of the
State of North Dakota; and/or (C) part or all of the Development Territory is located in the State of
North Dakota.

Releases. The following sentence is added to the end of Sections 10.B.(5) and 11:

Any release required as a condition of renewal, sale and/or assignment/transfer will not apply to
the extent prohibited by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law.

Liquidated Damages. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 12.D:

EOS and Developer acknowledge that certain parts of this provision might not be enforceable under
the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law. However, EOS and Developer agree to enforce the
provision to the extent the law allows.

Covenants Not To Compete. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 12.C.:

Covenants not to compete are generally considered unenforceable in the State of North Dakota;
however, EOS will enforce the covenants to the maximum extent the law allows.

Choice of Law. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 22.AC:
Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment
Law, North Dakota law will apply to claims arising under the North Dakota Franchise Investment

Law.

Choice of Venue. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 22.BD.:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment
Law, Developer may bring an action in North Dakota for claims arising under the North Dakota
Franchise Investment Law.

Jury Trial and Certain Damages. To the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment

Law, Section 22.BG. of the Agreement is deleted and replaced with the following:
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_ SUBJECT TO THE PARTIES’ ARBITRATION OBLIGATIONS, DEVELOPER

AND EOS WAIVE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE RIGHT
TO BRING, OR BE A CLASS MEMBER IN, ANY CLASS ACTIONS SUITS.

Statute of Limitations. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 22.1:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the statute of limitations under North Dakota law applies with

10.

respect to claims arising under the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law.

Miscellaneous. Any capitalized terms that are not defined in this Addendum shall have the meaning
given them in the Development Agreement. Except as expressly modified by this Addendum, the
Development Agreement remains unmodified and in full force and effect. This Addendum may be
executed in multiple counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be deemed to
be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an
executed counterpart of a signature page efto this Addendum by faesimie-and-anyether-electronic
transmission (including an electronic signature platform or the transmission of a scanned PDF
document) shall be-as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Addendum.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum

as of the day and year first above written.

EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

DEVELOPER:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
REQUIRED FOR NORTH DAKOTA FRANCHISEES

This Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Franchise Agreement dated

and

(“Franchise Agreement”) between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”)
(“Franchisee”) is entered into

simultaneously with the execution of the Franchise Agreement.

1.

The provisions of this Addendum form an integral part of, and are incorporated into, the Franchise
Agreement. This Addendum is being executed because: (A) the offer or sale of a franchise to
Franchisee was made in the State of North Dakota; (B) Franchisee is a resident of the State of North
Dakota; and/or (C) the Franchised Restaurant will be located and/or operated, and/or all or part of
the Protected Area will be located, in the State of North Dakota.

Releases. The following sentence is added to the end of Sections 2.B.(2)(e), 19.B.(5) and 20:

Any release required as a condition of renewal, sale and/or assignment/transfer will not apply to
the extent prohibited by the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law.

Liquidated Damages. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 21.D:

EOS and Franchisee acknowledge that certain parts of this provision might not be enforceable
under the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law. However, EOS and Franchisee agree to enforce
the provision to the extent the law allows.

Covenants Not To Compete. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 21.C.:

Covenants not to compete are generally considered unenforceable in the State of North Dakota;
however, we will enforce the covenants to the maximum extent the law allows.

Choice of Law. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 31.AC:
Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment
Law, North Dakota law will apply to claims arising under the North Dakota Franchise Investment

Law.

Choice of Venue. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 31.BD.:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment
Law, Franchisee may bring an action in North Dakota for claims arising under the North Dakota
Franchise Investment Law.

Jury Trial and Certain Damages. To the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment
Law, Section 31.G. of the Agreement is deleted and replaced with the following:

SUBJECT TO THE PARTIES’ ARBITRATION OBLIGATIONS, FRANCHISEE AND

EOS WAIVE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE RIGHT TO
BRING, OR BE A CLLASS MEMBER IN, ANY CLASS ACTIONS SUITS.
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9.

Statute of Limitations. The following sentence is added to the end of Section 31.€1:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the statute of limitations under North Dakota law applies with
respect to claims arising under the North Dakota Franchise Investment Law.

Early Termination Damages. To the extent required by the North Dakota Franchise Investment

Law, Section 23.D. of the Agreement is deleted.

11.

Miscellaneous. Any capitalized terms that are not defined in this Addendum shall have the meaning
given them in the Franchise Agreement. Except as expressly modified by this Addendum, the
Franchise Agreement remains unmodified and in full force and effect. This Addendum may be
executed in multiple counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be deemed to
be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an
executed counterpart of a signature page efto this Addendum by faesimile-and-any-otherelectronic
transmission (including an electronic signature platform or the transmission of a scanned PDF
document) shall be-as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Addendum.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum

as of the day and year first above written.
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EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

FRANCHISEE:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
REQUIRED FOR RHODE ISLAND DEVELOPERS

This Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Development Agreement dated
(“Development Agreement”) between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”) and

(“Developer”) is entered into simultaneously with

the execution of the Development Agreement.

1.

The provisions of this Addendum form an integral part of, and are incorporated into, the
Development Agreement. This Addendum is being executed because: (A) the offer or sale of a
franchise to Developer was made in the State of Rhode Island; (B) Developer is a resident of the
State of Rhode Island; and/or (C) part or all of the Development Territory is located in the State of
Rhode Island.

The following language is added to Section 22.A-and22.BD:

Section 19-28.1-14 of the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act provides that “A provision in a
franchise agreement restricting jurisdiction or venue to a forum outside this state or requiring the
application of the laws of another state is void with respect to a claim otherwise enforceable under
this Act.”

Any capitalized terms that are not defined in this Addendum shall have the meaning given them in
the Development Agreement. Except as expressly modified by this Addendum, the Development
Agreement remains unmodified and in full force and effect. This Addendum may be executed in
multiple counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original
and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed
counterpart of a signature page efto this Addendum by faesimile—and—any—other—electronic
transmission (including an electronic signature platform or the transmission of a scanned PDF
document) shall be-as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Addendum.

[THE REST OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum
as of the day and year first above written.

EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

DEVELOPER:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
REQUIRED FOR RHODE ISLAND FRANCHISEES

This Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Franchise Agreement dated
(“Franchise Agreement”) between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”)

and

(“Franchisee”) is entered into

simultaneously with the execution of the Franchise Agreement.

1.

The provisions of this Addendum form an integral part of, and are incorporated into, the Franchise
Agreement. This Addendum is being executed because: (A) the offer or sale of a franchise to
Franchisee was made in the State of Rhode Island; (B) Franchisee is a resident of the State of Rhode
Island; and/or (C) the Franchised Restaurant will be located and/or operated, and/or all or part of
the Protected Area will be located, in the State of Rhode Island.

The following language is added to Section 31.A-and3+BD:

Section 19-28.1-14 of the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act provides that “A provision in a
franchise agreement restricting jurisdiction or venue to a forum outside this state or requiring the
application of the laws of another state is void with respect to a claim otherwise enforceable under
this Act.”

Any capitalized terms that are not defined in this Addendum shall have the meaning given them in
the Franchise Agreement. Except as expressly modified by this Addendum, the Franchise
Agreement remains unmodified and in full force and effect. This Addendum may be executed in
multiple counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original
and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed
counterpart of a signature page efto this Addendum by faesimile—and—any—other—electronic
transmission (including an electronic signature platform or the transmission of a scanned PDF
document) shall be-as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Addendum.

[THE REST OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum
as of the day and year first above written.

EOS:

EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

FRANCHISEE:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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WASHINGTON ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, AND RELATED AGREEMENTS

This Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Development Agreement dated
(“Development Agreement”) between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”) and
(“Developer”) is entered into simultaneously with

the execution of the Development Agreement.

+——The provisions of this Addendum form an integral part of, and-are incorporated into, and
modify the Development Agreement— regardless of anything to the contrary contained therein. This

Addendum is-being-exeecuted-beeause:—(Aapplies if: (a) the offer ersale-ofio sell a franchise to-Developer
was-madeis accepted in the-State-ef Washington; (B)yDeveloperb) the purchaser of the franchise is a resident

of the-State-ef Washington; and/or (€)-parterall-efthe DevelopmentFerriteryis—c) the franchised business

that is the subject of the sale is to be located or operated, wholly or partly, in the-State-of Washington.

1. 2—The-stateConflict_of Washingten-hasLaws. In the event of a statute;conflict of laws, the
provisions of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, chapter 19.100 RCW will

prevail.

+2.  Franchisee Bill of Rights. RCW 19.100.180 {*Aet?),-whieh-may supersede this-provisions in the
Development Agreement in-Beveleper'sor related agreements concerning your relationship with

EOSthe franchisor, including in the areas of termination and renewal of Beveleper'syour franchise.
There may also may-be court decisions that may-supersede thisthe Development Agreement in

Bevelopersor related agreements concerning your relationship with EOS+-neluding-in-the-areas-of
termination—and—renewal—of Developer's—franchisethe franchisor. Development agreement

provisions, including those summarized in Item 17 of the Franchise Disclosure Document, are
subject to state law.

23, 5—Site of Arbitration, Mediation, and/or Litigation. In any arbitration or mediation
involving a franchise purchased in Washington, the arbitration or mediation site will be either in
the state of Washington, or in a place mutually agreed upon at the time of the arbitration or
mediation, or as determined by the arbitrator or mediator at the time of arbitration or mediation. In
addition, if litigation is not precluded by the Development Agreement, Bevelepera franchisee may
bring an action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with the sale of franchises, or a
violation of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, in Washington.

i d-bv Developer-m ot i derigh nder-the A

er—any—FHJreLer—eFder—theFeandeFGeneral Release A release or waiver of r1ghts in the Develogmen
Agreement or related agreements purporting to bind the franchisee to waive compliance with any

provision under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act or any rules or orders
thereunder is void except when executed pursuant to a negotiated settlement after the agreement is
in effect and where the parties are represented by independent counsel, in accordance with RCW
19.100.220(2). In addition, any such release or waiver executed in connection with a renewal or
transfer of a franchise is likewise void except as provided for in RCW 19.100.220(2).
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5. Statute of Limitations and Waiver of Jury Trial. Provisions contained in the Development
Agreement or related agreements that unreasonably restrict or limit the statute of limitations period

for claims under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, or rights or remedies under
the Act such as a right to a jury trial, may not be enforceable.

6. Transfer Fees. Transfer fees are collectable only to the extent that they reflect the franchisor’s
reasonable estimated or actual costs in effecting a transfer.

1. Termination by Franchisee. The franchisee may terminate the Development Agreement under
any grounds permitted under state law.

8. Certain Buy-Back Provisions. Provisions in Development Agreements or related agreements that
permit the franchisor to repurchase the franchisee’s business for any reason during the term of the

Development Agreement without the franchisee’s consent are unlawful pursuant to RCW
19.100.180(2)(3), unless the franchise is terminated for good cause.

9. Fair and Reasonable Pricing. Any provision in the Development Agreement or related
agreements that requires the franchisee to purchase or rent any product or service for more than a

fair and reasonable price is unlawful under RCW 19.100.180(2)(d).

3:10.  Waiver of Exemplary & Punitive Damages. RCW 19.100.190 permits franchisees to seek treble

damages under certain circumstances. Accordingly, provisions contained in the franchise
agreement or elsewhere requiring franchisees to waive exemplary, punitive, or similar damages are

void, except when executed pursuant to a negotiated settlement after the agreement is in effect and
where the parties are represented by independent counsel—Provisions—such—as—these—which

-, in accordance with

11. 8— Franchisor’s Business Judgement. Provisions in the Development Agreement or related

agreements stating that the franchisor may exercise its discretion on the basis of its reasonable

business judgment may be limited or superseded by RCW 19.100.180(1), which requires the parties

to deal with each other in good faith.

12. Indemnification. Any provision in the Development Agreement or related agreements requiring

the franchisee to indemnify, reimburse, defend, or hold harmless the franchisor or other parties is
hereby modified such that the franchisee has no obligation to indemnify, reimburse, defend, or hold

harmless the franchisor or any other indemnified party for losses or liabilities to the extent that they
are caused by the indemnified party’s negligence, willful misconduct, strict liability, or fraud.

13. Attorneys’ Fees. If the Development Agreement or related agreements require a franchisee to
reimburse the franchisor for court costs or expenses, including attorneys’ fees, such provision

applies only if the franchisor is the prevailing party in any judicial or arbitration proceeding.

4-14. _Noncompetition Covenants. Pursuant to RCW 49.62.020, a noncompetition covenant is void and
unenforceable against an employee, including an employee of Bevelepera franchisee, unless the
employee’s earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed $100,000 per
year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflationinflation). In addition, a noncompetition
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5:15.

6:16. 40— Questionnaires and Acknowledgments. No statement, questionnaire, or
acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the
franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state
franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made
by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision

supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

covenant is void and unenforceable against an independent contractor of Bevelepera franchisee
under RCW 49.62.030 unless the independent contractor’s earnings from the party seeking
enforcement, when annualized, exceed $250,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually
for inflatieninflation). As a result, any previsieasprovision contained in the Development
Agreement or elsewhere that eenflistconflicts with these limitations areis void and unenforceable
in Washington.

9—Nonsolicitation Agreements. RCW 49.62.060 prohibits EGSa franchisor from restricting,
restraining, or prohibiting Bevelepera franchisee from (i)-_soliciting or hiring any employee of a
franchisee of EOSthe same franchisor or (ii) soliciting or hiring any employee of EOSthe
franchisor. As a result, any such provisions contained in the Development Agreement or elsewhere
are void and unenforceable in Washington.

17. Prohibitions on Communicating with Regulators. Any provision in the Development Agreement

18.

or related agreements that prohibits the franchisee from communicating with or complaining to
regulators is inconsistent with the express instructions in the Franchise Disclosure Document and

is unlawful under RCW 19.100.180(2)(h).

Adyvisory Regarding Franchise Brokers. Under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection

Act, a “franchise broker” is defined as a person that engages in the business of the offer or sale of
franchises. A franchise broker represents the franchisor and is paid a fee for referring prospects to
the franchisor and/or selling the franchise. If a franchisee is working with a franchise broker

franchisees are advised to carefully evaluate any information provided by the franchise broker
about a franchise.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum
as of the day and year first above written.

EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

DEVELOPER:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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WASHINGTON ADDENDUM TO THE EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT, AND RELATED AGREEMENTS

This Addendum to the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Franchise Agreement dated
(“Franchise Agreement”) between Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”)
and (“Franchisee”) is entered into
simultaneously with the execution of the Franchise Agreement.

+——The provisions of this Addendum form an integral part of, and-are incorporated into, and
modify the FranehiseDevelopment Agreement— regardless of anything to the contrary contained therein.
This Addendum is-being—exeeuted-beecause—(Aapplics if: (a) the offer er—sale—ofto scll a franchise te
Eranchisee-was-madeis accepted in the-State-of Washington; (B)-Franehiseeb) the purchaser of the franchise
is a resident of the-State-of Washington; and/or (€)-the Eranchised Restavrantwillc) the franchised business

that is the subject of the sale is to be located and/or operated, and/‘orall-orpart-of-the Protected-Area—will
beleeatedwholly or partly, in the-State-of Washington.

1. 2—ThestateConflict of Washingtonhasl.aws. In the event of a statute;conflict of laws, the
provisions of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, chapter 19.100 RCW will

prevail.

+2. Franchisee Bill of Rights. RCW 19.100.180 Aet);—which—may supersede this
Agreementprovisions in Franehisee’sthe franchise agreement or related agreements concerning
your relationship with EOSthe franchisor, including in the areas of termination and renewal of
Eranehisee’syour franchise.— There may also may—be court decisions that may—supersede this
Agreemem—m—FranehJ;se%sthe franchlse agreement or related agreements concernmg Vour

relationship with

franchisethe franchisor. Franchlse agreement provisions, 1nclud1ng those summarlzed in Item 17 of
the Franchise Disclosure Document, are subject to state law.

2.3. 5——Site of Arbitration. Mediation, and/or Litigation. In any arbitration or mediation
involving a franchise purchased in Washington, the arbitration or mediation site will be either in
the state of Washington, or in a place mutually agreed upon at the time of the arbitration or
mediation, or as determined by the arbitrator or mediator at the time of arbitration or mediation. In
addition, if litigation is not precluded by the Eranchise- Agreement, Eranchiseefranchise agreement,
a franchisee may bring an action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with the sale of
franchises, or a violation of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, in Washington.

34. 6—General Release. A release or waiver of rights exeeuted-byFranchisee-maynot-include

rightsin the franchise agreement or related agreements purporting to bind the franchisee to waive
compliance with any provision under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act or any
ralerules or erderorders thereunder is void except when executed pursuant to a negotiated

settlement after the agreement is in effect and where the partles are represented by 1ndependent
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may-not-be-enforeeable:, in accordance with RCW 19.100.220(2). In addition, any such release or
waiver executed in connection with a renewal or transfer of a franchise is likewise void except as
provided for in RCW 19.100.220(2).

5. 7— Statute of Limitations and Waiver of Jury Trial. Provisions contained in the franchise
agreement or related agreements that unreasonably restrict or limit the statute of limitations period

for claims under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, or rights or remedies under
the Act such as a right to a jury trial, may not be enforceable.

4-6.  Transfer Fees. Transfer fees are collectable only to the extent that they refleetEOS sreflect the
franchisor’s reasonable estimated or actual costs in effecting a transfer.

7. 8 — Termination by Franchisee. The franchisee may terminate the franchise agreement under
any grounds permitted under state law.

8. Certain Buy-Back Provisions. Provisions in franchise agreements or related agreements that
permit the franchisor to repurchase the franchisee’s business for any reason during the term of the

franchise agreement without the franchisee’s consent are unlawful pursuant to RCW
19.100.180(2)(j), unless the franchise is terminated for good cause.

9. Fair and Reasonable Pricing. Any provision in the franchise agreement or related agreements that
requires the franchisee to purchase or rent any product or service for more than a fair and reasonable

price is unlawful under RCW 19.100.180(2)(d).

10. Waiver of Exemplary & Punitive Damages. RCW 19.100.190 permits franchisees to seek treble

damages under certain circumstances. Accordingly, provisions contained in the franchise
agreement or elsewhere requiring franchisees to waive exemplary, punitive, or similar damages are

void, except when executed pursuant to a negotiated settlement after the agreement is in effect and
where the parties are represented by independent counsel, in accordance with RCW 19.100.220(2).

11. Franchisor’s Business Judgement. Provisions in the franchise agreement or related agreements
stating that the franchisor may exercise its discretion on the basis of its reasonable business

judgment may be limited or superseded by RCW 19.100.180(1), which requires the parties to deal

with each other in good faith.

12. Indemnification. Any provision in the franchise agreement or related agreements requiring the
franchisee to indemnify, reimburse, defend, or hold harmless the franchisor or other parties is
hereby modified such that the franchisee has no obligation to indemnify, reimburse, defend, or hold
harmless the franchisor or any other indemnified party for losses or liabilities to the extent that they
are caused by the indemnified party’s negligence, willful misconduct, strict liability, or fraud.

13. Attorneys’ Fees. If the franchise agreement or related agreements require a franchisee to reimburse

the franchisor for court costs or expenses, including attorneys’ fees, such provision applies only if
the franchisor is the prevailing party in any judicial or arbitration proceeding.

5:14. Noncompetition Covenants. Pursuant to RCW 49.62.020, a noncompetition covenant is void and
unenforceable against an employee, including an employee of Eranehiseea franchisee, unless the
employee’s earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed $100,000 per
year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflatieninflation). In addition, a noncompetition
covenant is void and unenforceable against an independent contractor of Eranchiseea franchisee
under RCW 49.62.030 unless the independent contractor’s earnings from the party seeking
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6:15.

F16.

enforcement, when annualized, exceed $250,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually
for nflatieninflation). As a result, any previstensprovision contained in the Franchise
Agreementfranchise agreement or elsewhere that eenflietconflicts with these limitations areis void
and unenforceable in Washington.

99— Nonsolicitation Agreements. RCW 49.62.060 prohibits EOSa franchisor from restricting,

restraining, or prohibiting Eranehiseea franchisee from (i)- soliciting or hiring any employee of a

franchisee of EOSthe same franchisor or (ii) soliciting or hiring any employee of EOS:the

franchisor. As a result, any such provisions contained in the Eranechise—Agreementfranchise
agreement or elsewhere are void and unenforceable in Washington.

+0—CQuestionnaires and  Acknowledgments. No  statement, questionnaire, or

acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the
franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state
franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made
by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision
supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

17. Prohibitions on Communicating with Regulators. Any provision in the franchise agreement or
related agreements that prohibits the franchisee from communicating with or complaining to
regulators is inconsistent with the express instructions in the Franchise Disclosure Document and
is unlawful under RCW 19.100.180(2)(h).

18. Adyvisory Regarding Franchise Brokers. Under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection

Act, a “franchise broker” is defined as a person that engages in the business of the offer or sale of
franchises. A franchise broker represents the franchisor and is paid a fee for referring prospects to
the franchisor and/or selling the franchise. If a franchisee is working with a franchise broker

franchisees are advised to carefully evaluate any information provided by the franchise broker
about a franchise.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed, sealed and delivered this Addendum

as of the day and year first above written.
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EOS:
EARL OF SANDWICH (USA), LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By:

Print Name:

Title:

FRANCHISEE:

By:

Print Name:

Title:
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EXHIBIT L

GENERAL RELEASE
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GENERAL RELEASE

THIS GENERAL RELEASE (“Release”) is executed on by
(“Franchisee”) and (“Guarantors™) as a
condition of (1) transfer of the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Development Agreement dated
(“Development Agreement”) between Franchisee and Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“EOS”); or (2)
transfer or renewal of the Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Franchise Agreement dated
(“Franchise Agreement”) between Franchisee and EOS.

1. Release by Franchisee and Guarantors. Franchisee (on behalf of itself and its
subsidiaries and affiliates) and Guarantors (on behalf of themselves and their heirs, representatives,
successors and assigns) (collectively “Releasors”) freely and without any influence forever release and
covenant not to sue EOS, its parent, subsidiaries and affiliates and their respective past and present officers,
directors, shareholders, agents and employees, in their corporate and individual capacities, from any and
all claims, demands, liabilities and causes of action of whatever kind or nature, whether known or unknown,
vested or contingent, suspected or unsuspected (collectively “Claims”), that Releasors ever owned or held,
now own or hold or may in the future own or hold, including, without limitation, claims arising under
federal, state and local laws, rules and ordinances, claims for contribution, indemnity and/or subrogation,
and claims arising out of, or relating to the [Development/Franchise] Agreement and all other agreements
between Franchisee and/or any Guarantor and EOS or its parent, subsidiaries or affiliates, arising out of, or
relating to any act, omission or event occurring on or before the date of this Release, unless prohibited by
applicable law.

2. Risk of Changed Facts. Franchisee and Guarantors understand that the facts in respect of
which the Release in Section 1 above is given may turn out to be different from the facts now known or
believed by them to be true. Franchisee and Guarantors hereby accept and assume the risk of the facts
turning out to be different and agree that the Release shall nevertheless be effective in all respects and not
subject to termination or rescission by virtue of any such difference in facts.

3. No Prior Assignment. Franchisee and Guarantors represent and warrant that the Releasors
are the sole owners of all Claims and rights released hereunder and that Releasors have not assigned or
transferred, or purported to assign or transfer, to any person or entity, any Claim released under Section 1
above.

4. Covenant Not To Sue. Franchisee and Guarantors (on behalf of Releasors) covenant not
to initiate, prosecute, encourage, assist, or (except as required by law) participate in any civil, criminal, or
administrative proceeding or investigation in any court, agency, or other forum, either affirmatively or by
way of cross-claim, defense, or counterclaim, against any person or entity released under Section 1 above
with respect to any Claim released under Section 1 above.

5. Complete Defense. Franchisee and Guarantors: (i) acknowledge that this Release shall
be a complete defense to any Claim released under Section 1 above; and (ii) consent to the entry of a
temporary or permanent injunction to prevent or end the assertion of any such Claim.

6. Successors and Assigns. This Release will inure to the benefit of and bind the successors,
assigns, heirs and personal representatives of EOS and each Releasor.

7. [For Washington franchisees add this paragraph:] This Release does not apply to

claims arising under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, Chapter 19.100 RCW, or the
rules adopted thereunder in accordance with RCW 19.100.220(2).
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7. [For Maryland franchisees add this paragraph:] This Release does not apply to claims
arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law, Md. Code Ann., Bus. Reg. §§14-
201 — 14-233, or the rules adopted thereunder in accordance with Md. Code Ann., Bus. Reg. §14-206, Code
of Maryland Regulations, Title 02.02.08.01 — 02.02.08.17.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Franchisee and Guarantors have executed this Release as of the date
shown above.

FRANCHISEE:

Print Name:

Title

Date:

GUARANTOR:

Date:

GUARANTOR:

Date:

2 EOS General Release — 09/2325



EXHIBIT M

LISTS OF FRANCHISEES
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| LIST OF FRANCHISED RESTAURANTS AS OF DECEMBER 25;202229, 2024

Franchisee Restaurant Address City State | Zip Phone Contact
8234 Laguna Boulevard, Cuong Pham &
CAP EG EOS LLC Suite 140 Elk Grove CA | 95758 | 916-204-9601 Thanh Pham
IO e et D
Westoasters; #2BLos Angeles
e *%Planet International Airport Senpedn 01344 e Laeen
Express (LAX), Tom Bradley HillsLos CA 90045 6706323-451- ChuDavid
LLC International Terminal Angeles - 1004 Gonzales
Space T04; 380 World
Way
ﬂd .
Ubites. Tne.Yelme 4803-East2™-S.350 S. Huntington 90303 Tanya
LLC e Grand Ave Beaehlos CA 90071 562-343-7740 q £Ouach
- Suite D5 Angeles - Quach
Nelme: 350-S-Grand-Ave: Leos 90071 562-343- Fanya
(EECBearman [1 Ste-PS AngelesSan CA 94107 FF4408-722- QuatehTrang
[nc.** 213 King Street Francisco — 7645 Nguyen
s . Alan
Cuvamaca 690-FirstAve-8617 e CA Do lol 619-241- Christo
S B— Cuyamaca St. tegeSantee 92017 204-7595 | TEREITINOR
Petroleum. LLC Cuyamaca St PiegoeSantee 92017 | 2244224-7595 her Salem
EL?S:;IOBI?IE?agz dba Harrah’s Resort Southern
, ’ California Valley Center CA | 92082 | 760-751-3210 | Shannon Upson
Harrah’s Southern o
e 777 Harrah's Rincon Way
California
[Yamato Gas Boca Guillermo Celia
[Raton, LLC 801 Yamato Rd. Boca Raton FL | 33431 | 786-616-6090 “Ancel Alvarez
Florida Turnpike
Areas USA FLTP, Mile Marker 94 . .
LLC W. Palm Beach Travel Lake Worth FL | 33467 | 305-267-8510 Kirk Weiss
Plaza
Miami International
fieé‘s USA MIa, Airport Miami FL | 33126 | 305-267-8510 |  Kirk Weiss
6984 NW 12th St.
Florida Turnpike
Areas USA FLTP, Mile Marker 184 Okeechobee | FL | 34972 | 305-267-8510 |  Kirk Weiss
LLC .
Ft. Drum Service Plaza
Florida Turnpike
Areas USA FLTP, Mile Marker 145 PortSt. Lucie | FL | 34984 | 305-267-8510 |  Kirk Weiss
LLC . .
Ft. Pierce Service Plaza
IEmel Restaurant 2223 North Westshore Tampa FL | 33607 | 813-879-1762 VitterieVitto
Corp Blvd. Jattan
Phipps Plaza 404-855- Alex
R*’fff;% Box E-16 Atlanta GA | 30326 | 5278562-818- | EspakinCharles
’ 3500 Peachtree Rd. NE 5705 Wang
Carbon Steel 209 Edgewood Ave SE
Restaurants. LLC Suite 110 Atlanta GA | 30303 | 562-818-5705 Charles Wang
- 208-855 Chesen
Ivestments]acksons 3775 N. Eagle Rd. Meridian ID | 83646 EddyDale
2127284-6945
Food Stores, Inc. - Sharette
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Franchisee Restaurant Address City State | Zip Phone Contact
an&gme Brands, 307 Terminal Drive Hebron KY | 41048 | 919-306-8363 | Jason Johnson
Chesapeake House
Areas USAMDTP, | | o5 1EK Memorial Hwy. | Port Deposit | MD | 21901 | 305-267-8510 |  Kirk Weiss
LLC .
Mile Post 97
. . bt Cheselan
e :
: Casino Resort CherokeeBrans | NEM | 2849 | 8284978713 | RayReseAsh
g TEL LLC FF7-Casino 164 Fall on [0) 65616 | 417-423-9226 Patel
f ) Creek Dr.
Harrah’s Cherokee
The Tribal Casino Valley River Casino &
Gaming Enterprise Hotel Murphy NC | 28906 | 828-422-7777 Ray Rose
777 Casino Pkwy.
Flovmpleibert Tnd
Areas-USA-EWR, Adrport 105.267-851¢ . .
? .
LLC T 1 Flovaslk = Il tebn
el d
Hot Sandwich 3200 South Las Vegas .
Enterprises, LLC Blvd., Space 1610 Las Vegas NV | 89109 | 725-220-6416 Aman Singh
Ruhi, Inc. 2010 Fegttlevallgaza br, Las Vegas NV | 89135 | 725-220-6416 | Aman Singh
Ramar Inc. 6470 SO]‘;{}VI dRamb"W Las Vegas | NV | 89118 | 702-417-6393 | Rodolfo Posis
Midfield Concession Terminal D . . . .
Enterprises, Inc. 8500 Essington Ave. Philadelphia PA | 19153 | 215-365-3633 | Samir Mashni
Cadillac Jack’s Gaming
E{;Y' Development, Resort Deadwood SD | 57732 | 605-431-3160 | Paul Bradsky
] 372 Main St.
e e st e Lublesl x| 79423 | 306-775-60H | AbelReodrisnez
Strawberry Fields 3581 North Zaragoza Kenji
Forever, LLC** Road, Suite 13207 El Paso TX | 79938 | 915-203-6018 Shigematsu
AMAAA, LLC 11824 Indiana Avenue Lubbock TX | 79423 | 806-775-6071 | Abel Rodriguez
**Developer
LIST OF FRANCHISEES THAT HAVE SIGNED A FRANCHISE AGREEMENT BUT THE
| FRANCHISED RESTAURANT IS NOT YET OPEN AS OF DECEMBER 25,-202229, 2024
Franchisee Restaurant Address City State Zip Phone Contact
Doshi-Sankari Corp. TBD (1 restaurant) Irvine CA TBD 6276(3229_ Sami Sankari
Rapnon-S-Barredo . 626-831-
e s el LenSapeeds
Inpestments—Ine: CA 1748
626-348-
JAJ Group, Inc. TBD (1 restaurant) Pasadena CA TBD 4996 Alan Nguyen
. . 408-7122-
e e i R CopEmaehes 2645 T
S QNN S
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Franchisee Restaurant Address City State Zip Phone Contact
619-224- .
snen Se Cemnen e S 92017 7595 Shbepber
PetrplesmLEW, LLC (3 restaurants) TBD CA TBD 3 60—?% SalemPaul Lee
Ting Developments, 319-929- .
LLC TBD (1 restaurant) TBD CA TBD 0586 Thomas Ting
Oooet-
EEW3BG Pentagon, | FBDB-3-restaurants)1 000 . Pauleelason
LLC Defense Pentagon FBBWashington | EEDC | FBB20301 3558919- Tohnson
306-8363 -
209 Edgewood-Avenue )
Rcfglll’;iite& o SE111 Glenridge Point | kﬂsaﬁrtai% GA |3030330342| ° 6527'3;8' Charles Wang
: Parkway, Suite 10101 —
e Lo e e B Lv(e} sEls 9226 Lot
Hot Sandwich TBD (++restavrant2 714-396- .
Enterprises, LLC restaurants) Clark County NV TBD 1003 Aman Singh
RAMAR Ine. TBD-(hrestayranty JO2-417- RodoHo
Johnson & Company Market Street FBDBPhiladelphia | NVPA | FBB19104 6393919- PesisJason
LLC (30th Street Station) 306-8363 Johnson
** Developer

I Pesraneapge L LO

LIST OF FRANCHISEES THAT TRANSFERRED A FRANCHISE OR HAD A FRANCHISE

AGREEMENT TERMINATED OR NOT RENEWED AS OF DECEMBER 255202229, 2024

Franchisee City ST Phone Number | Contact Person Reason

Westoasters, Inc. Granada Hills | CA 818-360-6706 Darren Chu Mutual
- - Termination

408931

San FrangAlan Mutual
BearmantJAJ Group, Inc. ToseDiceo CA 6559262131-241— Nguyen Termination

The Tribal Casino Gaming Mutual
Enterprise Cherokee NC 828-497-8713 Ray Rose Termination

If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the
franchise system.
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EXHIBIT N

FRANCHISEE DISCLOSURE QUESTIONNAIRE
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FRANCHISEE DISCLOSURE QUESTIONNAIRE
TO BE COMPLETED BEFORE SIGNING AN EARL OF SANDWICH RESTAURANT
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT OR FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

You are preparing to enter into an Earl of Sandwich Restaurant Development Agreement or
Franchise Agreement (“Agreement”) with Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC (“we” “our” or “us”). Please

review each of the following questions carefully and provide complete responses to each.

Franchise Applicant

1. Have we provided you with a Franchise Disclosure Document at least 14 calendar days (or the
carlier of the first personal meeting or 10 business days if you are a prospect based in or will operate
in New York; the earlier of the first personal meeting or 14 days if you are a prospect based in or
will operate in lowa; or 10 business days if you are a prospect based in or will operate in Michigan)
before you signed any agreements or paid any money or other consideration to us or our affiliates?

Yes No

2. Did you sign a Receipt indicating the date on which you received the Franchise Disclosure
Document?
Yes No

3. Please list any questions you have regarding the franchise opportunity that you would like to discuss

prior to signing the Agreement. (Attach additional pages, if necessary.)

4. Please list any information provided to you by any employee or other person speaking on our behalf
concerning the sales, revenue, profits, or operating costs of one or more Earl of Sandwich
Restaurant operated by us, our affiliates, or our franchisees or that you may earn or experience that
is in addition to the information contained in the Franchise Disclosure Document:
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All representations requiring prospective franchisees to assent to a release, estoppel or waiver of liability
are not intended to nor shall they act as a release, estoppel or waiver of any liability incurred under the
;- L L L ) < 12 fa’ ; Jo’ 13 Jo’ lalaWok' D @) .. 12 Vi

% 2WaY 9 12 013 heo W/ achinoton o ja
G v, a G % a4 G

z - , any other
state franchise registration and disclosure law.

This questionnaire is not for use in California, Maryland and Washington state.

FRANCHISE APPLICANT

[Insert name of Franchise Applicant]

By:
[Name of Person signing on behalf of Franchise Applicant]

Its:
[Title of Person signing on behalf of Franchise Applicant]
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EXHIBIT O

STATE EFFECTIVE DATES
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State Effective Dates

The following states have franchise laws that require that the Franchise Disclosure
Document be registered or filed with the state, or be exempt from registration: California,
Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode
Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington, and Wisconsin.

This document is effective and may be used in the following states, where the document
is filed, registered or exempt from registration, as of the Effective Date stated below:

STATES EFFECTIVE DATE
California Oetober312023PENDING
Hawaii Oetober 26, 2023PENDING
Illinois November 7 2023PENDING
Indiana Oetober18;2023PENDING
Maryland Nevember15-2023PENDING
Michigan September28;2023PENDING
Minnesota Januwary1H8,2024PENDING
New York November3;2023PENDING
North Dakota DPecember19,2023PENDING
Rhode Island Oectober272023PENDING
South Dakota November 2, 2023PENDING
Virginia Oetober30,2023PENDING
Washington Nevember 52023PENDING
Wisconsin Oetober18;2023PENDING

Other states may require registration, filing, or exemption of a franchise under other laws,
such as those that regulate the offer and sale of business opportunities or seller-assisted
marketing plans.
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RECEIPT

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of the franchise agreement and other information in plain language.
Read this disclosure document and all agreements carefully.

If Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC offers you a franchise, it must provide this disclosure document to you 14 calendar days
before you sign a binding agreement with, or make payment to, Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC or its affiliate in connection
with the proposed sale or sooner if required by applicable state law. New York requires that Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC
give you this disclosure document at the earlier of the first personal meeting or ten business days before the execution of the
franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration that relates to the franchise relationship. lowa requires that
Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC give you this disclosure document at the earliest of the first personal meeting or 14 calendar
days before the execution of any binding franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration, whichever occurs
first. Michigan requires that Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC give you this disclosure document at least ten business days before
the execution of any binding franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration, whichever occurs first.

If Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC does not deliver this disclosure document on time or if it contains a false or misleading
statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal law and state law may have occurred and should be reported to the
Federal Trade Commission, Washington, D.C. 20580 and the applicable state agency listed in Exhibit A.

The franchisor is Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC, located at 4700 Millenia Boulevard, Suite #400, Orlando, FL. 32839. Its
telephone number is 877.426.3275.

Issuance date: September 15, 2025

Our franchise sellers include the following employees of Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC, 4700 Millenia Boulevard, Suite
#400, Orlando, FL 32839, 877.426.3275:

0 Robert Earl — Chairman o Salvatore Feli — Vice President of Operations
0 Thomas Avallone — President and Treasurer o Eric Sacks — Vice President of Franchise Sales
o Jeffrey Sirolly — General Counsel and Secretary

And

Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC authorizes the respective state agencies identified on Exhibit A to receive service of process
of it in the particular state.

I have received a disclosure document dated September 15, 2025 that included the following exhibits:

A. List of State Administrators and H.  Manual Table of Contents
Agents for Service of Process L Financial Statements
B. Confidentiality Agreement J. State Specific Addenda to the FDD
C. Agreement Request Form K. State Specific Addenda to the Agreements
D. Development Agreement L. General Release
E. Franchise Agreement M.  Lists of Franchisees
F. Nontraditional Location Addendum N. Franchisee Disclosure Questionnaire
G. Veterans Addendum to the Franchise 0. State Effective Dates
Agreement P. Receipts

Date of Receipt:

Signature Print Name
Company Name Street Address
Telephone Number City, State Zip Code
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RECEIPT

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of the franchise agreement and other information in plain language.
Read this disclosure document and all agreements carefully.

If Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC offers you a franchise, it must provide this disclosure document to you 14 calendar days
before you sign a binding agreement with, or make payment to, Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC or its affiliate in connection
with the proposed sale or sooner if required by applicable state law. New York requires that Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC
give you this disclosure document at the earlier of the first personal meeting or ten business days before the execution of the
franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration that relates to the franchise relationship. Iowa requires that
Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC give you this disclosure document at the earliest of the first personal meeting or 14 calendar
days before the execution of any binding franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration, whichever occurs
first. Michigan requires that Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC give you this disclosure document at least ten business days before
the execution of any binding franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration, whichever occurs first.

If Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC does not deliver this disclosure document on time or if it contains a false or misleading
statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal law and state law may have occurred and should be reported to the
Federal Trade Commission, Washington, D.C. 20580 and the applicable state agency listed in Exhibit A.

The franchisor is Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC, located at 4700 Millenia Boulevard, Suite #400, Orlando, FL 32839. Its
telephone number is (467)-903-5543877.426.3275.

Issuance date: September 28,2623 15, 2025

Our franchise sellers include the following employees of Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC, 4700 Millenia Boulevard, Suite
#400, Orlando, FL 32839, (407)-903-5513877.426.3275:

o Robert Earl — Chairman 0 JehnTFhall—Salvatore Feli — Vice President of Operations
0 Thomas Avallone — President and Treasurer ané 0 ValentinaEllison—SeniorEric Sacks — Vice President;- of
Sl Chersan Franchise Sales

o Jeffrey Sirolly — General Counsel and Secretary ChiefDevelopmentOffieer

And

Date of Receint:
Date-Or1I<Ceeipt:
on 1re Print Name
otghature Rt r\ame
omnanyvyName Stroat A ddrece
company rvame et Garess
Telenhone Nuymber Citr—State ZinCode
Te1ePpHOfC N HHNoet Sty otate P o6e
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Earl of Sandwich (USA), LLC authorizes the respective state agencies identified on Exhibit A to receive service of process
of it in the particular state.

I have received a disclosure document dated September 28,2623 15, 2025 that included the following exhibits:

A. List of State Administrators and

Agents for Service of Process

Confidentiality Agreement

Agreement Request Form

Development Agreement

Franchise Agreement

Nontraditional Location Addendum

Veterans Addendum to the Franchise
Agreement

ammoOw

Date of Receipt:

Signature

Company Name

Telephone Number
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SOZZCASTE

Manual Table of Contents

Financial Statements

State Specific Addenda to the FDD

State Specific Addenda to the Agreements
General Release

Lists of Franchisees

Franchisee Disclosure Questionnaire

State Effective Dates

Receipts

Print Name

Street Address

City, State Zip Code
TO BE RETURNED TO EOS
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